Journal of Food Quality

Bioactive Food Components and their Chronic Diseases Prevention Effects

Lead Guest Editor: quancai sun Guest Editors: Yiren Yue and Ye Peng



Bioactive Food Components and their Chronic Diseases Prevention Effects

Bioactive Food Components and their Chronic Diseases Prevention Effects

Lead Guest Editor: quancai sun Guest Editors: Yiren Yue and Ye Peng

Copyright © 2021 Hindawi Limited. All rights reserved.

This is a special issue published in "Journal of Food Quality." All articles are open access articles distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Chief Editor

Anet Režek Jambrak (D), Croatia

Associate Editors

Ángel A. Carbonell-Barrachina (), Spain Ilija Djekić (), Serbia Alessandra Durazzo (), Italy Jasenka Gajdoš-Kljusurić, Croatia Fuguo Liu (), China Giuseppe Zeppa, Italy Yan Zhang (), China

Academic Editors

Ammar AL-Farga 🕞, Saudi Arabia Leila Abaza 🝺, Tunisia Mohamed Abdallah (D, Belgium Parise Adadi (D, New Zealand Mohamed Addi (D, Morocco Encarna Aguayo (D, Spain Sayeed Ahmad, India Ali Akbar, Pakistan Pravej Alam , Saudi Arabia Yousef Alhaj Hamoud D, China Constantin Apetrei (D, Romania Muhammad Sajid Arshad, Pakistan Md Latiful Bari BARI (D, Bangladesh Rafik Balti 🕞, Tunisia José A. Beltrán 🝺, Spain Saurabh Bhatia (D), India Saurabh Bhatia, Oman Yunpeng Cao (D, China) ZhenZhen Cao (D, China Marina Carcea (D), Italy Marcio Carocho (D, Portugal Rita Celano (D, Italy Maria Rosaria Corbo 🕞, Italy Daniel Cozzolino (D, Australia Alessandra Del Caro (D, Italy Engin Demiray D, Turkey Hari Prasad Devkota (D, Japan Alessandro Di Cerbo (D, Italy Antimo Di Maro (D, Italy Rossella Di Monaco, Italy Vita Di Stefano (D, Italy Cüneyt Dinçer, Turkey Hüseyin Erten 🕞, Turkey Yuxia Fan, China

Umar Farooq (D), Pakistan Susana Fiszman, Spain Andrea Galimberti D, Italy Francesco Genovese (D), Italy Seyed Mohammad Taghi Gharibzahedi D, Germany Fatemeh Ghiasi (D, Iran Efstathios Giaouris (D), Greece Vicente M. Gómez-López D, Spain Ankit Goyal, India Christophe Hano (D, France Hadi Hashemi Gahruie 🕞, Iran Shudong He D, China Alejandro Hernández (D, Spain Francisca Hernández (D, Spain José Agustín Tapia Hernández (D, Mexico Amjad Iqbal (D), Pakistan Surangna Jain (D, USA) Peng Jin (D), China Wenyi Kang D, China Azime Özkan Karabacak, Turkey Pothiyappan Karthik, India Rijwan Khan 🕞, India Muhammad Babar Khawar, Pakistan Sapna Langyan, India Mohan Li, China Yuan Liu 🝺, China Jesús Lozano 厄, Spain Massimo Lucarini (D, Italy Ivan Luzardo-Ocampo (D, Mexico) Nadica Maltar Strmečki (D, Croatia Farid Mansouri (D, Morocco Anand Mohan D. USA Leila Monjazeb Marvdashti, Iran Jridi Mourad 🝺, Tunisia Shaaban H. Moussa D, Egypt Reshma B Nambiar (D, China Tatsadjieu Ngouné Léopold D, Cameroon Volkan Okatan D, Turkey Mozaniel Oliveira (D, Brazil Timothy Omara (D), Austria Ravi Pandiselvam (D), India Sara Panseri (D), Italy Sunil Pareek (D, India Pankaj Pathare, Oman

María B. Pérez-Gago (D, Spain Anand Babu Perumal (D, China) Gianfranco Picone D, Italy Witoon Prinyawiwatkul, USA Eduardo Puértolas (D, Spain Sneh Punia, USA Sara Ragucci (D, Italy Miguel Rebollo-Hernanz (D, Spain Patricia Reboredo-Rodríguez (D, Spain Jordi Rovira (D, Spain Swarup Roy, India Narashans Alok Sagar (D, India Rameswar Sah, India El Hassan Sakar (D, Morocco Faouzi Sakouhi, Tunisia Tanmay Sarkar 🕞, India Cristina Anamaria Semeniuc, Romania Hiba Shaghaleh (D, China Akram Sharifi, Iran Khetan Shevkani, India Antonio J. Signes-Pastor D, USA Amarat (Amy) Simonne D, USA Anurag Singh, India Ranjna Sirohi, Republic of Korea Slim Smaoui (D, Tunisia Mattia Spano, Italy Barbara Speranza (D, Italy Milan Stankovic (D), Serbia Maria Concetta Strano (D), Italy Antoni Szumny (D, Poland Beenu Tanwar, India Hongxun Tao (D, China Ayon Tarafdar, India Ahmed A. Tayel D, Egypt Meriam Tir, Tunisia Fernanda Vanin (D, Brazil Ajar Nath Yadav, India Sultan Zahiruddin (D, USA Dimitrios I. Zeugolis (D, Ireland Chu Zhang D, China Teresa Zotta (D, Italy

Contents

Extraction of Flavonoids from Corn Silk and Biological Activities *In Vitro* Shuangqi Tian D, Yue Sun, and Zhicheng Chen D Review Article (9 pages), Article ID 7390425, Volume 2021 (2021)

Preliminary Study on Ultrasonic Ageing Zhenjiang Vinegar Mechanism Based on Maillard Simulation System

Xiaoke Ma, Tingting Li p, Yuanqing He, Min Chen, Jie Zhou, Lijing Yin, and Haile Ma Research Article (9 pages), Article ID 1087863, Volume 2020 (2020)

The Effects of Carbendazim on Acute Toxicity, Development, and Reproduction in *Caenorhabditis* elegans

Jie Li (b), Xinghua Zhou (b), Caiqin Zhang, Yansheng Zhao, Ying Zhu, Jiayan Zhang, Juan Bai, and Xiang Xiao (b)

Research Article (6 pages), Article ID 8853537, Volume 2020 (2020)

Influence of Heat Treatments on the Content of Bioactive Substances and Antioxidant Properties of Sweet Potato (*Ipomoea batatas* L.) Tubers

Janette Musilova (), Judita Lidikova, Alena Vollmannova, Hana Frankova, Dana Urminska, Tatiana Bojnanska, and Tomas Toth Research Article (10 pages), Article ID 8856260, Volume 2020 (2020)

Antioxidant Activity of Lactobacillus plantarum DY-1 Fermented Wheat Germ Extract and Its Influence on Lipid Oxidation and Texture Properties of Emulsified Sausages Juan Wu, Yu Cheng D, and Ying Dong Research Article (7 pages), Article ID 8885886, Volume 2020 (2020)

Antihyperglycemic, Vasodilator, and Diuretic Activities of Microencapsulated Bioactive Product from *Moringa stenopetala* Leaves Extract

Debebe Worku Dadi (), Shimelis Admassu Emire, Asfaw Debella Hagos, Frehiwot Teka, Samuel Woldekidan, Abiy Abebe, and Meron Sileshi Research Article (8 pages), Article ID 8882042, Volume 2020 (2020)

Digestive Enzyme Inhibition of Different Phenolic Fractions and Main Phenolic Compounds of Ultra-High-Pressure-Treated Palm Fruits: Interaction and Molecular Docking Analyses Qingfeng Zhou, Jiexin Zhou, Xiaojing Liu, Yan-Bing Zhang , and Shengbao Cai Research Article (10 pages), Article ID 8811597, Volume 2020 (2020)

Different Phenolic Extracts of Oil Palm Fruits and Caffeic Acid Prevent Palmitic Acid-Induced Lipotoxicity in HepG2 Cells via Improving Mitochondrial Function Xiaojing Liu, Ou Wang, Jiexin Zhou, and Shengbao Cai Research Article (12 pages), Article ID 8827707, Volume 2020 (2020)

Chemical Constituents and Health Benefits of Four Chinese Plum Species Wei Liu, Guangming Nan, Muhammad Farrukh Nisar (), and Chunpeng Wan () Review Article (17 pages), Article ID 8842506, Volume 2020 (2020) Effects of Bitter Melon Saponin on the Glucose and Lipid Metabolism in HepG2 Cell and *C. elegans* Juan Bai, Ying Zhu, Jie Li , Yi Zhang, Ying Dong, and Xiang Xiao Research Article (9 pages), Article ID 8860356, Volume 2020 (2020)

The Impact of Polyphenol on General Nutrient Metabolism in the Monogastric Gastrointestinal Tract Mohammed Sharif Swallah (), Hongling Fu, He Sun, Raïfatou Affoh, and Hansong Yu () Review Article (12 pages), Article ID 5952834, Volume 2020 (2020)

Bioavailability and Bioactivity of Alkylresorcinols from Different Cereal Products Shuangqi Tian , Yue Sun, Zhicheng Chen , and Renyong Zhao Review Article (6 pages), Article ID 5781356, Volume 2020 (2020)

Optimization of Enzymatic Conditions of Sturgeon Muscles and Their Anti-Inflammatory Potential Ruichang Gao, Yang Shen, Wanghui Shu, Fan Bai, Wengang Jin, Jinlin Wang, and Li Yuan Research Article (12 pages), Article ID 9698134, Volume 2020 (2020)

Anti-Inflammatory Effects of Essential Oils of *Amomum aromaticum* Fruits in Lipopolysaccharide-Stimulated RAW264.7 Cells Nguyen Hai Dang D, Le Thi Van Anh, and Nguyen Tien Dat

Research Article (5 pages), Article ID 8831187, Volume 2020 (2020)

Chemical Composition of Pistacia lentiscus Seeds' Oil from Moroccan High Atlas Mountain

Brahim Ait Mohand (b), Abderraouf El Antari, and Fatiha Benkhalti Research Article (5 pages), Article ID 5190491, Volume 2020 (2020)



Review Article Extraction of Flavonoids from Corn Silk and Biological Activities In Vitro

Shuangqi Tian D, Yue Sun, and Zhicheng Chen

College of Food Science and Engineering, Henan University of Technology, Zhengzhou 450001, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Zhicheng Chen; chen_1958@163.com

Received 12 January 2020; Revised 2 February 2021; Accepted 25 February 2021; Published 4 March 2021

Academic Editor: quancai sun

Copyright © 2021 Shuangqi Tian et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

When harvesting corn, corn silk was discarded as waste, including the compounds isolated and identified from corn silk such as flavonoids, sterols, alkaloids, polysaccharides, organic acids, volatile oils, trace elements, and multivitamins. It not only pollutes the environment but also wastes resources. In this paper, extraction methods commonly used for extracting flavonoids from corn silk were reviewed, such as reagent method, enzymatic method, microwave, supercritical CO_2 extraction, ultrasonic, and microwave-assisted ultrasonic. Flavonoids are natural antioxidants and have application value in scavenging free radicals, inhibiting bacteria, and regulating blood lipids. The *in vitro* biological activities of flavonoids from corn silk extracted by different extraction methods were also compared.

1. Introduction

During the metabolism of the human body, substances such as reactive oxygen species and free radicals with strong oxidizing properties will be produced [1, 2]. If these substances are not removed in time, they would cause damage to biological membranes and cell functions and then cause aging, cardiovascular disease, and cancer [3]. Antioxidants could scavenge free radicals, thereby reducing their harm to the human body [4]. However, due to the potential safety hazards of synthetic antioxidants, the development of low-toxic, safe, and efficient natural antioxidants has become a research hotspot [5]. In recent years, many researchers have found that flavonoids are important secondary metabolites that were widely present in plant tissues [6-8]. Biological activities in vitro aroused great interest of many researchers. At present, the main problems on the antioxidant activity of flavonoids are the low purity of the extracts and the low content of potent flavonoids [9-11].

Flavonoids commonly found in plants are an indispensable part of the human diet, especially for compounds found in corn silk, which have antioxidant properties and potential health benefits, and have attracted extensive attention [12]. Corn silk, also named as Maydis stigma (*Zea mays* hairs), which refers to the stigmas of the maize female flowers, is frequently used in traditional Chinese herbal medicines [13]. Corn silk is made from stigmas, the yellowish thread-like strands from the female flower of corn with various therapeutic values and no documented toxicity [14]. Corn silk contains abundant flavonoids. The total amount of flavonoids varies greatly with the variety, and the content is from less than 0.1% to 3% [15, 16]. Flavonoids show a variety of biological activities, such as antioxidant, antibacterial, antidiabetic, and antifatigue, and also have some clinical applications [16]. Microwave, ultrasonic, supercritical fluid extraction, and multiple extraction technologies were used to extract flavonoids effectively [16, 17]. As shown in Table 1, to date, several flavonoids such as maysin, apigmaysin, 3-methoxymaysine, ax-4-OHmaysin, and isoorientin-2"-O-a-L-rhamnoside have been isolated and identified from corn silk [12, 17, 18]. In order to clarify the extraction method and chemical composition of flavonoids in corn silk, this paper systematically studied the chemical components of corn silk and its biological activities in vitro.

2. Extraction Methods of Flavonoids from Corn Silk

About 29 flavonoids have been isolated from corn silk. Most of them are C-glycoside compounds and have the same

TABLE 1: Structures and molecular weight of flavonoids or flavone glycosides from corn silk.

Structures of flavonoids or flavon	ne glycosides Chemical ingredients	Molecular weight
HO HO HO HO HO HO HO HO HO HO HO HO HO H	он 2″-O-α-L-Rhamnosyl-6-C-quinovosylluteolin	570
HO H	^{°он} 2″-O-α-L-Rhamnosyl-6-C-fucosylluteolin	586
$HO \rightarrow HO \rightarrow HO \rightarrow HO \rightarrow HO \rightarrow HAA \rightarrow HAA$	° ^{O-CH} , 2″-O-α-L-Rhamnosyl-6-C-fucosyl-3′-methoxyluteolin	600
$HO \\ HO \\ HO \\ H \\ OH \\ H \\ OH \\ H \\ A \\ A \\ Bha$	°o- _{CH₃} 2″-O-α-L-Rhamnosyl-6-C-3″-deoxyglucosyl-3′-methoxyluteolin	608
HOH C OH OH OH OH OH	он D-CH ₃ 6,4'-Dihydroxy-3'-methoxyflavone-7-O-glucosides	451
HO HO HO HO HO A-Rha	^H , ax-5"-Methane-3'-methoxymaysin	584
$H_{OH}^{CH_3} \xrightarrow{HO}_{H} \xrightarrow{OH}_{OH} \xrightarrow{HO}_{H} \xrightarrow{OH}_{OH} \xrightarrow{HO}_{H} \xrightarrow{OH}_{OH} \xrightarrow{OH}_{OH$	ax-4"-OH-3'-Methoxymaysin	586
$H_{OH}^{CH_3} \xrightarrow{H_0}_{H_0} \xrightarrow{H_0}_{H_0} \xrightarrow{H_0}_{H_0} \xrightarrow{H_0}_{H_0} \xrightarrow{H_0}_{A-Rha} \xrightarrow{H_0}_{OH}$	^{D-CH,} 7,4'-Dihydroxy-3'-methoxyflavone-2"-O-α-L-rhamnosyl-6-C- fucoside	602
$HOH_{C} H HOH_{C} H HOH_{C} H HOH_{C} H HOH_{C} H HOH_{C} H HOH_{C} H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H$	^{Yoн} Isoorientin-2-2″-O-α-L-rhamnoside	632



parent nucleus of luteolin. The flavonoids of corn silk show strong biological activities [19]. They are usually combined with sugars in corn silk to form C-glycosides, and a small part exists in a free form [20]. Flavonoids are easily soluble in organic solvents such as ethanol, methanol, ethyl acetate, and ether. Therefore, the extraction of flavonoids usually uses the ethanol reflux extraction method [21]. As shown in Figure 1, different steps may be involved in the preparation of flavonoids of corn silk. In recent years, with the rapid development of microwave, ultrasonic, supercritical fluid extraction, and multiple extraction technologies, many researchers have used them as an auxiliary technology for flavonoid extraction in order to save time and maximize the flavonoid extraction rate [22, 23]. The advantages and disadvantages of various extraction methods are compared in Table 2.

2.1. Ethanol Reflux Extraction. Ethanol reflux extraction is a traditional method for flavonoid extraction, which is widely used in the extraction of flavonoids. Flavonoid aglycones are generally insoluble or insoluble in water and easily soluble in organic solvents such as methanol, ethanol, ethyl acetate, and ether. Therefore, taking advantage of the low price and nontoxicity of ethanol, the method of refluxing ethanol is used to remove flavonoids from corn silk [24]. The factors affecting the extraction of corn flavonoids mainly include extraction time, extraction temperature, extraction times, material-liquid ratio, and ethanol concentration. The optimized extraction process is relatively simple, and the extraction rate of corn flavonoids is relatively stable. Although the ethanol reflux extraction method has the advantages of simple operation and better extraction effect, it is associated with a large amount of extraction liquid and a long extraction time. It is not conducive to saving energy and cost

and hence not suitable for large-scale production. High extraction yield $(5.32 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{g}^{-1})$ of total flavonoids was obtained under the optimal extraction conditions, which are 80°C for 3 h with corn silk over 60% ethanol ratio of 1:30 [25].

2.2. Aqueous Extraction. Aqueous extracts of corn silk showed a broad spectrum of antibacterial activity on the tested microorganisms. These derivatives could be potential alternatives to the traditional control of bacteria and fungi during food storage [26].

For aqueous extraction, 50 g of air-dried powder was placed in distilled water and boiled for 6 h. At intervals of 3 h, the solvent was removed in vacuum. The supernatant was collected. After 6 h, the supernatant was concentrated to make the final volume to 100 ml. Finally, 50 g of material was extracted in 100 ml of distilled water giving a concentration of 500 mg/ml [27].

2.3. Microwave-Assisted Extraction. Microwaves are electromagnetic waves with a frequency between 300 MHz and 300 GHz and a wavelength between 1 mm and 1 m. During microwave extraction, polar substances in plant cells absorb microwave energy to generate a large amount of heat, which causes the intracellular temperature to rise rapidly and generate pressure [28]. The pressure breaks the cell membrane and cell wall, and the intracellular material is dissolved and released into the extract. Microwave-assisted extraction methods are either better or comparable with conventional solvent extraction methods [29, 30].

The process of microwave-assisted extraction (MAE) of total flavonoids from corn silk and the hypolipidemia in animal models were studied. The influence of solvent



FIGURE 1: Different steps that may be involved in the preparation of flavonoids of corn silk.

TABLE 2. The advantages and abadvantages of various extraction methods.						
Extraction methods	Advantages	Disadvantages				
Ethanol reflux extraction	Less dosage, short extraction time, less impurities, complete extraction	Volatile and toxic				
Aqueous extraction	Simple operation, low cost, suitable for large- scale production	More impurities				
Microwave-assisted extraction	High selectivity, fast and efficient, stable quality	The extraction time is too long and the temperature is too high, but the extraction rate decreases				
Ultrasonic-assisted extraction	Short extraction time and high yield without heating	Small extraction scale, not suitable for large-scale production				
Supercritical fluid extraction	Low extraction temperature, high extraction rate, low solvent consumption, no pollution	The separation selectivity is reduced, it is not easy to obtain a pure substance, the investment is large, and the operating component is high				

TABLE 2: The advantages and disadvantages of various extraction methods.

concentration, microwave power, extraction time, and dose of solvent was investigated, and then, the orthogonal experiments were performed. Animal models of hyperlipidemia induced by a high-fat diet were established. The serum levels were, respectively, measured, including total cholesterol (TC), triglyceride (TG), low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C). The optimum extraction parameters were determined as follows: ethanol concentration (60%), power (600 W), extraction time (16 min), ratio of plant material to solvent (M/S) (1:20), and yield of extract (4.55%). Corn silk total flavonoids (CSTFs) significantly lowered the serum TC, TG, and LDL-C levels. Furthermore, the serum lipid level was decreased by CSTF in hyperlipidemic animal models in a dose-dependent manner [31].

2.4. Ultrasonic-Assisted Extraction. Ultrasonic wave is a kind of sound wave with a frequency higher than 20000 Hz. Ultrasonic waves form mechanical vibrations of medium particles in the material medium, which can cause the interaction of the medium [32]. Cavitation and thermal effects are the main effects of ultrasonic waves in the liquid. This is beneficial to increase the dissolution of flavonoids. The ultrasonic-assisted extraction method does not require any additional chemical reagents and does not destroy the flavonoid structure, so it is considered a good auxiliary

extraction method [33]. Through a three-level, three-variable Box–Behnken design of response surface methodology (RSM) adopting yield as response, the optimal conditions were determined as follows: ultrasonic power of 500 W, extraction time of 20 min, material solvent ratio of 1 : 20, and ethanol concentration of 30%. Under the optimum conditions, the extraction yield of total flavonoids was 1.13% [34].

2.5. Supercritical Fluid Extraction. Supercritical fluid carbon dioxide (SF-CO₂) extraction (SFE) of flavonoids from corn silk and its nitrite scavenging ability were investigated. The effects of extraction time, particle size, and cosolvent composition in terms of water content in ethanol were first optimized. Then, a Box-Behnken design combined with response surface methodology (RSM) was employed to study the effects of three independent variables (temperature, pressure, and cosolvent amount) on the extraction yield of flavonoids. A maximal extraction yield of flavonoids of approximately 4.24 mg/g of corn silk by SFE was obtained under optimal conditions (a temperature of 50.88°C, a pressure of 41.80 MPa, a cosolvent amount of 2.488 mL/g, and an extraction time of 120 min with 0.4 mm particle sizes and 20% aqueous ethanol as the cosolvent). Furthermore, the nitrite scavenging ability of the flavonoid-enriched SFE extracts was assessed using the Griess reagent. The flavonoid-enriched SFE extracts exhibited the highest scavenging ability on nitrite $(88.1 \pm 3.04\%)$ at the concentration of 500 g/ ml and at pH 3.0. The nitrite scavenging ability of the extracts appeared to be concentration-dependent but negatively correlated with the pH [35].

3. Biological Activities of Corn Silk

As shown in Table 3, corn silk shows a variety of biological activities, such as antioxidant, antibacterial, antidiabetic, and antifatigue, and also has some clinical applications [36, 37].

3.1. Antioxidant Activity of Corn Silk. Radicals are molecules or fragments of molecules that possess an unpaired electron in their outer orbital. As a result of this molecular instability, radicals are highly reactive and can promote damaging oxidation reactions with cellular proteins, lipids, or DNA, leading to oxidative stress and impaired cellular function [38].

The flavonoids in corn silk have good antioxidant effects, which are mainly manifested in reducing free radical generation and scavenging free radicals [39]. Antioxidant activity of corn silk 70% acetone-water extract was determined by ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) test. The results showed that the antioxidant activity of corn silk extract had a good correlation with total polyphenol content $(R^2 = 0.9306)$ [40]. The relationships between phytochemicals and antioxidant activity in corn silk were evaluated and it was found that antioxidant activity was correlated with total phenolics and total flavonoids [41]. The influence of variety and harvest maturity on phytochemical content and antioxidant activity in corn silk was studied. The results showed that different parts of corn silk also differ in antioxidant activity, and high pigmentation generally occurred at the early maturity phase, and it was related directly to high antioxidant activity [42]. The nutritional compositions and antioxidative capacity from the silk obtained by immature corn and mature corn were studied [16]. The result showed that both ethanol extracts of immature and mature silks possessed strong free radical scavenging capacity compared to the water and ethyl acetate extract. It was reported that the antioxidant and free radical scavenging activities of extract and fractions from corn silk were evaluated by using in vitro antioxidant models. The results showed that N-butanol fraction, which demonstrated the highest total phenolic and flavonoid contents, exhibited the highest antioxidant and free radical scavenging activities rather than petroleum ether fraction, ethyl acetate fraction, and water fraction [4]. Antioxidant activity of the flavonoid-rich extract from corn silk was studied in vitro and in vivo. The results showed that the IC50 values of the extract for the 1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radical and 2,2'-azino-bis (3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) (ABTS) radical scavenging activity were 50.73 and 0.23 mg/mL, respectively. Furthermore, the extract could significantly enhance total superoxide dismutase (T-SOD) activity, reduce malondialdehyde (MDA) content in the serum, increase glutathione content, and decrease protein carbonyl content in the liver tissue [43]. Antioxidant activity of crude flavonoid extract using STZ-

5

induced diabetic mice was studied. The results showed that the MDA values were significantly reduced [15].

3.2. Antibacterial Activity of Corn Silk. Neucere reported that water extract from corn silk could inhibit the growth of Aspergillus. The active ingredients were showed to contain chitosan and dextran according to the analysis of electrophoresis, both of which had antibacterial activity [44]. The antibacterial activity of corn silk extracts against seven kinds of common pathogens and food spoilage bacteria was investigated. Various extracts were studied on the antibacterial properties, and the results showed that 90% ethanol extract had the best antibacterial effect. In addition, acidic and neutral environment could enhance the antibacterial effects of the extracts. The antibacterial activity of ethanol extracts from corn silk was also studied [45]. Two flavonoid glycosides (compounds I and II) were isolated from *n*-butanol fraction of methanol extract of corn silk. The chemical structures of the compounds were elucidated as maysin (I) and maysin-3'-methyl ether (II) by means of different analytical methods such as UV, IR, NMR, and MS (ESI) analyses and by comparison with those reported in the literature for the compounds. The antimicrobial activities of maysin (I) and maysin-3'-methyl ether (II) were studied against twelve bacteria and one yeast. The sensitivity of the compounds (2.0 mg/mL) towards bacteria was compared with that of standard gentamycin (50 µg/mL). Flavonoid glycosides showed a wider range of activity towards Grampositive and Gram-negative bacteria. Comparatively, compound I exerted the highest antibacterial activity towards Gram-positive bacteria than compound II. In comparison with gentamycin, compound I showed significantly (p < 0.05) higher activity against the tested bacteria except Enterobacter aerogenes, Salmonella paratyphi, and Proteus *mirabilis* where it exerted statistically (p < 0.05) similar activity with gentamycin. But it showed lower activity towards Pseudomonas aeruginosa than gentamycin. Maysin-3'-methyl ether (II) showed comparatively lower activity than I; it seems that the presence of methoxyl substitution on the C-3' position slightly decreases the sensitivity towards bacteria [46].

3.3. Antidiabetic Activity of Corn Silk. Antidiabetic activity of corn silk flavonoids (CSFs) was studied on STZ-induced diabetic mice. The results revealed that treatment with 300 mg/kg or 500 mg/kg of CSFs significantly increased the body weight, water consumption, and especially the blood glucose concentration of diabetic mice, which indicated their potential antidiabetic activities. Antidiabetic activity of corn silk crude polysaccharides on streptozotocin-induced hyperglycemic rats was studied, and its effects on hyperlipidemia, nerve excitability, and fatigue resistance were investigated. The results showed that the polysaccharides had a certain hypoglycemic effect on diabetic rats, and it also improved the symptoms of emaciation and polydipsia in diabetic rats, but the hypoglycemic effect was not as obvious as that of positive control metformin [47]. Antidiabetic activity of corn silk methanolic extract on glucose uptake by

Bioactivity	Extraction method	Results	Producing area	References
	Ethanol-water extraction	The percentage of DPPH radical scavenged by CS extract was 92.6 at a concentration of 1.6 mg/ml^{-1}	Iran	[54]
Antioxidant activity	Three separate solvents (ethyl acetate, ethanol, and water)	The ABTS inhibition of immature and mature silks was ranged from 13.4% to 35% and 15.56% to 44.36%, respectively	Malaysia	[16]
	Extraction methodResultsEthanol-water extractionThe percentage of DPPH radical scave extract was 92.6 at a concentration of The percentage of DPPH radical scave extract was 92.6 at a concentration of The ABTS inhibition of immature and m ranged from 13.4% to 35% and 15.56° respectivelyUltrasound-assisted extractionFRAP value of total flavonoids extracted was 467.59 µmol/LThe petroleum ether (PECS), chloroform (CECS), and methanol (MECS) extractionsPECS, MECS, and flavonoids were active bacteria out of twelve bacteria. CECS w against five bacteriaEthanol, chloroform, and methanol extractionsextract showed significant an activity against both Gram-positive bacteria 0.45 mg/ml) and Gram-negative bacteria activity against staph aureus and Bacillus subtilis is 500 mg/m 	FRAP value of total flavonoids extracted from corn silk was 467.59 µmol/L	China	[34]
	The petroleum ether (PECS), chloroform (CECS), and methanol (MECS) extractions	PECS, MECS, and flavonoids were active against eleven bacteria out of twelve bacteria. CECS was active only against five bacteria	Malaysia	[46]
Antibacterial activity	Ethanol, chloroform, and methanol extractions	Ethanol extract showed significant antimicrobial activity against both Gram-positive bacteria (13.17 to 9.45 mg/ml) and Gram-negative bacteria (12.36 to 8.15 mg/ml) bacteria	Bangladesh	[55]
	Aqueous extraction	The antimicrobial activity against <i>Staphylococcus</i> <i>aureus</i> and <i>Bacillus subtilis</i> is 500 mg/ml and 62.5 mg/ ml. The minimum inhibitory concentration to <i>Candida</i> <i>albicans</i> is 125 mg/ml	China	[27]
Antidiabetic activity	Ethanol extraction	Treatment with 300 mg/kg or 500 mg/kg of corn silk flavonoids significantly reduced the body weight loss, water consumption, and especially the blood glucose (BG) concentration of diabetic mice	China	[15]
Antifatigue	Hot ethanol continuous extraction	Swimming exercise results indicated that corn silk flavonoids had antifatigue activity of mice by inhibiting the production of blood lactic acid	China	[17]
activity	Hot ethanol continuous extraction	Corn silk flavonoids could elevate the exercise tolerance of mice and provide protection against oxidative stress induced by exhaustive exercise in mice	China	[14]

TABLE 3: Bioactivity and extraction method of flavonoids or flavone glycosides from corn silk.

isolated rat hemidiaphragm was studied. The results showed that the treatment of corn silk increased the uptake of glucose by isolated rat hemidiaphragm significantly and was found to be more effective than insulin [48]. Corn silk aqueous extract was also shown to exhibit potent and moderate inhibitory potential against α -amylase and α -glucosidase *in vitro*, respectively [49]. Corn silk aqueous extract treatment markedly reduced hyperglycemia in alloxan-induced diabetic mice. According to the study, the mechanism of the hypoglycemic effect was through increasing insulin level and repairing the injured β -cells instead of increasing glycogen and inhibiting gluconeogenesis [50]. The hypoglycemic effect of corn silk flavonoids was studied on alloxan-induced diabetic mice, and the results showed that corn silk flavonoids could significantly reduce the level of blood glucose of diabetic mice and significantly slowed down the weight loss of diabetic mice. In addition, corn silk flavonoids had an obvious improving effect on the activity of superoxide dismutases in the diabetic mice and had a certain inhibitory effect on the production of lipid peroxide (MDA), which indicated that the hypoglycemic effect might be associated with antioxidant activity by improving the function of islet cells, especially β -cells. It was found that the combination of corn silk and binahong leaves could be more effective in repairing renal damage caused by oxidative stress [51].

3.4. Antifatigue Activity of Corn Silk. In order to clarify the mechanism of antifatigue activity of corn silk flavonoids, blood biochemical parameters were measured in the swimmingtreated mice. The swimming exercise was known to induce blood biochemical changes [52]. Blood biochemical parameters are shown in Table 3. It was found that the blood lactate and blood urea nitrogen concentrations of treatment groups were significantly lower than those of the control group (p < 0.05). The results suggest that corn silk flavonoids can inhibit the production of blood lactic acid during exercise and retard the formation of blood urea nitrogen (BUN) after exercise. It was known that the endurance capacity of the body markedly decreased if energy was exhausted. As glycogen was the important resource of energy during exercise, the increase of glycogen stored in the liver is advantageous to enhance the endurance of the exercise [53]. It was found that the hepatic glycogen concentration of treatment groups was higher than that of the control group (p < 0.05), and the increasing rates were 260.71 and 281.25%, respectively. The results suggested that corn silk flavonoids could elevate hepatic glycogen concentration during exercise. However, the detailed mechanism was not clear. The possible reason is that corn silk flavonoids may increase the content of postexercise hepatic glycogen of mice by improving glycogen reserve, or by reducing the consumption of glycogen during exercise, or both. It still needs further study [17].

4. Conclusions

The biological activity process involves many physiological challenges, which are significantly affected by biologically active substances. In this paper, ethanol, microwave, ultrasonic, supercritical fluid extraction, and multiple extraction technologies were reviewed as impactful technologies for flavonoid extraction of corn silk. Lots of studies have shown the potential benefits of ingested flavonoids against some major selected risk factors. The antioxidant, antibacterial, antidiabetic, and antifatigue activities are also described, while in vitro and in vivo studies are mainly related to the possible mechanisms of action of flavonoids, which represent a closer approach for the substantiation of the effects of these molecules in humans and allow health benefits to be claimed for foods containing them. Corn silk shows a variety of biological activities, such as antioxidant, antibacterial, antidiabetic, and antifatigue and has some clinical applications. In the future, the structure-activity relationship of corn flavonoids should be explored in depth, and the advantages of multiple sciences should be used to provide a strong scientific basis for the further development of natural and effective new drugs, as well as a basis for the full development and utilization of corn flavonoid resources.

Data Availability

The data used to support the results of this study are included within the article.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgments

This research was funded by the specially funded project for the Construction of Modern Agricultural Industrial Technology System in Henan Province (S2015-02-G06) and Cultivation Programme for Young Backbone Teachers in Henan University of Technology.

References

- A. Shirkavand and H. R. Nazif, "Numerical study on the effects of blood perfusion and body metabolism on the temperature profile of human forearm in hyperthermia conditions," *Journal of Thermal Biology*, vol. 84, pp. 339–350, 2019.
- [2] L. Wu, Z. Sun, A. Chen, X. Guo, and J. Wang, "Effect of astaxanthin and exercise on antioxidant capacity of human body, blood lactic acid and blood uric acid metabolism," *Science & Sports*, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 348–352, 2019.
- [3] J. R. Ruiz, B. Martinez-Tellez, G. Sanchez-Delgado, F. J. Osuna-Prieto, P. C. N. Rensen, and M. R. Boon, "Role of human Brown fat in obesity, metabolism and cardiovascular disease: strategies to turn up the heat," *Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases*, vol. 61, no. 2, pp. 232–245, 2018.
- [4] J. Liu, C. Wang, Z. Wang, C. Zhang, S. Lu, and J. Liu, "The antioxidant and free-radical scavenging activities of extract

and fractions from corn silk (*Zea mays* L.) and related flavone glycosides," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 126, no. 1, pp. 261–269, 2011.

- [5] M. V. Eberhardt, C. Y. Lee, and R. H. Liu, "Antioxidant activity of fresh apples," *Nature*, vol. 405, no. 6789, pp. 903-904, 2000.
- [6] A. Gurib-Fakim, "Medicinal plants: traditions of yesterday and drugs of tomorrow," *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 1–93, 2006.
- [7] K. Higashi-Okai, M. Yamazaki, H. Nagamori, and Y. Okai, "Identification and antioxidant activity of several pigments from the residual green tea (*Camellia sinensis*) after hot water extraction," *Journal of UOEH*, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 335–344, 2001.
- [8] J. Yang, W. Shi, B. Li, Y. Bai, and Z. Hou, "Preharvest and postharvest UV radiation affected flavonoid metabolism and antioxidant capacity differently in developing blueberries (*Vaccinium corymbosum L.*)," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 301, Article ID 125248, 2019.
- [9] J.-G. Xu, Q.-P. Hu, and Y. Liu, "Antioxidant and DNAprotective activities of chlorogenic acid isomers," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 60, no. 46, pp. 11625– 11630, 2012.
- [10] K.-X. Zhu, C.-X. Lian, X.-N. Guo, W. Peng, and H.-M. Zhou, "Antioxidant activities and total phenolic contents of various extracts from defatted wheat germ," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 126, no. 3, pp. 1122–1126, 2011.
- [11] M. Arivalagan, T. K. Roy, A. M. Yasmeen et al., "Extraction of phenolic compounds with antioxidant potential from coconut (*Cocos nucifera* L.) testa and identification of phenolic acids and flavonoids using UPLC coupled with TQD-MS/MS," *LWT*, vol. 92, pp. 116–126, 2018.
- [12] S.-C. Ren, Z. Liu, and X.-L. Ding, "Isolation and identification of two novel flavone glycosides from corn silk (Stigma maydis)," *Journal of Medical Plants Research*, vol. 3, pp. 1009–1015, 2009.
- [13] A. Kan, I. Orhan, G. Coksari, and B. Sener, "In-vitro neuroprotective properties of the *Maydis stigma* extracts from four corn varieties," *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, vol. 63, no. 1, pp. 1–4, 2011.
- [14] Q. I. Hu and Z. I. Deng, "Protective effects of flavonoids from corn silk on oxidative stress induced by exhaustive exercise in mice," *African Journal of Biotechnology*, vol. 10, pp. 3163– 3167, 2011.
- [15] Y. Zhang, L. Wu, Z. Ma, J. Cheng, and J. Liu, "Anti-diabetic, anti-oxidant and anti-hyperlipidemic activities of flavonoids from corn silk on STZ-induced diabetic mice," *Molecules*, vol. 21, p. 7, 2016.
- [16] N. A. Rahman and W. I. Wan Rosli, "Nutritional compositions and antioxidative capacity of the silk obtained from immature and mature corn," *Journal of King Saud University—Science*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 119–127, 2014.
- [17] Q.-L. Hu, L.-J. Zhang, Y.-N. Li, Y.-J. Ding, and F.-L. Li, "Purification and anti-fatigue activity of flavonoids from corn silk," *International Journal of Physical Sciences*, vol. 5, pp. 321–326, 2010.
- [18] M. E. Snook, N. W. Widstrom, B. R. Wiseman, P. F. Byrne, J. S. Harwood, and C. E. Costello, "New C-4"-Hydroxy derivatives of maysin and 3'-methoxymaysin isolated from corn silks (*Zea mays*)," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 43, no. 10, pp. 2740–2745, 1995.
- [19] T.-T. Yu, X.-X. Lu, X.-J. Lian, and Y.-Q. Zhang, "Composition analysis of flavonoids from corn silk with thin-layer chromatography and ultraviolet spectrophotometry," *Food Science*, vol. 29, pp. 477–481, 2008.

- [20] S. Ren, Q. Qiao, and X. L. Ding, "Antioxidative activity of five flavones glycosides from corn silk (*Stigma maydis*)," *Czech Journal of Food Sciences*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 148–155, 2013.
- [21] E. M. Garcia-Castello, A. D. Rodriguez-Lopez, L. Mayor, R. Ballesteros, C. Conidi, and A. Cassano, "Optimization of conventional and ultrasound assisted extraction of flavonoids from grapefruit (*Citrus paradisi* L.) solid wastes," *LWT—Food Science and Technology*, vol. 64, no. 2, pp. 1114–1122, 2015.
- [22] Y. Zhang, C. Liu, J. Li, Y. Qi, Y. Li, and S. Li, "Development of "ultrasound-assisted dynamic extraction" and its combination with CCC and CPC for simultaneous extraction and isolation of phytochemicals," *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, vol. 26, pp. 111–118, 2015.
- [23] A. C. Waiss, B. G. Chan, C. A. Elliger et al., "Maysin, a flavone glycoside from corn silks with antibiotic activity toward corn Earworm," *Journal of Economic Entomology*, vol. 72, no. 2, pp. 256–258, 1979.
- [24] H. Bai, C. Hai, M. Xi, X. Liang, and R. Liu, "Protective effect of maize silks (*Maydis stigma*) ethanol extract on radiationinduced oxidative stress in mice," *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, vol. 65, no. 3, pp. 271–276, 2010.
- [25] J. Wu, M. Ye, and Z. Wang, "Extraction, purification and antihyperlipidemic activities of total flavonoids from corn silk," *Pakistan Journal of Zoology*, vol. 49, no. 6, pp. 2173–2179, 2017.
- [26] A. S. Sahib, I. H. Mohammed, and S. J. Hamdan, "Use of aqueous extract of corn silk in the treatment of urinary tract infection," *Journal of Complementary Medicine Research*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 93–96, 2012.
- [27] F. Xing, W. Lei, M. Tao, and Z. Qing, "Studies on antimicrobial activity of aqueous extract of maize silk," *Applied Mechanics and Materials*, vol. 140, pp. 426–430, 2011.
- [28] V. Mandal, Y. Mohan, and S. Hemalatha, "Microwave assisted extraction an innovative and promising extraction tool for medicinal plant research," *Pharmacognosy Reviews*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 7–18, 2007.
- [29] J. S. Roberts and K. A. Gerard, "Development and evaluation of microwave heating of apple mash as a pretreatment to pressing," *Journal of Food Process Engineering*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 29–46, 2004.
- [30] I. V. Kubrakova and E. S. Toropchenova, "Microwave heating for enhancing efficiency of analytical operations (review)," *Inorganic Materials*, vol. 44, no. 14, pp. 1509–1519, 2008.
- [31] Y. Zhang, D. Y. Sui, J. S. Zhou, and H. L. Zhou, "Microwaveassisted extraction and antihyperlipidemic effect of total flavonoids from corn silk," *African Journal of Biotechnology*, vol. 10, no. 65, pp. 14583–14586, 2011.
- [32] K. N. Prasad, B. Yang, M. Zhao, J. Sun, X. Wei, and Y. Jiang, "Effects of high pressure or ultrasonic treatment on extraction yield and antioxidant activity of pericarp tissues of longan fruit," *Journal of Food Biochemistry*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 838–855, 2010.
- [33] G. H. Rao, "Optimization of ultrasound-assisted extraction of cyanidin 3-rutinoside from litchi (*Lichi chinensis Sonn.*) fruit pericarp," *Analytical Methods*, vol. 2, no. 8, pp. 1166–1170, 2010.
- [34] L.-L. Zheng, G. Wen, M.-Y. Yuan, and F. Gao, "Ultrasoundassisted extraction of total flavonoids from corn silk and their antioxidant activity," *Journal of Chemistry*, vol. 2016, Article ID 8768130, 5 pages, 2016.
- [35] J. Liu, S. Lin, Z. Wang et al., "Supercritical fluid extraction of flavonoids from *Maydis stigma* and its nitrite-scavenging ability," *Food and Bioproducts Processing*, vol. 89, no. 4, pp. 333–339, 2011.

- [36] P.-G. Pietta, "Flavonoids as antioxidants," *Journal of Natural Products*, vol. 63, no. 7, pp. 1035–1042, 2000.
- [37] E. A. Alam, "Evaluation of antioxidant and antibacterial activities of Egyptian *Maydis stigma (Zea mays hairs)* rich in some bioactive constituents," *Journal of American Science*, vol. 7, pp. 726–729, 2011.
- [38] N. Masuoka, M. Matsuda, and I. Kubo, "Characterisation of the antioxidant activity of flavonoids," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 131, no. 2, pp. 541–545, 2012.
- [39] Z. A. Maksimović and N. Kovacević, "Preliminary assay on the antioxidative activity of *Maydis stigma* extracts," *Fitoterapia*, vol. 74, no. 1-2, pp. 144–147, 2003.
- [40] Z. Maksimović, D. Malencić, and N. Kovacević, "Polyphenol contents and antioxidant activity of *Maydis stigma* extracts," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 96, no. 8, pp. 873–877, 2005.
- [41] E. Sarepoua, R. Tangwongchai, B. Suriharn, and K. Lertrat, "Relationships between phytochemicals and antioxidant activity in corn silk," *International Food Research Journal*, vol. 20, pp. 2073–2079, 2013.
- [42] E. Sarepoua, R. Tangwongchai, B. Suriharn, and K. Lertrat, "Influence of variety and harvest maturity on phytochemical content in corn silk," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 169, pp. 424–429, 2015.
- [43] K.-Z. Peng, X. Yang, H.-L. Zhou, and S.-X. Pan, "Safety evaluation, in vitro and in vivo antioxidant activity of the flavonoid-rich extract from *Maydis stigma*," *Molecules*, vol. 20, no. 12, Article ID 22102, 2015.
- [44] S. Habtemariam, "Extract of corn silk (stigma of Zea mays) inhibits tumour necrosis factor- α and bacterial lipopoly-saccharide-induced cell adhesion and ICAM-1 expression," *Planta Medica*, vol. 64, no. 4, pp. 314–318, 1998.
- [45] M. N. Khan, O. Ngassapa, and M. I. N. Matee, "Antimicrobial activity of Tanzanian chewing sticks against oral pathogenic microbes," *Pharmaceutical Biology*, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 235–240, 2000.
- [46] F. Nessa, Z. Ismail, and N. Mohamed, "Antimicrobial activities of extracts and flavonoid glycosides of corn silk (Zea mays L)," International Journal of Biotechnology for Wellness Industries, vol. 1, pp. 115–121, 2012.
- [47] W. Zhao, Y. Yin, Z. Yu, J. Liu, and F. Chen, "Comparison of anti-diabetic effects of polysaccharides from corn silk on normal and hyperglycemia rats," *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, vol. 50, no. 4, pp. 1133–1137, 2012.
- [48] M. Ghada, M. S. Eltohami, H. N. Adurahman, and M. M. E. Mudawi, "*In vitro* study of the effect of corn silk on glucose uptake by isolated rat HEMI-DIAPHRAGM," World Journal of Pharmaceutical Research, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 2190– 2195, 2014.
- [49] S. Sabiu, F. H. O'Neill, and A. O. T. Ashafa, "Kinetics of α-amylase and α-glucosidase inhibitory potential of Zea mays Linnaeus (Poaceae), Stigma maydis aqueous extract: an *in vitro* assessment," *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, vol. 183, pp. 1–8, 2016.
- [50] J. Guo, T. Liu, L. Han, and Y. Liu, "The effects of corn silk on glycaemic metabolism," *Nutrition & Metabolism*, vol. 6, no. 1, p. 47, 2009.
- [51] E. Y. Sukandar, J. I. Sigit, and L. F. Adiwibowo, "Study of kidney repair mechanisms of corn silk (*Zea mays* L. Hair)-Binahong (*Anredera cordifolia* (ten.) steenis) leaves combination in rat model of kidney failure," *International Journal of Pharmacology*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 12–23, 2013.
- [52] T. Moriura, H. Matsuda, and M. Kubo, "Pharmacological study on Agkistrodon blomhoffii blomhoffii Boie. V. Antifatigue effect of the 50% ethanol extract in acute weight-

loaded forced swimming-treated rats," *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, vol. 19, pp. 62–66, 1996.

- [53] B. Yu, Z.-X. Lu, X.-M. Bie, F.-X. Lu, and X.-Q. Huang, "Scavenging and anti-fatigue activity of fermented defatted soybean peptides," *European Food Research and Technology*, vol. 226, no. 3, pp. 415–421, 2008.
- [54] M. A. Ebrahimzadeh, F. Pourmorad, and S. Hafezi, "Antioxidant activities of Iranian corn silk," *Turkish Journal of Biology*, vol. 32, pp. 43-49, 2008.
- [55] S. Morshed and S. M. S. Islam, "Antimicrobial activity and phytochemical properties of corn (*Zea mays L.*) silk," *SKUAST Journal of Research*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 8–14, 2015.



Research Article

Preliminary Study on Ultrasonic Ageing Zhenjiang Vinegar Mechanism Based on Maillard Simulation System

Xiaoke Ma,¹ Tingting Li¹,² Yuanqing He,^{3,4} Min Chen,³ Jie Zhou,⁴ Lijing Yin,⁴ and Haile Ma¹,³

¹Institute of Life Sciences, Jiangsu University, 301 Xuefu Road, Zhenjiang 212013, China ²SinoUnison Technology Co. Ltd., Shandong Branch, No. 8 Building, No. 168 Zhuzhou Road Laoshan, Qingdao, Shandong Province, China

³School of Food and Biological Engineering, Jiangsu University, 301 Xuefu Road, Zhenjiang 212013, China
 ⁴The Laboratory Animal Research Center, Jiangsu University, Zhenjiang 212013, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Tingting Li; ytlitingting@163.com and Haile Ma; mhl@ujs.edu.cn

Received 14 March 2020; Revised 13 May 2020; Accepted 16 September 2020; Published 5 October 2020

Academic Editor: Quancai Sun

Copyright © 2020 Xiaoke Ma et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

In this study, ultrasonic technology was used to treat Zhenjiang vinegar, and the effects on the physicochemical characteristics of Zhenjiang vinegar were investigated. The influences of ultrasound time and power on the number of induced hydroxyl radicals and superoxide radicals were also investigated. Besides, the novel simulation system of the Maillard reaction was built to research the effects of different ultrasonic times and power treatment on Zhenjiang vinegar. The results show that, under the conditions of ultrasonic treatment, the changes of Zhenjiang vinegar physiochemical index, such as color, reducing sugar, and amino acid, are consistent with those of natural ageing. In addition, ultrasound can produce a cavitation effect and cracking water molecules to produce hydroxyl radicals and superoxide radicals, so as to achieve the ageing effect of vinegar.

1. Introduction

Fermented vinegar has widely been used in China and other Asian countries as a food condiment for hundreds of years [1, 2]. Zhenjiang Vinegar, which is one of the most famous traditional fermented vinegar types in China, is world-famous for its special elegant and complex aroma [3]. It is widely accepted like wine because of the harsh taste, pungent smell, and some possible harmful side-effects; fresh vinegar needs a specific process known as ageing in which a specific time period was used to produce high-quality vinegar [4]. Traditionally, ageing vinegar in barrel ageing systems is a common practice used for improving vinegar quality and stability. However, considering the disadvantages of natural ageing such as high production cost and long time period, it is critical and essential to study innovative ageing technology.

Recently, scientists have put great attempts into promoting brand new ageing techniques and enhancing present

techniques. Present studies showed that there are diverse physical methods displaying considerable potential for accelerating the ageing process, including ultrasonic wave, electric fields, ultra-high pressure, and gamma irradiation [5-10]. It was found that the ultrasound (16-60 kHz) was adept to expedite oxidation, condensation, and polymerization of ethanol, aldehydes, esters, and olefins in wines [11]. Zheng et al. [10] found an optimum treatment for speeding up fresh red wines ageing, which enhanced wines with excellent taste and flavor. Reference [12] found that the high-pressure intervention in the scope from 80 MPa to 120 MPa not beyond 2 hours was shown to considerably improve the wine taste. Better apprehension of each divisor that impacts the quality of vinegar ageing process combined the economic and operational reasons; ultrasonic is a potential physical method to accelerate the vinegar ageing process [13].

Ultrasound, especially with high power and low frequency, has the advantage of pollution-free and being speedy. Over the last decades, abundant works have concentrated on the utilization of ultrasound for food processing, like extraction, freezing, oxidization, sterilisation, and desiccation [14, 15]. Evidence from different research [16-18] showed that the influence of ultrasound on vinegar ageing processing was possibly associated with the acoustic cavitation [19, 20], which includes the generation, expansion, and breakdown of microbubbles. The violent breakdown of bubbles can generate exceedingly steep heat and pressure. Many scientists have studied that during ageing processing, the vinegar undergoes many complicated changes, including Maillard reaction, oxidation reaction, and esterification reaction. Pripis-Nicolau et al. [21] revealed that, under the appropriate wine conditions, the production of odoriferous compositions or strong-smelling by-products would enhance Strecker and Maillard reactions. Casale et al. Reference [22] found that the reaction of oxidization occurs and oxygen boosts a series of chemical and enzymatic reactions that change the vinegar; thus they found an affinity between spectral variables and store time-changes in vinegar. Maillard reaction is defined as the interaction of carbonyl compounds (e.g., reducing sugars) with free amino groups (usually amino acid) leading to flavor compounds and melanoidins [23]. Maillard reaction is of great importance in food quality, especially in heat-process foods, affecting not only the flavor but also the color and nutritional values. Previous work [9] in our laboratory showed that vinegar treated with ultrasound was concluded to be tantamount to 2-3 years aged traditionally Zhenjiang vinegar under the optimum experimental conditions (ultrasonic power 50 W/100 mL, time 75 min, and ethanol addition 0.75% (V/V)). Nevertheless, little work has been done with Zhenjiang vinegar, especially the mechanism of the chemical reactions during the ageing process.

In view of the wide variety of substance in vinegar, Maillard reactions develop complex intermediates and final reaction products, in order to clarify each substance in the ultrasound induced by the specific changes and the mechanisms is very difficult or even almost impossible. Therefore, the complex vinegar system was replaced for the simulation system [21, 24, 25], to study the mechanism of ultrasound to accelerate the ageing process. Thus, the aim of this study was to investigate the relevant physicochemical indicators and the ageing mechanism based on the Zhenjiang vinegar simulation system. This study is of practicable interest since it provides beneficial information for vinegar industry in order to optimize the process of vinegar.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Chemicals. Chemicals used in this study were furfural, n-Octane, fructose, glycine, methylene blue, vanillin, an-hydrous ethanol, and aniline which were purchased from Sinopharm Group Chemical Co., Ltd. In this study, all chemicals and solvents used were of analytical grade.

2.2. Samples. The simulated Maillard reaction system was constructed to be 100 mL of 0.1 mol/L fructose and glycine aqueous solution. All the vinegar samples of different storing

times used in this study were collected from Jiangsu Hengshun Vinegar Co., Ltd. Samples of vinegar were divided into 2 kinds of different treatments. One is the naturally aged vinegar samples, which were aged traditionally for different periods such as 12, 18, 32, and 44 months and kept in glasses. The samples of fresh and aged vinegar were stored at 4°C in a refrigerator. Samples with ultrasonic were treated according to the method of Wang et al. [9].

2.3. Color Evaluation. Color is one significant sensory characteristic of vinegar, which affects the consumers' overall acceptableness. The change of color can well reflect the process of Maillard reaction. Color measurement is measured by Hunterlab Spectrophotometer. The L^* , a^* , and b^* values (CIELAB parameters) were monitored by using the software CromaLab [26], which better test the color of wines and permit better differentiation [27-30]. In this study, the CIE Lab system was used to define the color of vinegar. Record the color difference value of the vinegar L^* , a^* , and b^* , measured three times, and take the average. Value of L^* indicates the brightness, the value of 0-100; the greater the value the greater the brightness; a^* represents the values of red/green, positive partial red, and negative partial green; b^* represents the yellow/blue value, positive yellow, and negative blue. The value ΔE^* is measured as the Euclidean distance between two points in the three-dimensional space defined by L^* , a^* , and b^* and tells from color differences:

$$\Delta E^* = \sqrt{(\Delta L^*)^2 + (\Delta a^*)^2 + (\Delta b^*)^2}.$$
 (1)

2.4. Determination of Reducing Sugar. The content of reducing sugar in the samples was analyzed as stated in the GB/T 5009.7–2016 method including different ages of traditional aged vinegar and optimum ultrasonic experimental conditions treated vinegar (ultrasonic power 50 W/100 mL, time 75 min, and ethanol addition 0.75% (V/V)). All vinegar samples were determined in triplicate.

2.5. Determination of Free Amino Acid. Automatic amino acid analyzer was exploited to measure the content of free amino acids in the vinegar samples. The vinegar sample to be tested was diluted 20 times with 1% sulfosalicylic acid solution, centrifuged at 10000 rpm for 15 min, and the supernatant was clarified through $0.22 \,\mu$ mmicroporous membrane filter for the determination of the use of the machine.

Amino acid analysis chromatographic conditions are fluorescence detector, $4.0 \times 125 \text{ mm}$ C18 column; column temperature, 40° C; flow rate, 1.0 mL/min; and detection wavelength, Ex 440 nm, Em 570 nm.

2.6. Determination of Hydroxyl Radicals. The hydroxyl radical evoked by the cavitation of ultrasound was assessed indirectly by using methylene blue as the radical scavenger and ultraviolet-visible spectrophotometer as the testing method. [31, 32] The methylene blue was handled with

dissimilar ultrasonic treatments and the maximum absorption wavelength was measured by UV-visible spectrophotometer full-wavelength scanning. The hydroxyl radical produced by ultrasound was also measured by the decrease of absorbance at the maximum absorption wavelength.

2.7. Determination of Superoxide Radicals. Vanillin aniline fluorescent reagent synthesis method: 1.5 g vanillin was dissolved in 20 mL of anhydrous ethanol; 0.9 g of aniline was added dropwise, refluxed at 80°C, for 5 h; most of the solvent was distilled off; and a pale yellow solid was obtained after cooling. Recrystallize from anhydrous ethanol and vacuum dry. 2×10^{-4} mol/L vanillin aniline ethanol solution was configured.

In a 10 mL colorimetric tube, add 2 mL of vanillin aniline ethanol solution, 2 mL of sonicated aqueous solution, and 1.5 mL of Tris-HCL buffer solution and bring the volume to the mark. The fluorescence intensity was measured under the excitation wavelength of 282 nm, and the emission wavelength range was 250–400 nm. Excitation and emission slit widths were measured at 5 nm and 10 nm, respectively.

2.8. Determination of Maillard Reaction Process. In view of a large variety of components in vinegar, it is difficult or even impossible to find out the specific changes and mechanisms of each substance under ultrasonic induction; therefore, the content of vinegar should be higher when studying the ultrasonic accelerated vinegar ageing mechanism. The representative substances that have an important influence on the quality of vinegar were studied as objects. The results of this study are also easy to compare with the relatively clear mechanism of change in the natural maturation process of these substances. The Maillard reaction is one of the most important reactions in the vinegar ageing process. Therefore, it is necessary to construct the Maillard simulation system to study the mechanism of ultrasound on its action.

Maillard reaction model system is the 100 mL of 0.1 mol/ L fructose and glycine solution. The degree of browning and the amount of intermediate product of the Maillard reaction were measured according to the way of Gu et al. [33]. According to the literature, absorbance at 294 nm was served to examine the formation of the intermediate compounds of the Maillard reaction and the size of the UV-visible absorption at 420 nm in the Maillard reaction system is related to the final stages of the reactions [34, 35]. The browning indices were evaluated by spectrophotometry, recording the absorbance at 420 nm and 294 nm ($A_{420 nm}$ and $A_{294 nm}$) of each model system against distilled water. The results were recorded on a UV software (Beijing Beifen-Ruili) spectrophotometer using a 1 cm path length quartz cell. All samples were done three times in parallel.

2.9. Data Analysis. All model systems were prepared in duplicate and the analysis was performed in triplicate. Excel 2010, Origin 8.0, and SPSS Statistics 17.0 were applied to complete the data analysis. The significant differences

between the different samples were obtained through a oneway ANOVA analysis with a level of P < 0.05.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Color Evaluation. As Table 1 shows, the color of the vinegar was significantly affected by the ageing time and different storage times have a significant effect on vinegar L^* , a^* , b^* . For the traditionally natural aged vinegar samples with the extension of storage time, the values showed a downward trend. Lightness is the attribute of a visual sensation according to which a given visual stimulus appears to be more or less light, ranging from "light" to "dark" Gómez-m Guez [26]. Table 1 shows that all the L* values of vinegar samples were investigated varying from 2.07 to 0.49 units; a^* values were between 5.54 and 1.12 units. Besides, b^* values were between 4.21 and 0.95. According to Oszmianski [36, 37], these minute dissimilarities between the vinegar samples were by reason to the oxidation instead of the enzymatic treatment. However, the previous literature [38, 39] reported that the ultrasound can accelerate oxidation, esterification, and other reactions. The values of the ultrasonic treated vinegar ($L^* = 2.41, a^* = 6.37, b^* = 5.25$) were higher as compared to nonultrasonic treated vinegar. The value of ΔE^* was found between the ultrasonic treated vinegar and fresh vinegar ($\Delta E^* = 0.94$). These colorimetric data present that the ultrasonic treated vinegar samples exhibited mainly red and yellow tint, which is also a consumer favor. The result shows that a tester can distinguish the color of these vinegar samples. In addition, the reducing sugar in vinegar declining with the extension of ageing time, combined with the later experimental verification Maillard reaction products, increased after ultrasonic treatment, which is consistent with the results of the color change of vinegar treatment.

3.2. Effect of Ultrasound on Hydroxyl Radicals. Figures 1 and 2 show the methylene blue solution UV-visible absorption curve along with the change of ultrasonic time and power. Besides, these results showed that methylene blue solution has the maximum absorption peak at 664 nm and gradually decreases with the increase of ultrasonic time and power. These results show that the concentration of methylene blue solution gradually decreased to prove that the ultrasonic treatment of hydroxyl radicals generated and hydroxyl radical concentration gradually increased over ultrasonic time and power.

As shown in Figure 3, it is not hard to see that in the initial period of time, the production of hydroxyl radical increased rapidly. As the time extended to 75 min later, the rate of increase slowed down. The reason here might be that the increased time for ultrasonic treatment increases the vinegar temperature too high. The vapor pressure in bubbles increases and consequently bubbles closed to enhance the buffer effect and the cavitation role becomes weakened. Therefore, in this study, the ultrasonic time is 75 min.

As shown in Figure 4, with the increase of ultrasonic power, the intensity of the ultrasonic wave generated in unit

4

TABLE 1: Effect of color	change and r	educing sugar in	the natural age	ing process of y	vinegar and	ultrasound	treated v	vinegar.
TABLE 1. LITCE OF COLOR	change and r	coucing sugar m	the natural age	ing process or v	megai anu	unnasouna	incated v	megar.

Age (month)		CIE lab color change				
	L^*	a^*	b^*	ΔE^*	Reducing sugar (g/100 mL)	
0	$2.07 \pm 0.38^{\circ}$	5.54 ± 0.17^{d}	4.21 ± 0.23^{dc}	0.00	4.06 ± 0.15^{d}	
12	1.24 ± 0.24^{b}	5.31 ± 0.20^{d}	3.23 ± 0.10^{dc}	0.85	$3.39 \pm 0.14^{\circ}$	
18	$0.89 \pm 0.02^{ m b}$	$4.56 \pm 0.13^{\circ}$	2.05 ± 0.11^{b}	1.03	2.51 ± 0.16^{ab}	
32	0.64 ± 0.04^{a}	2.22 ± 0.11^{b}	1.83 ± 0.09^{b}	2.79	$2.92\pm0.18^{\rm b}$	
44	0.49 ± 0.02^{d}	1.12 ± 0.02^{a}	0.95 ± 0.02^{a}	1.00	2.24 ± 0.14^{a}	
Ultrasonic treated	2.41 ± 0.01^{d}	6.37 ± 0.02^{d}	5.25 ± 0.13^{d}	0.94	$3.03 \pm 0.45^{\circ}$	



FIGURE 1: UV-visible spectra of methylene blue solution at different ultrasonic times.

time increases, and the cavitation effect produced is stronger [40]. Therefore, when the cavitation bubbles generated by the aqueous solution are crushed, high temperature and high-pressure environment occurs; the number of free radicals generated will be increased sufficiently.

Hydroxyl radical is the most active oxygen free radical [41]. Ultrasound-induced hydroxyl radicals can cause oxidation of sugars, amino acids, proteins, and esters in vinegar [42]. The production of free radicals can speed up the breakage and formation of various substances in vinegar, accelerate the ripening of vinegar, and shorten the ageing time [43].

3.3. Effect of Ultrasound on Superoxide Radica. From Figures 5 and 6, it can be seen that superoxide radicals in the solution that has not been sonicated are not detected; however, a large number of free radicals are generated in the aqueous solution after sonication, which proves that the ultrasonic treatment produces superoxide radicals in the solution and has a significant effect. According to Figure 5, the number of superoxide radicals generated increases with the increase of the ultrasound time and reaches the maximum level at 40 min after sonication. Figure 6 shows that the number of superoxide radicals produced by ultrasound gradually decreases with the increase of ultrasonic power of 10 W/100 mL. The generation of superoxide radicals is due to the action of ultrasound on the oxygen molecules in the aqueous solution. The reason for the above research results is that, on the one hand, it is finally converted into hydroxyl radicals through a series of reactions which is consistent with the results of the previous studies on hydroxyl radicals and, on the other hand, superoxide anions can dismutate to produce hydrogen peroxide and oxygen [44].

Superoxide radicals in water can be considered as a base, which can accept H^+ from a protonated superoxide radical HOO•. In one way, the mechanism is largely to convert it into other more active oxygen ions. The base achieves the promotion of chemical reaction.

3.4. Effect of Ultrasound on Browning Degree of Maillard Reaction. Table 1 shows that after the ultrasonic treatment, the color of the vinegar becomes lighter. The content of



FIGURE 2: UV-visible spectra of methylene blue solution at different ultrasonic powers.



FIGURE 3: The maximum absorption intensity (664 nm) of the methylene blue solution in the UV-visible light varies with the ultrasonic time.

reducing sugar decreased by nearly 50% from 4.06 g/100 mL to 2.24 g/100 mL. Besides, during the traditionally natural ageing process, the changes of vinegar free amino acids are shown in Table 2. It is revealed that as the ageing time becomes longer, the content of free amino acids decreased by 1041.35 mg/100 mL down to 757.87 mg/100 mL. Moreover, after ultrasonic treatment, the content of amino acids in vinegar decreased, consistent with the trend of natural ageing. And ultrasound can produce lots of hydroxyl radicals. Combined with the above experimental results analysis, we speculate that the changes are related to the progress of the Maillard reaction. The monosaccharides in Zhenjiang vinegar is mainly glucose and fructose. And glycine in the



FIGURE 4: The maximum absorption intensity (664 nm) of the methylene blue solution in the UV-visible light varies with the ultrasonic power.

vinegar free amino acid mass fraction is relatively high. In particular, fructose-glycine can form a kind of Amadori compounds [45, 46]. Therefore, in this experiment, the fructose-glycine simulation system was used to verify that ultrasound may speed up the Maillard reaction. As far as we know, the melanoidin produced during the Maillard reaction can make the color of the vinegar darker, so that the degree of browning can be directed to the extent of the Maillard reaction.

As can be seen from Figure 7, the degree of browning of the fructose-glycine simulation system gradually increased with the ultrasonic time rise. And the results showed that



FIGURE 5: The effect of ultrasonic time on superoxide radicals.



FIGURE 6: The effect of ultrasonic power on superoxide radicals.

TABLE 2: Changes in the free amino acids in the vinegar during the ageing process.

Amino acido		Amino acid content (mg/100 mL)					Teste
Allino acius	Fresh	12 months	18 months	32 months	44 months	Ultrasonic treated	Taste
Asp	82.43	67.24	51.90	48.03	46.76	52.22	Sour
Glu	115.64	114.61	120.12	127.85	134.72	128.96	Fresh
Val ^E	77.15	66.66	63.48	58.54	48.86	65.65	Astringent
Leu ^E	107.87	92.73	85.18	82.42	78.73	89.50	Astringent
Gly	91.65	70.70	66.49	63.85	61.84	64.73	Strong sweet
Ala	118.64	103.56	94.81	90.06	83.65	94.46	Strong sweet
Thr ^E	42.13	41.30	38.39	35.48	32.73	38.57	Sweet
Ser	52.49	45.15	44.46	41.94	40.89	42.27	Sweet
Met ^E	13.36	14.39	13.65	12.57	9.29	12.06	Sweet
Phe ^E	34.18	31.83	45.29	39.79	45.45	39.56	Sweet
Pro	61.46	38.97	43.16	32.81	35.68	36.89	Sweet
Lys ^E	45.65	36.55	37.30	27.95	21.19	27.21	Slight sweet
Ile ^E	47.59	51.91	45.73	40.61	37.45	46.39	Bitter
Arg	62.87	50.75	32.20	34.40	29.21	33.86	Bitter
Tyr	49.81	35.48	30.72	31.44	27.78	31.29	Slight bitter
His	27.77	15.00	16.18	11.57	10.12	16.44	Slight bitter
Trp ^E	10.48	14.32	17.63	17.54	13.52	14.88	Slight bitter
Total	1041.35	891.18	836.69	796.85	757.87	843.94	

E represents the essential amino acids, T represents the total amino acids, and N represents the nonessential amino acids.



FIGURE 7: The effect of ultrasonic time on browning intensity.



FIGURE 8: The effect of ultrasonic power on browning intensity.

the degree of browning increased slowly after 60 min of sonication. In Figure 8, with the ultrasonic power rise, the degree of browning of the simulated system showed a tendency to increase first and then decrease and reached the maximum when the ultrasonic power density was 50 W/100 mL. This result is consistent with our previous experimental conclusions [9]. The apparent increase in the absorbance indicates that the midterm product of the Maillard reaction is accumulating. This difference could be related to the acoustic cavitation. Since this cavitation activity can be viewed as a dramatic concentration of acoustic energy resulting in localized high stresses, temperatures, and/or fluid velocities, its biological consequences should be understood by those who are trying to either optimize or minimize its effects [47]. Additionally, the violent collapse of bubbles can generate exceedingly steep heat and pressure, which can produce free radicals and so forth [48], and then small molecules can rearrange [4]. The results show that the ultrasonic wave can strengthen the fructose-glycine Maillard reaction, promote the system browning, and induce the middle stage and the formation of advanced stage products.



FIGURE 9: The effect of ultrasonic time on intermediate quantity.



FIGURE 10: The effect of ultrasonic power on intermediate quantity.

3.5. Effect of Ultrasound on the Amount of the Intermediate Products in Maillard Reaction. In the Maillard reaction process, there are some noncolor intermediates, such as small molecules of ketones and aldehydes, which are also important indicators of the Maillard reaction [34]. As can be seen from Figures 9 and 10, without ultrasonic processing, the intermediate product of the Maillard reaction has not been detected in the simulation system solution. Applying the ultrasonic vinegar sample, however, the intermediate product of the reaction significantly altered. Results (Figures 9 and 10) showed that accompanied with the ultrasonic time and ultrasonic power rise, the median product of the Maillard reaction increased gradually, reaching the maximum at 75 min and 50 W/100 mL, respectively. The change of Maillard intermediates may largely be due to the fact that ultrasound can induce some oxygen ions and hydroxyl radicals in the aqueous solution [49], and the production and rearrangement of these oxygen ions and hydroxyl radicals can promote the Maillard reaction of the fructoseglycine simulation system, leading to the production of intermediates. The degree of browning and the number of intermediate products in the ultrasonic treatment simulation system can be used to prove the ultrasonic catalytic Maillard reaction.

4. Conclusion

In this study, under the conditions of ultrasonic processing, the changes of Zhenjiang vinegar physiochemical index, such as color, reducing sugar, and amino acid, are consistent with those of natural ageing. In addition, the sonicated vinegar produces hydroxyl radicals, which generally appear to increase with increasing ultrasound time and ultrasound power. The present study reveals that the mechanism of ultrasonic ageing lies in the cavitation of ultrasound to induce the generation of radicals, such as hydroxyl radicals and superoxide radicals, catalyze the oxidation reaction in vinegar, and verify it by the fructose-glycine Maillard simulation system. The results showed that ultrasonic treatment had positive impacts on the vinegar ageing process. For the future, much research is needed to determine the exact role of ultrasound in vinegar ageing.

Data Availability

All data generated or analyzed during this study are included in this published article.

Conflicts of Interest

All authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Authors' Contributions

Xiaoke Ma and Tingting Li contributed equally to this study.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by a grant from Modern Agriculture-Key and General Projects (BE2018368) and the Key Technology R&D Program of Zhenjiang (no. SH2019011).

References

- S. Baroni, R. Consonni, G. Ferrante, and S. Aime, "Relaxometric studies for food characterization: the case of balsamic and traditional balsamic vinegars," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 57, no. 8, pp. 3028–3032, 2009.
- [2] L. Solieri and P. Giudici, *Vinegars of the World*, Springer, Berlin, Germany, 2009.
- [3] Z. Zhou, S. Liu, X. Kong et al., "Elucidation of the aroma compositions of Zhenjiang aromatic vinegar using comprehensive two dimensional gas chromatography coupled to time-of-flight mass spectrometry and gas chromatographyolfactometry," *Journal of Chromatography A*, vol. 1487, pp. 218–226, 2017.
- [4] T. Yang, F. Juan, and D. Sun, "Advances in wine ageing technologies for enhancing wine quality and accelerating wine ageing process," *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, vol. 6, pp. 817–835, 2014.
- [5] A. C. Chang, "The effects of gamma irradiation on rice wine maturation," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 83, pp. 323–327, 2003.

- [6] A. Chang, "Study of ultrasonic wave treatments for accelerating the aging process in a rice alcoholic beverage," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 92, no. 2, pp. 337–342, 2005.
- [7] A. C. Chang and F. C. Chen, "The application of 20 kHz ultrasonic waves to accelerate the aging of different wines," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 79, no. 4, pp. 501–506, 2002.
- [8] N. Masuzawa, E. Ohdaira, and M. Ide, "Effects of ultrasonic irradiation on phenolic compounds in wine," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 39, no. 5B, pp. 2978-2979, 2000.
- [9] Z. Wang, T. Li, F. Liu et al., "Effects of ultrasonic treatment on the maturation of Zhenjiang vinegar," *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, vol. 39, pp. 272–280, 2017.
- [10] X. A. Zeng, S. J. Yu, L. Zhang, and X. D. Chen, "The effects of AC electric field on wine maturation," *Innovative Food Science* & *Emerging Technologies*, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 463–468, 2008.
- [11] A. C. Soria and M. Villamiel, "Effect of ultrasound on the technological properties and bioactivity of food: a review," *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, vol. 21, no. 7, pp. 323–331, 2010.
- [12] J. Li, J. Jiang, and Y. Fu, "Superhigh pressure process for wine ageing," CN 1241629 (A). European Patent Application, 2000.
- [13] Y. Peng, R. Gan, H. Li et al., "Absorption, metabolism, and bioactivity of vitexin: recent advances in understanding the efficacy of an important," *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, vol. 27, pp. 1–16, 2020.
- [14] F. Chemat, M. K. Zill-e-Huma, and M. K. Khan, "Applications of ultrasound in food technology: processing, preservation and extraction," *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 813–835, 2011.
- [15] L. Zheng and D.-W. Sun, "Innovative applications of power ultrasound during food freezing processes-a review," *Trends* in Food Science & Technology, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 16–23, 2006.
- [16] V. Jiranek, P. Grbin, A. Yap, M. Barnes, and D. Bates, "High power ultrasonics as a novel tool offering new opportunities for managing wine microbiology," *Biotechnology Letters*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 1–6, 2008.
- [17] J. F. G. MartíN and D.-W. Sun, "Ultrasound and electric fields as novel techniques for assisting the wine ageing process: the state-of-the-art research," *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, vol. 33, pp. 40–53, 2013.
- [18] A. J. Saterlay and R. G. Compton, "Sonoelectroanalysis-an overview," *Fresenius' Journal of Analytical Chemistry*, vol. 367, no. 4, pp. 308–313, 2000.
- [19] M. Ashokkumar, "The characterization of acoustic cavitation bubbles-an overview," *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 864–872, 2011.
- [20] E. Maisonhaute, C. Prado, P. C. White, and R. G. Compton, "Surface acoustic cavitation understood via nanosecond electrochemistry. Part III: shear stress in ultrasonic cleaning," *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 297–303, 2002.
- [21] L. Pripis-nicolau, G. De revel, A. Bertrand, and A. Maujean, "Formation of flavor components by the reaction of amino acid and carbonyl compounds in mild conditions," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 48, no. 9, pp. 3761–3766, 2000.
- [22] M. Casale, M.-J. Sáiz Abajo, J.-M. González Sáiz, C. Pizarro, and M. Forina, "Study of the aging and oxidation processes of vinegar samples from different origins during storage by nearinfrared spectroscopy," *Analytica Chimica Acta*, vol. 557, no. 1-2, pp. 360–366, 2006.
- [23] H. Brückner, J. Justus, and J. Kirschbaum, "Saccharide induced racemization of amino acids in the course of the

Maillard reaction," *Amino Acids*, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 429–433, 2001.

- [24] S. C. Shen and S. B. Wu, "Maillard browning in ethanolic solution," *Journal of Food Science*, vol. 69, no. 4, Article ID FCT273-FCT279, 2004.
- [25] S. C. Shen, K. C. Tseng, and S. B. Wu, "An analysis of Maillard reaction products in ethanolic glucose-glycine solution," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 102, no. 1, pp. 281–287, 2007.
- [26] M. J. Gómez-m Guez, M. Gmez-m guez, I. M. Vicario, and F. J. Heredia, "Assessment of colour and aroma in white wines vinifications: effects of grape maturity and soil type," *Journal* of Food Engineering, vol. 79, pp. 758–764, 2007.
- [27] Z. Chunyan, "Improvement of flavor and color of vinegar produced by submerged fermentation," *China Brewing*, vol. 19, pp. 79–81, 2008.
- [28] L. I. Gang, "Influence of several anti-oxidizing agent upon the persimmon vinegar color," *Journal of Anhui Agricultural Sciences*, vol. 34, pp. 651–654, 2006.
- [29] B. Gordillo, M. J. Cejudo-Bastante, F. J. Rodríguez-Pulido et al., "Impact of adding white pomace to red grapes on the phenolic composition and color stability of syrah wines from a warm climate," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 62, no. 12, pp. 2663–2671, 2014.
- [30] O. S. Pérez-magari and M. L. Gonz lez-san JOS, "Polyphenols and colour variability of red wines made from grapes harvested at different ripeness grade," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 96, pp. 197–208, 2006.
- [31] Z. Xiaodong, Y. Huizhong, and L. Zhiyi, "Relationship between strength of hydrodynamic cavitation and amount of induced hydroxyl radical," *Journal of Chemical Industry and Engineering:China*, vol. 33, pp. 799–809, 2007.
- [32] H.-J. Zhang and H.-S. Xia, "Measurement of hydroxyl radical induced by cavitation of HIFU," *Guangzhou Chemical Industry*, vol. 36, pp. 47-48, 2008.
- [33] F. Gu, J. M. Kim, K. Hayat, S. Xia, B. Feng, and X. Zhang, "Characteristics and antioxidant activity of ultrafiltrated Maillard reaction products from a casein-glucose model system," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 117, no. 1, pp. 48–54, 2009.
- [34] E. H. Ajandouz, L. S. Tchiakpe, F. D. Ore, A. Benajiba, and A. Puigserver, "Effects of pH on caramelization and maillard reaction kinetics in fructose-lysine model systems," *Journal of Food Science*, vol. 66, no. 7, pp. 926–931, 2001.
- [35] H. M. Chawla and S. N. Sahu, "Effect of spice essential oils on Maillard browning model reaction of glucose and glycine: an UV-visible and reverse phase HPLC analysis," *Journal of Food Science and Technology -Mysore-*, vol. 44, pp. 602–606, 2007.
- [36] J. Oszmiański, A. Wojdylo, and J. Kolniak, "Effect of enzymatic mash treatment and storage on phenolic composition, antioxidant activity, and turbidity of cloudy apple juice," *Journal of Agricultural & Food Chemistry*, vol. 57, pp. 7078– 7085, 2009.
- [37] J. Oszmiański, A. Wojdyło, and J. Kolniak, "Effect of pectinase treatment on extraction of antioxidant phenols from pomace, for the production of puree-enriched cloudy apple juices," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 127, no. 2, pp. 623–631, 2011.
- [38] X. Z. Lin, W. X. Li, Z. C. Liang, X. Y. Ren, and Z. G. He, "Study on the loquat fruit vinegar of accelerating maturity technology by ultrasonic," *China Condiment*, vol. 10, pp. 23–26, 2009.
- [39] Z. Wang, S. Shao, S. Zhao, and M. A. Haile, "Application of principal component analysis in comprehensive assessment of ultrasound treatment on vinegar," *Journal of Food Science & Biotechnology*, vol. 34, pp. 73–79, 2015.
- [40] Q.-A. Zhang, H. Shen, X.-H. Fan, Y. Shen, X. Wang, and Y. Song, "Changes of gallic acid mediated by ultrasound in a

model extraction solution," *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, vol. 22, pp. 149–154, 2015.

- [41] D. Tpa, J. C. Tilak, K. K. Boloor, K. S. Sane, S. S. Ghaskadbi, and R. D. Lele, "Free radicals and antioxidants in human health," *The Journal of the Association of Physicians in Indians*, vol. 52, pp. 794–804, 2004.
- [42] B. Halliwell, "Role of free radicals in the neurodegenerative diseases," *Drugs & Aging*, vol. 18, no. 9, p. 685, 2001.
- [43] S. Jie, The Study for Influence of Quality of Rice Wine by Ultrasonic Treatment and its Mechanism, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China, 2013.
- [44] H. Zhang and F. Z. Ren, "Advances in determination of hydroxyl and superoxide radicals," Spectroscopy & Spectral Analysis, vol. 29, p. 1093, 2009.
- [45] J.-S. Kim, "Study on maillard reaction products derived from aqueous and ethanolic fructose-Glycine and its oligomer solutions," *Preventive Nutrition and Food Science*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 297–303, 2010.
- [46] J.-S. Kim and Y.-S. Lee, "Characteristics and antioxidant activity of Maillard reaction products from fructose-glycine oligomer," *Food Science and Biotechnology*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 929–940, 2010.
- [47] H. Liu and C. Hsieh, "Single-transducer dual-frequency ultrasound generation to enhance acoustic cavitation," *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, vol. 16, no. 3, p. 431, 2009.
- [48] A. Strybulevych, V. Leroy, M. G. Scanlon, and J. H. Page, "Characterizing a model food gel containing bubbles and solid inclusions using ultrasound," *Soft Matter*, vol. 3, no. 11, pp. 1388–1394, 2007.
- [49] M. Corzo-Martínez, A. Montilla, R. Megías-Pérez, A. Olano, F. J. Moreno, and M. Villamiel, "Impact of high-intensity ultrasound on the formation of lactulose and Maillard reaction glycoconjugates," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 157, pp. 186– 192, 2014.



Research Article

The Effects of Carbendazim on Acute Toxicity, Development, and Reproduction in *Caenorhabditis elegans*

Jie Li¹, ¹ Xinghua Zhou¹, ¹ Caiqin Zhang, ¹ Yansheng Zhao, ¹ Ying Zhu, ¹ Jiayan Zhang, ¹ Juan Bai, ¹ and Xiang Xiao¹, ²

¹School of Food and Biological Engineering, Jiangsu University, Zhenjiang 212013, China ²Jiangsu Jiangnan Biotech Co., Ltd., Zhanjiang 212300, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Xinghua Zhou; zxh2012@ujs.edu.cn

Received 20 May 2020; Revised 29 May 2020; Accepted 10 August 2020; Published 28 August 2020

Academic Editor: quancai sun

Copyright © 2020 Jie Li et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Carbendazim, as a fungicide, was commonly used to control fungal diseases in agriculture, forestry, and veterinary medicines. In this study, the acute and reproductive toxicity of carbendazim was assessed using *Caenorhabditis elegans* (*C. elegans*) as a model in order to preliminarily evaluate the potential risks of this fungicide in agricultural production and application. The results showed that the growth of *C. elegans* was inhibited by $0.01 \,\mu$ g/L carbendazim. The treatment of $0.1 \,\mu$ g/L carbendazim caused a significant decrease in locomotion behavior and significant damage to the reproductive and antioxidant system, causing the lifespan of nematodes to be drastically shortened. These results provide a better understanding of the environmental risk of carbendazim and raise new concerns about safety.

1. Introduction

Pesticides, a kind of chemical or biological reagents, are widely used in agriculture to regulate plant growth and control diseases and insect pests, which can promote crop growth and improve crop yield [1]. However, the widespread use of pesticides will lead to different degrees of residues in crops or food and thus affect human health [2]. The problems of pesticide residues have not only attracted great attention of consumers but also become one of the key factors affecting food safety [3].

Carbendazim, as a broad-spectrum fungicide, has been used to control fungal diseases in agriculture, forestry, and veterinary medicines [4]. However, carbendazim is categorized in the hazardous category of chemicals by the World Health Organization [5] and has been classified in the priority list of endocrine-disrupting chemicals by the European Commission [6]. In recent years, it is obvious that the widespread use of carbendazim with over-range and overdose and the fact that carbendazim is hard to be degraded both lead to the problem of carbendazim residues in agriculture [7]. Although the toxic effect of carbendazim has been reported since the 1980s, the toxicity of carbendazim becomes a hot topic because of the increasing concern about environmental endocrine disruptors [4]. Carbendazim has been banned in several countries because of its negative impacts on the environment and health such as development and reproductive disturbances, toxicity, and mutagenicity [8]. The adverse effects of carbendazim on the biochemical, histopathological, and hematological parameters in the liver, kidney, and endocrine glands and their hormonal levels have been illustrated in rats [4]. Additionally, it needs further study on low concentration due to the residues of carbendazim.

Caenorhabditis elegans (*C. elegans*), as an important research model, is widely used to do some assessment. According to Amrit et al. [9], *C. elegans* has many advantages, such as small size, rapid generation time, easy of culturing on laboratory, and short adult lifespan. *C. elegans* was chosen in this study as the model organism to evaluate the toxicity of low concentration of carbendazim, which may be considered as a reference value for the application of carbendazim in agriculture.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Chemicals and Strains. Carbendazim (purity \geq 99%; Aladdin[®] Biochemical Technology Co., LTD, Shanghai, China) was dissolved in N, N-dimethylformamide (DMF; Sinopharm Chemical Reagent Co., LTD, Shanghai, China) to produce 1 g/L carbendazim original solution. The concentrations of DMF were 0.1% in final exposure solutions (0.01, 0.1, 1, 10, 100 µg/L). 0.1% DMF without carbendazim was the control group. *C. elegans* (wild-type N2) were originally obtained from the *Caenorhabditis* Genetics Center (University of Minnesota, MN, USA). The nematodes were cultivated on nematode growth medium (NGM) plates that were seeded with *Escherichia coli* OP50 at 20°C as described [10]. L1-larval *C. elegans* were collected by washing the gravid nematodes with a bleaching mixture (1 M NaOH, 10% NaHOCI).

2.2. Lethality. Carbendazim original solutions (1 g/L) were diluted with S liquid medium $(1.12 \text{ g } \text{K}_2\text{HPO}_4, 5.92 \text{ g} \text{ KH}_2\text{PO}_4, \text{ and } 5.85 \text{ g} \text{ NaCl were diluted with } 1 \text{ L water})$ to get the final carbendazim concentrations of 0, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8, and 1 mg/L, which contained 0.1% DMF. S liquid medium with 0.1% DMF was the control group. 30 nematodes (L4) were tested in 96-well plates for each concentration. The survival of nematodes was counted under a microscope after culturing for 24 hours in the incubator. The process of the test is based on the method of Xiang et al. [11]. Three parallel experiments were needed.

2.3. Locomotion Behavior. At least 10 *C. elegans* (L4) were picked randomly from each concentration to determine the locomotive behavior, which was recorded by both the head-thrash frequency and the body bend times [12]. The number of head-thrash frequency was counted by changes in the direction of bending at the midbody of *C. elegans* in 1 min. Measurement of body bend was defined as the times of the direction changes of the part of the nematodes cultured in NGM without *E. coli* OP50 in the 30 s.

2.4. Growth and Development Assays. C. elegans exposed to carbendazim for 24 h was analyzed. The body length of nematodes exposed to carbendazim was assessed by the Image J software. The offspring of each C. elegans from L4 larvae to day 1 was recorded at the L3 stage after individually transferring to a new plate every day until reproduction ceased [13]. At least three parallel tests were carried out.

2.5. Lifespan Analysis. All of *C. elegans* tested for lifespan were cultured in the same condition at 20°C. The synchronized *C. elegans* were cultivated in NGM plates with different concentrations of carbendazim until day 4. The tested nematodes then would be transferred into new NGM plates every 2 days. Surviving and dead *C. elegans* were recorded daily (beginning on the first day of adulthood) until all nematodes for each concentration had died [11]. At least three parallel tests were carried out.

2.6. Determination of Oxidative Damage. Intracellular ROS was measured with 2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluoroscein diacetate (H₂DCFH-DA), which is the most common and sensitive reactive oxygen detection probe by far. The wild-type N2 *C. elegans* were washed in M9 buffer and then ultrasonically disrupted. The supernatant was analyzed the ROS level following the instruction of the ROS kit. The final working concentration of H₂DCHE-DA was 10 μ M [11]. The excitation and emission absorbance wavelengths were 485 nm and 535 nm, respectively. At least three parallel tests were carried out.

Intracellular total superoxide dismutase (T-SOD) was determined according to the instruction of the T-SOD kit purchased from the Nanjing Jiancheng Bioengineering Institute. After washed with M9 three times, the examined nematodes were ultrasonically disrupted and reacted with a T-SOD kit. The absorbance wavelength was 550 nm. In addition, the supernatant was used to detect the level of protein for each concentration, in which absorbance wavelength was 595 nm. At least three parallel tests were carried out.

2.7. Data Analysis. All data were given as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) by using one-way ANOVA. Graphs were presented using Origin 8.5 and GraphPad Primer 7, and statistical analysis was performed using the SPSS 19.0 software. The statistical significance level was conducted using * p < 0.05 and ** p < 0.01.

3. Results

3.1. Determination of the Locomotion Behavior of C. elegans after Carbendazim Acute Exposures. LC_{50} C. elegans were exposed to carbendazim for 24 hours to assess its acute toxic effects. Data are represented as shown in Table 1, and the obtained linear fitting equation was y = 2.180x - 0.223 through data analysis. The obtained LC_{50} is 0.867 mg/L.

Next, we assayed the determination of the locomotive behavior of *C. elegans* after carbendazim acute exposures by analyzing the data about head-thrash frequency and body-bending times of nematodes (Figures 1(a) and 1(b)). Both of them showed significant decreases at the carbendazim concentrations ranging from $0.01 \,\mu$ g/L to $100 \,\mu$ g/L (p < 0.01). Additionally, the head thrashes of nematodes exposed to $100 \,\mu$ g/L decreased to 68.27%. For the body bends test, when the carbendazim concentrations were $10 \,\mu$ g/L and $100 \,\mu$ g/L, it had a significant inhibitory effect on the body bends of *C. elegans* by 36.77% and 35.48% compared with the control one, respectively.

3.2. Determination of the Growth and Development of *C. elegans after Carbendazim Acute Exposures.* Compared with the control group (Figures 1(c) and 1(d)), body length and body surface area were significantly (p < 0.01) reduced in the exposure groups from $0.01 \,\mu g/L$ to $100 \,\mu g/L$. Both of them were decreased by 19.16% and 22.15% at the treatment of $0.01 \,\mu g/L$ compared with the control group, respectively. The concentration of $10 \,\mu g/L$ presented the most negative

Journal of Food Quality



TABLE 1: Effects of carbendazim on LC₅₀ C. elegans by 24-h acute exposures.

FIGURE 1: Effects of *C. elegans* on physiological traits exposed to carbendazim. (a) The head thrashes of *C. elegans* after carbendazim exposure; (b) the body bends of *C. elegans* after carbendazim exposure; (c) the body length of *C. elegans* after carbendazim exposure; and (d) the body surface area of *C. elegans* after carbendazim exposure. Data (mean \pm SEM) are shown in figures as the percentage values compared with the control group. The asterisks present the significances between the each exposure group and control group (* p < 0.05 and ** p < 0.01).

impacts, and body length and body surface area of *C. elegans* were decreased by 35.21% and 65.22% compared with the control group, respectively.

3.3. Determination of the Brood Sizes of C. elegans after Carbendazim Acute Exposures. According to Figure 2, brood sizes of nematodes had a significant decrease (p < 0.01) in the treatment groups from $0.1 \,\mu$ g/L to $100 \,\mu$ g/L. The brood sizes of C. elegans decreased most significantly,

which decreased to 43.71% with the treatment of $10 \,\mu\text{g/L}$ compared with the control group.

3.4. Determination of the Lifespan of C. elegans after Carbendazim Acute Exposures. C. elegans lifespan was significantly inhibited by $0.01 \,\mu\text{g/L}$ to $100 \,\mu\text{g/L}$ carbendazim according to the lifespan curve shown in Figure 3. The results presented that C. elegans lifespan was decreased from 24 to 20 days with the treatment of $0.01 \,\mu\text{g/L}$ carbendazim. The



FIGURE 2: Effects of *C. elegans* on brood size exposed to carbendazim. Data (mean \pm SEM) are shown as the percentage value compared with the control group. The asterisks present the significance between the each exposure group and control group (* p < 0.05 and ** p < 0.01).



FIGURE 3: Effects of *C. elegans* on survival exposed to carbendazim. Data (mean \pm SEM) are shown as the percentage value compared with the control group. The asterisks present the significance between the each exposure group and control group (*p < 0.05 and **p < 0.01).

lifespan of nematodes treated with $0.01 \,\mu$ g/L carbendazim was reduced by 20.00%. When the carbendazim exposure concentration was 100 μ g/L, the lifespan of *C. elegans* was reduced the most by 45.83%.

3.5. Effects of Acute Exposure to Carbendazim on the Antioxidant System of C. elegans. The ROS levels of control and treated C. elegans at carbendazim exposure of different concentrations are shown in Figure 4(a). It was indicated that the level of intracellular ROS was significantly increased (p < 0.01) at ranges from $0.01 \ \mu g/L$ to $100 \ \mu g/L$ carbendazim. Compared with the control one, the ROS level was increased at most by 70.60% with the treatment of 10 μ g/L. According to the results of intracellular SOD levels, it had an increase at the treatment from 0.01 μ g/L to 100 μ g/L carbendazim (Figure 4(b)). The SOD level was increased by 10.70% at 0.1 μ g/L carbendazim compared with the control group.

4. Discussion

Carbendazim, as the fungicides, is widely used in agriculture to inhibit the growth of fungus. Carbendazim has been prohibited to use in Australia, most of the European Union, and the USA because of its severe toxicology and persistent nature [14]. For this study, it was the first time to use *C. elegans* as the model organisms to evaluate the effects of carbendazim on locomotive behavior, growth and development, reproduction, lifespan, and antioxidant systems. Moreover, results showed that it had a negative influence on *C. elegans*.

According to the 24 h-LC₅₀, the acute toxicity concentration of C. elegans exposed to different concentrations of carbendazim is 0.867 mg/L. The 96-h LC₅₀ of carbendazim in response to zebrafish has been illustrated as 1.75 mg/L [15]. The eggs of Prussian carp Carassius gibelio has shown the toxicity effects at the concentration of 0.036 mg/L [16, 17]. Studies presented that the growth and development of Navicula sp. is inhibited by carbendazim with a 24 h-EC_{50} value of 2.18 mg/L. Though the rate of algal growth is recovered after 72-h exposure, the chlorophyll-a content remains significantly decreased when the treatment of carbendazim was beyond 0.5 mg/L [18]. In this present, C. elegans exposed to a low concentration of carbendazim were selected to evaluate its effects depending on the actual concentration of human daily exposure. Low concentrations of carbendazim do not mean it is safe. Carbendazim shows negative biological impacts at much lower doses in some studies.

Locomotive behavior was evaluated to assess the neurotoxicity of *C. elegans* (L4 larva) after 24-h exposure to carbendazim. The results showed that carbendazim could have negative effects on locomotive behavior through the detection of head thrashing and body bending of *C. elegans*, which both were more sensitive at the higher exposure group. The locomotive behavior of zebrafish embryos exposed to carbendazim is sensitive [15]. Previous studies have shown that fish have an abnormal behavior when sublethal concentrations of carbendazim are 0.22–0.43 mg/L [19].

Developmental malformations could also be one reason for abnormal locomotion [20]. The growth and development of *C. elegans* were assayed in our study. Results showed that the body length and body area of *C. elegans* were significantly narrowed at the treatment exceeding $0.01 \mu g/L$ carbendazim. The normal growth of vertebrates is related to the metabolic thyroid hormone homeostasis [21, 22]. Williams et al. [23] have indicated that carbendazim could cause sperm loss after implantation, fetal malformation, and slow growth and development.

The reproductive toxicity of carbendazim has been demonstrated that carbendazim could inhibit the microtubule polymerization of fungal and mammalian cells, causing disruption of microtubule assembly by acting with



FIGURE 4: Effects of *C. elegans* on antioxidative system exposed to carbendazim. (a) The ROS level of *C. elegans* after carbendazim exposure; (b) the SOD level of *C. elegans* after carbendazim exposure. Data (mean \pm SEM) are shown as the percentage value compared with the control group. The asterisks present significance between the each exposure group and control group (* p < 0.05 and ** p < 0.01).

β-tubulin, which results in impairing the segregation of chromosomes in the process of cell division [24]. The formation of microtubules by noncovalent bindings of α- and β-tubulin is responsible for chromosome segregation in the process of mitosis and meiosis [24]. The brood size of *C. elegans* significantly decreases at 0.1 µg/L carbendazim concentration. Carbendazim has been found to affect the reproduction systems in Japanese quails [25] and hamsters [23]. It was concluded that *C. elegans* lifespan was significantly decreased with carbendazim concentration of ≥0.01 µg/L based on our study. Studies have shown that carbendazim has led to infertility and developmental toxicity and manifests embryo toxicity, germ cell apoptosis, and teratogenesis in different mammalian species [17, 18, 24].

Apoptosis is a complex programmed cell death, which is a highly regulated phenomenon characterized by a series of cellular processes [26, 27]. Many studies have presented that the production of ROS induced by oxidative stress is related to apoptotic cell death [28]. Our study found that carbendazim could induce a significant increase in the level of ROS values and a little increase in the level of SOD values. Oxidative stress caused by environmental pollution induces the increased expression of ROS and subsequently damages the antioxidant defense system [29]. SOD is responsible for the detoxification of toxic free radicals and their activities, which is used to evaluate the oxidative stress level and cellular antioxidant status [17, 24]. Metalloenzyme SOD accelerates the transformation of endogenous cytotoxic superoxide radicals to H₂O₂, and the increase of SOD expression levels may contribute to improving the enzyme activities in order to eliminate the superoxide radicals induced by carbendazim and to prevent the occurrence of cellular dysfunction during exposure of carbendazim [24, 29]. Higher exposure concentrations of carbendazim could cause severe oxidative stress, which subsequently destroys the balance of cell homeostasis and promote apoptosis [30]. However, carbendazim in low concentrations could still significantly damage the reproductive system according to our results.

5. Conclusion

As far as we know, the present study evaluated the safety of carbendazim exposed to *C. elegans* for the first time. It demonstrated that carbendazim could have a harmful effect on the locomotive behavior, development and growth, reproduction, lifespan, and antioxidant system of *C. elegans*. Hope that it needs to pay more attention to the application of carbendazim based on the results. In addition, the safety of carbendazim for use needs to evaluate further, especially the bioaccumulation toxicity and potential genotoxic effects.

Data Availability

All data generated or analyzed during this study are included in this article.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (31501569).

References

- H. Li, E. Y. Zeng, and J. You, "Mitigating pesticide pollution in China requires law enforcement, farmer training, and technological innovation," *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 963–971, 2014.
- [2] W. Han, Y. Tian, and X. Shen, "Human exposure to neonicotinoid insecticides and the evaluation of their potential toxicity: an overview," *Chemosphere*, vol. 192, pp. 59–65, 2018.
- [3] U. Bajwa and K. S. Sandhu, "Effect of handling and processing on pesticide residues in food- a review," *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 201–220, 2014.
- [4] A. Farag, H. Ebrahim, R. ElMazoudy, and E. Kadous, "Developmental toxicity of fungicide carbendazim in female

mice," Birth Defects Research Part B: Developmental and Reproductive Toxicology, vol. 92, no. 2, pp. 122–130, 2011a.

- [5] W. H. Goodson III, L. Lowe, DO. Carpenter et al., "Assessing the carcinogenic potential of low-dose exposures to chemical mixtures in the environment: the challenge ahead," *Carcinogenesis*, vol. 36, no. Suppl 1, pp. S254–S296, 2015.
- [6] A. L. G. Ferreira, S. Loureiro, and A. M. V. M. Soares, "Toxicity prediction of binary combinations of cadmium, carbendazim and low dissolved oxygen on *Daphnia Magna*," *Aquatic Toxicology*, vol. 89, no. 1, pp. 28–39, 2008.
- [7] D. Liang, Y. Ren, J. Li et al., "Detection of carbendazim residues in aqueous samples by fluorescent quenching of plant esterase," *Journal of Applied Spectroscopy*, vol. 85, no. 3, pp. 535–542, 2018.
- [8] E. P. da Costa, S. E. C. Bottrel, M. C. V. M. Starling, M. M. D. Leão, and C. C. Amorim, "Degradation of carbendazim in water via photo-fenton in raceway pond reactor: assessment of acute toxicity and transformation products," *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, vol. 36, no. 5, pp. 4324–4336, 2018.
- [9] F. R. G. Amrit, R. Ratnappan, S. A. Keith, and A. Ghazi, "The C. elegans lifespan assay toolkit," *Methods*, vol. 68, no. 3, pp. 465–475, 2014.
- [10] A. K. Corsi, W. Bruce, and C. Martin, "A Transparent Window into Biology," A Primer onCaenorhabditis Elegans Genetics, vol. 200, pp. 387–407, 2015.
- [11] X. Xiang, X. Zhang, X. Zhang et al., "Toxicity and multigenerational effects of bisphenol S exposure to Caenorhabditis elegans on developmental, biochemical, reproductive and oxidative stress," *Toxicology Research*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 630–640, 2019.
- [12] R. Farias-Pereira, J. Oshiro, K.-H. Kim, and Y. Park, "Green coffee bean extract and 5-O-caffeoylquinic acid regulate fat metabolism in Caenorhabditis elegans," *Journal of Functional Foods*, vol. 48, pp. 586–593, 2018.
- [13] Q. Rui, Y. Zhao, Q. Wu, M. Tang, and D. Wang, "Biosafety assessment of titanium dioxide nanoparticles in acutely exposed nematode Caenorhabditis elegans with mutations of genes required for oxidative stress or stress response," *Chemosphere*, vol. 93, no. 10, pp. 2289–2296, 2013.
- [14] X. Zhang, Y. Huang, P. R. Harvey et al., "Isolation and characterization of carbendazim-degrading Rhodococcus erythropolis djl-11," *PLoS One*, vol. 8, no. 10, p. e74810, 2013.
- [15] T. S. Andrade, J. F. Henriques, A. Almeida et al., "Corrigendum to "Carbendazim exposure induces developmental, biochemical and behavioural disturbance in zebrafish embryos"" Aquatic Toxicology, vol. 173, p. 228, 2016.
- [16] A. Ludwikowskaaga, B. Bojarski, M. Socha, H. Lutnicka, and K. B. Trzeciak, "The effect of carbendazim on embryonic Prussian carp (*Carassius gibelio*) development and hatching," *Archives of Polish Fisheries*, vol. 21, pp. 367–371, 2013.
- [17] S. Singh, N. Singh, V. Kumar et al., "Toxicity, monitoring and biodegradation of the fungicide carbendazim," *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 317–329, 2016.
- [18] T. Singh, W. Li, and J. Li, "Toxicity and metabolic fate of the fungicide carbendazim in the typical freshwater diatom Navicula sp," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 67, no. 24, pp. 6683–6690, 2019.
- [19] C. Nwani, M. C. Omah, N. Ivoke, H. O. Nwamba, and S. U. Ogbonna, "Biochemical, haematological and morphological variations in juvenile *Clarias gariepinus* exposed to Carbendazim[®] fungicide African," *Journal of Aquatic Science*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 63–71, 2015.

- [20] K. B. Tierney, "Behavioural assessments of neurotoxic effects and neurodegeneration in Zebrafish," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)—Molecular Basis of Disease*, vol. 1812, no. 3, pp. 381–389, 20111.
- [21] S.-Y. Cheng, J. L. Leonard, and P. J. Davis, "Molecular aspects of thyroid hormone actions," *Endocrine Reviews*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 139–170, 2010.
- [22] D. Crump, S. Chiu, and K. L. Williams, "Bisphenol S alters embryonic viability, development, gallbladder size, and messenger RNA expression in chicken embryos exposed via egg injection," *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, vol. 35, no. 6, pp. 1541–1549, 2016.
- [23] L. Williams, J. Ostby, R. Linder, J. Goldman, and R. Cooper, "Carbendazim-induced alterations of reproductive development and function in the rat and hamster," *Fundamental and Applied Toxicology*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 281–297, 1990.
- [24] E. M. Rama, S. Bortolan, M. L. Vieira, D. C. C. Gerardin, and E. G. Moreira, "Reproductive and possible hormonal effects of carbendazim," *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, vol. 69, no. 3, pp. 476–486, 2014.
- [25] T. A. Aire, "Short-term effects of carbendazim on the gross and microscopic features of the testes of Japanese quails (*Coturnix coturnix* japonica)," *Anatomy and Embryology*, vol. 210, no. 1, pp. 43–49, 2005.
- [26] Y. Peng, R. Gan, H. Li et al., "Absorption, Metabolism, and Bioactivity of Vitexin: recent advances in understanding the efficacy of an important nutraceutical," *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, pp. 1–16, 2020.
- [27] J. Ying, J. Xu, L. Shen et al., "The effect of sodium fluoride on cell apoptosis and the mechanism of human lung BEAS-2B cells in vitro," *Biological Trace Element Research*, vol. 179, no. 1, pp. 59–69, 2017.
- [28] S. A. Xu and S. Y. Shalaby, "Carbendazim-induced testicular damage and oxidative stress in albino rats: ameliorative effect of licorice aqueous extract," *Toxicology and Industrial Health*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 259–267, 2012.
- [29] S. E. Owumi, S. O. Nwozo, and E. S. Najophe, "Quercetin abates induction of hepatic and renal oxidative damage, inflammation, and apoptosis in carbendazim-treated rats," *Toxicology Research and Application*, vol. 3, Article ID 239784731984952, 2019.
- [30] I. A. Adedara, S. Vaithinathan, R. Jubendradass, P. P. Mathur, and E. O. Farombi, "Kolaviron prevents carbendazim-induced steroidogenic dysfunction and apoptosis in testes of rats," *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 444–453, 2013.



Research Article

Influence of Heat Treatments on the Content of Bioactive Substances and Antioxidant Properties of Sweet Potato (*Ipomoea batatas* L.) Tubers

Janette Musilova ⁽⁾, ¹ Judita Lidikova, ¹ Alena Vollmannova, ¹ Hana Frankova, ¹ Dana Urminska, ² Tatiana Bojnanska, ³ and Tomas Toth ¹

¹Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Biotechnology and Food Sciences, SUA Nitra, Tr. A. Hlinku 2, 949 76 Nitra, Slovakia ²Department of Biochemistry and Biotechnology, Faculty of Biotechnology and Food Sciences, SUA Nitra, Tr. A. Hlinku 2, 949 76 Nitra, Slovakia

³Department of Technology and Quality of Plant Products, Faculty of Biotechnology and Food Sciences, SUA Nitra, Tr. A. Hlinku 2, 949 76 Nitra, Slovakia

Correspondence should be addressed to Janette Musilova; janette.musilova@uniag.sk

Received 25 June 2020; Revised 28 July 2020; Accepted 8 August 2020; Published 18 August 2020

Academic Editor: quancai sun

Copyright © 2020 Janette Musilova et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Heat treatment can affect the bioactive compounds in sweet potato (SP). In this work, we monitored the influence of heat treatment (boiling, steaming, microwaving, and baking) on the total polyphenols content (TPC), total antioxidant capacity (TAC), total anthocyanins content (TANTC), and phenolics acids (chlorogenic (CGA), neochlorogenic (neo-CGA), and *trans*-ferulic (tFA)) in two SP varieties grown in Slovakia and Croatia. TPC, TAC, and TANT were determined spectrophotometrically and phenolic acids by HPLC. TPC ranged from 576 (Beauregard, Croatia; Be/HR) to 3828 (414-purple, Slovakia; Pu/SK) mg/kg DW in the raw SP tubers. After heat treatment, TPC increased, most in steamed SP (8438 mg GAE/kg DW; Pu/SK), while only in boiled SP (Be/HR), TPC decreased (353 mg GAE/kg DW). TAC varied from 0.848 (Be/HR) to 8.67 (Pu/HR) (μ mol TE/g DW) in raw SP. The TAC increased by heat treatment (max. 14.2 μ mol TE/g DW; cooking Be/SK), except for Pu/HR. The TANT ranged from 151 (raw Pu/SK) to 1276 (microwaved Pu/SK) mg CyE/kg FW. Heat treatment had a negative effect on phenolic acid content; the largest reduction was after boiling: CGA by 29% (Pu/SK), neo-CGA by 69% (Pu/HR), and tFA by 29% (Be/HR). The influence of heat treatment on the monitored quantities is not definite.

1. Introduction

Sweet potatoes belong to the most economically important crops in the world with corn, wheat, rice, and potatoes. In 2019, their world production amounted to almost 92 million tons. The largest producer was Asia (75%), while the production of China was 53 mil. tons, which represented 57.6% of world production. In Europe, 93.4 thousand tons of SP were grown [1]. Sweet potatoes are tropical plants and do not tolerate frost. At temperatures below 1°C, their vegetative growth and productivity decline [2]. However, they quickly adapt to high temperatures and drought, making them an attractive crop, especially in countries with limited agricultural resources [3]. In developing countries, they are the fifth most important food crop [4]. For human consumption, sweet potato tubers are preferably prepared in various ways: cooked, baked, fried, and dried in the form of sticks or slices. They are also used as a raw material in the production of pasta, in alcoholic beverages, as a source of natural pigments, or in the production of paper, cosmetics, and adhesives tissues [5, 6]. Sweet potatoes are a crop with high nutritional value; they contain large amounts of carbohydrates, fiber, vitamins, and minerals [7]. Carbohydrates are the predominant part of sweet potato tubers. The sweet taste of sweet potatoes is caused by the presence of glucose (2.7-4.7 mg/g DW), fructose (1.4-4.0 mg/g DW), sucrose (56.9-60.0 mg/g DW), and nondetectable maltose [8]. The major polysaccharide of SP is starch making up 80% of the dry matter [9]. Sweet potatoes are also a cheap and rich source of fiber. Its content depends on the variety; the amount of crude fiber is in the range of 0.6 to 1.5% [10]. The total dietary fiber content of sweet potatoes is enough to affect the glycemic index elicited by these roots, and we cannot rule out a bioactive effect of the protein components. It may prove beneficial for diabetic patients who consume sweet potatoes [11]. In general, sweet potato roots contain 1.73%-9.14% (dry basis) proteins. The main protein in sweet potato is sporamin, which can be divided into two subgroups: sporamin A (contains 219 amino acid residues) and sporamin B (contains 216 amino acid residues). The sweet potato protein contains 18 different amino acids, about 40.7% of the sweet potatoes protein consists of the essential amino acids Ile, Leu, Met, Phe, Thr, Val, Lys, and Trp. The last two of them are the primary limiting amino acids [12]. Sweet potato tubers contain a small amount of lipids (from 0.72% to 1.44%), while the crude fat content is significantly affected by a variety [13]. The primary fatty acids are palmitic acid (C16:0), linoleic acid (C18:2), and linolenic acid (C18: 3), while a smaller proportion is stearic acid (C18:0), oleic acid (C18:1), and arachidic acid (C20:0) [14]. Sweet potatoes are an excellent source of minerals. The most represented are Ca, K, and P and from trace elements Cu, Fe, Zn, Mn, Na, and Mg. In comparison with the other vegetables, sweet potatoes have more Mg, Na, P, and Fe than carrots or cabbage [5, 15]. According to [16], SP are also crucial in terms of the content of vitamins and other bioactive substances (polyphenolic compounds, phenolic acids, and anthocyanins and beta-carotene), which have antioxidant effects [4, 17, 18]. Sweet potato roots comprise hydrophilic vitamins (B1, B2, B6, niacin, pantothenic acid, biotin, and vitamin C) and lipophilic vitamins E and A [8, 15]. The precursor of vitamin A is beta-carotene with two beta-ionone rings, which also possesses antioxidant activity [19]. Beta-carotene is mainly present in orange varieties of SP. In 2016, because of the high content of vitamin A, the orange SP were recognized as a food able to improve nutrition in many households in sub-Saharan Africa [19-21]. Another antioxidant vitamin, ascorbic acid, also occurs in high amounts in the roots. The high content of vitamin B6 (pyridoxine) in the roots helps in reducing the blood levels of homocysteine, which is associated with the increased risk of cardiovascular diseases [19]. The characteristic color of purple SP is caused by the presence of anthocyanins. Together with phenols, they represent the main bioactive substances in purple SP. Anthocyanins create a group of water-soluble flavonoids; in sweet potato, they occur as mono- or diacylated forms of cyanidin and peonidin [22]. It is supposed that anthocyanins-natural pigment-can have many positive effects on human health, such as antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, anticarcinogenic, chemoprotective, and antihyperglycemic effects, and they can help avoid oxidation of LDL-cholesterol. They are present mainly in purple varieties of sweet potato—in peel and also in the flesh [23, 24].

Phenolic compounds are antioxidant molecules with at least one aromatic ring and one or more hydroxyl groups, including their functional derivatives. These slightly various substances are essential for the growth and reproduction of plants, and they act as antipathogenic agents [18]. The main components of the sweet potato phenolic compounds are chlorogenic acids, which belong to the group of ester compounds. They are formed by the condensation of quinic acid and trans-cinnamic acids, which include coffee acid, pcoumaric acid, and ferulic acid [25]. 3-O-Caffeoylquinic acid is the most common of chlorogenic acids [17, 26, 27]. For example, in sweet potato leaves, twenty CQA phenolic acids, such as 3-CQA, 3,4-diCQA, 3,5-diCQA, 4,5-diCQA, and tri-CQA, were identified by LC-MS2 analysis [25]. The phenolic hydroxyl of chlorogenic acids easily reacts with free radicals, making the free radicals lose activity. Chlorogenic acids in plants have high antioxidant activities, such as reducing power, metal chelating, and lipid peroxidation-inhibiting activity [27]. Thus, in addition to antimutagenic and anticarcinogenic effects in vitro and in vivo, chlorogenic acid can prevent the formation of hydroxyl radicals, remove free radicals, and eliminate oxidative activity [28]. However, there are only a few studies about the differences in antioxidant activities between different chlorogenic acids, which does not provide sufficient theoretical support for the application of antioxidant activities [27]. Sweet potatoes are commonly prepared before consumption in different ways: baking, boiling, microwaving, steaming, or frying. Heat treatment improves their digestibility [29], induces significant changes in the chemical composition, and thus influences the concentration and bioavailability of compounds [18, 30]. Generally, the total phenolic content of sweet potatoes increases; on the other hand, some phenolic derivatives such as caffeic acids are decreased by heat treatment. Concerning the variation of these constituents, the antioxidant activity of sweet potatoes also shows similar variation during thermal processes [30]. The aim of our study was to research changes in the content of bioactive substances and their antioxidant activity due to heat treatments which are commonly used in the preparation of sweet potato tubers.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Plant Material. Two varieties of sweet potatoes with different flesh colors were used for the analyses—Beauregard (orange) and 414-purple (purple). Both cultivars were grown in the cadastral area of Šoporňa in the Slovak Republic (Be/SK, Pu/SK) and the east part in Croatia (cadastral area of Vukovar) (Be/HR, Pu/HR). After plowing using the adjusted plow machine, sweet potatoes from Croatia were sorted and cured at 25° C for 4 to 5 days. After, they were stored at a temperature of $13-16^{\circ}$ C and a maximum humidity of 70% (max. 10 days). After transport to Slovakia, they were immediately delivered to our workplace and used for sample preparation. Sweet potatoes from Slovakia were taken directly in the field and then brought to the workplace, where we cleaned them. The next day, they were used for sample preparation. About 3 kg of plant material was taken from the

given sampling sites for each cultivar. Raw and heat-treated sweet potatoes were used for analyses.

2.2. Chemicals. MetOH (80%),MetOH (99.8%), Folin-Ciocalteu reagents, DPPH (2,2'-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl), Trolox (2,5,7,8-tetramethylchroman-2-carboxylic acid), HCl (36%), buffer pH 3.5 (Na₂HPO₄, c = 0.2 mol/L; citric acid, c = 0.1 mol/L), EtOH (80%), authentic standards of chlorogenic acid (purity \geq 95.0%), neochlorogenic acid (purity \geq 95.0%), trans-ferulic acid (purity \geq 95.0%), acetonitrile (gradient HPLC grade), and phosphoric acid (ACS grade) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH, Steinheim, Germany); gallic acid (p.a.) and Na₂CO₃ were purchased from Merck (Germany); gallic acid (p.a.) was provided by Merck (Germany); double deionized water (ddH2O) was treated $(0.054\,\mu\text{S/cm})$ in a Simplicity 185 purification system (Millipore, UK).

2.3. Preparation of Samples. All tubers were washed (first with drinking water and then distilled water) and peeled. The peeled tubers were rewashed (with distilled water) and cut into slices of the thickness of 3 mm. The slices from each tuber were divided into five approximately equal parts. One part of the tuber (crude) was mixed (Grindomix GM2000 Retsch, 2000 rpm, 30 sec) and then the sample was homogenized. Other sections were variously heat-treated: cooked in water (10 min), steamed (15 min, 97 \pm 2°C), and microwaved (5 min, 800 W) as well as baked (15 min, 200°C). After cooling, slices of sweet potatoes were mixed (Grindomix GM2000 Retsch, 2000 rpm, 15 sec) and then homogenized.

2.4. Preparation of Extracts. 25 g of homogenized sample (raw flesh and boiled, steamed, baked, and microwaved flesh, respectively) was taken and poured into 50 mL of 80% MetOH at laboratory temperature and extracted by horizontal shaker (Unimax 2010; Heidolph Instrument GmbH, Germany) for 12 hours. Sample was filtered through Munktell No. 390 paper (Munktell & Filtrac, Germany) and stored in closed 66 mL vial tubes. Determination of TPC, TAC, TANTC, and phenolics acids was performed eight times.

2.5. Determination of Total Polyphenols Content. The total polyphenols content (TPC) was determined using the colorimetric Folin–Ciocalteu method [31] by spectrophotometric analysis (spectrophotometer Shimadzu UV-1800). The aliquot portion of extract (0.1 mL) was pipetted into a 50 mL flask. Then 2.5 mL of Folin–Ciocalteu reagent was added; after 3 minutes, 5 mL of 20% sodium carbonate aqueous was added; and distilled water was added to mark. Also, blank with distilled water was prepared by the same procedure and the calibration curve was prepared with standard solutions of gallic acid. After mixing and leaving for 2 hours in the laboratory, the complex forming was ended and the absorbance of blue solutions was measured in

cuvettes of 1 cm width at a wavelength of 765 nm. The content of total polyphenols in the sample was expressed as the content of gallic acid in mg/kg of fresh matter and calculated to dry weight (mg GAE/kg DW).

2.6. Determination of Total Antioxidant Capacity. For the determination of total antioxidant capacity (TAC), the method based on the radical reaction of 2,2'-diphenyl-1picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) according to [32] was used. To obtain a stock solution, 0.025 g of DPPH was diluted to 100 mL with MetOH (99.8%) and kept in a cold and dark place. Immediately before the analysis, a 1:10 dilution of the stock was made with methanol. For the analysis, 3.9 mL of the DPPH working solution was added to a cuvette and the absorbance at a wavelength of 515.6 nm was measured (A_0) by UV-VIS 1800 spectrophotometer (Shimadzu, Japan). Subsequently, 0.1 mL of the extract was added to the cuvette with DPPH, and the absorbance was measured after 10 min (A_{10}) . An increasing amount of antioxidants present in the methanol extract of the sample reduced DPPH and faded the color of the solution in a correlation proportional to the antioxidant concentration. The percentage of DPPH inhibition was calculated according to the following equation:

% in *h*. DPPH =
$$\frac{(A_0 - A_{10})}{A_{10}} \times 100,$$
 (1)

where A_0 is absorbance at time t = 0 min (solution of DPPH) and A_{10} is absorbance at time t = 10 min.

The antioxidant activity was calculated using a standard curve with known concentrations of Trolox and expressed in terms of μ mols of Trolox equivalents per Gram dry weight.

2.7. Determination of Total Anthocyanins Content. Total anthocyanin content (TANTC) was determined according to the pH differential spectroscopic method. Aliquot portions of extract (0.1 mL) were pipetted into two test tubes and 1 mL of 0.01% HCl in 80% EtOH was added to each tube. Subsequently, 10 mL of HCl (2%) was added to the first tube and 1 mL pH 3.5 buffer (Na₂HPO₄, c = 0.2 mol/L and citric acid, c = 0.1 mol/L) was added to the second tube. After 30 minutes of staining the solutions at room temperature, absorption was measured at 520 nm (Shimadzu UV-VIS 1800, Japan). Total anthocyanins content was calculated and expressed in mg CyE/kg (cyanidin eq/kg) FW.

2.8. Determination of Phenolic Acids Content (Chlorogenic, Neochlorogenic, and trans-Ferulic Acid). Aliquot volumes of supernatants from sweet potato extracts were filtered through a membrane filter of $0.22 \,\mu$ m. Separation of chlorogenic and neochlorogenic acids was carried out by reversed-phase HPLC with a column CORTECS C18 (150 × 4.6 mm; 2.7 μ m). The column oven temperature was set at 30°C. A sample volume of 8 μ L was injected onto the column using a Waters 717 autosampler connected to a Waters pump (Waters Corp., Milford, MA). Phenolic acids were eluted using a mobile phase A 0.1% (v/v) phosphoric acid, B acetonitrile, and C methanol. Detected peaks were identified and quantified by comparing to retention times and areas of peaks of known standards. The gradient program was set, as shown in Table 1. The results were quantified by using a Waters 2965 UV detector at wavelength 325 nm.

Peaks were identified and quantified by comparison of retention times and areas of peaks of known standards. Results were quantified by using Waters 2965 UV detector at wavelength 326 nm.

2.9. Statistical Analysis. All measurements were done in quadruplicate and presented as mean \pm SD (n = 4). Results were statistically evaluated by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA—Multiple Range Tests, method: 95.0 percent LSD) using statistical software STATGRAPHICS (Centurion XVI.I, USA) and a regression and correlation analysis (Microsoft Excel) was used. Differences at p < 0.05 were considered to be significant.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Total Polyphenols Content (TPC). Phenolic compounds are the primary antioxidants found in fruits, vegetables, and grains [28]. Sweet potatoes, which are also a source of many other bioactive substances, are also characterized by a high content of polyphenolic compounds [33]. Raw and heattreated sweet potatoes were analyzed for the total polyphenols content and other bioactive compounds. TPC ranged from 576 mg/kg DW (169 mg/kg FW, resp.) in variety Be/HR to 3828 mg/kg DW in variety Pu/SK (750 mg/kg FW Be/HR, resp.) (Table 2) in the raw sweet potato tubers. The wide range of TPC values in raw flesh of SP can be attributed to several factors. Many authors [17, 34-36] mention the variety as the most significant factor. In particular, purple sweet potatoes are rich in phenolic substances. White, yellow, and orange varieties have a lower content of this group of compounds compared to purple varieties [7].

Comparable polyphenol contents were determined in [30] (0.93–1.05 mg/g DW), [4] (28.4 mg/100 g FW), and [18] (1300-1930 mg/kg DW). Higher TPC were determined in [37] in 15 varieties from Tenerife Island and in 15 varieties of SP from La Palma Island (90-166, resp., 78.8-161 mg phenolic compounds/100 g FW), [17] in orange SP (0.130-0.472 mg/g FW) and purple SP (0.477-0.949 mg/g FW); [26] in orange SP (284.1 mg/100 g DW) and purple SP (757.4 mg/100 g DW). As in our case, the authors report lower TPC in orange sweet potatoes than in purple sweet potatoes. The variation can be attributable to phenolics extraction methods, sweet potato genotypes, and growing conditions [38]. The content of polyphenols in the flesh was significantly affected by the method of treatment of sweet potatoes. There are statistically significant differences between the TPC of raw and heat-treated SPs in all varieties. However, it can not be clearly stated which heat treatment had the greatest effect on the change of TPC in sweet potatoes. In all heat-treated SP except for Be/HR (boiled), TPC was higher than in raw flesh. Only in SP Be/HR cooked in

TABLE 1: Gradient profile.

Minutes	A (%)	B (%)	C (%)
0	90	0	10
3	80	10	10
5	40	25	5
8	50	30	20
10	10	80	10
12	0	90	10

water was TPC 39% lower compared to raw SP. In this variety, the effect of heat treatment was the least (maximum 24% in baked SP). In the Pu/SK variety, the TPC in microwaved sweet potatoes was up to 5.5 times higher than in raw flesh. The slight increase of phenolic content in cooked samples can be attributed to the release of bound phenolics and inactivation of polyphenol oxidase affected by heat treatment. Besides, some phenolics can be degraded by polyphenol oxidase during slicing of raw sweet potatoes samples [38]. C. Dincer et al. [30] report the highest TPC in the boiled samples for all cultivars (up to 1.98 mg GAE/g DW). The authors explained this definite increase of TPC as the release of phenolics by hydrolysis of glycoside bonds during treatment and the induction of TPC oxidation in fresh samples through the catalytic activity of the enzyme polyphenol oxidase. C. M. Donado-Pestana et al. [18] determined the content of total phenolic compounds in boiled SP from 1.33 to 2.05 mg/g DW and in steamed SP from 1.05 to 1.56 mg/g DW; while boiling increased TPC in 2 varieties and decreased TPC in 2 varieties, steaming decreased TPC in all varieties. Their results suggest that the methods of heat treatment sometimes led to a significant loss of the total phenolic content in sweet potato tubers. Y. Tang et al. [7] reported a decrease of TPC in orange SP of 60.6% (boiled SP) and 15.9% (steamed SP), resp., and in purple SP of 31.3% (boiled SP) and 6.0% (steamed SP). The study in [39] determined in raw pith 2.1 mg TPC/g DW and in microwaved (boiled, baked) potato root tissues 1.8 (1.6, 2.1) mg TPC/g DW. The study in [40] studied 12 different ways of preparation (freezing, cooking, baking, etc.) of 15 types of food. Most of the studied processes produced a wide range of retentional factors (ratio of concentration of polyphenol in processed food to centration of polyphenol in raw food). Home cooking methods of common plant foods caused significant losses of polyphenols (median RF = 0.45 - 0.70).

3.2. Total Antioxidant Capacity (TAC). Variety and locality are essential factors influencing an antioxidant activity. The purple SP showed higher TAC, whereas TAC in Pu/HR was 2.7 times higher than in Pu/SK. On the other hand, TAC was 2.2 times higher in the Beauregard variety grown in Slovakia than in Be/HR. There are statistically significant differences between TAC values (Table 3).

However, the impact of the technological treatment method on TAC can not be clearly stated. Based on the DPPH test, the raw SP flesh Be/HR showed the lowest antioxidant activity (0.848 μ mol TE/g DW, 212 μ g TE/g DW) and the highest TAC had boiled SP Be/SK (14.2 μ mol TE/g
TABLE 2: The total polyphenols content (mg GAE/kg DW).

	Raw	Boiled	Steamed	Microwaved	Baked
Be/SK	$1102 \pm 21.2^{a,B}$	$1762 \pm 1762^{c,B}$	$1770 \pm 34.4^{c,B}$	$1542 \pm 22.0^{b,B}$	$2065\pm38.2^{d,B}$
Pu/SK	$2056 \pm 114^{a,C}$	$3667 \pm 26.0^{b,C}$	$8438 \pm 839^{\rm d,D}$	$11338 \pm 371^{e,D}$	$7212 \pm 256^{c,D}$
Be/HR	$576 \pm 53.6^{b,A}$	$353 \pm 67.0^{a,A}$	$692 \pm 81.4^{c,A}$	$710 \pm 63.6^{c,A}$	$714 \pm 51.2^{c,A}$
Pu/HR	$2444 \pm 72.0^{ m a,D}$	$4748 \pm 40.5^{c,D}$	$5461 \pm 185^{e,C}$	$5070 \pm 109^{\rm d,C}$	$3692 \pm 93.8^{b,C}$

GAE: gallic acid equivalent; Be/SK: cv. Beauregard from Slovakia; Be/HR: cv. Beauregard from Croatia; Pu/SK: cv. 414-purple from Slovakia; Be/SK: cv. 414-purple from Croatia.

TABLE 3: Total antioxidant capacity (µmol TE/g DW).

	Raw	Boiled	Steamed	Microwaved	Baked
Be/SK	$1.81 \pm 0.239^{a,B}$	$14.2 \pm 0.178^{e,D}$	$10.9 \pm 0.195^{d,C}$	$5.50 \pm 0.073^{b,B}$	$5.80 \pm 0.062^{c,D}$
Pu/SK	$3.23 \pm 0.433^{a,C}$	$6.20 \pm 0.041^{c,B}$	$10.9 \pm 0.293^{e,C}$	$8.63 \pm 0.104^{ m d,C}$	$5.35 \pm 0.076^{b,C}$
Be/HR	$0.848 \pm 0.225^{a,A}$	$1.85 \pm 0.249^{b,A}$	$4.60 \pm 0.430^{c,A}$	$5.25 \pm 0.225^{d,A}$	$5.17 \pm 0.186^{d,B}$
Pu/HR	$8.67 \pm 0.097^{d,D}$	$11.3 \pm 0.120^{e,C}$	$7.14 \pm 0.735^{c,B}$	$5.19 \pm 0.039^{b,A}$	$4.74 \pm 0.051^{a,A}$

The values in the row marked with different lowercase letters are significantly different (p < 0.05); the values in the column marked with different uppercase letters are significantly different (p < 0.05). TE: Trolox equivalent.

DW, 3546 µg TE/g DW). Except for Pu/HR (steamed, microwaved, and baked), the highest TAC was in all heattreated SP. The study in [38] determined TAC in raw flesh of orange SP in the range from 1.1 to $2.0 \,\mu$ mol TE/g FW and in the boiled SP from 1.7 to $2.7 \,\mu$ mol TE/g FW, which is an increase of 1.28-1.55 times of TAC after heat treatment. According to [41], there was no significant difference between the DPPH radical scavenging capacity of steamed and boiled sweet potato and untreated sweet potato. L. E. Steed and V.-D. Truong [22] determined the highest antioxidant activity (87.4 μ mol TE/g FW) in raw peels. There was no significant difference between DPPH values in raw (75.5 µmol TE/g FW) and steamed SP (77.1 µmol TE/g FW). In comparison with our result, [7] determined higher values of TAC in sweet potatoes (orange-raw: 25.07, purple-raw: $27.79 \,\mu\text{mol}\,\text{TE/g}\,\text{FW}$). The heat treatment resulted in a reduction of TAC (orange-boiled: 23.62, steamed: 15.22; purple-boiled: 22.11, steamed: 26.04 µmol TE/g FW). Individual heat treatments have different effects on the chemical composition. That is, after boiling and microwaving, 63.82% and 32.25% decreases of antioxidant activity were observed, while the antioxidant activity increased by 81.40%, 30.09%, respectively, and by 85.82% (frying). An increase of 9.44% in total polyphenol content was observed after steaming, while decreases of 30.51%, 25.70%, and 15.73% were observed after boiling, microwaving, and frying [25]. Heat treatment of SP possibly leads to a reduction of bioactive compounds content and, consequently, to a decrease of antioxidant capacity determined by the DPPH and ABTS tests. The antioxidant capacity can also be associated with the presence of phenolic acids in sweet potato roots. The processing of SP tubers (peeling, boiling, frying, and steaming) can also reduce the antioxidant capacity by the enzyme polyphenol oxidase, which catalyses the oxidative polymerization of phenolic acids [18]. Compared to raw SP (92.0--132.3), heat-treated SP showed a decrease of antioxidant capacity (DPPH, IC50) to 74.1-88.2 in boiled and to 62.2-86.3 mg/mL in baked SP [30]. The authors report that the differences between TAC values in different varieties

treated by the same method may be associated with various polyphenolic compounds that might have different sensitivity to heat treatment.

3.3. Total Anthocyanins Content (TANTC). The content of anthocyanins was determined only in purple varieties 414purple grown in Slovakia and Croatia. The content of anthocyanins in PU/HR was almost 1.6 times higher than in Pu/SK, which indicates a significant effect of locality—the differences in TANTC in raw SP are statistically significant (Table 4). C. C. Teow et al. [17] determined anthocyanins in purple varieties SP from 0.246 to 0.531 mg/g FW, while the study in [42] reported the average content of anthocyanins in purple SP from 110 mg to 210 mg/100 g; the study in [26] reported 57.9 mg/100 g DW; and the study in [8] reported 32 to 1390 mg/100 g DW.

Anthocyanins are highly reactive molecules sensitive to degradation reactions. Their stability is affected by the structure and concentration of anthocyanins, the presence of enzymes, oxygen, pH, or temperature [43, 44]. Most authors report the reduction of anthocyanin content due to various heat treatments [7, 45]. Y. Tang et al. [7] determined a 34% lower content of anthocyanins in steamed SP (10.35 mg CyE/ g) and a 41% lower content of anthocyanins in boiled SP (9.24 mg CyE/g) compared to raw deep purple SP. On the contrary, the results of our analyses show an increase in the content of anthocyanins after heat treatment of SP. The average TANT in raw SP Pu/SK (Pu/HR) increased 3.7 (2.4) times by boiling in water, 4.3 (4.0) times by steaming, 6.6 (3.7) times by baking, and 8.5 (4.8) times by microwaving. Cooking in the microwave oven had the most significant effect. The content of anthocyanins in the microwaved SP was 1276 mg/kg FW in Pu/SK and 1194 mg/kg FW in Pu/ HR. Paper [23] reported a significant increase in the total anthocyanin content of boiled colored potatoes compared to fresh uncooked tubers of five studied cultivars. The highest increases were observed in cultivars with low TAC (11.1 times and 10.6 times), while in the cultivars with high TAC,

TABLE 4: Total anthocyanins content (mg CyE/kg FW).

	Raw	Boiled	Steamed	Microwaved	Baked
Pu/SK Pu/HR	$151 \pm 4.55^{a,A}$ $238 \pm 28.4^{a,B}$	$552 \pm 30.7^{b,A}$ $575 \pm 13.7^{b,A}$	$690 \pm 51.4^{c,A} \\ 959 \pm 14.4^{d,B}$	$\frac{1276 \pm 9.16^{e,B}}{1147 \pm 10.1^{e,A}}$	$1004 \pm 10.4^{d,B}$ $874 \pm 16.0^{c,A}$

The values in the row marked with different lowercase letters are significantly different (p < 0.05); the values in the column marked with different uppercase letters are significantly different (p < 0.05). CyE: cyanidin equivalent.

an increase was relatively low (3.44 times and 3.20 times). Paradoxically, most anthocyanins have greater stability at higher temperatures used in the processing of fruit and vegetables. This phenomenon is explained by the protective effect of the various system components and the condensation of monomers. In these reactions, more stable oligomeric pigments are formed, the amount of which increases with temperature [46]. The thermal stability of anthocyanins is affected by other factors; one of the main factors in the processing of fruit and vegetables is pH value. Anthocyanins of purple SP achieved the highest stability at pH value from 3 to 4 [8]. The red cultivar of sweet potato grown in the Andean region has been reported to have higher antioxidant activity and phenolic content than blueberry cultivar, the fruit with a high level of antioxidants [47]. The antioxidant capacity of sweet potato roots can vary widely depending on the flesh color, which can differ among sweet potato cultivars from white and yellow to orange and even purple [17].

On the contrary, there are significantly fewer studies where the authors describe the preservation or increase of their content due to cooking, baking, steaming, or microwave heating. The stability of anthocyanins in berries is lower, such as the stability of anthocyanins in radish, red potatoes, red cabbage, and purple SP [48-50] because, in PSP, anthocyanins occur mainly in acylated forms [51]. Acylation with various phenolic (cinnamic, p-coumaric, caffeic, and ferulic) and aliphatic (acetic, malonic, and oxalic, as well as succinic) acids makes these anthocyanins more resistant to pH, sensitivity to light and heat [52, 53]. The study in [51] determined the stability of twelve individual anthocyanins in raw P40 and cooked P40 via various cooking conditions. Although some heat treatments caused the degradation of total anthocyanins, the content of individual anthocyanins increased several times, for example, by microwave cooking the content of cyanidin 3-p-hydroxybenzoyl sophoroside-5-glucoside 3.81-fold and peonidin 3p-hydroxybenzoyl sophoroside-5-glucoside 4.57-fold, or by baking the content of cyanidin 3-(6''-feruloyl sophoroside)-5-glucoside 2.75-fold. Monoacylated anthocyanins showed higher heat resistance than di- and nonacylated ones. Similarly, [54] report an almost 50% reduction in total PSP Shinzani anthocyanins after steaming, but only slightly after baking, and a tendency to increase some acylated anthocyanins (cyanidin 3-(6'-feruloyl sophoroside)-5-glucoside: 1.23-fold). The study in [55] investigated the effects of several representative home cooking methods on the content and composition of anthocyanins. Air-fried, fried, and stirfried cooking resulted in a reduction in anthocyanin content and the effect of steaming and microwaving on anthocyanin content was inconclusive, but cooking increased anthocyanin content by 6.55%. The application of different cooking

methods caused changes in the content of individual anthocyanins. For example, the content of cyanidin 3-dicaffeoyl sophoroside-5-glucoside (the main component of the analyzed SP GZ9) increased by 8.83% after cooking. Interestingly, nearly all monoacylated anthocyanins increased significantly after boiling and microwaving. On the other hand, total diacylated anthocyanins decreased significantly after frying, air-frying, and stir-frying. The effect of SP (steamed and kneaded sweet potato flour) treatment was manifested by a five-to-six-time increase in the content of anthocyanins in red peeled (RP) and white peeled (WP) SP, a 1.3-fold increase in the content of flavonoids in RP, and a 2-13-fold increase in the total phenols contents of all genotypes [35]. Effect of three cooking methods on the content of anthocyanins in potato tubers with red- and purplefleshed has been studied [56]. Cooking treatments resulted in a significant increase in total anthocyanin content in all cultivars in comparison with raw tubers. In the average of all cultivars, the greatest TAC increase was found as a result of the boiling of tubers (3.79 times against the value of raw tubers), followed by the microwave treatment (3.06 times), and the lowest increase in baked tubers (2.94 times) has been observed. While the most significant impact on TAC increase by boiling was observed in all cultivars except for Violette, higher TAC increase by microwaving was found only in three of the five cultivars. As the authors further state, there appears to be a consensus on the loss of anthocyanins upon exposure to heat (there appears to be a consensus on the loss of anthocyanins when exposed to heating). Therefore, it is necessary to continue doing the experiments, while the results will be the subject of our further research.

3.4. Phenolic Acids: Chlorogenic (CGA), Neochlorogenic (Neo-CGA), and trans-Ferulic (tFA) Acid. Phenolic acids show varied biological activity in the human body; among others, they take an active part in the removal of free radicals and metal ion chelation as well as affecting enzyme activity and protein availability [57]. Chlorogenic acid and its derivatives are esters of caffeic acid. These acids are the main component of sweet potato phenolic compounds. Chlorogenic acid and isochlorogenic acid are the primary acids [17, 26, 28]. Precision or repeatability of retention times and peak areas from five standards was calculated using percent relative standard deviation (% RSD) and is presented in Table 5.

The proportion of phenolic acids in the raw SP was different. The CGA content was the highest in the variety of Pu/HR (468 mg/kg) and decreased in order Be/HR > Be/ SK > Pu/SK (147 mg/kg). The content of neo-CGA and *trans*-ferulic acid decreased in reverse order as follows: Pu/ SK (7.26 and 10.4 mg/kg) > Be/SK > Be/HR > Pu/HR (0.768

Compound	Accuracy (% recovery)	Precision (% RSD)	Rt (min)	LOD ($\mu g/mL$)	LOQ (µg/mL)
tFA	98	2.897	5.2	0.0251	0.0753
CGA	115	5.564	2.3	0.0149	0.0447
Neo-CGA	113	4.326	2.8	0.0072	0.0216

RSD: relative standard deviation; RT: retention time; LOD: limit of detection; LOQ: limit of quantification.

TABLE 6: Content of phenolics acid (mg/kg FW).

	Raw	Boiled	Steamed	Microwaved	Baked
Chlorogenic	acid (CGA)				
Be/SK	$336 \pm 21.9^{b,B}$	$234 \pm 28.7^{a,B}$	$347 \pm 75.5^{b,B}$	$212 \pm 13.1^{a,B}$	$238\pm33.0^{a,B}$
Pu/SK	$147 \pm 16.2^{c,A}$	$104 \pm 5.26^{a,A}$	$114 \pm 5.89^{ab,A}$	$109 \pm 6.15^{ab,A}$	$118\pm10.8^{\rm b,A}$
Be/HR	$362 \pm 22.4^{c,C}$	$281 \pm 52.7^{a,C}$	$344 \pm 7.55^{bc,B}$	$302 \pm 5.97^{a,C}$	$330 \pm 4.93^{b,C}$
Pu/HR	$468 \pm 26.1^{c,D}$	$441 \pm 17.0^{b,D}$	$414 \pm 8.55^{a,C}$	$414 \pm 6.26^{a,D}$	$470 \pm 11.1^{c,D}$
Neochloroge	enic acid (neo-CGA)				
Be/SK	$6.23 \pm 0.268^{d,C}$	$3.29 \pm 0.107^{a,D}$	$5.38 \pm 0.143^{c,C}$	$4.51 \pm 0.152^{b,C}$	$3.29 \pm 0.098^{a,C}$
Pu/SK	$7.26 \pm 0.164^{d,D}$	$2.60 \pm 0.326^{a,C}$	$5.35 \pm 0.099^{c,C}$	$6.31 \pm 0.150^{d,D}$	$4.31 \pm 0.076^{b,D}$
Be/HR	$3.30 \pm 0.103^{d,B}$	$1.25 \pm 0.069^{a,B}$	$2.13 \pm 0.060^{b,B}$	$2.27 \pm 0.065^{c,B}$	$2.17 \pm 0.092^{b,B}$
Pu/HR	$0.768 \pm 0.055^{e,A}$	$0.235 \pm 0.033^{a,A}$	$0.710 \pm 0.050^{d,A}$	$0.488 \pm 0.048^{c,A}$	$0.413 \pm 0.015^{b,A}$
trans-Ferulic	c acid (tFA)				
Be/SK	$8.58 \pm 0.120^{d,C}$	$7.28 \pm 0.021^{a,C}$	$8.33 \pm 0.022^{c,C}$	$8.18 \pm 0.066^{\mathrm{b,C}}$	$7.31 \pm 0.061^{a,C}$
Pu/SK	$10.4 \pm 0.155^{d,D}$	$7.86 \pm 0.111^{a,D}$	$9.68 \pm 0.129^{c,D}$	$9.55 \pm 0.221^{c,D}$	$8.13 \pm 0.087^{ m b,D}$
Be/HR	$5.85 \pm 0.078^{ m e,B}$	$4.14 \pm 0.066^{a,B}$	$4.91 \pm 0.026^{c,B}$	$5.63 \pm 0.083^{d,B}$	$4.64 \pm 0.144^{b,B}$
Pu/HR	$3.30 \pm 0.044^{e,A}$	$4.14 \pm 0.066^{a,B}$	$3.24 \pm 0.023^{d,A}$	$3.17 \pm 0.025^{c,A}$	$2.96 \pm 0.040^{b,A}$

The values in the row marked with different lowercase letters are significantly different (p < 0.05); the values in the column marked with different uppercase letters are significantly different (p < 0.05).

and 3.30 mg/kg). These differences confirm not only the influence of variety but also the influence of growing conditions (Table 6).

The heat treatment of SP had a negative effect on the content of phenolic acids. The most considerable decrease of CGA content was recorded in the variety of Pu/SK (boiled SP: -29%). In the variety Pu/HR, the CGA content in the microwaved SP was comparable to raw SP and in the variety Be/SK (steamed SP), the CGA content was 3% higher than in raw SP. However, these differences are not statistically significant and it can not be clearly stated which method of heat treatment has the least/most significant effect on the CGA content. In the case of the other two phenolic acids, cooking in the water had the greatest effect on their content. The neo-CGA content in boiled SP decreased by 47% (64, 62, and 69) in the variety Be/SK (Pu/SK, Be/HR, and Pu/HR, respectively). The largest reduction of tFA acid content was in the Be/HR variety (-29%). In general, its content in SP decreased in the order: raw > steamed > microwaved > baked > boiled. A similar effect of heat treatment is reported by [57]. Home cooking methods of SP caused a significant loss of CGA and ferulic acid. The greatest decrease of CGA content compared to raw SP (463.7 mg/100 g DW) was observed after baking (38.52%), followed by boiling and cooking in the microwave oven (21.04% and 20.01%, resp.) while cooking in steam caused only a slight increase (p < 0.05). Compared to ferulic acid content determined in raw SP (24.36 mg/100 g DW), steaming and microwaving caused only a slight change in its content, while other

cooking methods induced a significant decrease (p < 0.05). M. S. Padda [39] reported a significant decrease in CGA content after processed sweet potato pith tissue. Its content (mg/g DW) decreased as a result of heat treatment in the order: raw (0.46) > microwaved (0.34) > baked (0.26)> boiled (0.20). The authors of [28] evaluated the effect of heat treatment with distilled water and methanol A on several phenolic acids, e.g., vanillic acid, protocatechuic acid, gallic acid, chlorogenic acid, and caffeic acid. After heat treatment with distilled water, as protocatechuic acid and chlorogenic acid content decreased, on the contrary, the content of minor phenolic acids of SP-vanillic acid, gallic acid, and caffeic acid-increased. Paper [58] reported the most significant reduction of CGA content in boiled SP and the smallest in microwaved SP (raw 45.7, microwaved 33.9, boiled 19.7, and baked 26.5 mg/100 g DW). In contrast, [41] reported a significant increase in CGA content in SP after steaming $(7.99 \pm 0.45 \text{ mg/g DW})$ and boiling $(5.16 \pm 0.18 \text{ mg/})$ g DW) compared to untreated SP $(2.34 \pm 0.09 \text{ mg/g DW})$. F. Rautenbach et al. [59] determined 28.7 and 47.1% higher CGA content in boiled SP of variety Resisto and W-119 compared to raw SP (69.6 ± 4.8, $89.3 \pm 5.4 \,\mu g/g$ FW). Increased contents of CGA and neo-CGA after different cooking methods were determined in three potato cultivars (Bintje, Piccolo, and Purple Majesty) by [60]. The higher CGA content was in baked potatoes and decreased in the order steamed > boiled > microwaved > raw. The neo-CGA content decreased in the order boiled > steamed > baked > microwaved > raw. L. E. Steed and V.-D. Truong [22]

determined 5.1–9.3 (raw flesh) and 10.6–16.2 (cooked flesh) mg CGA/100 g in three SP varieties. They also report higher contents of other phenolic acids (CQA, 4,5-di-CQA, 3,5-di-CQA, and 3,4-di-CQA) due to cooking. They hypothesize that these changes in the content of individual phenolic acids in SP affect the antioxidant properties, including ABTS and DPPH radical scavenging activities. It can be assumed that these changes in the content of individual phenolic acids in sweet potatoes according to cultivar and heat treatment conditions affect the antioxidant properties, including DPPH radical scavenging activities [28].

4. Conclusions

Based on obtained results, it can be stated that specific methods of SP treatment differently affected the content of bioactive compounds such as polyphenols, phenolic acids, and anthocyanins and their antioxidant effects. Due to boiling, steaming, microwaving, and baking, the content of polyphenolic and anthocyanins and also antioxidant activity increased almost in all samples compared to raw sweet potatoes. In contrast, the content of CGA, neo-CGA, and tFA was lower in heat-treated than in raw sweet potatoes. In addition to degradation, their losses are caused by transport from tissue to the surrounding water and also by the type of phenolic acid. It is not possible to determine which method of heat treatment is the gentlest for the preservation of bioactive substances in sweet potatoes.

Data Availability

All basic data supporting the results of this study are available from the corresponding author.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Mr. Durica (DespaD) and Mr. Ferencz (Telfer s.r.o.) for the provided samples. This work was financially supported by projects Vega 1/0722/19, Vega 1/0139/17, and Vega 1/0114/18.

References

- [1] FAOSTAT, 2019: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC.
- [2] J. B. C. Silva, C. A. Lopes, J. E. C. Miranda et al., "Cultivo da Batata-dolce (*Ipomoea batatas* (L.) Lam)," *Instruções Técnicas* da Embrapa Hortaliças, vol. 7, pp. 1–18, 1995.
- [3] S. M. Laurie, F. J. Calitz, P. O. Adebola, and A. Lezar, "Characterization and evaluation of South African sweet potato (*Ipomoea batatas* (L.) LAM) land races," *South African Journal of Botany*, vol. 85, pp. 10–16, 2013.
- [4] J. Yang, J.-f. Chen, Y.-y. Zhao, and L.-c. Mao, "Effects of drying processes on the antioxidant properties in sweet potatoes," *Agricultural Sciences in China*, vol. 9, no. 10, pp. 1522–1529, 2010.

- [5] A. M. P. dos Santos, J. S. Lima, I. F. dos Santos et al., "Mineral and centesimal composition evaluation of conventional and organic cultivars sweet potato (*Ipomoea batatas* (L.) Lam) using chemometric tools," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 273, pp. 166–171, 2019.
- [6] W. Xu, L. Liu, B. Hu et al., "TPC in the leaves of 116 sweet potato (*Ipomoea batatas* L.) varieties and Pushu 53 leaf extracts," *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, vol. 23, no. 6, pp. 599–604, 2010.
- [7] Y. Tang, W. Cai, and B. Xu, "Profiles of phenolics, carotenoids and antioxidative capacities of thermal processed white, yellow, orange and purple sweet potatoes grown in Guilin, China," *Food Science and Human Wellness*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 123–132, 2015.
- [8] S. Wang, S. Nie, and F. Zhu, "Chemical constituents and health effects of sweet potato," *Food Research International*, vol. 89, pp. 90–116, 2016.
- [9] L. Guo, H. Tao, B. Cui, and S. Janaswamy, "The effects of sequential enzyme modifications on structural and physicochemical properties of sweet potato starch granules," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 277, pp. 504–514, 2019.
- [10] P. T. B. Trung, L. B. B. Ngoc, P. N. Hoa, N. N. T. Tien, and P. V. Hung, "Impact of heat-moisture and annealing treatments on physicochemical properties and digestibility of starches from different colored sweet potato varieties," *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, vol. 105, pp. 1071–1078, 2017.
- [11] J. C. Allen, A. D. Corbitt, K. P. Maloney, M. S. Butt, and V. D. Truong, "Glycemic index of sweet potato as affected by cooking methods," *The Open Nutrition Journal*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 1–11, 2012.
- [12] T.-H. Mu, S.-S. Tan, and Y.-L. Xue, "The amino acid composition, solubility and emulsifying properties of sweet potato protein," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 112, no. 4, pp. 1002–1005, 2009.
- [13] N. Satheesh and W. F. Solomon, "Review on nutritional composition of orange-fleshed sweet potato and its role in management of vitamin A deficiency. Review article," *Food Science & Nutrition*, vol. 7, no. 6, pp. 1920–1945, 2019.
- [14] T.-H. Mu and M. Zhang, "Sweet potato lipids," in Sweet Potato: Chemistry, Processing and Nutrition, T.-H. Mu and J. Singh, Eds., pp. 149–175, Academic Press, Amsterdam, Netherlands, 2019.
- [15] J. Pandi, P. Glatz, R. Forder, W. Ayalew, J. Waramboi, and K. Chousalkar, "The use of sweet potato (*Ipomoea batatas* (L.) Lam) root as feed ingredient for broiler finisher rations in Papua New Guinea," *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, vol. 214, pp. 1–11, 2016.
- [16] E. Dako, N. Retta, and G. Desse, "Comparison of three sweet potato varieties on nutritional and anti-nutritional factors," *Global Journal of Science Frontier Research: D*, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 63–72, 2016.
- [17] C. C. Teow, V.-D. Truong, R. F. McFeeters, R. L. Thompson, K. V. Pecota, and G. C. Yencho, "Antioxidant activities, phenolic and β-carotene contents of sweet potato genotypes with varying flesh colours," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 103, no. 3, pp. 829–838, 2007.
- [18] C. M. Donado-Pestana, J. M. Salgado, A. de Oliveira Rios, P. R. dos Santos, and A. Jablonski, "Stability of carotenoids, total phenolics and in vitro antioxidant capacity in the thermal processing of orange-fleshed sweet potato (*Ipomoea batatas* Lam.) cultivars grown in Brazil," *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, vol. 67, no. 3, pp. 262–270, 2012.
- [19] G. Padmaja, "Uses and nutritional data of Sweetpotato," in The Sweetpotato, G. Loebenstein and G. Thottappilly, Eds.,

Springer Science+Business Media B.V., Basel, Switzerland, pp. 189–234, 2009.

- [20] M. Drapal and P. D. Fraser, "Determination of carotenoids in sweet potato (*Ipomoea batatas* L., Lam) tubers: implications for accurate provitamin a determination in staple sturdy tuber crops," *Phytochemistry*, vol. 167, 2019.
- [21] O. Y. Adetola, O. O. Onabanjo, and A. H. Stark, "The search for sustainable solutions: producing a sweet potato based complementary food rich in vitamin A, zinc and iron for infants in developing countries," *Scientific African*, vol. 8, 2020.
- [22] L. E. Steed and V.-D. Truong, "Anthocyanin content, antioxidant activity, and selected physical properties of flowable purple-fleshed sweetpotato purees," *Journal of Food Science*, vol. 73, no. 5, pp. S215–S221, 2008.
- [23] J. Lachman, K. Hamouz, M. Orsák et al., "Impact of selected factors—cultivar, storage, cooking and baking on the content of anthocyanins in coloured-flesh potatoes," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 133, no. 4, pp. 1107–1116, 2012.
- [24] T. Esatbeyoglu, M. Rodríguez-Werner, A. Schlösser, P. Winterhalter, and G. Rimbach, "Fractionation, enzyme inhibitory and cellular antioxidant activity of bioactives from purple sweet potato (*Ipomoea batatas*)," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 221, pp. 447–456, 2017.
- [25] R. Kurata, H.-N. Sun, T. Oki et al., "Sweet potato polyphenols," in Sweet Potato Chemistry, Processing and Nutrition, T.-H. Mu and J. Singh, Eds., Academic Press, Amsterdam, Netherlands, pp. 177–222, 2019.
- [26] L.-Y. Kuan, Y.-Y. Thoo, and L.-F. Siow, "Bioactive components, ABTS radical scavenging capacity and physical stability of orange, yellow and purple sweet potato (*Ipomoea batatas*) powder processed by convection- or vacuum-drying methods," *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, vol. 51, no. 3, pp. 700–709, 2016.
- [27] H. Sun and L. Xi, "Chlorogenic acids from sweet potato," in Sweet Potato Processing Technology, T. Mu, H. Sun, M. Zhang, and Ch. Wang, Eds., pp. 357–403, Academic Press an imprint of Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands, 2017.
- [28] M. Y. Kim, B. W. Lee, H. U. Lee et al., "Phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity in sweet potato after heat treatment," *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, vol. 99, no. 15, pp. 6833–6840, 2019.
- [29] H. Xu, Y. Li, B. Han et al., "Anti-breast-Cancer activity exerted by β-Sitosterol-d-glucoside from sweet potato via upregulation of MicroRNA-10a and via the PI3K-Akt signaling pathway," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 66, no. 37, pp. 9704–9718, 2018.
- [30] C. Dincer, M. Karaoglan, F. Erden, N. Tetik, A. Topuz, and F. Ozdemir, "Effects of baking and boiling on the nutritional and antioxidant properties of sweet potato (*Ipomoea batatas* (L.) Lam.) cultivars," *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, vol. 66, no. 4, pp. 341–347, 2011.
- [31] J. Lachman, K. Hamouz, J. Čepl et al., "The effect of selected factors on polyphenol content and antioxidant activity in potato tubers," *Chemické Listy*, vol. 100, no. 7, pp. 522–527, 2006.
- [32] W. Brand-Williams, M. E. Cuvelier, and C. Berset, "Use of a free radical method to evaluate antioxidant activity," *LWT—Food Science and Technology*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 25–30, 1995.
- [33] J.-K. Jung, S.-U. Lee, N. Kozukue, C. E. Levin, and M. Friedman, "Distribution of phenolic compounds and antioxidative activities in parts of sweet potato (*Ipomoea*)

batata L.) plants and in home processed roots," *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 29–37, 2011.

- [34] H. Ishida, H. Suzuno, N. Sugiyama et al., "Nutritive evaluation on chemical components of leaves, stalks and stems of sweet potatoes (*Ipomoea batatas* poir)," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 68, no. 3, pp. 359–367, 2000.
- [35] Y.-C. Huang, Y.-H. Chang, and Y.-Y. Shao, "Effects of genotype and treatment on the antioxidant activity of sweet potato in Taiwan," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 98, no. 3, pp. 529–538, 2006.
- [36] R. G. O. Rumbaoa, D. F. Cornago, and I. M. Geronimo, "Phenolic content and antioxidant capacity of Philippine sweet potato (*Ipomoea batatas*) varieties," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 113, no. 4, pp. 1133–1138, 2009.
- [37] M. H. Suárez, A. I. M. Hernández, B. R. Galdón et al., "Application of multidimensional scaling technique to differentiate sweet potato (*Ipomoea batatas* (L.) Lam) cultivars according to their chemical composition," *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, vol. 46, pp. 43–49, 2016.
- [38] V.-D. Truong, R. F. McFeeters, R. T. Thompson, L. L. Dean, and B. Shofran, "Phenolic acid content and composition in leaves and roots of common commercial sweetpotato (*Ipomea batatas* L.) cultivars in the United States," *Journal of Food Science*, vol. 72, no. 6, pp. C343–C349, 2007.
- [39] M. S. Padda, "Phenolic composition and antioxidant activity of sweetpotatoes (*Ipomoea batatas* (L.) Lam)," A Dissertation, Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College, Baton Rouge, Louisiana, 2006.
- [40] J. A. Rothwell, A. Medina-Remón, J. Pérez-Jiménez et al., "Effects of food processing on polyphenol contents: a systematic analysis using Phenol-Explorer data," *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, vol. 59, no. 1, pp. 160–170, 2015.
- [41] L. Cui, C.-q. Liu, D.-J. Li, and J.-F. Song, "Effect of processing on taste quality and health-relevant functionality of sweet potato tips," *Agricultural Sciences in China*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 456–462, 2011.
- [42] R. R. Winardi and H. A. Prasetyo, "Antioxidant activities of sweet potatoes (*Ipomoea batatas* L.) in different temperatures of liquidation," *Journal of Agricultural Science and Food Research*, vol. 92 pages, 2018.
- [43] J. Martín, M. J. Navas, A. M. Jiménez-Moreno, and A. G. Asuero, "Anthocyanin pigments: importance, sample preparation and extraction," in Phenolic Compounds—Natural Sources, Importance and Applications, M. Soto-Hernández, IntechOpen, London, UK, pp. 117–152, 2017.
- [44] N. Suhartatik, A. Mustofa, and P. Mursito, "Phenolic content and antioxidant activity of black glutinous rice anthocyanin during fermentation by *Pediococcus pentosaceus* N11.16," *agriTECH*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 30–35, 2019.
- [45] K. H. Hong and E. Koh, "Effects of cooking methods on anthocyanins and total phenolics in purple-fleshed sweet potato," *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*, vol. 40, no. 5, pp. 1054–1063, 2016.
- [46] J. Velíšek and J. Hajšlová, *Chemie Potravin II*, OSSIS, Tábor, Czech Republic, 3rd edition, 2009.
- [47] B. A. Cevallos-Casals and L. Cisneros-Zevallos, "Stoichiometric and kinetic studies of phenolic antioxidants from Andean purple corn and red-fleshed sweetpotato," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 51, no. 11, pp. 3313– 3319, 2003.
- [48] S. Lim, J. Xu, J. Kim et al., "Role of anthocyanin-enriched purple-fleshed sweet potato P40 in colorectal cancer prevention," *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, vol. 57, no. 11, pp. 1908–1917, 2013.

- [49] M. M. Giusti and R. E. Wrolstad, "Acylated anthocyanins from edible sources and their applications in food systems," *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 217–225, 2003.
- [50] K. Odake, N. Terahara, N. Saito, K. Toki, and T. Honda, "Chemical structures of two anthocyanins from purple sweet potato, *Ipomoea batatas*," *Phytochemistry*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 2127–2130, 1992.
- [51] J. Xu, X. Su, S. Lim et al., "Characterisation and stability of anthocyanins in purple-fleshed sweet potato P40," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 186, pp. 90–96, 2015.
- [52] J. Shipp and E.-S. M. Abdel-Aal, "Food applications and physiological effects of anthocyanins as functional food ingredients~!2009-10-26~!2010-01-06~!2010-03-09~!" The Open Food Science Journal, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 7–22, 2010.
- [53] H. Amoanimaa-Dede, Z. Hongbo, W. T. Kyereko et al., "Structure, functions and biosynthetic pathway of naturally occurring anthocyanin in sweet potato—a review," *Journal of Plant Biochemistry & Physiology*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 1–9, 2019.
- [54] H. W. Kim, J. B. Kim, S. M. Cho et al., "Anthocyanin changes in the Korean purple-fleshed sweet potato, Shinzami, as affected by steaming and baking," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 130, no. 4, pp. 966–972, 2012.
- [55] M. Liao, B. Zou, J. Chen et al., "Effect of domestic cooking methods on the anthocyanins and antioxidant activity of deeply purple-fleshed sweetpotato GZ9," *Heliyon*, vol. 5, no. 4, Article ID e01515, 2019.
- [56] J. Lachman, K. Hamouz, J. Musilová et al., "Effect of peeling and three cooking methods on the content of selected phytochemicals in potato tubers with various colour of flesh," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 138, no. 2-3, pp. 1189–1197, 2013.
- [57] J. Tian, J. Chen, F. Lv et al., "Domestic cooking methods affect the phytochemical composition and antioxidant activity of purple-fleshed potatoes," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 197, pp. 1264–1270, 2016.
- [58] M. S. Padda and D. H. Picha, "Phenolic composition and antioxidant capacity of different heat-processed forms of sweetpotato cv. Beauregard," *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, vol. 43, no. 8, pp. 1404–1409, 2008.
- [59] F. Rautenbach, M. Faber, S. Laurie, and R. Laurie, "Antioxidant capacity and antioxidant content in roots of 4 sweetpotato varieties," *Journal of Food Science*, vol. 75, no. 5, pp. C400–C405, 2010.
- [60] D. A. Navarre, R. Shakya, J. Holden, and S. Kumar, "The effect of different cooking methods on phenolics and vitamin C in developmentally young potato tubers," *American Journal of Potato Research*, vol. 87, no. 4, pp. 350–359, 2010.



Research Article

Antioxidant Activity of *Lactobacillus plantarum* DY-1 Fermented Wheat Germ Extract and Its Influence on Lipid Oxidation and Texture Properties of Emulsified Sausages

Juan Wu,^{1,2} Yu Cheng ^(D),^{1,2} and Ying Dong¹

¹School of Food and Biological Engineering, Jiangsu University, 301 Xuefu Road, Zhenjiang, Jiangsu 212013, China ²Institute of Food Physical Processing, Jiangsu University, 301 Xuefu Road, Zhenjiang, Jiangsu 212013, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Yu Cheng; chengyu@ujs.edu.cn

Received 24 June 2020; Revised 7 July 2020; Accepted 3 August 2020; Published 18 August 2020

Academic Editor: Yiren Yue

Copyright © 2020 Juan Wu et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The nutrient compositions and in vitro antioxidant activities of water-soluble extract from *Lactobacillus plantarum* DY-1 fermented wheat germ and its effect on the lipid oxidation and texture properties of emulsified sausages were investigated. The optimal hydroxyl radical scavenging capacity of $72.8 \pm 2.9\%$ was demonstrated for fermented wheat germ extract (FWGE) by terms of the fermentation conditions as follows: fermentation time of 26 h, fermentation temperature of 35°C, initial pH of 3.0, solid to liquid ratio of 1/10, and inoculum amount of 0.48 g. The enhancement in FWGE content could improve the oxidation stability of emulsified sausages by retarding the formation of thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances (TBARSs) during 7 days of storage at 4°C. However, a higher FWGE content (2.14%) resulted in 78% of increase in cooking loss (p < 0.05) and 41.4% of decrease in hardness (p < 0.05) of emulsified sausages. It was suggested that the biotransformation of wheat germ with lactic acid bacteria could improve its nutritional quality and functional properties.

1. Introduction

Although synthetic antioxidants such as butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT), butylated hydroxyanisole (BHA), and tert-butylhydroquinone (TBHQ) have widely been used in retarding lipid oxidation, their safety has been questioned due to toxicity and possible carcinogenicity [1]. Thus, development of natural antioxidants has been of interest. Peptides, flavonoids, and other phenolic compounds from natural sources have been carried out to be potential natural antioxidants in food industry [2–6]. As cereals are good source of protein and phenolic compounds, utilizing the ingredients in cereals as the natural antioxidants was a concern for many researchers [7–9]. However, the compounds with potential antioxidant capacities in cereals are usually bounded into the matrix of cereals [10]. This hinders their antioxidant capacities. To improve the antioxidant properties of cereals, microbial bioprocessing was used to release

antioxidant peptides and phenolic compounds from cereals [11-13].

Wheat germ, which is the by-product of flour milling industry, contains a lot of components with a high nutritional value. After extracting the wheat germ oil, the defatted wheat germ still contains components including protein and phenolic compounds. Both peptides released from wheat germ protein by commercial enzyme [14] and phenolic compounds [15] extracted from wheat germ have showed antioxidant activities. However, these studies concerned on only peptides or phenolic compounds. Little has been done to take use of both protein and phenolic compounds. And combining the antioxidant peptides and phenolic compounds has shown to improve the oxidation stability of food emulsions [16].

Microbial biotransformation using *Bacillus subtilis* or *Aspergillus oryzae* has been turn out to be able to convert the protein to peptides [17] and release phenolic compounds [18] from wheat germ. The antioxidant activities of wheat

germ fermentation were facilitated by fermentation. And the fermented wheat germ was able to improve the quality of bread [19]. However, few studies have been done on using lactic acid bacteria fermentation to improve the antioxidant activities of wheat germ. Also, using the fermented products as a functional food ingredient to retard lipid oxidation of food is rare.

The objective of present study was to optimize the antioxidant properties of water-soluble extract from fermented defatted wheat germ prepared with the lactic acid bacteria of *Lactobacillus plantarum* DY-1 and assess its role on lipid oxidation of emulsified sausages.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Materials. Lactobacillus plantarum DY-1 direct-vatstarter (DVS) with a cell density of 10¹⁰ cfu/g was screened and prepared by our group [20]. Defatted wheat germ power was purchased from Mantianxue Co. (Henan, China). Ferrozine was purchased from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, USA). Fresh pork and pork fat were purchased from local supermarket. All other reagents were of analytical grade and purchased from Sinopharm Chemical Reagent Co. Ltd (Shanghai, China).

2.2. Experiment Design and Fermentation. Defatted wheat germs were dispersed into 100 mL of citrate buffer in 250 mL conical flasks, followed by mixing with Lactobacillus plantarum DY-1 DVS. After sealing with gauze, the defatted wheat germs were fermented in the shaker at the speed of 120 r/min. Uniform experimental design [21] with five factors and 12 of runs was used to analyze the fermentation parameters by terms of chemical compositions and antioxidant activities, as shown in Table 1. The fermentation parameters including fermentation time (X_1) , temperature (X_2) , pH (X_3) , ratio of solid to liquid (X_4) , and inoculation amount (X_5) were evaluated. The experiments were carried out in random order. And the response functions including soluble protein content (Y_1) , total phenolic content (Y_2) , total sugar content (Y_3), reducing sugar content (Y_4), Fe²⁺ chelating activity (Y_5), hydroxyl free radical scavenging capacity (Y_6) , and superoxide anion radical scavenging capacity (Y_7) of fermented wheat germ extract (FWGE) were assessed.

The relationship between independent variables and responses was expressed with second-order polynomial regression model as follows:

$$Y = \beta_0 = \sum_{i=1}^m \beta_i X_i + \sum_{i=1}^m \beta_{ii} X_i^2 + \sum_{i< j} \beta_{ij} X_i X_j + e, \qquad (1)$$

where *Y* is the response variable; β_0 , β_i , β_{ii} , and β_{ij} are the regression coefficients; and X_i and X_j are the independent variables.

2.3. Preparation of Fermented Wheat Germ Extract (FWGE). Fermented wheat germs were centrifuged at 8000 g for 15 min by Avanti J-26S (Beckman Coulter, Inc., CA, USA).

The supernatants were collected and freeze-dried for 48 h. The lyophilized water-soluble fermented wheat germ extracts were stored at -20° C before further analysis.

2.4. Radical Scavenging Activities of FWGE

2.4.1. Superoxide Anion Radical Scavenging Activity. The superoxide anion scavenging activity of FWGE solutions was determined by the method of Tang et al. [22] and the methods description partly reproduces their wording. The mixture of 1 mL FWGE (2 mg/mL) and 1.8 mL of Tris-HCl buffer (50 mM, pH 8.2) was incubated at 25°C for 10 min, followed by adding 0.1 mL of pyrogallol solution (10 mM). The absorbance of solution was recorded every 15 s in 3 min at the wavelength of 320 nm. The slope of the linear regression equation according to the absorbance and time was used to indicate the oxidation rate of pyrogallol (V_s). Deionized water was used as the control to determine the autoxidation rate of pyrogallol (V_0). The superoxide anion radical scavenging activity was expressed as [(V_0-V_s)/ V_0] × 100%.

2.4.2. Hydroxyl Radical Scavenging Activity. Hydroxyl radical scavenging activity of FWGE solutions was measured according to the method of Li et al. [23] and the methods description partly reproduces their wording. One milliliter of 200 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) was mixed with 0.5 mL of 1,10-phenanthroline (0.75 mM) and 0.5 mL of FeSO₄ (0.75 mM), followed by adding 0.5 mL of H₂O₂ (0.01%) and 0.5 mL of FWGE (20 mg/mL). After holding at 37°C for 60 min, the absorbance of the mixture was recorded at 536 nm. The hydroxyl radical scavenging activity was expressed as $[(A_s - A_1)/(A_0 - A_1)] \times 100\%$, where As is the absorbance value of the samples; A_1 is the absorbance value of control solution containing 1,10-phenanthroline, FeSO₄, and H₂O₂; and A_0 is the absorbance value of blank solution containing 1,10-phenanthroline and FeSO₄.

2.5. *Fe2+ Chelating Activity.* Ferrous metal ion chelating activity of FWGE solutions was determined according to the method of Cheng et al. [24] and the methods description partly reproduces their wording. Two milliliters of ferrozine (500 μ M) was mixed with 1 mL of FeCl₂ (20 μ M), followed by adding 0.5 mL of FWGE solutions (8 mg/mL). The absorbance of the mixture was recorded at 562 nm (A_s) after 10 min incubation. Deionized water was used as the control to determine the absorbance of the mixture (A_0). The Fe²⁺ chelating activity was calculated as [(A_0-A_s)/ A_0] × 100%.

2.6. Chemical Analysis of FWGE. The content of total phenols was evaluated using in FWGE Folin–Ciocalteu method, as described by Zhang et al. [20]. The content of soluble protein, total sugar, and reducing sugar was determined by the biuret method [25], anthrone-sulfuric acid colorimetric method, and dinitrosalicylic acid method [26], respectively.

Dur	Inc	Independent variables (coded and uncoded)			Responses							
Kun	X_{I}	X_2	X_3	X_4	X_5	Y_{I}	Y_2	Y_3	Y_4	Y_5	Y_6	Y_7
1	(1) 6	(3) 25	(4) 3.5	(9) 1/8	(12) 0.6	364.7	5.8	403.5	162.7	18.9	16.4	19.1
2	(2) 6	(6) 30	(8) 4.5	(5) 1/6	(11) 0.6	275.0	6.4	583.7	115.5	7.5	53.4	10.4
3	(3) 12	(9) 40	(12) 5.5	(1) 1/2	(10) 0.5	304.9	6.5	404.3	190.0	12.1	33.5	9.0
4	(4) 12	(12) 45	(3) 3.5	(10) 1/8	(9) 0.5	265.6	9.0	604.6	126.5	2.3	27.8	2.0
5	(5) 18	(2) 20	(7) 4.5	(6) 1/6	(8) 0.4	273.3	7.4	587.7	137.5	14.7	24.9	6.1
6	(6) 18	(5) 30	(11) 5.5	(2) 1/2	(7) 0.4	333.5	6.9	480.7	158.9	5.5	32.1	5.2
7	(7) 24	(8) 35	(2) 3.0	(11) 1/10	(6) 0.3	345.9	9.7	364.9	157.3	1.4	68.9	28.6
8	(8) 24	(11) 45	(6) 4.0	(7) 1/7	(5) 0.3	375.1	8.0	331.1	152.7	25.9	26.8	13.2
9	(9) 30	(1) 20	(10) 5.0	(3) 1/4	(4) 0.2	244.1	8.9	526.6	151.8	23.9	65.0	10.7
10	(10) 30	(4) 25	(1) 3.0	(12) 1/10	(3) 0.2	347.9	10.5	615.1	55.7	0.2	58.7	17.6
11	(11) 36	(7) 35	(5) 4.0	(8) 1/7	(2) 0.1	224.9	8.1	611.9	123.9	7.0	12.3	1.6
12	(12) 36	(10) 40	(9) 5.0	(4) 1/4	(1) 0.1	291.1	9.0	582.1	54.0	2.2	17.6	6.0
Control		Unfei	rmented wh	eat germ		154.6	3.4	845.0	36.0	64.4	39.5	-29.6

TABLE 1: Uniform design for lactic acid bacteria fermentation of wheat germ.

X1: fermentation time (h); X_2 : fermentation temperature (°C); X_3 : initial pH; X_4 : solid/liquid ratio (g/mL); X_5 : inoculum amount (g); Y_1 : soluble protein content (mg/g); Y_2 : total phenolic content (mg/g); Y_3 : total sugar content (mg/g); Y_4 : reducing sugar content (mg/g); Y_5 : Fe²⁺ chelating activity (%); Y_6 : hydroxyl radical scavenging capacity (%); Y_7 : superoxide anion scavenging capacity (%).

2.7. Preparation of Emulsified Sausages. The emulsified sausages were prepared as described by Nieto et al. [27] and the methods description partly reproduced their wording. Lean and pork fat were minced through 5 mm and 3 mm plate, respectively, using a meat grinder. The grounded lean and fat were mixed with crushed ice, FWGE, chilled water (2°C), and salt according to the formula in Table 2. The fat in emulsified sausages was replaced with 0, 2%, 5%, 7%, and 10% of FWGE. After being chopped for 5 min to form meat emulsions, the mixture was stuffed into manufactured collagen casings with the diameter of 29 mm by a stuffer (MGJ-090, Demas Network Technology Co., Ltd, Foshan, China). The samples were then tied and cut into sausages with the length of 10 cm by hand. The sausages were heated in a steamer until their central temperature was kept at $80 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C for 20 min. The central temperature of sausages was measured with thermocouple thermometer. The cooked sausages were cooled with cold water, sealed in polyethylene bags using vacuum packing, and maintained at 4°C for 7 days to estimate the oxidation stability.

2.8. Cooking Loss. The emulsified sausages were weighed before the heating process and after the cooling process. The cooking loss was expressed as the weight loss between initial (W_0) and final (W_f) weight of the sausages and calculated as $[(W_0 - W_f)/W_0] \times 100\%$.

2.9. Thiobarbituric Acid-Reactive Substances (TBARSs). The method of Nieto et al. [27] was used to assess the lipid oxidation of sausages and the methods description partly reproduced their wording. TBARS value was determined by the following equation: TBARS (mg/kg) = $(A_{532}/W_s) \times 9.48$, where A_{532} was the absorbance of the red TBA reaction product at 532 nm, W_s was the sausage sample weight (g), and 9.48 was a constant derived from the dilution factor and the molar extinction coefficient $(1.52 \times 10^3 \text{ M}^{-1} \cdot \text{cm}^{-1})$ of the red TBA reaction product.

TABLE 2: Formulation of emulsified sausages.

Eamoula	Treatn	nent (fat rep	placement r	atio with I	FWGE)
Formula	0%	2%	5%	7%	10%
Fat (g)	107	104.86	101.65	99.51	96.3
Lean (g)	249.5	249.5	249.5	249.5	249.5
FWGE (g)	0	2.14	5.35	7.49	10.7
Water (g)	86	86	86	86	86
Ice (g)	50	50	50	50	50
NaCl (g)	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5
Total (g)	500	500	500	500	500

2.10. Texture Profile Analysis (TPA). TPA was performed at room temperature using a texture analyzer (TA-XT Plus, Stable Micro Systems Ltd., Surrey, UK) with the compression distance of 10.0 mm using P50 probe. The pretest speed, test speed, and posttest speed were 2.0, 1.0, and 1.0 mm/s, respectively, as described by Cheng et al. [28]. All sausage samples were stripped of the casings and cut into cylinders with the length of 20 mm before analysis.

2.11. Statistical Analyses. All assays were done in triplicate. Two different batches of raw materials were used to prepare emulsified sausages at different days. The data were analyzed using DPS statistical software (V9.5, Hangzhou, China) [29] in one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). The differences between means were compared with the LSD test, and significant difference was considered when p < 0.05. Uniform design and its regression model assays were also carried out with DPS statistical software.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Composition Analysis of FWGE. The chemical compositions of FWGE at different fermentation conditions by terms of uniform design are listed in Table 1. Fermentation with *Lactobacillus plantarum* DY-1 increased the content of soluble protein, total phenolic, and reducing sugar while resulted in decrease in the content of total sugar. These results can be explained by the fact that levels of bioactive compounds can be modified by the biotransformation activity of microbes. Also, fermentation might result in breakdown of cell walls in wheat germ cells and release their endogenous enzymes. Enzymes such as amylases, xylanases, and proteases derived from the microbes and cereals might contribute to the conversion of compositions in cell of cereals [30]. The metabolism of Lactobacillus plantarum DY-1 could lead to the liberation and/or synthesis of various bioactive compounds. It was demonstrated that fermentation has a positive influence on total phenolic content and antioxidant activity of cereals [12, 14]. And the degree of influence depended on microorganism species [31]. Our result was consisted with previous research of Zhang et al. [20] that total phenolic content was enhanced by fermentation with Lactobacillus plantarum DY-1.

3.2. Antioxidant Activities of FWGE. The results of antioxidant activities (Table 1) showed that fermentation improved the superoxide anion radical scavenging activity of wheat germ water extracts while weakened their Fe^{2+} chelating activity. And the hydroxyl radical scavenging activity could be enhanced at the selected fermentation conditions.

The Pearson correlation was used to display the relation between chemical compositions and antioxidant activities of FWGE. As shown in Table 3, soluble protein content of FWGE was in significant positive correlation with its superoxide anion radical scavenging activity. Endogenous proteases of wheat germ and proteases from DY-1 could hydrolyze the wheat germ protein into protein hydrolysate. This would result in improvement of the solubility of wheat germ protein. It has been showed by many research studies that protein hydrolysates exhibit higher antioxidant capacities than their original proteins. However, it was strange that the total phenolic content of FWGE was not significantly correlative with their antioxidant capacities. It suggested that the wheat germ protein hydrolysate might contribute more to their antioxidant activities. It was interesting that the soluble protein content of FWGE showed significant negative correlation with its total sugar content. It seemed that wheat germ protein was bounded with polysaccharides in wheat germ. Fermentation released the wheat germ protein bounded from the matrix of polysaccharides.

3.3. Optimizing Fermentation Conditions. To optimize the fermentation condition for better antioxidant activities, quadratic polynomial regression equation was used to express the relationship between fermentation conditions and antioxidant activities of FWGE. The details of regression equations are shown in Table 4. Since only the model for regression equation of hydroxyl radical scavenging activity was significant, it was used for further analysis. The Durbin–Watson value of 1.96 for that model was close to 2. And the R^2 of the model was 0.9997. All the results indicated that regression equation of hydroxyl radical scavenging activity

TABLE 3: Pearson correlation of chemical compositions and antioxidant capacities of FWGE.

	<i>y</i> 1	<i>y</i> 2	у3	<i>y</i> 4	<i>y</i> 5	<i>y</i> 6	<i>y</i> 7
y1	1	-0.044	-0.693*	0.042	0.099	0.088	0.669*
y2		1	0.277	-0.536	-0.414	0.441	0.213
y3			1	-0.662^{*}	-0.465	-0.081	-0.582^{*}
y4				1	0.495	0.075	0.055
<i>y</i> 5					1	-0.118	0.031
<i>y</i> 6						1	0.585^{*}
<i>y</i> 7							1

*Significant at p < 0.05. Y_1 : soluble protein content (mg/g); Y_2 : total phenolic content (mg/g); Y_3 : total sugar content (mg/g); Y_4 : reducing sugar content (mg/g); Y_5 : Fe²⁺ chelating activity (%); Y_6 : ·OH scavenging capacity (%); Y_7 : O_2^- scavenging capacity (%).

TABLE 4: Significance of regression coefficients and regression equations for antioxidant activities of lactic acid bacteria fermented wheat germ extract.

Coefficients	Y_5	Y_6	Y_7
β_0	-1893.5	-1628.8	73.5
β_2	22.4^{*}		
β_3		3324.6*	-76.4^{*}
β_4		-71455.4*	
β_5	-66.1		171.4^{*}
β_{12}			0.112^{*}
β_{14}	654.5*	3.0	
β_{15}		-5.39^{*}	
β_{23}		-1.34^{*}	-0.138
β_{24}	26.4^{*}		-9.78^{*}
β_{25}		4.64^{*}	
β_{34}	-4257.8^{*}	17215.0*	346.6*
β_{35}	378.8*		-28.8^{*}
β_{45}	37154.6*		1389.7*
β_2^2	-0.43*	0.058*	
β_3^2		-656.8*	
β_4^2	-3782.8^{*}	-32971.6*	-3083.8^{*}
β_5^2	-1585.6^{*}		-34.5
R^2 of model	0.998	0.9997	0.997
Adjusted R ²	0.976	0.997	0.973
Significant of model	0.114	0.040	0.121
Durbin-Watson	2.11	1.96	2.32

*Significant at p < 0.05. Y_5 : Fe²⁺ chelating activity (%); Y_6 : •OH scavenging capacity (%); Y_7 : O_2^- scavenging capacity (%).

was able to well predict the change in hydroxyl radical scavenging activity by terms of fermentation parameters. The predicted model could be described as follows:

$$\begin{split} Y_1 &= -1628.8 + 3324.6X_3 - 71455.4X_4 + +3.0X_1 * X_4 \\ &- 5.4X_1 * X_5 - 1.34X_2 * X_3 + 4.6X_2 * X_5 + 17215.0X_3 \\ &* X_4 + 0.058X_2 * X_2 - 656.8X_3 * X_3 - 32971.6X_4 * X_4. \end{split}$$

Based on the regression model, an optimum condition of fermentation was demonstrated as follows: fermentation time of 26 h, fermentation temperature of 35°C, initial pH of 3.0, solid to liquid ratio of 1/10, and inoculum amount of 0.48 g. The verification experiment at the above conditions



FIGURE 1: Cooking loss of emulsified sausages with different ratios of fat replacement using FWGE.

TABLE 5: Texture properties analysis of emulsified sausages with different concentrations of FWGE.

FWGE (%)	Hardness (g)	Resilience (%)	Springiness (%)	Cohesiveness	Chewiness
0	2098.1 ± 161.0^{a}	19.9 ± 2.7^{a}	73.4 ± 2.3^{a}	0.47 ± 0.03^{a}	706.0 ± 62.4^{a}
0.43	2514.5 ± 341.3^{a}	17.7 ± 5.6^{a}	74.2 ± 2.2^{a}	$0.44 \pm 0.08^{\rm ab}$	828.0 ± 237.8^{a}
1.07	$2049.0 \pm 259.5^{\mathrm{a}}$	14.1 ± 2.1^{a}	70.4 ± 0.9^{a}	$0.38 \pm 0.03^{\rm ab}$	550.9 ± 113.1^{a}
1.50	$1606.8 \pm 788.2^{\mathrm{ab}}$	12.4 ± 4.6^{a}	68.5 ± 1.5^{a}	$0.34 \pm 0.08^{\rm ab}$	358.5 ± 114.2^{a}
2.14	$1478.7 \pm 203.7^{\rm b}$	11.4 ± 1.4^{a}	55.4 ± 16.1^{a}	$0.33 \pm 0.04^{ m b}$	300.5 ± 111.7^{a}

All values are presented as mean \pm standard deviation of three replicates (n = 2). ^{a,b}Means within a column with different superscript letters are significantly different (p < 0.05).

was carried out in two replicates. And the hydroxyl radical scavenging capacity and Fe²⁺ chelating capacity of FWGE were $72.8 \pm 2.9\%$ and $20.5 \pm 3.6\%$, respectively. The optimized hydroxyl radical scavenging capacity of FWGE was 1.84 times higher than the wheat germ water-soluble extract.

3.4. Effect of FWGE Content on Cooking Loss. The effect of the replacement of pork fat with FWGE on the cooking loss of the emulsified sausages is shown in Figure 1. The replacement of pork fat at the ratio lower than 5% did not change the cooking loss of the sausages (p > 0.05). However, increasing the replacement ratio of 7–10% would lead to enhancement in the cooking loss of sausages (p < 0.05). The cooking loss of the sausages with 10% of fat replacement was increased by 1.30 times.

3.5. Effect of FWGE Content on Texture of Emulsified Sausages. As shown in Table 5, addition of FWGE had little effect on the textural properties of emulsified sausages including hardness, resilience, springiness, cohesiveness, and chewiness. Increasing the content of FWGE seemed to reduce the hardness of emulsified sausages. When ten percent of fat was replaced with FWGE, the hardness and cohesiveness of the emulsified sausages were reduced by 41.2 and 42.4% (p < 0.05), respectively. The reason was that FWGE might hinder the formation of protein gel network of emulsified

sausages and weakened the gel properties of them. Emulsified sausage is a model of emulsion filled myofibrillar protein gel. The hardness of emulsified sausage is usually influenced by the filler of oil droplet and the matrix of protein gel network. As FWGE was not able to form the viscoelastic particles, the replacement of oil with FWGE might reduce the viscoelastic property of the filler. This might result in the weak hardness of the sausages. The phenols in the FWGE might combine with myofibrillar protein and prevent its aggregation. This might lead to destruction in the formation of myofibrillar protein network. Also, the free amino acid released might have negative effect on the texture of protein gel [32, 33]. Thus, the hardness and cohesiveness of the emulsified sausages might decrease.

3.6. Effect of FWGE Content on Lipid Oxidation of Emulsified Sausages. FWGE was able to retard lipid oxidation of emulsified due to its antioxidant activities. The emulsified sausages with FWGE demonstrated a higher oxidation stability than that without FWGE. The effect of the FWGE on retarding lipid oxidation of emulsified sausages during 7 days of storage at 4°C is shown in Figure 2. At 0 days of storage, the formation of TBARS was inhibited by 36.4 and 78.3% at the FWGE content of 1.07 and 2.14%, respectively (p < 0.05). At 7th days of storage, the formation of TBARS in the emulsified sausages with 1.07 and 2.14% of FWGE decreased by 27.6 and 48.6% (p < 0.05).



FIGURE 2: Oxidation stability of emulsified sausages with different ratios of fat replacement using FWGE during 7 days of storage at 4° C.

Although increasing the FWGE content was able to retard the lipid oxidation in emulsified sausages, it leads to increase in cooking loss and hardness of emulsified sausages. When compared with the TBARS formed at 0 days of storage, it increased by 9.1, 9.8, 9.8, 9.6, and 11.1 times at 7 days of storage under the FWGE content of 0.43, 1.07, 1.50, and 2.14%, respectively (p < 0.05). It suggested that FWGE was prone to hinder the lipid oxidation at the early stage due to their Fe²⁺ chelating capacity and free radical scavenging capacity. Increasing the content of FWGE, the antioxidant properties of FWGE would enhance due to a higher content of antioxidant wheat germ protein hydrolysate and free polyphenols. They might show a higher Fe²⁺ chelating capacity and free radical scavenging capacity. This might result in diminishing the oxidation factors in the sausages. Our results suggested that coexistence of wheat germ protein hydrolysate and free polyphenols in FWGE might lead to synergic effect on antioxidant activities.

4. Conclusions

The antioxidant properties of defatted wheat germ were improved by fermentation with lactic acid bacteria (*Lactobacillus plantarum* DY-1). The enhancement in the antioxidant properties of fermented wheat germ extract (FWGE) might be due to the increase in their soluble protein content. The optimized fermentation conditions by terms of hydroxyl radical scavenging capacity were as follows: fermentation time of 26 h, fermentation temperature of 35°C, initial pH of 3.0, solid to liquid ratio of 1/10, and inoculum amount of 0.48 g. The optimal hydroxyl radical scavenging capacity of FWGE was 72.8 ± 2.9%. FWGE was able to retard lipid oxidation of emulsified sausage. Replacing pork fat with 5% FWGE resulted in better properties of emulsified sausage. The results suggested that biotransformation with lactic acid bacteria could be a promising way to enhance the bioactive properties of wheat germ. FWGE might have potential application in food industry. Further studies on isolation and purification of efficient antioxidants from FWGEs and the in vivo antioxidant activity tests are needed. And the enzymes involved in the fermentation of wheat germ on accumulation of the bioactive ingredients could be concerned.

Data Availability

The data used to support the findings of this study are included within the article.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by the Jiangsu Province Ordinary University Graduate Research and Innovation Program (CXLX12_0672) and Natural Science Foundation of Jiangsu Province (BK20130494).

References

- W. Wang and K. Kannan, "Quantitative identification of and exposure to synthetic phenolic antioxidants, including butylated hydroxytoluene, in urine," *Environment International*, vol. 128, pp. 24–29, 2019, http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0160412019302922.
- [2] Y. Kumar, D. N. Yadav, T. Ahmad, and K. Narsaiah, "Recent trends in the use of natural antioxidants for meat and meat products," *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 796–812, 2015, https://onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/10.1111/1541-4337.12156.
- [3] J. Jiang and Y. L. Xiong, "Natural antioxidants as food and feed additives to promote health benefits and quality of meat products: a review," *Meat Science*, vol. 120, pp. 107–117, 2016, http://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0309174016300973.
- [4] J. S. Ribeiro, M. J. M. C. Santos, L. K. R. Silva et al., "Natural antioxidants used in meat products: a brief review," *Meat Science*, vol. 148, pp. 181–188, 2019, http://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0309174018303577.
- [5] Y. Peng, R. Gan, H. Li et al., "Absorption, metabolism, and bioactivity of vitexin: recent advances in understanding the efficacy of an important nutraceutical," *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, vol. 2020, pp. 1–16, 2020, https://www. tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10408398.2020.1753165.
- [6] B. Xu, J. Yuan, L. Wang et al., "Effect of multi-frequency power ultrasound (MFPU) treatment on enzyme hydrolysis of casein," *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, vol. 63, p. 104930, 2020, http://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1350417719318437.
- [7] S. Gupta and N. Abu-Ghannam, "Probiotic fermentation of plant based products: possibilities and opportunities," *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, vol. 52, no. 2, pp. 183–199, 2012, https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10. 1080/10408398.2010.499779.
- [8] F. Shahidi and P. Ambigaipalan, "Phenolics and polyphenolics in foods, beverages and spices: antioxidant activity and health effects-a review," *Journal of Functional Foods*, vol. 18,

pp. 820-897, 2015, http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1756464615003023.

- [9] K. Masisi, T. Beta, and M. H. Moghadasian, "Antioxidant properties of diverse cereal grains: a review on in vitro and in vivo studies," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 196, pp. 90–97, 2016, http:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0308814615013643.
- [10] B. A. Acosta-Estrada, J. A. Gutiérrez-Uribe, and S. O. Serna-Saldívar, "Bound phenolics in foods, a review," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 152, pp. 46–55, 2014, http://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0308814613017305.
- [11] F. Liu, Z. Chen, J. Shao, C. Wang, and C. Zhan, "Effect of fermentation on the peptide content, phenolics and antioxidant activity of defatted wheat germ," *Food Bioscience*, vol. 20, pp. 141–148, 2017, http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S2212429217301268.
- [12] A. K. Singh, J. Rehal, A. Kaur, and G. Jyot, "Enhancement of attributes of cereals by germination and fermentation: a review," *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, vol. 55, no. 11, pp. 1575–1589, 2015, https://www.tandfonline.com/ doi/full/10.1080/10408398.2012.706661.
- [13] E. Arte, C. G. Rizzello, M. Verni, E. Nordlund, K. Katina, and R. Coda, "Impact of enzymatic and microbial bioprocessing on protein modification and nutritional properties of wheat bran," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 63, no. 39, pp. 8685–8693, 2015, https://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10. 1021/acs.jafc.5b03495.
- [14] Z. Karami, S. H. Peighambardoust, J. Hesari, B. Akbari-Adergani, and D. Andreu, "Antioxidant, anticancer and ACEinhibitory activities of bioactive peptides from wheat germ protein hydrolysates," *Food Bioscience*, vol. 32, p. 100450, 2019, http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S221242921830395X.
- [15] K.-X. Zhu, C.-X. Lian, X.-N. Guo, W. Peng, and H.-M. Zhou, "Antioxidant activities and total phenolic contents of various extracts from defatted wheat germ," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 126, no. 3, pp. 1122–1126, 2011, http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0308814610015724.
- [16] X. Zhang, Y. L. Xiong, J. Chen, and L. Zhou, "Synergy of licorice extract and pea protein hydrolysate for oxidative stability of soybean oil-in-water emulsions," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 62, no. 32, pp. 8204–8213, 2014, https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/jf5016126.
- [17] L.-Y. Niu, S.-T. Jiang, and L.-J. Pan, "Preparation and evaluation of antioxidant activities of peptides obtained from defatted wheat germ by fermentation," *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 53–61, 2013, https://link. springer.com/article/10.1007/s13197-011-0318-z.
- [18] J. Song, J. Kim, and H. Jang, "Ferulic acid released by treatment with Aspergillus oryzae contributes to the cellular antioxidant capacity of wheat germ extract," *Food Science and Biotechnology*, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 1327–1333, 2014, https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10068-014-0182-5https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s100 68-014-0182-5.
- [19] Y. Zhao, J. Zhang, Y. Wei, L. Ai, D. Ying, and X. Xiao, "Improvement of bread quality by adding wheat germ fermented with *Lactobacillus plantarum* dy-1," *Journal of Food Quality*, vol. 2020, p. 9348951, 2020, https://www.hindawi. com/journals/jfq/2020/9348951/.
- [20] J. Zhang, X. Xiao, Y. Dong, J. Wu, F. Yao, and X. Zhou, "Effect of fermented wheat germ extract with *Lactobacillus plantarum* dy-1 on HT-29 cell proliferation and apoptosis," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 63, no. 9, pp. 2449– 2457, 2015, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.5b00041https:// pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acs.jafc.5b00041.

- [21] K. Fang, D. K. J. Lin, P. Winker, and Y. Zhang, "Uniform design: theory and application," *Technometrics*, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 237–248, 2000, https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10. 1080/00401706.2000.10486045.
- [22] X. Tang, Z. He, Y. Dai, Y. L. Xiong, M. Xie, and J. Chen, "Peptide fractionation and free radical scavenging activity of zein hydrolysate," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 58, no. 1, pp. 587–593, 2010, https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10. 1021/jf9028656.
- [23] Y. Li, B. Jiang, T. Zhang, W. Mu, and J. Liu, "Antioxidant and free radical-scavenging activities of chickpea protein hydrolysate (CPH)," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 106, no. 2, pp. 444–450, 2008, http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0308814607004207.
- [24] Y. Cheng, J. Chen, and Y. L. Xiong, "Chromatographic separation and tandem MS identification of active peptides in potato protein hydrolysate that inhibit autoxidation of soybean oil-in-water emulsions," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 58, no. 15, pp. 8825–8832, 2010, https:// pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/jf101556n.
- [25] S. K. C. Chang, "Protein analysis," in *Food Analysis*, pp. 133–146, Springer, Berlin, Germany, 2010.
- [26] J. N. BeMiller, "Carbohydrate analysis," in *Food Analysis*, pp. 147–177, Springer, Berlin, Germany, 2010.
- [27] G. Nieto, M. Castillo, Y. L. Xiong, D. Álvarez, F. A. Payne, and M. D. Garrido, "Antioxidant and emulsifying properties of alcalase-hydrolyzed potato proteins in meat emulsions with different fat concentrations," *Meat Science*, vol. 83, no. 1, pp. 24–30, 2009, http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0309174009000813.
- [28] Y. Cheng, P. O. Donkor, X. Ren et al., "Effect of ultrasound pretreatment with mono-frequency and simultaneous dual frequency on the mechanical properties and microstructure of whey protein emulsion gels," *Food Hydrocolloids*, vol. 89, pp. 434–442, 2019, http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0268005X18316527.
- [29] Q. Tang and C. Zhang, "Data processing system (DPS) software with experimental design, statistical analysis and data mining developed for use in entomological research," *Insect Science*, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 254–260, 2013, https://onlinelibrary.wiley. com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1744-7917.2012.01519.x.
- [30] M. G. Gänzle, "Enzymatic and bacterial conversions during sourdough fermentation," *Food Microbiology*, vol. 37, pp. 2– 10, 2014, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2013.04.007http://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0740002013000762.
- [31] S. J. Hur, S. Y. Lee, Y.-C. Kim, I. Choi, and G.-B. Kim, "Effect of fermentation on the antioxidant activity in plant-based foods," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 160, pp. 346–356, 2014, http://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0308814614005159.
- [32] Y. Wang, J. Zhao, C. Liu, and W. Li, "Influence of γ-aminobutyric acid on gelling properties of heat-induced whey protein gels," *Food Hydrocolloids*, vol. 94, pp. 287–293, 2019, http://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0268005X19300220.
- [33] Y. Wang, J. Zhao, W. Zhang, C. Liu, P. Jauregi, and M. Huang, "Modification of heat-induced whey protein gels by basic amino acids," *Food Hydrocolloids*, vol. 100, p. 105397, 2020, http://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0268005X19317977.



Research Article

Antihyperglycemic, Vasodilator, and Diuretic Activities of Microencapsulated Bioactive Product from *Moringa stenopetala* Leaves Extract

Debebe Worku Dadi ^[1], ¹ Shimelis Admassu Emire, ² Asfaw Debella Hagos, ³ Frehiwot Teka, ³ Samuel Woldekidan, ³ Abiy Abebe, ³ and Meron Sileshi³

¹Department of Food Engineering and Postharvest Technology, Institute of Technology, Ambo University, P.O. Box 19, Ambo, Ethiopia

²School of Chemical and Bioengineering, Institute of Technology, Addis Ababa University, P.O. Box 385, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia
 ³Traditional and Modern Medicine Research Directorate, Ethiopia Public Health Institute, P.O. Box 1242, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia

Correspondence should be addressed to Debebe Worku Dadi; debeworku2010@gmail.com

Received 25 June 2020; Revised 29 July 2020; Accepted 5 August 2020; Published 14 August 2020

Academic Editor: quancai sun

Copyright © 2020 Debebe Worku Dadi et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Moringa stenopetala has nutritional and medicinal values, which is widely used by the local communities. The study aimed to evaluate the antihyperglycemic, vasodilator, and diuretic activities of the microencapsulated bioactive product from *M. stenopetala* leaves extract. Microencapsulation of the extract was done by spray drying technique using maltodextrin and pectin as coating materials with the core: coating ratio of 1:6. Then, the antihyperglycemic, diuretic, and vasodilator activities were evaluated after the product was administered to experimental animals at different doses and compared with the control groups. There were no observed physical, behavioral, and physiological changes on the mice during the acute toxicity test. The results also indicated no toxicity signs and death occurrence in the experimental animals up to 5000 mg/kg administered dose. Therefore, microencapsulated bioactive product exhibited significant antihyperglycemic, vasodilator, and diuretic activities as the doses increase. Therefore, the study showed that microencapsulated bioactive product has significant medicinal values. Further detailed studies are recommended on chronic toxicity tests and to understand the possible mechanism of actions on the antihyperglycemic, vasodilator, and diuretic activities of the microencapsulated product.

1. Introduction

Moringa stenopetala plant has biologically active compounds that have beneficial medicinal attributes in addition to food sources and feed. Traditional treatment using different plant extracts is undertaken for many diseases and health disorders, in particular, in the developing countries [1]. This is due to the presence of various pharmacological active compounds in the plants. About thirty percent of the marketed drugs contain compounds derived from the plants [2]. Although there are many modern antihypertensive medicines, many peoples prefer to use traditional medicines [3]. *M. stenopetala* is a plant that has medicinal and nutritional importance for the community and reported to have antihypertensive effects [4] and antidiabetic activity [5,6]. Similarly, moringa extract also showed hepato- and kidney protective effects due to its protective action against lipid peroxidation and reactive oxygen species [7]. Furthermore, the toxicity and the medicinal values of the *M. stenopetala* leaves extract have been evaluated using experiments in animal models. The toxicity test of the extract was declared as it does not show toxic signs [2,8].

Phenolic and flavonoid compounds are the major constituents reported from aqueous and alcoholic extracts of

M. stenopetala leaves [9,10]. These constituents exhibit higher antioxidant activity and are claimed to be responsible for a number of biological activities [11–13]. However, these bioactive constituents are significantly reduced during plant material processing [14,15] and storage [16]. Encapsulation of medicinal plant extracts can be considered as an option to improve the stability of bioactive compounds during processing and storage. Microencapsulation is a technology for packaging of extracts and thereof active ingredients in microparticle matrices [17]. The wall material forms a physical barrier between the active compounds and the external environment and controls the release of the active compounds [18]. Furthermore, it masks the bitter taste and odor of active extracts or compounds [17]. Considering the medicinal importance of M. stenopetala, the leaves extract was formulated into microencapsulate using spray drying technology. This study, therefore, aimed to evaluate the antihyperglycemic, diuretic, and vasodilator activities of the microencapsulated product of the extract of M. stenopetala leaves.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Chemicals and Reagents. All chemicals and reagents were of analytical grades. Maltodextrin (Eisse Food Co. Ltd., Korea), high methoxyl pectin (RS-400, Danisco Inc., USA), glacial acetic acid (Labort Fine Chemicals, India), glibenclamide (Remedica, Cyprus), ethanol (WINLAB, UK), D-glucose anhydrous and sodium hydrogen carbonate (Eurostar Scientific Ltd., Liverpool, UK), streptozotocin and potassium phosphate monobasic (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USA), potassium chloride (Park Scientific Ltd., Northampton, UK), calcium chloride (Allied Chemical, New Jersey, USA), magnesium chloride (lot no. 86F-3524, Sigma Chemical Company, St. Louis, USA), magnesium sulfate (BDH Lab Chem Division, UK), sodium chloride (Riedel-de Haen, Germany), and furosemide (ERIS Pharma, Australia) were used in the study.

2.2. Microencapsulated Product Development. The coating material solutions were prepared according to the method described by Dadi et al. [19]. Spray-dried microencapsulated product of *M. stenopetala* leaves extract was developed using maltodextrin (9%) and pectin (1%) as a composite coating material with a core: coating ratio of 1:6 and an inlet air temperature of the spray dryer at 140°C. The product was then packed in the aluminum package to protect it from environmental contacts and stored in the refrigerator at 4°C until it is used for the experiment.

2.3. Experimental Animal Preparation. The experimental animals were bred at the Ethiopian Public Health Institute. All animals were used under controlled laboratory conditions of temperature $(22 \pm 2^{\circ}C)$, humidity, and 12 h day and 12 h night and had free access to a standard pellet diet and water *ad libitum*. The institutional ethical review board ethically approved the studies. The animals were treated

throughout the study period according to the guideline for the use and care of animals [20].

2.4. Acute Toxicity Test. The experiment was performed on adult, healthy female Swiss albino mice with a weight range of 25–30 g. The acute toxicity of microencapsulated product from *M. stenopetala* leaves extract was evaluated as follows: the mice were divided into seven groups and five mice were allocated in each group per cage. The animals had fastened for 4–5 h before taking the initial weight measurement. The administration was done orally with single doses of the microencapsulated product which was dissolved in distilled water at different doses (500, 1000, 1500, 2000, and 5000 mg/kg) for five treatment groups and two control groups (coating material for the first group and distilled water for the second group).

2.5. In Vivo Antihyperglycemic Test. Diabetic induction of the mice was done according to the method described by Furman [21]. Briefly, before inducing the streptozotocin (STZ), the animals fasted for 4 h for which only water was provided as normal. Then, a single-dose STZ solution was freshly prepared in citrate buffer (pH = 4.5) at a concentration of 200 mg/kg of the body weight of the mice. The STZ solution was induced using intraperitoneal (IP) injection. Five days after STZ injection, the animals were fastened for 6 h and the blood was taken from the tail vein to measure the glucose level using glucometer (Prodigy, OK Biotech, Hsinchu, Taiwan). Then, the mice were considered as diabetic when their blood glucose level was read as > 150 mg/dl. The antihyperglycemic mice were grouped into six groups, and five mice were put in each cage. The microencapsulated product and the standard drug (glibenclamide) were administered orally using gavage. Groups 1, 2, and 3 were considered as treatment groups which were administered the microencapsulates at the dose of 500, 750, and 1000 mg/kg, respectively. Group 4 was administered the standard drug, glibenclamide, at the dose of 5 mg/kg which was considered as a positive control group. Group 5 was considered as a negative control group in which diabetic mice stayed without treatment. Group 6 was administered distilled water (0.5 mL/100 g) which was considered as a normal control group. The administration was done for 21 days. The body weight and the fastened blood glucose level were measured on the 1st, 7th, 14th, and 21st days.

2.6. In Vitro Vasodilator Activity Test. The in vitro vasodilatory activity of the microencapsulated product of *M. stenopetala* leaves extract was done using isolated guinea pig thoracic aorta according to the methods described by Vogel [22]. The guinea pig was sacrificed by gentle cervical dislocation and the thoracic cavity was opened to identify the aorta. The descending thoracic aorta was then taken and placed in Krebs physiological solution maintained at 37°C. Excess adherent fat and connective tissues were trimmed off and cleaned. The aorta was cut spirally using a heparinized capillary tube with plastic sealing and a strip of about 2 mm wide and 4 cm long using a heparinized capillary tube with plastic sealing. The strip was immediately mounted in an organ bath containing 30 mL Krebs-Henseleit physiological solution. The strip was attached to isometric transducers connected to a polygraph and a resting tension of 1 g was applied to strip. The aorta ring was mounted under this resting tension onto two L shaped stainless steel wire hooks gently inserted into the lumen to avoid damage to the endothelium in Krebs-Henseleit solution and allowed to stabilize for about an hour before commencing an experiment. The physiological solution was allowed to pass through a warm water jacket to maintain its temperature and continuous aeration with carbogen (95% $O_2 + 5\%$ CO₂ gas mixture) at a pH of 7.4. The pH of the buffer was checked every 60 minutes of aeration with carbogen.

After the aortic strip equilibration period of 1 h under a resting tension of 1 g, tissue viability was confirmed by adding 80 mM KCl. After equilibration and tissue viability was checked, contraction of the thoracic aorta strip was induced by the addition of 80 mM KCl into the organ bath during which period it was washed by overflowing every 15 min. Once a contraction plateau was achieved, microencapsulated product was administered cumulatively every 15 min to assess their capacity of reducing thoracic aorta strip contraction induced, and tension responses of the tissue were recorded isometrically with Grass transducers and displayed on a Grass model 7 polygraph. At the end of the experiment, the percent relaxation was determined before and after extract administration. Relaxation, a measure of inhibition of contraction in aorta ring precontracted with a contracting agent, was measured in percentage and calculated using

% relaxation
$$(R_{\text{max}}) = \frac{T_c - T_t}{T_c} * 100,$$
 (1)

where T_c stands for tension in Newton due to contracting agents, while T_t stands for change in tension in Newton after adding encapsulates at different dose level.

2.7. In Vivo Diuretic Activity Test. The diuretic activity of the microencapsulated product was evaluated according to the method described by Vogel [22]. The Wisteria male rats with the body weight in the range of 204-254 g were taken and acclimatized for 7 days. They were kept in the cage with free access to water and standard feed in pellet form. The rats were grouped into five groups; within each cage, six rats were put. Group 1 is a positive control group which was provided furosemide standard drug, group two is negative control group which was provided a saline solution, and the rest three groups were treatment groups in which different doses (500, 750, and 1000 mg/kg) of the microencapsulated products of M. stenopetala leaves extract were provided. The rats were fastened overnight prior to administration. The sample and the standard drug were dissolved in 0.9% saline solution in the form of 5 mL/kg of the rat's weight. Then, a normal saline solution (50 mL/kg of the rat's weight) was provided for all rats and kept in the metabolic cage for 8h. All the

administration was done orally using gavage. Then, the urine volume was measured every 2 h. Finally, the electrolyte concentration in the urine was measured and analyzed.

The urine output, urinary excretion, diuretic index, diuretic activity, natriuretic activity, saluretic activity, carbonic anhydrase inhibition, Na^+ , K^+ , and Cl^- excretion were the parameters determined in order to compare the effects of the test doses of the extract with furosemide on diuresis. The percent of the urinary excretion was calculated as the total urinary output divided by total liquid administered (equation (2)). The ratio of urinary excretion in the test group to urinary excretion in the control group was used as a measure of the diuretic action of the diuretics (equation (3)). The diuretic activity was calculated as the ratio of the diuretic action of the test substances to that of the standard drug (equation (4)):

urinary excretion (%) =
$$\frac{\text{total urine output (ml)}}{\text{total liquid administered (ml)}} * 100,$$
 (2)

diuretic index =
$$\frac{\text{urinary excretion of treated group (ml)}}{\text{urinary excretion of control group (ml)}}$$
, (3)

diuretic activity =
$$\frac{\text{diuretic excretion test drug(ml)}}{\text{diuretic action of standard drug(ml)}}$$
. (4)

2.8. Determination of Ion Concentrations in the Excreted Urine. Urinary Na⁺, K⁺, and Cl⁻ ions concentrations of the animals (experimental, positive control, and normal control groups) were measured using ion-selective electrodes (ISE) analysis (AVL 9180 Electrolyte Analyzer, Roche, Germany). Dilutions of the urine samples were made as required to bring electrolyte content in the range that can be determined by the electrolyte analyzer.

2.9. Statistical Data Analysis. All the experimental values were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. The results were analyzed using analysis of variance (ANOVA) by JMP software (Version 13.0, 2016, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). Tukey's HSD test was used and the difference was considered at a significance level of P < 0.05.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Acute Toxicity. The result of the acute toxicity of microencapsulated product from *M. stenopetala* leaves extract indicated that there was no death within 24 hours up to maximum doses (5000 mg/kg body weight). In addition, there was no sign of behavioral and physical changes and also body weight reduction within 14 days. Besides, there were no gross pathological changes in color and size. These overall parameters show that the microencapsulated bioactive product of *M. stenopetala* leaves did not show any visible sign of toxicity. Similar results were found for

TABLE 1: Effects of the microencapsulated bioactive product of M. stenopetala on the body weight of the mice.

Treatment mound		Fastened body we	ight of the mice (g)	
freatment groups	1st day	7th day	14th day	21st day
Dose 500 mg/kg	30.03 ± 4.16^{aA}	31.12 ± 4.37^{aAB}	32.84 ± 4.90^{aAB}	33.56 ± 4.92^{aAB}
Dose 750 mg/kg	32.92 ± 3.02^{aA}	32.40 ± 3.40^{aAB}	33.01 ± 3.43^{aAB}	33.12 ± 3.77^{aB}
Dose 1000 mg/kg	$33.84 \pm 3.07^{\mathrm{aA}}$	33.56 ± 3.75^{aAB}	32.48 ± 2.76^{aAB}	33.08 ± 2.96^{aB}
Positive control	$30.57 \pm 2.65^{\mathrm{aA}}$	31.04 ± 1.89^{aAB}	31.66 ± 2.36^{aAB}	32.06 ± 2.03^{aBC}
Negative control	29.88 ± 1.71^{aA}	28.49 ± 1.09^{abB}	27.34 ± 1.03^{bcB}	26.58 ± 1.72^{cC}
Normal control	$34.08 \pm 3.99^{\mathrm{aA}}$	$36.10 \pm 4.10^{\mathrm{aA}}$	37.74 ± 3.53^{aA}	39.76 ± 3.46^{aA}

Superscript letters with small letters indicate the presence of significant differences (P < 0.05) in a raw (in different days), whereas the capital letters indicate the presence of significant differences in a column (different doses of the microencapsulates and control groups).

TABLE 2: Antihyperglycemic effects of microencapsulated bioactive product of M. stenopetala leaves extract.

Treatment groups	Fastened blood glucose level (mg/dl)					
freatment groups	1st day	7th day	14th day	21st day		
Dose 500 mg/kg	$337.60 \pm 63.93^{\mathrm{aA}}$	329.90 ± 65.33^{aB}	319.90 ± 68.30^{aB}	$281.80 \pm 67.05^{\mathrm{aB}}$		
Dose 750 mg/kg	271.10 ± 35.86^{aA}	257.40 ± 37.60^{aAB}	241.60 ± 37.32^{aAB}	228.20 ± 33.80^{aAB}		
Dose 1000 mg/kg	300.20 ± 47.94^{aA}	263.60 ± 29.50^{aAB}	258.90 ± 48.17^{aA}	242.00 ± 47.41^{aAB}		
Positive control	291.90 ± 51.95^{aA}	265.70 ± 51.07^{aA}	248.00 ± 49.03^{aA}	221.70 ± 48.08^{aA}		
Negative control	$223.90 \pm 37.59^{\rm b}$	316.20 ± 31.68^{a}	330.70 ± 24.11^{a}	347.10 ± 36.06^{a}		
Normal control	99.00 ± 5.70^{a}	99.20 ± 6.72^{aC}	$98.20 \pm 5.54^{\mathrm{aC}}$	98.20 ± 5.81^{a}		

Superscript letters with small letters indicate the presence of significant differences (P < 0.05) in a raw (in different days), whereas the capital letters indicate the presence of significant differences in a column (different doses of the microencapsulates and control groups).

unencapsulated aqueous and ethanol extracts of *M. stenopetala* leaves [2,5,6]. Therefore, the result indicates that the processing conditions and coating materials employed (maltodextrin and pectin) are safe.

3.2. Body Weight. The body weight of the mice had shown significant differences depending on the treatment type. The change in body weight was higher in the normal control group, in which the hyperglycemic mice followed were treated by the glibenclamide and microencapsulated products of low and middle dose levels (Table 1). The change in body weight of microencapsulated product might be attributed to the presence of the antioxidant activity, which may scavenge the free radicals produced by STZ. King [23] stated that STZ is a source of free radicals, which damage the DNA and cause cell destruction. Moreover, the microencapsulate of M. stenopetala leaves extract also has nutritional components due to the presence of macro- and micronutrients, which might be used as food supplements. On the contrary, the body weight of the untreated hyperglycemic mice (negative control group) was lost significantly (P < 0.05), which could be attributable to the physiological disorder in the diabetic mice as a result of the loss of amino acids and inaccessibility of carbohydrates as an energy source.

3.3. Blood Glucose Level. As shown in Table 2, the blood glucose level of the fastened mice indicates that the dose of the microencapsulated product had considerable effects on blood glucose level reduction. The negative control group, which were STZ-induced untreated mice, attended as diabetic mice whose blood glucose level was kept rising as

compared to the normal control group. In addition, two of them were dead (the first one on the 12th and second on the 16th day). There was a significant reduction of the blood glucose level after the diabetic mice were treated by the microencapsulated product and standard drug, although the blood glucose level was not returned back to normal level in 21 days. Thereafter, on the 21st day, the blood glucose level reduction was not different significantly at different doses. The same trends were shown for ethanol extract of *M. stenopetala* leaves in alloxan-induced diabetic mice [6] and STZ-induced diabetic rat [5].

Daily oral administration of microencapsulated product from *M. stenopetala* leaves extract had shown a significant reduction of the blood glucose level. Moreover, a significant prevention action on the blood glucose level increment was also shown when it was compared to the untreated diabetic mice. The standard drug (glibenclamide, 5 mg/kg/day) reduced the blood glucose level significantly (P < 0.05) when it was compared to the microencapsulated product. Glibenclamide is an antihyperglycemic drug, which results in the increment of intracellular calcium in the β -cell, which leads to stimulating for the release of insulin [24]. The result of microencapsulated product is in agreement with the report of Toma et al. [5]. On the contrary, Nardos et al. [6] found out that the extract reduced the blood glucose level higher than the standard drug.

The effectiveness in the reduction of the blood glucose level in the mice was a dose-dependent manner. Lower blood glucose levels were observed in the middle and higher dose level as indicated in Table 2. Furthermore, the daily oral administration of the highest dose of the microencapsulate (1000 mg/kg) reduced the blood glucose level comparable to that of glibenclamide on the 14th day of treatment (Table 2).

TABLE 3: Vasodilation effect of the microencapsulated bioactive product from *M. stenopetala* leaves extract on the guinea pig thoracic aorta.

	Relaxation of	the precontracted aorta
Concentration (mg/mL)		(%)
	Extract	Encapsulated product
2.5	10.00 ± 1.08^{e}	$4.50 \pm 0.77^{ m g}$
5	26.27 ± 1.95^{d}	$8.00 \pm 0.55^{ m f}$
10	$53.03 \pm 2.45^{\circ}$	14.33 ± 1.03^{e}
20	66.53 ± 1.73 ^b	24.67 ± 0.82^{d}
40	99.13 ± 2.02^{a}	$38.50 \pm 1.97^{\circ}$
80	-	64.83 ± 1.83^{b}
160	_	74.17 ± 2.04^{a}

Superscripted letters in the column indicate the presence of the significant differences (P < 0.05) among the values which showed different concentrations of the samples.

This is due to the increase of the active compounds at a higher dose, which may in turn elevate the antioxidant activity of the microencapsulates. Kim [25] described that high methoxyl pectin contributes to decreasing the rate of glucose absorption due to its viscous nature. The increment of the concentration of the coating material also improves the lowering of the blood glucose level. The same trend was also reported for M. stenopetala leaves extract [5,6] and Sasa borealis extract [26]. The ethanolic extract of Zygophyllum album at high dose also resulted in a significant reduction of the blood glucose level in STZ-induced diabetic mice [27]. This probable action of the indicated activity might be attributed to the activation of protein kinase (AMPK) and enhancement of insulin signaling by the active compounds [26]. In addition, the decrease in the blood glucose level in animals might be related to the inhibition of glycogenolysis as proposed by increased liver glycogen [27].

3.4. Vasodilator Activity. The cardiovascular disorder is among the major causes of morbidity and mortality that contributes to a strong public burden on treatment and therapeutic management [28]. Vasodilation is the relaxation of the smooth muscle of blood vessels, which results in normal blood pressure. Nitric oxide is one of the most important vasodilators or endothelium-derived relaxing factors [29]. Ferreira et al. [30] found that the relaxation of the contracted aortic strip was due to the release of nitric oxide when it was treated by *Hancornia speciosa* extract. Similar result was also reported for *Viscum album* extract [31]. This shows that phytochemical constituents of the plant extracts may increase the release of nitric oxide; consequently, the vasodilation properties of nitric oxide are improved.

On the other hand, when the smooth muscle is being contracted, it results in increased blood pressure [29]. The results are shown in Table 3; the unencapsulated extract had significantly (P < 0.05) higher relaxation against KCl-induced contraction of the guinea pig thoracic aorta compared to the microencapsulated product. The high relaxation (99.13%) was found from the unencapsulated extract at the concentration of 40 mg/mL. Microencapsulated product

gave the maximum relaxation of 74.17% at the concentration of 160 mg/mL (Table 3). This is probably due to the variation in the concentration of the active compounds and effects of processing temperature and coating materials. Even if the pure extract had a more relaxing effect, the microencapsulated product has also shown its vasodilation effect in a dose-dependent manner.

3.5. Diuretic Activity. Diuretics also produce antihypertensive effect and have clinical application [32]. Diuretics increase the urinary sodium excretion, thereby reducing the plasma volume, which in turn lower the blood pressure, extracellular fluid volume, and cardiac output [33], though the mechanism of action of the diuretics was not known exactly.

3.5.1. Urine Output. The effect of microencapsulated product of *M. stenopetala* leaves extract on the urine output is shown in Table 4. Accordingly, the urine output of the rats treated with the microencapsulated product was considerably higher when compared to the normal control group (the group treated with normal saline solution). This showed that the microencapsulated product of *M. stenopetala* leaves extract could increase urine excretion.

The urine output was increased with increase in time until 8 h. The urine output of rats treated with the standard drug (furosemide) was significantly higher than the microencapsulated product at 2 h and 4 h. Thereafter, the urine output of the microencapsulated product was comparably increased at 8 h with furosemide. This indicates that the diuresis action of the furosemide drug occurred earlier than the microencapsulated product. Roush and Sica [32] described that the duration of action of the furosemide drug is 4-5 h. The urine output was higher when the dose of the microencapsulated product was increased. The same trend was observed as reported earlier for the 70% ethanol extract of *M. stenopetala* leaves [34] and aqueous extract of *T. schimperi* leaves [3].

3.5.2. Urinary Excretion. The percentage of urinary excretion from the rats treated with different doses of microencapsulated bioactive product was the highest (54 and 56%) at the dose of 750 and 1000 mg/kg at 8 h, respectively, whereas the lowest was found in the untreated rats along the time intervals (Table 5). On the other hand, the percentage of urinary extraction was increased with the increment of the dose of the microencapsulated product as the time is getting longer to 8 h (Table 5). The result was in agreement with the reports of Geleta et al. [34] and Fekadu et al. [35] for *M. stenopetala* leaves extract.

When the standard drug (furosemide) was considered, the high urinary excretion (23%) was found in the first 2 h. Thereafter, it was continued with the same trend as the microencapsulated treated rats for the rest time intervals due to the aforementioned reason (Table 5). The microencapsulate took a longer time, probably due to the time required for the release of active compounds from the coating

Turneturnet	Urine output (mL)								
Ireatment	2 h	4 h	6 h	8 h					
Dose 500 mg/kg	1.77 ± 0.84^{cBC}	3.62 ± 1.00^{bAB}	5.30 ± 1.30^{abAB}	$6.28 \pm 1.23^{\mathrm{aAB}}$					
Dose 750 mg/kg	$1.72 \pm 0.55^{\rm cBC}$	$4.70 \pm 0.82^{\mathrm{bA}}$	5.88 ± 0.86^{abA}	6.98 ± 0.80^{aA}					
Dose 1000 mg/kg	$2.07\pm0.48^{\rm cAB}$	$4.80 \pm 0.60^{ m bA}$	6.57 ± 0.93^{aA}	7.45 ± 0.90^{aA}					
Positive control	3.06 ± 1.03^{cA}	4.63 ± 1.28^{bcA}	5.75 ± 0.76^{abAB}	$6.48\pm0.78^{\mathrm{aAB}}$					
Normal control	$0.70 \pm 0.62^{ m bC}$	2.67 ± 1.65^{abB}	$3.90 \pm 1.70^{\mathrm{aB}}$	4.88 ± 1.58^{aB}					

TABLE 4: Urine output from the rats treated with microencapsulated product of *M. stenopetala* leaves extract.

All values with different superscripted small letters in each row indicate the presence of the significant differences (P < 0.05) in different hours, whereas the superscripted capital letters in each column indicate the presence of significant difference at different doses and control groups.

TABLE 5: Diuretic activity of the rat treated by the microencapsulated bioactive product.

Turstursent	Urinary excretion (%)					Diuretic index				Diuretic activity			
freatment	2 h	4 h	6 h	8 h	2 h	4 h	6 h	8 h	2 h	4 h	6 h	8 h	
Dose 500 mg/kg	13	26	38	45	2.34	1.25	1.23	1.14	0.56	0.76	0.88	0.92	
Dose 750 mg/kg	14	37	46	54	2.43	1.73	1.46	1.36	0.58	1.05	1.05	1.09	
Dose 1000 mg/kg	15	35	48	56	2.74	1.63	1.55	1.42	0.66	0.99	1.11	1.14	
Positive control	23	35	44	49	4.17	1.65	1.40	1.24	1	1	1	1	
Normal control	6	21	32	39	1	1	1	1	-	-	-	-	

TABLE 6: Electrolyte extraction in the treated rats using the microencapsulated bioactive product.

Treatment	Excrete	d electrolytes (n	nmol/L)	Natriuretic activity	Saluretic activity	Carbonic anhydrase inhibition	Salu	etic i	ndex
	Na ⁺	K^+	Cl^-	Na ⁺ /K ⁺	$Na^+ + Cl^-$	$Cl^{-}/(Na^{+} + K^{+})$	Na^+	K^+	Cl^-
Dose 500 mg/kg	137.83 ± 14.82^{bc}	79.73 ± 3.36^{bc}	166.67 ± 14.35^{ab}	1.73 ± 0.38^a	304.50 ± 29.13^{ab}	0.76 ± 0.04^a	1.52	1.20	1.34
Dose 750 mg/kg	180.50 ± 9.40^{ab}	104.15 ± 8.75^{ab}	245.35 ± 21.89^{a}	1.76 ± 0.20^a	425.85 ± 30.76^{a}	0.86 ± 0.08^a	1.99	1.57	1.97
Dose 1000 mg/kg	187.33 ± 15.33^{ab}	103.32 ± 8.32^{ab}	243.00 ± 31.92^{a}	1.82 ± 0.19^a	430.33 ± 46.76^{a}	0.82 ± 0.12^{a}	2.06	1.56	1.96
Positive control	191.00 ± 13.81^{a}	113.62 ± 9.19^{a}	253.37 ± 27.23^{a}	$1.73\pm0.38^{\rm a}$	444.37 ± 46.76^{a}	0.82 ± 0.13^{a}	2.10	1.72	2.04
Normal control	$90.83 \pm 5.07^{\circ}$	$66.25 \pm 4.97^{\circ}$	$124.28\pm7.16^{\rm b}$	1.42 ± 0.40^a	215.12 ± 11.80^{b}	0.79 ± 0.06^a	1	1	1

All values indicated in different superscript letters in each column indicate the presence of significant differences (P < 0.05) in the dose of the microencapsulated product and control groups.

material. The values of the diuretic index and diuretic activity showed the same trends with the urinary excretion (Table 5). The diuretic activity depended on the dose of the microencapsulated bioactive product. As the dose was increased, the diuretic activity was higher. The results showed that microencapsulated product of *M. stenopetala* leaves extract has a significant diuretic activity. Consequently, this microencapsulated product may be used to minimize the abnormal accumulation of fluid. The diuretics are the most commonly prescribed agents for the management of hypertension [32].

3.5.3. Electrolyte Concentration. The microencapsulated product of *M. stenopetala* leaves extract had a significant (P < 0.05) effect on the excretion of Na⁺, K⁺, and Cl⁻ ion (Table 6). A high electrolyte excretion was observed in furosemide-provided rats followed by the microencapsulate-

treated rats at the doses of 1000 and 750 mg/kg, respectively. The lowest electrolyte excretion was observed for the control group (untreated rats). The highest dose of the microencapsulated product had shown significant electrolyte excretion. The *T. schimperi* extract also showed that the electrolyte extraction increased as the dose was increased [3]. This experimental data showed that the microencapsulated product has a role in antihypertensive activity. This effect may have advantages in the case of salt-sensitive hypertension due to the excretion of sodium. The removal of sodium may lead to a drop in systolic blood pressure of 10 mm Hg or more [32].

Moreover, the natriuretic, saluretic, and carbon anhydrase inhibition activities were not significantly (P < 0.05) different at different doses of the microencapsulated product with the exception of the saluretic activity at which a significant difference was found at lower doses (500 mg/kg) of the microencapsulated product. The removal of these electrolytes in the body may lead to the minimization of the cardiac work by reducing the amount of plasma, thereby leading to the return of the venous to the heart [34].

The common feature of diuretics is their natriuretic action, which leads to a decrease in total body sodium [36]. The observation was made in this study that the maximum value of natriuretic activity was 1.82, which was found from the administration of a dose of 1000 mg/kg microencapsulated product. This indicated a favorable natriuretic effect. The natriuretic activity was considered to be favorable when the value is greater than or equal to two [36]. When the value for natriuretic activity is more than ten, it is determined to have potassium sparing effect [22]. Therefore, natriuretic activity value of the treatment group indicates favorable potassium sparing although there is a tendency for excretion of potassium.

The carbonic anhydrase inhibition values of the microencapsulated bioactive product are in the range of 0.76 to 0.86 (Table 6). Carbonic anhydrase inhibitor is used to increase the urinary excretion of the bicarbonate [36]. Carbonic anhydrase inhibition can be excluded if the ratio is between 0.8 and 1 [22]. All the values in the current study were in this range except the microencapsulate at dose of 500 mg/kg. Thus, the diuretic activity of the microencapsulated product did not possess carbonic anhydrase inhibition action. The diuretic activity is claimed to be effective as the carbonic anhydrase inhibition ratio is going to be decreased [22,36].

4. Conclusions

The microencapsulated product from M. stenopetala leaves extract is shown to be safe as determined in the acute toxicity study. The microencapsulated bioactive product possessed significant vasodilator (up to 74.17% of relaxation) and diuretic (up to 56% of urinary excretion) activities. The blood glucose levels of the STZ-induced diabetic mice were significantly reduced when the microencapsulated product of M. stenopetala leaves extract was administered at the doses of 500, 750, and 1000 mg/kg. The vasodilator, increased urinary excretion, and saluretic effects are indicative of the antihypertensive effect of the microencapsulated bioactive product of M. stenopetala leaves extract. Therefore, the microencapsulated product may be considered as a potential nutraceutical for prediabetic and prehypertensive treatments. Further study, however, needs to be undertaken to elucidate the possible mechanism of actions on the antihyperglycemic, vasodilator, and diuretic activities of the microencapsulated product.

Data Availability

All the data generated and analyzed during this study are included in this paper.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge Addis Ababa University and Ambo University for their financial support. The authors would also like to thank Traditional and Modern Medicine Research Directorate, Ethiopian Public Health Institute, for their laboratory facilities.

References

- N. Debelo, M. Afework, A. Debella, W. Ergete, and B. Geleta, "Histopathological and biochemical assessment of chronic oral administration of aqueous leaf extract of *Thymus serrulatus* in mice," *Journal of Clinical Experiment Pathology*, vol. 5, no. 258, pp. 2161–2181, 2015.
- [2] B. Geleta, E. Makonnen, and A. Debella, "Toxicological evaluations of the crude extracts and fractions of *Moringa* stenopetala leaves in liver and kidney of rats," *Journal of Cytology and Histology*, vol. 7, no. 383, Article ID 1000383, 2016.
- [3] H. Haji, E. Makonnen, A. Debella, and B. Geleta, "Evaluation of diuretic and antihypertensive activity of leaf extracts of *Thymus schimperi* in rats," *British Journal of Pharmacology and Toxicology*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 1–8, 2016.
- [4] B. Geleta, E. Makonnen, A. Debella, and A. Tadele, "In vivo antihypertensive and antihyperlipidemic effects of the crude extracts and fractions of Moringa stenopetala (Baker f.) Cufod. leaves in rats," Frontiers in Pharmacology, vol. 7, no. 97, Article ID 103389, 2016.
- [5] A. Toma, E. Makonnen, Y. Mekonnen, A. Debella, and S. Adisakwattana, "Antidiabetic activities of aqueous ethanol and n-butanol fraction of *Moringa stenopetala* leaves in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats," *BMC Complementary* and Alternative Medicine, vol. 15, no. 1, Article ID 1507790, 2015.
- [6] A. Nardos, E. Makonnen, and A. Debella, "Effects of crude extracts and fractions of *Moringa stenopetala* (Baker f) Cufodontis leaves in normoglycemic and alloxan-induced diabetic mice," *African Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, vol. 5, no. 20, pp. 2220–2225, 2011.
- [7] A. R. Verma, M. Vijayakumar, C. S. Mathela, and C. V. Rao, "In vitro and in vivo antioxidant properties of different fractions of *Moringa oleifera* leaves," *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, vol. 47, no. 9, pp. 2196–2201, 2009.
- [8] A. Musa, P. Vata, and A. Debella, "Acute toxicity studies of butanol fraction of leaves of *Moringa stenopetala* in rats," *Asian Pacific Journal of Health Science*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 160–164, 2015.
- [9] D. W. Dadi, S. A. Emire, A. Debella, and F. Teka, "Influences of different drying methods and extraction solvents on total phenolic and flavonoids, and antioxidant capacity of *Moringa stenopetala* leaves," *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 962–967, 2018.
- [10] S. Habtemariam, "Investigation into the antioxidant and antidiabetic potential of *Moringa stenopetala*: identification of the active principles," *Natural Product Communications*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 475–478, 2015.
- [11] S. Habtemariam and G. Varghese, "Extractability of rutin in herbal tea preparations of *Moringa stenopetala* leaves," *Beverages*, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 169–182, 2015.
- [12] B. Vongsak, P. Sithisarn, S. Mangmool, S. Thongpraditchote, Y. Wongkrajang, and W. Gritsanapan, "Maximizing total phenolics, total flavonoids contents and antioxidant activity of *Moringa oleifera* leaf extract by the appropriate extraction

method," *Industrial Crops and Products*, vol. 44, pp. 566–571, 2013.

- [13] P. Chumark, P. Khunawat, Y. Sanvarinda et al., "The in vitro and ex vivo antioxidant properties, hypolipidaemic and antiatherosclerotic activities of water extract of *Moringa oleifera* Lam. leaves," *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, vol. 116, no. 3, pp. 439–446, 2008.
- [14] C. Abuye, K. Urga, H. Knapp et al., "A compositional study of Moringa stenopetala leaves," East African Medical Journal, vol. 80, no. 5, pp. 247–252, 2003.
- [15] J. Shi, Functional Food Ingredients and Nutraceuticals: Processing Technologies, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, USA, 2006.
- [16] B. Vongsak, P. Sithisarn, and W. Gritsanapan, "Bioactive contents and free radical scavenging activity of *Moringa oleifera* leaf extract under different storage conditions," *Industrial Crops and Products*, vol. 49, pp. 419–421, 2013.
- [17] N. J. Zuidam and E. Shimoni, Overview of Microencapsulates for Use in Food Products or Processes and Methods to Make Them, Springer, New York, NY, USA, 2010.
- [18] L. M. Sagis, *Microencapsulation and Microspheres for Food Applications*, Academic Press, New York, NY, USA, 2015.
- [19] D. W. Dadi, S. A. Emire, A. D. Hago, and J. B. Eun, "Development of microencapsulated bioactive product from *M. stenopetala* leaves extract by optimizing spray drying process parameters," *Annals. Food Science and Technology*, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 191–206, 2019.
- [20] National Research Council, Guideline for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals, National Academy Press, Washington, DC, USA, 2011.
- [21] B. L. Furman, "Streptozotocin-induced diabetic models in mice and rats," *Current Protocols in Pharmacology*, vol. 70, no. 1, pp. 5.47.1–5.47.20, 2015.
- [22] H. G. Vogel, *Drug Discovery and Evaluation: Pharmacological Assays*, Springer, New York, NY, USA, 2002.
- [23] A. J. King, "The use of animal models in diabetes research," *British Journal of Pharmacology*, vol. 166, no. 3, pp. 877–894, 2012.
- [24] X. Serrano-Martín, G. Payares, and A. Mendoza-León, "Glibenclamide, a blocker of K+ATP channels, shows antileishmanial activity in experimental murine cutaneous leishmaniasis," *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, vol. 50, no. 12, pp. 4214–4216, 2006.
- [25] M. Kim, "High-methoxyl pectin has greater enhancing effect on glucose uptake in intestinal perfused rats," *Nutrition*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 372–377, 2005.
- [26] J. S. Nam, H. J. Chung, M. K. Jang et al., "Sasa borealisextract exerts an antidiabetic effect via activation of the AMP-activated protein kinase," *Nutrition Research and Practice*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 15–21, 2013.
- [27] J. E. Ghoul, N. A. Boughattas, and M. Ben-Attia, "Antihyperglycemic and antihyperlipidemic activities of ethanolic extract of *Zygophyllum albumin* streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice," *Toxicology and Industrial Health*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 43–51, 2013.
- [28] A. S. Go, D. Mozaffarian, V. L. Roger et al., "Executive summary: heart disease and stroke statistics, a report from the American Heart Association," *Circulation*, vol. 129, no. 3, pp. 399–410, 2014.
- [29] D. Versari, E. Daghini, A. Virdis, L. Ghiadoni, and S. Taddei, "Endothelium-dependent contractions and endothelial dysfunction in human hypertension," *British Journal of Pharmacology*, vol. 157, no. 4, pp. 527–536, 2009.
- [30] H. C. Ferreira, C. P. Serra, V. S. Lemos, F. C. Braga, and S. F. Cortes, "Nitric oxide-dependent vasodilatation by

ethanolic extract of *Hancornia speciosa* via phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase," *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, vol. 109, no. 1, pp. 161–164, 2007.

- [31] F. A. Tenorio, L. del Valle, A. González, and G. Pastelín, "Vasodilator activity of the aqueous extract of *Viscum album*," *Fitoterapia*, vol. 76, no. 2, pp. 204–209, 2005.
- [32] G. C. Roush and D. A. Sica, "Diuretics for hypertension: a review and update," *American Journal of Hypertension*, vol. 29, no. 10, pp. 1130–1137, 2016.
- [33] S. U. Shah, S. Anjum, and W. Littler, "Use of diuretics in cardiovascular disease: (2) hypertension," *Postgraduate Medical Journal*, vol. 80, no. 943, pp. 271–276, 2004.
- [34] B. Geleta, M. Eyasu, N. Fekadu, A. Debella, and F. Challa, "Evaluation of diuretic activity of hydro-ethanolic extract of *Moringa stenopetala* leaves in Swiss albino mice," *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacoloy*, vol. 5, no. 5, Article ID 000190, 2015.
- [35] N. Fekadu, H. Basha, A. Meresa, S. Degu, B. Girma, and B. Geleta, "Diuretic activity of the aqueous crude extract and hot tea infusion of *Moringa stenopetala* (Baker f.) Cufod. leaves in rats," *Journal of Experimental Pharmacology*, vol. Volume 9, pp. 73–80, 2017.
- [36] S. E. Hart, *Diuretic and Saluretic Activity: Drug Discovery and Evaluation: Pharmacological Assays*, Springer, Cham, Switzerland, 2015.



Research Article

Digestive Enzyme Inhibition of Different Phenolic Fractions and Main Phenolic Compounds of Ultra-High-Pressure-Treated Palm Fruits: Interaction and Molecular Docking Analyses

Qingfeng Zhou,^{1,2} Jiexin Zhou,³ Xiaojing Liu,³ Yan-Bing Zhang ^(b),¹ and Shengbao Cai ^(b)

¹School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Institute of Drug Discovery & Development, Key Laboratory of Advanced Drug Preparation Technologies (Ministry of Education), Zhengzhou University, Zhengzhou 450001, China

²School of Biology and Food, Shangqiu Normal University, Shangqiu 476000, China

³Faculty of Agriculture and Food, Yunnan Institute of Food Safety, Kunming University of Science and Technology, Kunming, Yunnan 650500, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Yan-Bing Zhang; zhangyb@zzu.edu.cn and Shengbao Cai; caikmust2013@163.com

Received 11 June 2020; Revised 29 June 2020; Accepted 30 June 2020; Published 3 August 2020

Academic Editor: Quancai Sun

Copyright © 2020 Qingfeng Zhou et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The purpose of the present work was to evaluate the inhibitory effects of different phenolic extracts from non- and ultra-highpressure- (UHP-) treated palm fruits and their main phenolic compounds against pancreatic lipase and α -glucosidase and to further analyze the interaction and inhibitory mechanisms of two main phenolics (caffeic acid and catechin). Results showed that the free, esterified, and insoluble-bound phenolic fractions from the non- and UHP-treated fruits demonstrated good inhibitory effects towards two enzymes. The insoluble-bound phenolic fraction, regardless of UHP treatment, presented the strongest inhibitory capacities, and UHP treatment significantly upgraded the inhibitory effects of these phenolic fractions (lipase IC₅₀: 78.01 vs. 72.50 μ g/mL; α -glucosidase IC₅₀: 76.42 vs. 64.51 μ g/mL). Catechin and caffeic acid, main phenolic compounds detected in all phenolic fractions of the fruits, showed similar efficiencies on inhibiting the two enzymes, which were consistent with the findings observed by molecular docking analysis. Moreover, these two phenolic compounds exhibited a synergy effect on inhibiting pancreatic lipase and α -glucosidase at a relatively high combination concentration with the ratio of 1:1. Therefore, the present work may be helpful for further application of palm fruits as food supplements or nutraceuticals to control energy intake to improving some chronic metabolic diseases.

1. Introduction

With the continuous improvement of people's material life, long-term consumption high-glucose and high-fat diet results in glucose and lipid metabolic disorders, causing severe problems to human health [1]. Glucose and lipid metabolic disorders, a cluster of metabolic syndrome, are closely related with many chronic disease occurrences, such as obesity and diabetes [2]. An epidemiological survey suggested that more than three million people bear the obesity torture in the USA, and about one billion people either being overweight or obesity worldwide [3]. Diabetes (the fifth health killer) threatens the human health by damaging the blood vessels, nerves, and organs [4]. The most common drug to control or improve obesity and diabetes available on the market are orlistat and acarbose. Orlistat can reduce the lipid absorption by inhibiting the lipase activity [5], and acarbose controls postprandial blood glucose by reducing the glucose absorption with inhibiting the α -glucosidase activity [6]. Nevertheless, some unpleasant effect may take place, such as abdominal discomfort and flatulence [5, 6]. Therefore, excavating natural inhibitors of pancreatic lipase and α -glucosidase to control obesity and diabetes is the research hotspots. Many studies have proved that phenolic compounds possess inhibitory effect on digestive enzymes, such as pancreatic lipase and α -glucosidase [7–9]. Meanwhile, phenolic compounds could also be absorbed into human body to directly exert their health benefits [10].

Oil palm (Elaeis guineensis Jacq.) fruits, a common economic oil crop for pressing oil [11], are not only abundant with oil but also rich in phenolic compounds [12]. However, to the best of our knowledge, few studies have been performed to evaluate the inhibitory effects of the free, esterified and insoluble-bound phenolic fractions (F, E, and IB) from oil palm fruits against the pancreatic lipase and α -glucosidase. Meanwhile, ultra-high-pressure (UHP) treatment, one of the newest food processing methods, has been widely used in food processing industry. UHP greatly improved bioaccessibility and bioactivity of the bioactive compounds in food materials [13]. In our previous study, we found that the phenolic and flavonoid contents of the F, E, and IB phenolic fractions of oil palm fruits were significantly upgraded after being treated by UHP [12]. However, the influence of UHP treatment on the pancreatic lipase and α -glucosidase inhibitory activities of the different phenolic fractions from oil palm fruits is still unclear.

Therefore, the pancreatic lipase and α -glucosidase inhibitory activities of the different phenolic fractions (F, *E*, and IB) from nontreated and UHP-treated oil palm fruits were comparatively evaluated, and then the interactions between the two main phenolic compounds (detected in all phenolic fractions) on inhibiting lipase and α -glucosidase activities were further investigated. Finally, molecular docking analyses were used to delineate the underlying inhibition mechanisms of those two predominant phenolic compounds.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Chemicals and Reagents. Pancreatic lipase (from porcine pancreas, 163 U/mg, EC: 3.1.1.3), α -glucosidase (from Saccharomyces cerevisiae, Type I, ≥ 10 U/mg protein), *p*-nitrophenyl laurate (PNP), *p*-nitrophenyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (*p*-NPG), acarbose, and orlistat were purchased from Sigma (Sigma-Aldrich, Shanghai, China). The purity of authentic standards of phenolic compounds (catechin and caffeic acid) were \geq 98% and obtained from Chengdu Must Bio-Technology Co., Ltd. (Chengdu, China). Other reagents used were of analytical grade.

2.2. Preparation and UHPLC-MS/MS Analysis of Samples. Oil palm fruits were obtained in 2017, from a local market (Haikou City, Hainan Province, P.R. China) and kept at low temperature (4°C-6°C) throughout transportation and stored at -20° C after being received. The methods used for UHP pretreatment of oil palm fruits and the extraction of F, *E*, and IB phenolic fractions were performed in the same way as in our previous report [12]. Mesocarps were vacuumpacked before UHP treatment and then processed with HHP-600 (Baotou Kefa High Pressure Technology Limited Company, Baotou, China) for 10 min at 500 Mpa. Then, all samples were lyophilized and smashed into powder with a high-speed grinder (Lingdan LD-T300, Shanghai, China) for extraction. The phytochemical compositions of F, E,, and IB phenolic fractions were analyzed by UHPLC-MS/MS, which were similar with the results reported in our previous work

[12]; catechin and caffeic acid were the main phenolic compounds detected in all phenolic fractions of non- and UHP-treated fruits.

2.3. Inhibition of Pancreatic Lipase Activity. The assay of pancreatic lipase inhibition was performed according to the method reported earlier [14]. Briefly, pancreatic lipase was dissolved into 150 mg/mL with distilled water, and the supernatant was obtained by centrifuged with 10,000 g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The 1% PNP and 1% Triton X-100 were added in sodium acetate solution (5 mM pH 5.0) to prepare the substrate solution. The absorbance value of each sample was obtained at 400 nm by a SpectraMax M5 microplate reader (Molecular device, USA). All the experiments were conducted three times.

2.4. Inhibition of α -Glucosidase Activity. The inhibition of α -glucosidase activity was conducted as per a previously described method [15]. In this assay, *p*-NPG served as substrate, which was dissolved into 2.5 mM with PBS (PH = 6.8). α -Glucosidase solution also prepared with PBS, by dissolving 1 mg α -glucosidase with 0.5 mL PBS and then diluting ten times when needed. The absorbance value of each reaction mixture was measured at 405 nm by a SpectraMax M5 microplate reader. All the experiments were conducted three times.

2.5. Interaction of Catechin and Caffeic Acid on Inhibition of Pancreatic Lipase and α -Glucosidase. According to the phytochemical analysis [12], catechin and caffeic acid were the predominant phenolic compounds detected in all samples. Therefore, the interaction of catechin and caffeic acid on inhibition of pancreatic lipase and α -glucosidase was determined by CalcuSyn software (Biosoft, Ferguson, MO, USA) as in the previous report [16]. For facilitating calculation and analysis of phenolic interaction types, the inhibitory effects of combined catechin and caffeic acid on pancreatic lipase and α -glucosidase were evaluated by three different ratios, 2:1, 1:2, and 1:1, respectively. The interaction types were evaluated based on CI (combination index; CI ≤ 0.90: synergistic effect; 0.90 < CI < 1.10: additive effect; and CI ≥ 1.10: antagonistic effect).

2.6. Molecular Docking. Molecular docking of pancreatic lipase and α -glucosidase with phenolic standards (catechin and caffeic acid) was conducted by SYBYL-X 2.1.1 (Tripos, Inc., St. Louis, MO, USA) according to the previous methods [14, 15]. The 3D configurations of the catechin and caffeic acid compounds were obtained from PubChem (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pccompound), and the 3D structure of lipase was downloaded from RCSB PDB (http://www.rcsb.org/pdb/home.do). Since the 3D structure of α -glucosidase of *S. cerevisiae* is unavailable, isomaltase (PDB code: 3A4A) from the same organism, which shares high similarity with α -glucosidase, were used for homology modeling in the molecular docking analysis in this study.



FIGURE 1: (a) The lipase inhibitory effects of free, esterified and insoluble-bound phenolic fractions from nontreated and ultra-highpressure-treated oil palm fruits. (b) The correlation analysis of TPC and pancreatic lipase inhibitory effects. (c) Two main phenolic compound standards (catechin and caffeic acid). "*F*": free phenolic fraction; "*E*": esterified phenolic fraction; "IB": insoluble-bound phenolic fraction.

2.7. Statistical Analysis. Each experiment was conducted three times, and results were expressed as mean $(n=3) \pm$ standard deviation (SD). The significance analysis (p < 0.05) of all data was conducted by one-way ANOVA and Tukey's procedure by using Origin 8.5 software (OriginLab, Northampton, MA, USA). Pearson's correlation coefficient was performed by SPSS 20.0 (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Lipase Inhibition of Extracts from Nontreated and UHP-Treated Oil Palm Fruits. The results of lipase inhibitory effects of the extracts from nontreated and UHP-treated oil palm fruits are presented in Figure 1(a). All of phenolic fractions, regardless of UHP treatment, showed good inhibitory activities towards the pancreatic lipase and presented in a dose-dependent manner at the tested concentrations. Among the three fractions of nontreated oil palm fruits, the insoluble-bound phenolic fraction showed the strongest inhibition, with the IC50 value of $78.01 \pm 1.04 \,\mu g/$ mL. The following is the esterified phenolic fraction, whose IC50 value was $112.24 \pm 1.63 \,\mu\text{g/mL}$, and the free phenolic fraction possessed the weakest inhibition, i.e., $IC50 = 141.01 \pm 2.43 \,\mu g/mL$. As for UHP-treated oil palm fruits, the inhibitory effects coincided with the order shown in nontreated oil palm fruits, insoluble-bound phenolic fraction > esterified phenolic fraction > free phenolic fraction, and their IC50 value was $72.50 \pm 1.36 \,\mu\text{g/mL}$, $95.68 \pm 2.37 \,\mu$ g/mL, and $127.57 \pm 2.17 \,\mu$ g/mL, respectively. The insoluble-bound phenolic fraction showed the highest inhibitory rate, regardless of UHP pretreatment, which may



FIGURE 2: (a) The α -glucosidase inhibitory effects of free, esterified, and insoluble-bound phenolic fractions from nontreated and ultra-highpressure-treated oil palm fruits. (b) The correlation analysis of TPC and α -glucosidase inhibitory effects. (c) Two main phenolic compound standards (catechin and caffeic acid). "*F*": free phenolic fraction; "*E*": esterified phenolic fraction; "IB": insoluble-bound phenolic fraction.

be because the composition of this phenolic fraction was abundant and the content was comparatively higher than other two parts according to our previous report [12]. A previous study also reported that the insoluble-bound phenolic extract of Sophia seeds had the best inhibitory effect against pancreatic lipase [17]. However, some other studies found that the free phenolic fraction of chia meal or Chinese sumac fruits had the strongest inhibition towards lipase [14, 18]. Those results indicated that the inhibitory effect of lipase may be profoundly affected by the differences of phenolic composition or raw material. Compared with nontreated oil palm fruits, the UHP pretreatment significantly enhanced the inhibitory effect (p < 0.05). After UHP treatment, the IC₅₀ values of free, esterified, and insolublebound phenolic fractions were declined by about 7.06%, 14.75%, and 9.53%, respectively. Cai et al. [19] reported fermentation could also be used as an efficient method to enhance the inhibition of oat towards the pancreatic lipase.

Many previous studies have indicated that there was a close correlation between enzyme inhibition and total phenolic content (TPC) [19,20]. In this work, a positive relationship between lipase inhibitory rates and TPC was also observed (r=0.86,p<0.01, Figure 1(b)), which suggested phenolic compounds may also respond to the lipase inhibition of the oil palm fruits. According to our previous work, catechin and caffeic acid were the main phenolics presented in all six phenolic fractions of nontreated and UHP-treated oil palm fruits [12]. As seen in Figure 1(c),

these two phenolic standards also exhibited good inhibitory effects against lipase in a dose-dependent manner. The IC₅₀ values of catechin and caffeic acid were 189.02 ± 5.56 µg/mL and 197.26 ± 4.40 µg/mL respectively, both of which were significant higher than that of orlistat (positive control, IC₅₀ = 46.22 ± 0.84 µg/mL) (p < 0.05) and had no significant difference with each other (p > 0.05). While, in Tan et al. [21] report, the IC₅₀ values of caffeic and catechin acid were much higher than our values obtained in this study, with the IC₅₀ values of 0.94 ± 0.09 mg/mL and 0.53 ± 0.05 mg/mL, respectively. In another report, the IC₅₀ value of caffeic acid was 32.60 µg/mL [5]. These discrepancies may be caused by the differences of assay methods and enzyme batch used.

3.2. α-Glucosidase Inhibition of Extracts from Nontreated and UHP-Treated Oil Palm Fruits. The α -glucosidase inhibitory results of different phenolic fraction from nontreated and UHP-treated oil palm fruits are presented in Figure 2(a). It is apparent that all the phenolic fractions displayed inhibition to α -glucosidase in a dose-dependent manner. In terms of nontreated oil palm fruits, the inhibitory tendency of the free, esterified, and insoluble-bound phenolic fraction towards α -glucosidase was similar to that towards pancreatic lipase; the insoluble-bound phenolic fraction possessed the strongest inhibition, followed by esterified fraction, while the free fraction had the weakest inhibitory effect (p < 0.05). The IC₅₀ values of those three fractions $76.42 \pm 0.94 \,\mu \text{g/mL},$ $93.42 \pm 1.53 \,\mu g/mL$, were and $122.82 \pm 2.01 \,\mu\text{g/mL}$, respectively. The UHP pretreatment significantly enhanced the α -glucosidase inhibitory effects of the three different phenolic fractions and the insolublebound phenolic fraction also showed the strongest inhibition (p < 0.05). The IC50 values of insoluble-bound, esterified, and free phenolic fractions were $64.51 \pm 2.41 \,\mu g/$ mL, $82.43 \pm 0.65 \,\mu\text{g/mL}$, and $114.10 \pm 0.96 \,\mu\text{g/mL}$, respectively, which were enhanced by about 15.58%, 11.76%, and 7.10%, respectively, by comparison with the corresponding fraction without UHP. A previous study showed that esterified phenolic of pomegranate seeds possessed the strongest α -glucosidase inhibitory effect [22]. Another study reported that the inhibitory effect of chia meal-free phenolic against α -glucosidase was the strongest [18]. Therefore, the inhibitory effects of α -glucosidase largely depend on phenolic composition and raw materials. In this work, UHP pretreatment significantly enhanced the α -glucosidase inhibitory capacity. Feng et al. [23] found that solid-state fermentation also greatly increased the α -glucosidase inhibition of tartary buckwheat.

There is also a clear correlation between α -glucosidase inhibitory rates and TPC in the present work (r = 0.73, p < 0.01), suggesting phenolic compounds may take a responsibility to the α -glucosidase inhibition of the oil palm fruits (Figure 2(b)). Catechin and caffeic acid, as the primary phenolics in all sample, showed good α -glucosidase inhibitory activities with IC₅₀ values of 163.07 ± 3.93 µg/mL and 165.29 ± 5.47 µg/mL, respectively (Figure 2(c)). According to the IC₅₀ values of these two phenolics, they showed a similar efficiency on inhibiting the α -glucosidase and also had no significant difference with each other (p > 0.05). However, their inhibitory effects were dramatically weaker than that of acarbose (IC₅₀ = $5.83 \pm 0.65 \,\mu$ g/mL) (p < 0.05).

3.3. Interactions between Catechin and Caffeic Acid on Inhibition of Pancreatic Lipase and α -Glucosidase. As shown in the above results of pancreatic lipase or α -glucosidase inhibition, the inhibitory effect of single phenolic was significantly weaker than that of any of the phenolic fractions. According to our previous work, several phenolics have been detected in oil palm fruits, and each phenolic fraction included more than one compound [12]. So, we speculated that the interaction between different phenolics may be taken when evaluating the enzyme inhibitory effects of different phenolic fractions. Since catechin and caffeic acid were two main phenolics detected in all phenolic fractions of nontreated and UHP-treated oil palm fruits [12], the interaction between these two phenolic compounds was evaluated by CalcuSyn software (Biosoft, Ferguson, MO, USA). Three different combination ratios, 1:2, 2:1, and 1:1, were used to explore the interaction types, and the best combination ratio was found. The interacted inhibitory effects of catechin and caffeic acid on pancreatic lipase are presented in Table 1 and on α -glucosidase are summarized in Table 2. According to the results of pancreatic lipase inhibition (Table 1), when catechin and caffeic acid are combined at a ratio of 1:2, the CI value gradually decreases with the increasing concentration, and interaction type between catechin and caffeic acid varies from antagonistic (low concentration) to additive effect (high concentration). When the combination ratio of catechin and caffeic acid was 2:1, they showed the same trend as observed at the ratio of 1:2. When catechin and caffeic acid was combined at a ratio of 1: 1, the synergistic inhibitory effect against pancreatic lipase was observed at relative high concentrations (185 and $210 \,\mu g/mL$).

Results of interactions between catechin and caffeic acid on inhibiting $\alpha \alpha$ -glucosidase at different combination ratios, which are presented in Table 2, exhibit similar phenomena in the findings observed in lipase inhibition assay. As shown in 2, when catechin and caffeic acid were combined at the ratio of 1:2, the CI value decreased with the increasing concentration. At the highest concentration, the interaction type between those two phenolic compounds transformed from antagonistic effect into addictive effect. Similar behaviors found at ratio of 1:2 was also observed when the combination ratio between catechin and caffeic acid was set at 2:1. When catechin and caffeic acid were combined at a ratio of 1:1, the interaction type varied from additive effect to synergistic effect on inhibiting α -glucosidase with increasing concentration. Many previous literatures have reported that the combined samples work better than each sample working alone [24, 25]. Zhang et al. [16] reported that combining myricetin-3-O-rhamnoside and quercetin-3-Orhamnoside dramatically increased the inhibitory effect to lipase. The present work also suggested that interaction between different phenolic compounds on inhibiting pancreatic lipase and α -glucosidase may happen, and the

						-	-	
	Catechin	Caffeic acid	Inhibition ratio		Fa ^b		Catechin	Caffeic acid
Combination doses	Combination test (µg/mL)		(%)	CI ^a	(%)	CI of Fa	Calcı corresj (µ	ulation at ponding Fa g/mL)
	45.0	90.0	13.70 ± 0.23	1.27	25.0	1.16	62.88	125.76
	60.0	120.0	21.00 ± 1.63	1.22	50.0	1.01	97.54	195.09
Combination doses 1:2 2:1 1:1	75.0	135.0	32.30 ± 1.22	1.14	75.0	0.93	151.31	302.63
	90.0	185.0	46.17 ± 1.21	1.08	90.0	0.87	234.72	469.45
	105.0	210.0	55.76 ± 2.14	0.99				
	90.0	45.0	15.14 ± 1.36	1.24	25.0	1.17	121.38	60.69
	120.0	60.0	22.45 ± 1.99	1.19	50.0	0.98	190.72	95.36
2:1	135.0	75.0	33.74 ± 2.10	1.10	75.0	0.87	299.68	149.84
	185.0	90.0	47.61 ± 1.82	1.05	90.0	0.83	470.89	235.44
	210.0	105.0	57.21 ± 2.53	0.92				
	90.0	90.0	41.64 ± 2.31	1.06	25.0	1.15	45.11	45.11
	120.0	120.0	54.10 ± 1.44	0.97	50.0	0.99	113.64	113.64
1:1	135.0	135.0	57.40 ± 1.92	0.95	75.0	0.84	286.28	286.28
	185.0	185.0	64.28 ± 2.13	0.90	90.0	0.78	521.24	521.24
	210.0	210.0	66.43 ± 2.37	0.88				

TABLE 1: The interactions between catechin and caffeic acid on inhibition of pancreatic lipase.

^aCI, combination index. CI \leq 0.90, 0.90 < CI < 1.10, or CI \geq 1.10 represent synergistic, additive, and antagonistic effects, respectively. ^bFa, fraction affected means the dose of combination of catechin and caffeic acid effect on inhibition rate. CI25, CI50, CI75, and CI90 represent the corresponding CI value when Fa is 25%, 50%, 75%, and 90%.

TABLE 2:	The	interactions	between	catechin	and	caffeic	acid	on	inhibition	of α-	glucosi	dase
											0	

Combination	Catechin	Caffeic acid	Inhibition ratio	CI ^a	Fa ^b	CI of	Catechin Calculation at	Caffeic acid
doses	(μg	g/mL)	(%)	OI	(%)	Fa	corresponding Fa (μ g/mL)	Caffeic acid Calculation at g/mL) corresponding Fa (µg/mL) 96.95 168.96 294.48 513.23 44.56 80.22 144.41 259.96 45.02 98.72 215 59
	30.0	60.0	12.42 ± 0.39	1.30	25.0	1.21	48.47	96.95
	45.0	90.0	20.41 ± 1.03	1.24	50.0	1.09	84.48	168.96
	60.0	120.0	32.24 ± 1.76	1.16	75.0	0.95	147.24	294.48
1:2	75.0	135.0	44.50 ± 1.43	1.12	90.0	0.89	256.62	513.23
	90.0	180.0	54.91 ± 1.82	1.07				
	60.0	30.0	15.05 ± 0.62	1.28	25.0	1.20	89.12	44.56
	90.0	45.0	23.04 ± 0.88	1.22	50.0	1.02	160.43	80.22
	120.0	60.0	34.87 ± 1.71	1.13	75.0	0.94	288.81	144.41
	150.0	75.0	47.13 ± 1.46	1.09	90.0	0.87	519.92	259.96
2:1	180.0	90.0	57.54 ± 2.03	1.04				
	60.0	60.0	34.68 ± 1.08	1.16	25.0	1.23	45.02	45.02
	90.0	90.0	43.83 ± 1.22	1.10	50.0	1.02	98.72	98.72
	120.0	120.0	56.73 ± 2.36	0.99	75.0	0.85	215.59	215.59
1:1	150.0	150.0	65.51 ± 2.14	0.93	90.0	0.76	470.83	470.83
	180.0	180.0	69.98 ± 1.75	0.90				

^aCI, combination index. CI \leq 0.90, 0.90 < CI < 1.10, or CI \geq 1.10 represent synergistic, additive, and antagonistic effects, respectively. ^bFa, fraction affected, means the dose of combination of catechin and caffeic acid effect on inhibition rate. CI₂₅, CI₅₀, CI₇₅, and CI₉₀ represent the corresponding CI value when Fa is 25%, 50%, 75%, and 90%.

interaction type varies with the variation of the combination concentrations and ratios.

ability of binding affinity, which is an important index to value the docking results [14].

3.4. Molecular Docking Results of Pancreatic Lipase and α -Glucosidase. Computational modeling soft SYBYL-X 2.1.1 (Tripos, Inc., St. Louis, MO, USA) was used to analyze the enzyme inhibitory mechanism of catechin and caffeic acid. The interaction was evaluated by some relevant parameters, for example, C-Score and T-Score. The value of C-Score is used to evaluate if the docking result is credible, which should be no less than four, and the T-Score reveals the

The docking results of pancreatic lipase are summarized in Table 3 and Figure 3(a). The C-Scores of two main phenolics (catechin and caffeic acid) were four, suggesting the docking results were effective and credible (Table 3). The T-Scores in Table 3 indicated that catechin may have a better binding affinity to lipase than caffeic acid. As shown in the Figures 3(a) and 3(b), catechin bound with four amino acid residues (Ala197, Pro194, Ser195, and Lys198) in the pancreatic lipase active site. Ala197, Pro194, and Ser195 served as an H-bond receptor, the hydrogen bond distances of

Journal of Food Quality

		1	1 0	1 1	0 1	,
	C-Score	T-Score	PMF-Score	CHEM-Score	G-Score	D-Score
Pancreatic lipase						
Catechin	4	4.4351	27.2574	-15.5057	-131.1809	-85.8563
Caffeic acid	4	3.4707	22.5169	-17.6857	-113.1308	-67.2611
α-Glucosidase						
Catechin	5	4.8871	19.9048	-14.4315	-87.8383	-106.1603
Caffeic acid	4	4.0400	-13.7135	-13.0411	-51.2488	-74.2849

TABLE 3: The score results of two phenolic compounds docking with pancreatic lipase and α -glucosidase, respectively.



FIGURE 3: The molecule docking results of catechin and caffeic acid with pancreatic lipase. (a) Catechin binds with the active site of pancreatic lipase. (b) Catechin interacts with amino acid residues. (c) Caffeic acid binds with the active site of pancreatic lipase. (d) Caffeic acid interacts with amino acid residues. Two phenolic standards appeared in ball and stick models, amino acid residues are represented by green capped stick models, and short dotted yellow line stands for hydrogen bonds.

which were 2.312 Å, 1.924 Å, and 1.863 Å, respectively. Lys198 was an H-bond donor, and the hydrogen bond length was 2.124 Å. The average hydrogen bond distance was 2.056 Å. In Figures 3(c) and 3(d), caffeic acid bound with the pancreatic lipase active site by interacting with three amino acid residues, namely, Ala197, His224, and Lys198. Ala197 and His224 served as an H-bond receptor, and Lys198 acted as an H-bond donor. The hydrogen bond distance between caffeic acid and these amino acid residues was 2.065 Å, 1.872 Å, and 2.022 Å, respectively. The average hydrogen bond distance was 1.986 Å. According to those results, both catechin and caffeic acid interacted with amino acid residues Lys198 and Ala197, suggesting these two amino acids may

play a key role in the pancreatic lipase activity. Zhang et al. [15] also reported that cyandin-3-O-glucoside may exert its lipase inhibition through binding with Lys198 and Ala197. Another study reported that myricitrin and quercitrin interacted with Asp 80 and Gly 77 to inhibit the activity of pancreatic lipase [14]. According to those previous results and the current findings, they clearly indicated that different phenolic compounds may interact with different amino acids to exert their lipase inhibitory effects. Although T-scores indicated that catechin may have a better binding affinity to lipase than caffeic acid, the number and distance of hydrogen bonds are also very important for phenolics inhibiting the lipase activity. The more and/or the shorter



FIGURE 4: The molecule docking results of catechin and caffeic acid with α -glycosidase. (a) Catechin binds with the active site of α -glucosidase. (b) Catechin interacts with amino acid residues. (c) Caffeic acid binds with the active site of α -glucosidase. (d) Caffeic acid interacts with amino acid residues. Two phenolic standards appeared in ball and stick models, amino acid residues are represented by green capped stick models, and short dotted yellow line stands for hydrogen bonds.

hydrogen bonds represent a tighter binding and thereby a stronger inhibition [26]. In the present work, the average hydrogen bond distance of catechin was longer than that of caffeic acid, while the hydrogen bond number of catechin was one more than that of caffeic acid. The one more hydrogen bond of catechin may counteract the disadvantage of slight longer hydrogen bond distance of catechin on inhibiting pancreatic lipase, which could explain why catechin and caffeic acid had a similar efficiency on inhibiting lipase.

For molecular docking of α -glucosidase, the C-Score results of two phenolics were also no less than four (Table 3). The catechin also had a higher T-score than caffeic acid, indicating that catechin may also have a better binding affinity to α -glucosidase than caffeic acid (Table 3). In Figures 4(a) and 4(b), four hydrogen bonds were formed between catechin and four amino acids (Leu177, Asn111, Tyr77, and Gly71) in the α -glucosidase active pocket. Among the three H-bond receptors (Leu177, Asn111, and Gly71), the Asn111 possessed the longest hydrogen bond with a distance of 2. 222 Å, and the hydrogen bond distances of Leu177 and Gly71 were 2.163 Å and 2.146 Å,

respectively. The Tyr77 acted as an H-bond donor, and the hydrogen bond distance was 2.614 Å. The average distance of these four hydrogen bonds was 2.286 Å. Two amino acid residues were observed between caffeic acid and α -glucosidase active pocket at Figures 4(c) and 4(d), namely, Ala445 and Ser441. Ala445, as an H-bond donor, generated an H-bond with caffeic acid with a distance of 1.926 Å, while Ser441 served as an H-bond receptor and the hydrogen bond length was 2.036 Å. The average hydrogen bond distance was 1.981 Å. The average hydrogen bond distance of caffeic acid was much shorter than that of catechin, while the hydrogen bond number of catechin was two more than that of caffeic acid. As mentioned above in the docking analysis of pancreatic lipase, the disadvantage of longer hydrogen bond of catechin on inhibiting α -glucosidase may be remedied by more hydrogen bond number when compared with that of caffeic acid. Therefore, catechin and caffeic acid had a similar efficiency on inhibiting α -glucosidase. A previous study found that both rutin and isorhamnetin-3-Orutinoside formed H-bonds with the amino acid residues Ile 440, Arg 213, and Arg 315 of α -glucosidase [15]. Another study found that the binding sites of apigenin were Ser311 and Gly309 [26]. Gallocatechin gallate was reported to form hydrogen bonds with Arg 315 and Phe 303 to effectively inhibit the catalytic activity of α -glucosidase [27]. Those different results also obviously suggested that the structures of phenolic compounds may profoundly affect their binding sites on α -glucosidase.

4. Conclusions

The results of the present study showed that the free, esterified, and insoluble-bound phenolic fractions from nontreated and UHP-treated oil palm fruits demonstrated good inhibitory effects towards pancreatic lipase and α -glucosidase. Moreover, the inhibitory effects of these three different phenolic fractions on lipase and α -glucosidase were significantly upgraded after being pretreated with UHP (p < 0.05). The insoluble-bound phenolic fraction, regardless of UHP treatment, presented the strongest enzyme inhibitory capacities, both in lipase and α -glucosidase. Catechin and caffeic acid, as the main phenolic compounds detected in all samples, also showed a dose-dependent inhibition toward the two enzymes and exhibited a synergistic effect on inhibiting pancreatic lipase and α -glucosidase at a high combination concentration with the ratio of 1:1. Moreover, catechin and caffeic acid showed similar efficiencies on inhibiting the two digestive enzymes, which were consistent with the findings observed by molecular docking analysis. This study suggested that different phenolic extracts of oil palm fruits, especially the UHP-treated fruits, could be potentially developed as nutraceuticals or functional foods for controlling or alleviating diseases related to over intake of glucose and/or lipid, such as diabetes, hyperlipidemia, cardiovascular diseases, and obesity.

Data Availability

All data included in this study are available upon request by contacting the corresponding author.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Authors' Contributions

Qingfeng Zhou and Jiexin Zhou contributed equally to this work.

Acknowledgments

This study was financially supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant no. 31960477) and Yunnan Major Science and Technology Project (2019ZF010).

References

 S. Meng, J. Cao, Q. Feng, J. Peng, and Y. Hu, "Roles of chlorogenic acid on regulating glucose and lipids metabolism: a review," *Evidence-Based Complementary And Alternative Medicine*, vol. 2013, Article ID 801457, 11 pages, 2013.

- [2] M. Kohno, H. Sugano, Y. Shigihara, Y. Shiraishi, and T. Motoyama, "Improvement of glucose and lipid metabolism via mung bean protein consumption: clinical trials of GLUCODIA[™] isolated mung bean protein in the USA and Canada," *Journal of Nutritional Science*, vol. 7, no. e2, pp. 1–11, 2018.
- [3] V. G. DeMarco, A. R. Aroor, and J. R. Sowers, "The pathophysiology of hypertension in patients with obesity," *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 364–376, 2014.
- [4] W. Kooti, M. Farokhipour, Z. Asadzadeh, D. Ashtary-Larky, and M. Asadi-Samani, "The role of medicinal plants in the treatment of diabetes: a systematic review," *Electronic Physician*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 1832–1842, 2016.
- [5] Y. Bustanji, A. Issa, M. Mohammad et al., "Inhibition of hormone sensitive lipase and pancreatic lipase by *Rosmarinus* officinalis extract and selected phenolic constituents," *Journal* of *Medicinal Plants Research*, vol. 4, no. 21, pp. 2235–2242, 2010.
- [6] P. Taslimi, C. Caglayan, and I. Gulcin, "The impact of some natural phenolic compounds on carbonic anhydrase, acetylcholinesterase, butyrylcholinesterase, and α-glycosidase enzymes: an antidiabetic, anticholinergic, and antiepileptic study," *Journal of Biochemical and Molecular Toxicology*, vol. 31, no. 12, 2017.
- [7] A. L. La Garza, F. I. Milagro, N. Boque, J. Campion, and J. A. Martinez, "Natural inhibitors of pancreatic lipase as new players in obesity treatment," *Planta Medica*, vol. 77, no. 8, pp. 773–785, 2011.
- [8] C. Kecyk and L. Zubach-Cassano, "Natural health products and diabetes: a practical review," *Canadian Journal of Diabetes*, vol. 41, no. 6, pp. 642–647, 2017.
- [9] Q. You, F. Chen, X. Wang, Y. Jiang, and S. Lin, "Anti-diabetic activities of phenolic compounds in muscadine against alphaglucosidase and pancreatic lipase," *Lwt-Food Science and Technology*, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 164–168, 2012.
- [10] P. Ye, R. Gan, H. Li et al., "Absorption, metabolism, and bioactivity of vitexin: recent advances in understanding the efficacy of an important nutraceutical," *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, pp. 1–16, 2020, In press.
- [11] J. C. Kurnia, S. V. Jangam, S. Akhtar, A. P. Sasmito, and A. S. Mujumdar, "Advances in biofuel production from oil palm and palm oil processing wastes: a review," *Biofuel Research Journal*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 332–346, 2016.
- [12] J. Zhou, Y. Ma, Y. Jia, M. Pang, G. Cheng, and S. Cai, "Phenolic profiles, antioxidant activities and cytoprotective effects of different phenolic fractions from oil palm (*Elaeis guineensis* Jacq.) fruits treated by ultra-high pressure," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 288, pp. 68–77, 2019.
- [13] H.-W. Huang, S.-J. Wu, J.-K. Lu, Y.-T. Shyu, and C.-Y. Wang, "Current status and future trends of high-pressure processing in food industry," *Food Control*, vol. 72, no. 72, pp. 1–8, 2017.
- [14] C. Zhang, Y. Ma, F. Gao, Y. Zhao, S. Cai, and M. Pang, "The free, esterified, and insoluble-bound phenolic profiles of rhus chinensis mill. fruits and their pancreatic lipase inhibitory activities with molecular docking analysis," *Journal of Functional Foods*, vol. 40, pp. 729–735, 2018.
- [15] X. Zhang, Y. Jia, Y. Ma, G. Cheng, and S. Cai, "Phenolic composition, antioxidant properties, and inhibition toward digestive enzymes with molecular docking analysis of different fractions from prinsepia utilis royle fruits," *Molecules*, vol. 23, no. 12, p. 3373, 2018.
- [16] C. Zhang, Y. Ma, Y. Zhao, Y. Hong, S. Cai, and M. Pang, "Phenolic composition, antioxidant and pancreatic lipase inhibitory activities of Chinese sumac (Rhus chinensis Mill.)

fruits extracted by different solvents and interaction between myricetin-3-O -rhamnoside and quercetin-3-O -rhamnoside," *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 1045–1053, 2018.

- [17] M. J. Rahman, P. Ambigaipalan, and F. Shahidi, "Biological activities of camelina and sophia seeds phenolics: inhibition of ldl oxidation, dna damage, and pancreatic lipase and α-glucosidase activities,," *Journal of Food Science*, vol. 83, no. 1-3, pp. 237–245, 2018.
- [18] M. J. Rahman, A. C. De Camargo, and F. Shahidi, "Phenolic and polyphenolic profiles of chia seeds and their in vitro biological activities," *Journal of Functional Foods*, vol. 35, pp. 622–634, 2017.
- [19] S. Cai, O. Wang, M. Wang et al., "In vitro inhibitory effect on pancreatic lipase activity of subfractions from ethanol extracts of fermented oats (avena sativa l.) and synergistic effect of three phenolic acids," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 60, no. 29, pp. 7245–7251, 2012.
- [20] E. Apostolidis and C. M. Lee, "In vitro potential of ascophyllum nodosum phenolic antioxidant-mediated α -glucosidase and α -amylase inhibition," *Journal of Food Science*, vol. 75, no. 3, pp. H97–H102, 2010.
- [21] Y. Tan, S. K. C. Chang, and Y. Zhang, "Comparison of α-amylase, α-glucosidase and lipase inhibitory activity of the phenolic substances in two black legumes of different genera," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 214, pp. 259–268, 2016.
- [22] P. Ambigaipalan, A. C. De Camargo, and F. Shahidi, "Identification of phenolic antioxidants and bioactives of pomegranate seeds following juice extraction using HPLC-DAD-ESI-MSⁿ," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 221, pp. 1883–1894, 2017.
- [23] L. Feng, Y. Xie, C. Peng, Y. Liu, and H. Wang, "A novel antidiabetic food produced via solid-state fermentation of tartary buckwheat by L. Plantarum TK9 and L. Paracasei TK1501," *Food Technology and Biotechnology*, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. 373–380, 2018.
- [24] A.-S. Bustos, A. Håkansson, J. A. Linares-Pastén, J. M. Penarrieta, and L. Nilsson, "Interaction between phenolic compounds and lipase: the influence of solubility and presence of particles in the IC50 value," *Journal of Food Science*, vol. 83, no. 8, pp. 2071–2076, 2018.
- [25] A. K. Singh, N. Kushwaha, and S. Chakraborty, "Synergistic interaction among begomoviruses leads to the suppression of host defense-related gene expression and breakdown of resistance in chilli," *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, vol. 100, no. 9, pp. 4035–4049, 2016.
- [26] L. Zeng, G. Zhang, S. Lin, and D. Gong, "Inhibitory mechanism of apigenin on α-glucosidase and synergy analysis of flavonoids," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 64, no. 37, pp. 6939–6949, 2016.
- [27] X. Wu, H. Ding, H. Xing et al., "Exploring inhibitory mechanism of gallocatechin gallate on a -amylase and α -glucosidase relevant to postprandial hyperglycemia," *Journal of Functional Foods*, vol. 48, pp. 200–209, 2018.



Research Article

Different Phenolic Extracts of Oil Palm Fruits and Caffeic Acid Prevent Palmitic Acid-Induced Lipotoxicity in HepG2 Cells via Improving Mitochondrial Function

Xiaojing Liu,¹ Ou Wang,² Jiexin Zhou,¹ and Shengbao Cai ¹

¹Faculty of Agriculture and Food, Yunnan Institute of Food Safety, Kunming University of Science and Technology, Kunming, Yunnan 650500, China

²National Institute for Nutrition and Health, Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Beijing 100050, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Shengbao Cai; caikmust2013@163.com

Received 17 June 2020; Revised 10 July 2020; Accepted 14 July 2020; Published 3 August 2020

Academic Editor: Quancai Sun

Copyright © 2020 Xiaojing Liu et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Oil palm (*Elaeis guineensis* Jacq.) fruits are rich in antioxidative phenolic compounds, which exert various health improving effects. This study aimed to comparatively study the protective effects of different phenolic fractions from the fruits treated with or without ultrahigh pressure (UHP) and their most abundant phenolic substance, caffeic acid, against the palmitic acid-induced lipotoxicity in HepG2 cells and to clarify the potential mechanisms. Results showed that the TG accumulation, intracellular reactive oxygen species content, cell apoptosis, and mitochondrial membrane potential depolarization were relieved by the administration of those phenolic fractions and caffeic acid. The protection of insoluble-bound (IB) phenolic fraction was the best, and UHP treatment significantly enhanced its protective effect on lipotoxicity. The lipotoxicity preventive effect may be achieved by alleviating intracellular oxidative stress, downregulating the expression of P-P38, COX-2, and iNOS to relieve inflammation, and downregulating Bax and cytochrome C and upregulating Bcl-2 to suppress the mitochondrial-mediated apoptosis. Therefore, the oil palm fruits phenolic fractions, especially the IB phenolic fraction, might be utilized as dietary antioxidants to relieve the adverse effects of a high-fat diet on the body, and UHP treatment is a potential method to increase this bioactivity.

1. Introduction

High-fat diet consumption is very common in modern society, which could easily lead to high level-free fatty acid (FFA) in the body circulation system and excessive fat deposition in organs [1]. Excessive intake of FFA accompanied by large amounts of fat (mainly triglyceride, TG) accumulated in cells of different organs can lead to chronic injury and dysfunction of those organs, which is defined as lipotoxicity [2, 3]. The lipotoxicity has been proved to be closely related to many metabolic dysfunction diseases, such as hyperlipidemia, fatty liver, and diabetes [4, 5]. For instance, when hepatocytes ingest a large amount of FFA, on the one hand, the FFA is stored as triglycerides in hepatocytes, resulting in hepatic steatosis [6]; on the other hand, the FFA is oxidized, leading to many reactive oxygen species (ROS) production and thereby damaging hepatocytes; and these will lead to the occurrence of fatty liver or/and steatohepatitis [6, 7]. Some natural compounds in dietary plants with a good free radical scavenging activity can prevent oxidative stress-induced liver injury [8].

Among the FFAs, palmitic acid (PA) is abundant in the human body and widely distributed in daily diet. Based on these, PA has been used to induce lipotoxicity in the in vitro studies, especially in cells model, such as hepatocytes, islet β -cells, and endothelial cells [9]. Inflammation response, endoplasmic reticulum stress, mitochondrial damage, and cell apoptosis were proved to be involved in PA induced lipotoxicity [2, 5, 9, 10]. During the excessive PA intake, massive reactive oxygen species (ROS) were generated along with the lipid peroxidation, which probably stimulates inflammation response and cell apoptosis, and eventually leads

to physiological dysfunction [7, 11]. Previous researches reported that ROS could cause an inflammatory response by the activation of the P38 mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPK) pathway and regulate the secretion of inflammatory cytokines, such as cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) [12, 13]. Besides, under the stimulation of ROS and inflammation, cell apoptosis could be activated, and the mitochondrial pathway was involved in the possible mechanism [11, 14]. In the mitochondrial pathway, the B cell lymphoma-2 (Bcl-2) family could interact with mitochondria members to disrupt mitochondrial membrane potential (MMP) and mitochondrial permeability. Bax, a proapoptosis of the Bcl-2 family, could be activated by inflammation and then bind with the mitochondrial membrane to open the permeability transition channels. Meanwhile, the antiapoptosis Bcl-2 could be suppressed [15, 16]. In a case like this, cell apoptosis was activated and markers of apoptosis were released, like cytochrome C, a protein that has been widely accepted as the marker of apoptosis [17].

Since the negative effect of high FFAs consumption on health has been widely proved, and no effective clinical drug is available, it is necessary to explore bioactive compounds from food materials to decrease the damage of FFAs. Among the numerous natural compounds, antioxidative phenolic compounds showed effectively protective effects against lipotoxicity induced by FFAs, such as PA [18]. In our previous research, we reported that oil palm fruit (OPF) was rich in phenolic compounds, especially caffeic acid, and exhibited good antioxidant activity in vitro; moreover, we found that ultrahigh pressure (UHP) treatment increased the phenolic compounds bioaccessibility and the antioxidant of OPF [19]. Therefore, we hypothesized that OPF and its main phenolic compound, caffeic acid, might effectively prevent FFA-induced lipotoxicity and OPF treated by UHP may have a better effect, which has not been investigated. In the present study, the free (F), esterified (E) and insolublebound (IB) phenolic fractions were extracted from UHPtreated or nontreated OPF. Their protective effects and the caffeic acid on PA-induced lipotoxicity would be comparatively investigated by the analyses of triglyceride (TG) accumulation, intracellular ROS scavenging ability, cell apoptosis, and MMP. Moreover, the expression levels of several key markers in important signaling pathways of inflammation and apoptosis were also testified by western blot to illuminate the potential mechanism. The results of this study might provide scientific information for the devolvement of OPF product as a functional food to prevent or alleviate FFA-induced lipotoxicity.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Materials and Chemical Reagent. The OPF was obtained from a local market in Haikou city (Hainan province, China). The human hepatocellular carcinoma cell line (HepG2) was obtained from Kunming cell bank (Chinese Academy of Sciences, China). Fetal bovine serum (FBS), penicillin, streptomycin, and Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) were supplied by Gibco (Grand Island, NY). Palmitic acid, methylthizol-2-yl-2,5- diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT), and 2',7'-dichlorofluorescin diacetate (DCFH-DA) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Shanghai, China). Bovine serum albumin (BSA) was purchased from BioDee Biotech Co., Ltd. (Beijing, China). Annexin V-FITC/PI apoptosis kit was obtained from Beijing 4A Biotech Co., Ltd. (Beijing, China). Cell lysis buffer, TG assay kit, BCA protein assay kit, and mitochondrial membrane potential assay kit (JC-1) were purchased from Shanghai Beyotime Co., Ltd. (Shanghai, China). Caffeic acid standards were supplied by Chengdu Must Bio-Technology Co., Ltd. (Chengdu, China). All antibodies were procured from Abcam (Cambridge, UK), and other reagents used were of analytical grade.

2.2. Preparation and Analysis of Different Phenolic Fractions from OPF. The UHP pretreatment of OPF and preparation of different phenolic fractions (F, E, and IB) were conducted as a previous report [19]. Briefly, chopped mesocarps were vacuum-sealed and then pretreated by a UHP equipment (HHP-600, Baotou Kefa High Pressure Technology Limited Company, Baotou, China) with 500 MPa pressure for 10 min. Subsequently, the F, E, and IB phenolic fractions were extracted from OPF with or without a UHP pretreatment, respectively. The phenolic compositions of different fractions were analyzed by UHPLC-ESI-HRMS/MS in negative mode. As we reported previously, a total of 13 phenolic compounds were detected, including caffeic acid, catechin, gallic acid, protocatechuic acid and kaempferol, and caffeic acid was the predominant phenolic compound in all fractions [19].

2.3. PA/BSA Complex Solution Preparation. The PA/BSA complex solution was prepared according to the previous method with some modifications [20]. Briefly, PA was dissolved with 0.1 M NaOH into 100 mM in a shaking water bath at 70°C for 30 mins. Then, 50 μ L PA solution was mixed with 950 μ L BSA (10%) and incubated in a water bath at 70°C for six hours. Finally, the PA/BSA complex solution was sterile filtered with 0.22 μ m membrane filter and stored at -20°C as stock. DMEM was used to dilute the stock into appropriate concentration for the experiment, and the same concentration of BSA/NaOH complex was used as a vehicle in each assay.

2.4. Determination of PA and Sample Cytotoxicity. The HepG2 cell was cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and 5% penicillin-streptomycin at an atmosphere of 5% CO₂ at 37°C. The culture medium was changed every two days. Cells grown up to 90% confluence were used for subsequent experiments. MTT method was conducted as our previous report to evaluate the cytotoxicity of PA and different phenolic fractions on HepG2 [19]. In brief, after being seeded in a plate $(1 \times 10^5/\text{mL})$ with a 24-hour incubation, cells were stimulated with PA/BSA complex solution at the concentrations of 0.1 mM, 0.2 mM, 0.3 mM, 0.4 mM, and 0.5 mM or different concentrations of the sample ranging

from 40.0 μ g/mL to 200.0 μ g/mL. For another 16-hour (PA) or 24-hour (sample) incubation, the treatment medium was removed, and cells were washed twice with PBS solution. Then, 0.5 mg/mL MTT solution was added, and then cells were incubated for another four hours. Thereafter, MTT solution was discarded and 150 μ L of DMSO was added into each well to completely solubilize the formazan. The absorbance of each well was recorded by SpectraMax M5 microplate reader (Molecular Device, USA) at 570 nm. The cells treated with DMEM were used as the corresponding control group. The control group was considered as 100% viability. Each group was set with six repeating wells, and each experiment was conducted three times.

2.5. Measurement of Intracellular TG Level in PA-Induced HepG2 Cells. The intracellular TG level in PA-induced HepG2 cells was determined according to a published method with some modifications [9]. Briefly, HepG2 cells were seeded in a six-well plate at a density of 1×10^{5} /mL with 2 mL per well. After incubation for 24 hours, 200 μ L of F, E, IB phenolic fractions or caffeic acid dissolved in DMEM with $120.0 \,\mu\text{g/mL}$ were separately added into the corresponding well for another 24-hour incubation, while cells in Control (CK), BSA, and PA groups were still cultured with DMEM. Thereafter, HepG2 cells in sample and PA groups were exposed to 0.3 mM of PA/BSA complex solution for 16 hours, and cells in BSA and CK groups were incubated with the corresponding concentration of BSA/NaOH complex solution and DMEM, respectively. Then, HepG2 cells were washed twice with PBS, lysed with lysis buffer (200 μ L per well), homogenized with ultrasonic cell crusher (Scientz-II D, Ningbo Scientz Biotech Co., Ltd. Ningbo, China) and centrifuged at 4° C with 6000 g for five minutes. The supernatant was collected for determining protein and TG contents with BCA protein assay kit and TG assay kit, respectively, according to the manufacturer's instructions. Each group was set with three repeating wells, and each experiment was conducted three times.

2.6. Inhibition of Intracellular ROS. HepG2 cells were cultured and treated as mentioned in Section 2.5. After incubation, cells in all groups were washed with PBS for three times, and then harvested and labeled with DCFH-DA. Thereafter, FBS-free medium was used to wash the uncombined dyes and resuspend the cells. The fluorescence was detected with a flow cytometer (Guava easy Cyte 6-2L, Millipore, Billerica, USA) as the previous report [19]. The relative amount of intracellular ROS in each group was calculated by taking the CK group as 100% for reference.

2.7. Analysis of Apoptosis. HepG2 cells were treated as mentioned in Section 2.5. After 16-hour incubation in PA/ BSA complex solution, the apoptosis of cells was analyzed with Annexin V-FITC/PI apoptosis kit [19]. Briefly, harvested cells were washed with PBS, and then 1.0 mg/mL Annexin V-FITC and 20.0 μ g/mL PI were successively applied to stain the cells. Thereafter, the apoptosis rate was

detected by a Guava easy Cyte 6-2L flow cytometer as the previous report.

2.8. Analysis of Cellular MMP. HepG2 cells were treated as mentioned in Section 2.5. After 16-hour incubation in PA/ BSA complex solution, the MMP of HepG2 cells was analyzed by a mitochondrial membrane potential assay kit (JC-1) based on the instructions of the manufacturer. After harvest, cells were labeled with 1 mL JC-1 (1X) and incubated at 37°C. About 30 mins later, JC-1 (1X) was removed, and 1 mL ice-cold JC-1 buffer (1X) was added to wash the cells twice. Then cells were resuspended with 1 mL FBS-free medium and determined with a Guava easy Cyte 6-2L flow cytometer within 30 mins. The mitochondrial membrane depolarization level was reflected by the ratio of red fluorescence intensity to green fluorescence intensity.

2.9. Western Blot Analysis. The cell treatments were as the same as mentioned in Section 2.5. The target proteins were separated by 12% sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel (SDS-PAGE) electrophoresis, electrotransferred to the nitrocellulose membrane (Gelman Laboratory, Ann Arbor, USA), and blocked with 5% BSA for 1 h. Then, the membrane was incubated with the corresponding primary antibody overnight at 4°C. After being washed three times with TBS-Tween 20 (0.1%, v/v), the membrane was incubated with secondary antibody for another 1 h at room temperature and washed with TBS-Tween 20 again. Thereafter, the image of each protein was captured by a VILBER Fusion FX7 imaging system (Vilber Lourmat, Marne-la-Vallée, France) with enhanced chemiluminescent detection reagent (Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA).

2.10. Statistical Analysis. All experiments were conducted at least three times. Data were presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) and analyzed with Origin 8.5 software (OriginLab, Northampton, MA, USA). The significant differences between groups were analyzed with One-Way ANOVA followed by Tukey's test (p < 0.05).

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Phenolic Fractions and Caffeic Acid Attenuated the PA-Induced TG Accumulation. In the present work, the appropriate concentration of PA used for inducing lipotoxicity in HepG2 cells was investigated by MTT assay. As shown in Figure 1(a), the cell viability decreased gradually with the increase of PA concentration. In order to successfully establish the lipotoxicity cell model for subsequent research, the cell viability needs to be maintained at a certain extent. In this work, the cell viability was about 70% and 60% at 0.3 mM and 0.4 mM of PA, respectively, which indicated that cells suffered a moderate lipotoxicity. Therefore, both 0.3 mM and 0.4 mM of PA can be used to establish the lipotoxicity cell model, and in this work, 0.3 mM of PA was applied. Moreover, the MTT assay suggested that all samples showed no toxicity to HepG2 cells at the concentrations up



FIGURE 1: (a) The MMT result of PA, (b) the effects of phenolic fractions from oil palm fruits with or without ultrahigh pressure treatment and caffeic acid on PA-induced TG accumulation. Data are expressed as mean \pm SD (n = 3). Mean values with different letters are significantly different (p < 0.05). CK: control group; BSA: BSA/NaOH complex solution; PA: PA/BSA complex solution; "F" free phenolic fraction; "E" esterified phenolic fraction; "IB" insoluble-bound phenolic fraction.

to $120 \,\mu\text{g/mL}$, which was consistent with our previous report [19].

Long term and excessive fat intake are easy to result in lipotoxicity to cause fat deposition and eventually lead to obesity, fatty liver disease, or other chronic diseases [21]. Thus, the effects of different phenolic fractions from OPF on TG deposition in HepG2 cells stimulated by PA were presented in Figure 1(b). The TG content of control group and BSA group was similar (p > 0.05), with values of $18.82 \pm 2.00 \mu$ moL/g of protein and $19.32 \pm 0.61 \mu$ moL/g of protein, respectively, while the TG level in PA group was about

46.18 ± 2.05 μ moL/g of protein, which was approximately two times more than that in the CK group or BSA group (p < 0.05) and indicated significant fat deposition in hepatic cells. When treated with different phenolic fractions of OPF, all groups showed significantly lower TG levels than that of the PA group (p < 0.05), indicating significant effects on inhibition of TG deposition. Regardless of UHP treatment, the IB fraction exhibited the best inhibition effect among the three phenolic fractions on TG accumulation. With the administration of IB fraction, the intracellular TG level was 28.16 ± 0.90 μ moL/g of protein in nontreated fruit group,



FIGURE 2: The inhibitory effects of phenolic fractions from oil palm fruits with or without ultrahigh pressure treatment and caffeic acid on PA-induced ROS generation: flow cytometry analysis (a) and the relative amount of ROS of different groups (b). Data are expressed as mean \pm SD (n = 3). In Figure 2(b), mean values with different letters are significantly different (p < 0.05). CK: control group; BSA: BSA/NaOH complex solution; PA: PA/BSA complex solution; "F" free phenolic fraction; "E" esterified phenolic fraction; "IB" insoluble-bound phenolic fraction.
and $26.17 \pm 2.05 \ \mu \text{moL/g}$ of protein in UHP-treated fruit group, both of which were about 40% lower than that of the PA group (p < 0.05). However, UHP treatment did not significantly enhance the inhibitory effects of those three phenolic fractions on TG deposition in PA-induced HepG2 cells (p > 0.05).

Caffeic acid was the most abundant phenolic compound in both of UHP-treated and nontreated OPF [19]. Therefore, the inhibitory effect of caffeic acid on TG deposition was also clarified. In contrast with the PA group, the caffeic acid administration also significantly lowered TG content by approximately 30.45 % (p < 0.05). This result indicated that caffeic acid can effectively attenuate hepatic lipid accumulation, which was in accordance with the previous research: it was proved that the TG clearance was over 50% in oil acid induced HepG2 cells with the treatment of $40 \,\mu g/mL$ of caffeic acid [22]. Moreover, a previous study found that caffeic acid moiety in chlorogenic acid and its analogues were supposed to play a key role in the lipid-lowering activities of those compounds [23]. Therefore, the suppression effects of OPF phenolic fractions on hepatic fat accumulation probably attributed to caffeic acid and/or compounds with a similar structure.

3.2. Phenolic Fractions and Caffeic Acid Reduced PA-Induced ROS Generation. ROS was a cluster of high energy charged free radicals that are generally supposed to be responsible for many biological dysfunctions, such as inflammation, cells apoptosis, and MMP disruption [24, 25]. A previous study has verified that PA administration would lead to oxidative stress by producing lipid peroxides, accompanied by an increase of ROS level [26]. As presented in Figure 2(a), it was obvious that the fluorescence intensity of the PA group moved toward the right by comparison with that of the control group and BSA group (Figure 2(a)). And the ROS level in the PA group was 191.53 %, which was almost two times over that of the CK group or BSA group (p < 0.05, Figure 2(b)), indicating serious oxidative stress under PA induction. When compared with the PA treatment, the fluorescence peak of each OPF phenolic fraction treatment gradually moved toward the left (Figure 2(a)), and the ROS generation of each treatment was correspondingly decreased (p < 0.05, Figure 2(b)). Specifically, the ROS clearance effects of F, E, and IB fractions in nontreated fruits group were gradually increased, which reduced the ROS content to 174.14%, 156.65%, and 139.25% respectively. The ROS inhibition trend of three phenolic fractions in UHP-treated fruit was similar to that in nontreated fruit. The scavenging effect of F fraction was weaker than the other two fractions, decreased the ROS amount to 166.86%, and has no significant difference with the corresponding part in nontreated fruits (p > 0.05). The E and IB fractions declined the ROS amount to 142.72% and 127.79%, respectively, both of which were significantly lower than the counterpart in nontreated fruits (p < 0.05). Generally, the UHP treatment significantly enhanced the ROS clearance capacity of OPF in PA-induced HepG2 cells, which was consistent with the previous result observed in H₂O₂-induced HepG2 cells [19], but no matter

UHP treated or not, the ROS production of IB fraction was the lowest and was followed by the E fraction.

As one of the major phenolic compounds in OPF, caffeic acid administration significantly attenuated the PA-induced ROS generation by 21.8% (p < 0.05, Figure 2(b)), which was markedly better than that of the F fraction treatment, but had significantly lesser effect than that of the IB fraction treatment (p < 0.05). Besides caffeic acid, some other phenolics in the IB fraction may also contribute to its ROS inhibitory capacity. For example, catechin and protocatechuic acid were also the primary phenolic compounds detected in an insoluble-bound fraction [19]. Wong et al. [27] reported that 0.3 mM catechin reduced the amount of ROS by 38 % in PA-induced astrocytes. In another study, 10 µM catechin can decrease 54% ROS generation in PAinduced HepG2 cells [28]. Moreover, it also found that protocatechuic acid could significantly attenuate ROS generation by activating endogenous antioxidant enzymes [29].

3.3. Phenolic Fractions and Caffeic Acid Prevented PA-Induced Cell Apoptosis. The excessive ROS not only leads to oxidative damage but also impairs cells and thereby induces cell apoptosis, which partly accounts for the autoimmune disorders and cancers [30-32]. As OPF phenolic fractions exhibited significant ROS scavenge ability, the inhibition effects of them on PA-induced apoptosis were further evaluated by flow cytometry assay. As shown in Figure 3(a), the apoptotic cells appear in two parts of each panel of Figure 3(a): the cells in late apoptosis are presented in the upper right gate, and the early apoptosis cells are showed in the lower right gate [33]. Based on the results in Figure 3(a), the corresponding cell apoptotic proportion was calculated in Figure 3(b). As shown in Figure 3(b), the cell apoptotic rate of the PA group was about 43.06%, which was significantly higher than that of the CK group or the BSA group (p < 0.05). The amounts of normal cells in the CK group was 92.42% and the BSA group was 88.69%; the slight decrease in the survival rate of the BSA group may be due to the introduction of NaOH with the BSA/NaOH complex solution. With the treatment of the OPF phenolic fractions, the PAinduced cell apoptosis was attenuated. Regardless of UHP treatment, the IB fraction exhibited the best protective effect against the PA-induced cell apoptosis, followed by the E fraction (p < 0.05), while the F fraction from OPF showed the weakest protective activity (p < 0.05). When OPF was pretreated with UHP, the IB fraction exerted significantly better protection against cell apoptosis than the counterpart of OPF without UHP treatment (p < 0.05). However, UHP treatment did not significantly enhance the protective activities of the F and E fractions from OPF. These results indicated that the inhibitory effect of IB fraction on cell apoptosis was upgraded after UHP treatment, which is probably due to its higher phenolic content [19] and the better antioxidant ability (Figure 2).

The result of caffeic acid inhibiting the PA-induced cell apoptosis was also determined (Figure 3). In contrast with PA treatment, caffeic acid significantly inhibited cell



FIGURE 3: The inhibitory effects of phenolic fractions from oil palm fruits with or without ultrahigh pressure treatment and caffeic acid on PA-induced cell apoptosis: (a) flow cytometry analysis, (b) the relative apoptosis rate of different groups. Data are expressed as mean \pm SD (n = 3). In Figure 3(b), mean values with different letters are significantly different (p < 0.05). CK: control group; BSA: BSA/NaOH complex solution; PA: PA/BSA complex solution; "F" free phenolic fraction, "E" esterified phenolic fraction; "IB" insoluble-bound phenolic fraction.

apoptosis by 41.55% (p < 0.05), indicating caffeic acid might be the main functional compound in OPF to inhibit PAinduced cell apoptosis. Besides, a previous study reported that kaempferol, also detected in IB fraction, could increase the cell viability from 68% to 98% in the PA-induced pancreatic β -cell [10]. Moreover, it is worth noting that the protective effect of the IB fraction, regardless of UHP treatment, was significantly better than that of caffeic acid. Therefore, those results indicated that other phenolic compounds in OPF may also contribute to the prevention against PA-induced cell apoptosis, and those phenolic compounds may interact with each other to exert a better protective activity.

3.4. Phenolic Fractions and Caffeic Acid Ameliorated PA-Induced MMP Depolarization. The mitochondrion is a crucial organelle, that not only undertakes the energy regulation but also controls the balance of ROS generation [9]. Under the condition of lipotoxicity, the massive ROS could rapidly diffuse to the mitochondrion, lead to MMP depolarization, and thereby mediate cell apoptosis [29, 34]. Therefore, bioactive compounds with ROS scavenge ability may inhibit cell apoptosis through mitochondria protection [35]. In this study, the MMP of each group was monitored by a flow cytometer with the probe of JC-1. JC-1 could penetrate into mitochondria and show different fluorescence to reveal the MMP. Briefly, the red fluorescence was triggered when the MMP was high, while the green fluorescence was produced when the MMP decreased [36]. Based on these, the mitochondrial membrane depolarization level could be calculated as the ratio of the red fluorescence intensity to the green fluorescence intensity.

As shown in Figure 4, the CK group has strong red fluorescence intensity and a stable MMP with a red-to-green ratio of about 8.5, and this ratio in the BSA group was about 6.8. The minor decline of the ratio in the BSA group may be due to the effect of NaOH in BSA/NaOH complex solution. When treated with PA, the red fluorescence intensity was obviously declined (Figure 4(a)), and the red-to-green ratio of the PA group was significantly decreased in comparison with that of the CK group or the BSA group (p < 0.05, Figure 4(b)), indicating that PA treatment decreased MMP and thereby caused a serious mitochondrial membrane depolarization. Pretreatment of OPF phenolic fractions showed a protective effect on PA-induced mitochondria damage. As demonstrated in Figure 4, the red-to-green ratios of three phenolic fractions in nontreated fruits were about 2.54, 2.93, and 3.79, respectively. As for UHP-treated fruits, the red-to-green values of the corresponding phenolic fractions were 2.57, 3.35, and 4.95. It was obvious that, no matter UHP treatment or not, all the three phenolic fractions of OPF can effectively alleviate the depolarized mitochondrial membrane potential caused by PA, and the effect of the IB fraction was the best (p < 0.05). Meanwhile, the results clearly showed that UHP treatment significantly enhanced the protective effect of the IB fraction against PA-induced the depolarization of MMP (p < 0.05). Therefore, the lipotoxicity preventive effect of OPF phenolic fractions may be

partly achieved by protecting mitochondrial function. The ameliorative effect of phenolic compounds on mitochondrial membrane depolarization has been previously reported. Jin et al. [6] manifested that Chinese propolis treatment can rescue the MMP decrease induced by PA in HepG2 cells, and composition analysis showed that Chinese propolis contained many phenolic compounds, including ferulic acid, caffeic acid, and kaempferol, and these phenolics has also been detected in the different phenolic fractions from OPF [19]. Moreover, it is found that catechin pretreatment could almost protect the MMP of HepG2 cells from the influence of PA treatment [28]. In our previous study, caffeic acid was found to be the most abundant phenolic compound in all the OPF phenolic fractions, while the information about its effect on MMP maintenance of the lipotoxicity condition has not been investigated. Result in the current study showed that the red fluorescence intensity of caffeic acid treatment was significantly higher than that of the PA group with the mean value of the red-to-green ratio rising from 3.10 to 3.58, indicating that the mitochondrial membrane depolarization was significantly improved by caffeic acid treatment (p < 0.05, Figure 4). This result may provide evidence that caffeic acid was one of the bioactive compounds contributing to the MMP protection of the different phenolic fractions from OPF.

3.5. Preventive Mechanisms of the IB Fractions and Caffeic Acid in PA-Induced Lipotoxicity. According to the abovementioned results, regardless of UHP treatment, IB phenolic fraction showed the best effects on TG clearance, ROS reduction, inhibition of cells apoptosis, and MMP maintenance among the three OPF phenolic fractions. Therefore, the underlying mechanisms of IB phenolic fractions from OPF with or without UHP treatment and caffeic acid on alleviating PA-induced lipotoxicity in HepG2 cells were comparatively investigated by Western blot analysis.

Massive ROS would be generated with PA induction, which may lead to an inflammatory response and finally result in cell apoptosis [11]. COX-2 and iNOS are two characteristic inflammation cytokines that expression levels sensitively increase with excessive ROS production [37]. Under the stimulation of inflammation cytokines, the P38 protein would be phosphorylated, which may activate the P38-MAPK pathway to regulate physiological and pathological processes, such as inflammation, cell growth, and apoptosis [12, 13]. As shown in Figure 5, in contrast with the CK group, the expressions of P-P38, COX-2, and iNOS proteins in the PA group increased significantly (p < 0.05). And the expression levels of those proteins in the PA group were about four times, seven times, and three times of those in the CK group, respectively. However, the administration of IB phenolic fractions, regardless of UHP treatment, significantly inhibited the expressions of those proteins in comparison with the counterpart of the PA group (p < 0.05). Besides, the IB fraction from the UHP-treated OPF exhibited better effect in inhibiting COX-2 expression than that of the IB fraction from the nontreated OPF (Figure 5, p < 0.05). The antioxidant ability of the IB fraction increased



FIGURE 4: The inhibitory effects of phenolic fractions from oil palm fruits with or without ultrahigh pressure treatment and caffeic acid on PA-induced MMP depolarization: (a) flow cytometry analysis, (b) the ratio of red fluorescence to green fluorescence of different groups. Data are expressed as mean \pm SD (n = 3). In Figure 4(b), mean values with different letters are significantly different (p < 0.05). CK: control group; BSA: BSA/NaOH complex solution; PA: PA/BSA complex solution; MMP: mitochondrial membrane potential; "F" free phenolic fraction; "E" esterified phenolic fraction; "IB" insoluble-bound phenolic fraction.



FIGURE 5: Effects of insoluble-bound fraction and caffeic acid on the protein expression levels of P38, COX-2, and iNOS (a) and the relative protein expression levels (b). Protein expression levels were normalized with β -actin, according to grayscale. Data are expressed as mean ± SD (n = 3). In Figure 5(b), mean values with different letters are significantly different (p < 0.05). CK: control group; BSA: BSA/NaOH complex solution; PA, PA/BSA complex solution; P38, P38 mitogen activated protein kinases; COX-2: cyclooxygenase-2; iNOS: inducible nitric oxide synthase; IB: insoluble-bound phenolic fraction; U-IB: UHP-treated insoluble-bound phenolic fraction.



FIGURE 6: (a) Effects of insoluble-bound fraction and caffeic acid on the protein expression levels of Bax, Bcl-2, and cytochrome C, (b) the relative protein expression levels. Protein expression levels were normalized with β -actin according to grayscale. Data are expressed as mean ± SD (n = 3). In Figure 6(b), mean values with different letters are significantly different (p < 0.05). CK: control group; BSA: BSA/NaOH complex solution; PA: PA/BSA complex solution; Bax: Bcl-2-associated X protein; Bcl-2: B cell lymphoma-2; IB: insoluble-bound phenolic fraction; U-IB: UHP-treated insoluble-bound phenolic fraction.

significantly [19], and the generation of ROS was remarkably suppressed (Figure 2(b)) after the UHP treatment, which may further lower the oxidative stress of cells to cause lesser expression of inflammatory cytokines and thereby exhibit better cell protection. Caffeic acid administration significantly inhibited the expressions of COX-2 and iNOS proteins when compared with that of the corresponding protein in the PA group (p < 0.05). However, caffeic acid did not remarkably reduce the expression ratio of P-P38/P38 (p > 0.05). In addition to inflammatory pathways, the mitochondrial pathway is also mediated by ROS and may lead to cell apoptosis [11, 38]. Bax and Bcl-2 were apoptotic related proteins of the Bcl-2 family, which played an important role in the mitochondrial pathway. A phenolic compound like naringin was proved to inhibit cell apoptosis by regulating the Bax/Bcl-2 pathway [39]. In the PA treatment group of the present study, the expression level of Bax was increased significantly when compared with that in the CK group or BSA group (Figure 6), which indicated the proapoptosis protein was activated and would interact with mitochondrial membrane to decline MMP. Meanwhile, the Bcl-2 expression was declined remarkably by the PA treatment (Figure 6), which indicated that the bioactivity of this antiapoptosis protein may reduce. With the effects of the PA treatment on Bax and Bcl-2, the MMP would be disrupted and the mitochondrial permeability might be damaged, and thereby finally stimulate cell apoptosis, which could be proved as the increased expression level of cytochrome C in this study. When cells were incubated with IB fraction, regardless of UHP treatment, the expression of Bax was significantly inhibited while the expression of Bcl-2 was markedly promoted in contrast with the PA group (Figure 6, p < 0.05), which provide possible pathways for IB fraction administration to achieve a higher MMP, decrease mitochondrial membrane depolarization level, and prevent the PA induced cell apoptosis. However, UHP treatment did not significantly enhance the effects of the IB phenolic fraction on the expressions of the Bax, Bcl-2, and cytochrome C proteins (p > 0.05). Caffeic acid also significantly inhibited the expressions of the Bax and cytochrome C proteins and upgraded the Bcl-2 expression when compared with that of the counterpart in the PA group (p < 0.05). However, the effect of caffeic acid was weaker than those of the IB phenolic fractions with or without UHP treatment, indicating some other phenolic compounds in the IB phenolic fraction may also contribute to the antiapoptosis, which needs to be proved by further experiments.

4. Conclusions

The results of this study revealed that the OPF phenolic fractions could prevent the PA induced lipotoxicity. Among the three phenolic fractions, the IB phenolic fraction showed the best effect to inhibit TG accumulation, reduce intracellular ROS, decrease the apoptotic rate, and prevent MMP depolarization. After the UHP treatment, the protective effect of the IB phenolic fraction was increased. Inhibition of inflammation by downregulating the expression of P-P38, COX-2, and iNOS, and suppression of mitochondrial mediated apoptosis by downregulating Bax and cytochrome C and upregulating Bcl-2 might be the potential mechanism pathway for the IB phenolic fraction to achieve the lipotoxicity preventive effect. Besides, as the most abundant phenolic compound in OPF phenolic fractions, caffeic acid exhibited similar effects as the IB fraction, and probably achieved such effect through the same pathway. Therefore, the OPF phenolic fractions, especially the IB phenolic fraction, might be utilized as natural materials for the development of antilipotoxicity functional food. The UHP treatment might be the potential method to increase this bioactivity of OPF.

Data Availability

All data included in this study are available upon request by contacting the corresponding author.

Conflicts of Interest

There are no conflicts of interest regarding the publication of this article.

Authors' Contributions

Xiaojing Liu and Ou Wang contributed equally to this work.

Acknowledgments

This work was financially supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (grant no. 31960477) and Yunnan Major Science and Technology Project (2019ZF010).

References

- J. W. Yun, "Possible anti-obesity therapeutics from nature—a review," *Phytochemistry*, vol. 71, no. 14-15, pp. 1625–1641, 2010.
- [2] V. Pardo, Á. González-Rodríguez, J. Muntané, S. C. Kozma, and Á. Valverde, "Role of hepatocyte S6K1 in palmitic acidinduced endoplasmic reticulum stress, lipotoxicity, insulin resistance and in oleic acid-induced protection," *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, vol. 80, pp. 298–309, 2015.
- [3] H. Nishi, T. Higashihara, and R. Inagi, "Lipotoxicity in kidney, heart, and skeletal muscle dysfunction," *Nutrients*, vol. 11, no. 7, pp. 1664–1681, 2019.
- [4] M. Izdebska, I. Piątkowska-Chmiel, A. Korolczuk et al., "The beneficial effects of resveratrol on steatosis and mitochondrial oxidative stress in HepG2 cells," *Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*, vol. 95, no. 12, pp. 1442–1453, 2017.
- [5] C. Yang, W. Bazer, and G. Song, "Down-regulation of stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1 increases susceptibility to palmitic-acid-induced lipotoxicity in human trophoblast cells," *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, vol. 54, pp. 35–47, 2018.
- [6] X.-L. Jin, K. Wang, Q.-Q. Li et al., "Antioxidant and antiinflammatory effects of Chinese propolis during palmitic acid-induced lipotoxicity in cultured hepatocytes," *Journal of Functional Foods*, vol. 34, pp. 216–223, 2017.
- [7] A. Ayala, M. F. Muñoz, and S. Argüelles, "Lipid peroxidation: production, metabolism, and signaling mechanisms of malondialdehyde and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal," *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, vol. 2014, Article ID 360438, 31 pages, 2014.
- [8] P. Ye, R. Gan, H. Li et al., "Absorption, metabolism, and bioactivity of vitexin: recent advances in understanding the efficacy of an important nutraceutical," *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, pp. 1–16, 2020, In press.
- [9] D. Hu, X. Yang, J. Xie, C. Sun, X. Zheng, and W. Chen, "Systematic evaluation of phenolic compounds and protective capacity of a new mulberry cultivar J33 against palmitic acidinduced lipotoxicity using a simulated digestion method," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 258, pp. 43–50, 2018.
- [10] R. Varshney, S. Gupta, and P. Roy, "Cytoprotective effect of kaempferol against palmitic acid-induced pancreatic β -cell death through modulation of autophagy via AMPK/mTOR signaling pathway," *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, vol. 448, pp. 1–20, 2017.
- [11] J. Wang, L. Yuan, H. Xiao, C. Xiao, Y. Wang, and X. Liu, "Momordin Ic induces HepG2 cell apoptosis through MAPK and PI3K/Akt-mediated mitochondrial pathways," *Apoptosis*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 751–765, 2013.
- [12] E. M. Galan-Moya, A. Miguel, and M. L. Valero, "Balance between MKK6 and MKK3 mediates p38 MAPK associated resistance to cisplatin in NSCLC," *PloS One*, vol. 6, no. 12, Article ID e28406, 2011.

- [13] S.-H. Lee, C.-H. Kwak, S.-K. Lee et al., "Anti-inflammatory effect of ascochlorin in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 macrophage cells is accompanied with the down-regulation of iNOS, COX-2 and proinflammatory cytokines through NF-κB, ERK1/2, and p38 signaling pathway," *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, vol. 117, no. 4, pp. 978–987, 2016.
- [14] L. Zhao, S. Li, L. Zhao, Y. Zhu, and T. Hao, "Antioxidant activities and major bioactive components of consecutive extracts from blue honeysuckle (*Lonicera caerulea* L.) cultivated in China," *Journal of Food Biochemistry*, vol. 39, no. 6, pp. 653–662, 2015.
- [15] M. Bian, X. Chen, C. Zhang et al., "Magnesium isoglycyrrhizinate promotes the activated hepatic stellate cells apoptosis via endoplasmic reticulum stress and ameliorates fibrogenesisin vitroandin vivo," *Biofactors*, vol. 43, no. 6, pp. 836–846, 2017.
- [16] J. T. Opferman and A. Kothari, "Anti-apoptotic BCL-2 family members in development," *Cell Death & Differentiation*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 37–45, 2018.
- [17] Y. Jiong and Y. Shukun, "JNK-Bcl-2/Bcl-xL-Bax/Bak pathway mediates the crosstalk between matrine-induced autophagy and apoptosis via interplay with beclin 1," *International Journal* of Molecular Sciences, vol. 16, no. 10, pp. 25744–25758, 2015.
- [18] Y. Youn and Y.-S. Kim, "Inhibitory effects of *Citrus unshiu* pericarpium extracts on palmitate-induced lipotoxicity in HepG2 cells," *Food Science and Biotechnology*, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 1709–1717, 2016.
- [19] J. Zhou, Y. Ma, Y. Jia, M. Pang, G. Cheng, and S. Cai, "Phenolic profiles, antioxidant activities and cytoprotective effects of different phenolic fractions from oil palm (*Elaeis guineensis* Jacq.) fruits treated by ultra-high pressure," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 288, pp. 68–77, 2019.
- [20] S. P. Cousin, S. R. Hügl, C. E. Wrede, H. Kajio, M. G. Myers, and C. J. Rhodes, "Free fatty acid-induced inhibition of glucose and insulin-like growth factor I-induced deoxyribonucleic acid synthesis in the pancreatic β-cell line INS-11," *Endocrinology*, vol. 142, no. 1, pp. 229–240, 2001.
- [21] Y. Zang, L. Fan, J. Chen, R. Huang, and H. Qin, "Improvement of lipid and glucose metabolism by capsiate in palmitic acid-treated HepG2 cells via activation of the AMPK/SIRT1 signaling pathway," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 66, no. 26, pp. 6772–6781, 2018.
- [22] Y. Liu, D. Wang, D. Zhang et al., "Inhibitory effect of blueberry polyphenolic compounds on oleic acid-induced hepatic steatosis in vitro," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 59, no. 22, pp. 12254–12263, 2011.
- [23] X. Cao, C. Wu, Y. Tian, and P. Guo, "The caffeic acid moiety plays an essential role in attenuating lipid accumulation by chlorogenic acid and its analogues," *RSC Advances*, vol. 9, no. 22, pp. 12247–12254, 2019.
- [24] D. Lin, M. Xiao, J. Zhao et al., "An overview of plant phenolic compounds and their importance in human nutrition and management of type 2 diabetes," *Molecules*, vol. 21, no. 10, pp. 1374–1393, 2016.
- [25] H.-M. Shen, C.-F. Yang, W.-X. Ding, J. Liu, and C.-N. Ong, "Superoxide radical-initiated apoptotic signalling pathway in selenite-treated HepG2 cells: mitochondria serve as the main target," *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 9–21, 2001.
- [26] W. Gehrmann, W. Würdemann, T. Plötz, A. Jörns, S. Lenzen, and M. Elsner, "Antagonism between saturated and unsaturated fatty acids in ROS mediated lipotoxicity in rat insulinproducing cells," *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 852–865, 2015.

- [27] K.-L. Wong, Y.-R. Wu, K.-S. Cheng et al., "Palmitic acidinduced lipotoxicity and protection by (+)-catechin in rat cortical astrocytes," *Pharmacological Reports*, vol. 66, no. 6, pp. 1106–1113, 2014.
- [28] H. Rafiei, K. Omidian, and B. Bandy, "Protection by different classes of dietary polyphenols against palmitic acid-induced steatosis, nitro-oxidative stress and endoplasmic reticulum stress in HepG2 hepatocytes," *Journal of Functional Foods*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 173–182, 2018.
- [29] L. Han, Q. Yang, W. Ma, J. Li, L. Qu, and M. Wang, "Protocatechuic acid ameliorated palmitic-acid-induced oxidative damage in endothelial cells through activating endogenous antioxidant enzymes via an adenosine-monophosphate-activated-protein-kinase-dependent pathway," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 66, no. 40, pp. 10400–10409, 2018.
- [30] A. Ortiz-Rodriguez, E. Acaz-Fonseca, P. Boya, M. A. Arevalo, and L. M. Garcia-Segura, "Lipotoxic effects of palmitic acid on astrocytes are associated with autophagy impairment," *Molecular Neurobiology*, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. 1665–1680, 2019.
- [31] D. Smolensky, D. Rhodes, D. S. Mcvey et al., "Highpolyphenol sorghum bran extract inhibits cancer cell growth through ROS induction, cell cycle arrest, and apoptosis," *Journal of Medicinal Food*, vol. 21, no. 10, pp. 990–998, 2018.
- [32] Y. Zhuang, Q. Ma, Y. Guo, and L. Sun, "Protective effects of rambutan (*Nephelium lappaceum*) peel phenolics on H2O2 -induced oxidative damages in HepG2 cells and d-galactoseinduced aging mice," *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, vol. 108, pp. 554–562, 2017.
- [33] L. Wang, L. Ding, Z. Yu, T. Zhang, S. Ma, and J. Liu, "Intracellular ROS scavenging and antioxidant enzyme regulating capacities of corn gluten meal-derived antioxidant peptides in HepG2 cells," *Food Research International*, vol. 90, pp. 33–41, 2016.
- [34] B. L. Tan, M. E. Norhaizan, and L. C. Chan, "ROS-mediated mitochondrial pathway is required for *Manilkara zapota* (L.) P. Royen leaf methanol extract inducing apoptosis in the modulation of caspase activation and EGFR/NF-κB activities of HeLa human cervical cancer cells," *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, vol. 2018, Article ID 6578648, 19 pages, 2018.
- [35] J. Xiang, F. B. Apea-Bah, V. U. Ndolo, M. C. Katundu, and T. Beta, "Profile of phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity of finger millet varieties," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 275, pp. 361–368, 2019.
- [36] S. Paul and R. Kundu, "ROS mediated DNA damage and induction of apoptosis in cervical cancer cells by Heliotropium indicum L," *Journal of Applied Pharmaceutical Science*, vol. 8, no. 8, pp. 92–106, 2018.
- [37] T. Pauloin, M. Dutot, F. Joly, J. M. Warnet, and P. Rat, "High molecular weight hyaluronan decreases UVB-induced apoptosis and inflammation in human epithelial corneal cells," *Molecular Vision*, vol. 15, pp. 577–583, 2009.
- [38] A. P. Kaur and S. Agrawal, "A review of the molecular mechanism of apoptosis and its role in pathological conditions," *International Journal of Pharma and Bio Sciences*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 124–131, 2019.
- [39] J. Cui, G. Wang, A. D. Kandhare, A. A. Mukherjee-Kandhare, and S. L. Bodhankar, "Neuroprotective effect of naringin, a flavone glycoside in quinolinic acid-induced neurotoxicity: possible role of PPAR-γ, Bax/Bcl-2, and caspase-3," *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, vol. 121, pp. 95–108, 2018.



Review Article

Chemical Constituents and Health Benefits of Four Chinese Plum Species

Wei Liu,¹ Guangming Nan,¹ Muhammad Farrukh Nisar (b),^{2,3,4} and Chunpeng Wan (b³

¹Key Lab of Natural Product Chemistry and Application at Universities of Education Department of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region, Yili Normal University, Yining 835000, China

²Key Laboratory of Crop Physiology, Ecology and Genetic Breeding, Ministry of Education, Jiangxi Agricultural University, Nanchang 330045, Jiangxi, China

³College of Agronomy, Jiangxi Agricultural University,

Jiangxi Key Laboratory for Post-harvest Technology and Nondestructive Testing of Fruits & Vegetables,

Collaborative Innovation Center of Post-harvest Key Technology and Quality Safety of Fruits and Vegetables in Jiangxi Province, Nanchang 330045, China

⁴Department of Physiology and Biochemistry, Cholistan University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences (CUVAS), Bahawalpur 63100, Pakistan

Correspondence should be addressed to Muhammad Farrukh Nisar; mfarrukhnisar@cuvas.edu.pk and Chunpeng Wan; chunpengwan@jxau.edu.cn

Received 23 April 2020; Revised 10 May 2020; Accepted 24 June 2020; Published 22 July 2020

Academic Editor: Quancai Sun

Copyright © 2020 Wei Liu et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Prunus is a large genus in the Rosaceae family of flowering plants, comprising over 340 species inhabiting variable landscapes in the world. Over 500 listed phytochemicals have been isolated from this single genus so far. The present study focused four Chinese *Prunus* species, viz., *Prunus cerasifera, Prunus domestica, Prunus salicina*, and *Prunus spinosa*, due to their uses, demand, nutritional value, medicinal importance, and diverse biological potential. The current review article highlights the details about the active phytochemicals and various pharmacological activities already reported. Almost 212 compounds, the majority of which are flavonoids, phenolic acids, anthocyanins, and their derivatives, which have been isolated from these four *Prunus* species fall in different categories and are helpful to evade chronic oxidative stress-mediated diseases. A huge variation exists in the total phytochemicals composition in different *Prunus* species, making these species to have different biological activities in multiple disease conditions, and even the same variety growing under different edaphic conditions may have different antioxidant capacities. It is suggested to perform extensive and indepth studies to find new phytochemicals from these four Chinese *Prunus* species which could boost the local industry to fulfill the increasing demands.

1. Introduction

Prunus is a large genus (340 species) comprising variable habit of plants belonging to family Rosaceae of flowering plants. The major representatives of the genus *Prunus* include plums, cherries, peaches, apricots, and almonds [1]. Over 500 listed phytochemicals have been isolated from this single genus so far from this genus. In the past few decades, plums have been explained as health-promoting foods due to their anti-inflammatory actions, improving neurological disorders and strong antioxidant

nature mainly because of phenolic compounds and an-thocyanins [2].

Prunus species are rich in biologically active ingredients, e.g., apigenin bears strong anticancer properties as a study by Jiang and colleagues showed that it inhibits hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression in human ovarian cancer cells [3]. Moreover, Apigenin inhibited tumorigenesis as examined by Matrigel plug assay and chorioallantoic membrane assay (CAM assay) [3]. Similarly, another active ingredient luteolin in *Prunus* species, which is also reported to show strong anticancer activity by inhibiting the growth and invasion of prostate cancer (PC3) cells, is used to check lung metastasis in an *in vivo* study, and hence, it is highlighted that luteolin targets E-cadherin and may be a useful way to cure invasive prostrate cancer [4]. Chrysin shows anticancer effects by potentially inhibiting HIF-1 α [5], while kaempferol, quercetin, and multiforin extracted from *Prunus* species showed strong antioxidant potential in the DPPH radical scavenging assay [6–8]. Traditionally, plums are dried and processed for a prolonged shelf life of plums. Considering the dried fruits in terms of the phytochemical constituents, the presence of antioxidants has been reported to be the maximum compared with other dried fruits or vegetables [9].

Reactive oxygen/nitrogen species (ROS/RNS) are important physiological molecules involved, among others, in cell signaling and host defense [10]. However, an uncontrolled and excessive ROS/RNS production may overwhelm the antioxidant capacity of the cells and lead to deleterious oxidative stress, which is implicated in the pathogenesis of numerous chronic diseases [11]. Various polyphenolic compounds or plant extracts, as natural antioxidants, are regarded as a potential treatment option in prophylaxis and adjunctive therapy of CVD, and their mechanisms of action, including possible interactions with ROS/RNS, are closely looked into the restriction of onset of oxidative stress-mediated disease [12].

1.1. Aims and Objectives. As the genus *Prunus* is one of the largest ones, there is no authentic and detailed study describing the biological activities of its constituents in four Chinese *Prunus* species, viz., *P. cerasifera*, *P. domestica*, *P. salicina*, and *P. spinosa*. Hence, the current review article will highlight the details about the active phytochemicals and various pharmacological activities already reported.

2. Chemical Constituents of Four Plum Species

Almost 212 compounds, the majority of which were flavonoids and phenolic acids, isolated from different *Prunus* species have been classified under different categories and summarized in Tables 1–3.

2.1. Flavonoids. Approximately 113 flavonoids compounds (Table 1, Figure 1) including 9 anthocyanins (1–9), 33 proanthocyanins (10–42), 55 flavone and flavonols (43–92, 105–106, 110–111, 113), 13 dihydroflavonols (93–104), 3 isoflavonoids (107–109), and 1 dihydrochalcone (112) were identified from *P. cerasifera*, *P. domestica*, *P. salicina*, and *P. spinosa*.

2.2. Phenolic Acids. The analysis of phenolic acids (Table 2, Figure 2) indicated that chlorogenic acid was the predominant compound. Seven benzoic acid derivatives (114–120, 140, 141), 7 cinnamic acid derivatives (121–127, 148, 149), 6 caffeoylquinic acid derivatives (128–133), 2 feruloylquinic acid derivatives (134, 135), 3 comaroylquinic acid

derivatives (136–139), 2 shikimic acid (142, 143), ellagic acid (145), 2 propionic acid (146, 147), 2 abscisic acid (152, 153), and 3 abscisic acid derivatives (154–158) were identified from *P. cerasifera*, *P. domestica*, *P. salicina*, and *P. spinosa*.

2.3. Others. A total of 16 individual phenolic compounds have been identified from *P. domestica*. The major components identified and quantitated by HPLC-ESI-MS comprise (163, 166, 167, 180), along with a neolignane (171), two guajacyl-glycerin-coniferyl aldehyde isomers (172, 173) and dehydro-diconiferyl aldehyde (174). Three cyanogenic glycosids (167-169) were identified from *P. spinosa*. Four organic acids (175-178) and vitamin C (179) contents of three plum species (*P. cerasifera*, *P. domestica*, and *P. spinosa*.) were determined by the HPLC method. Two carbaldehyde derivatives (180, 181), 3 steroids (185–187), 4 terpenoids (188-191, 204, 205), 8coumarin derivatives (193-201), 3 cinnamic acid derivatives (202, 203, 209), and 2 glucosyl terpenates (205, 208) were identified from different *Prunus* species (Table 3, Figure 3).

3. Biological Activities of Four Plum Species

Various compounds have been isolated from different *Prunus* species and classified under different categories, viz., polyphenols, flavonoids, anthocyanins, alkaloids, and terpenes. The pharmacological properties of all four Chinese plum species have been discussed in the next sections.

3.1. Prunus cerasifera. Cherry plum (P. cerasifera Ehrh. and Rosaceae) or "Myrobalan plum" is a well-known medicinal plant and is a rich source of polyphenolics, anthocyanins, carotenoids, flavonoids, various organic acids, aromatic compounds, tannins, minerals, vitamins, and antioxidant compounds [13, 71]. The Myrobalan plum fruits are rich in health-promoting phytochemicals that help prevent the onset of different diseases. The P. cerasifera fruit has strong antibacterial and antifungal potential of pathogenic class for medical sciences and agricultural product-related pathogens [72]. The purple Myrobalan plum fruit peels have high amounts of anthocyanins and phenolic compounds due to which it showed high antioxidant activity [24]. Considerable differences have also been reported for P. cerasifera accessions with regard to total phenolics and antioxidant activity [73]. Another report highlighted that tannins found in P. cerasifera have high antioxidant properties and showed potential inhibition of tyrosinase activity and, thus, could be used as a strong inhibitor for the onset of melanogenesis [29]. Gunduza and Saracoglu studied various fruit characteristics (total phenolics and antioxidant activity) in different accessions of P. cerasifera from Turkey and reported considerable variation for these characters among the accessions, but the phenolic contents are comparable to many other plum species [73]. The antioxidant capability of plums mainly depends on the level of ripening, and this trend is entirely opposite to that of the phenolic contents [74]. The leaves of *P. cerasifera* are enriched with biologically active ingredients, notably tannins, flavonoids, and phenolic acids,

	TABLE 1: Flavonoi	s compounds	isolated	and	identified	from	different	Prunus.
--	-------------------	-------------	----------	-----	------------	------	-----------	---------

No.	Compounds	Sources	Ref.
1	Cyanidin-3-galactoside	P. cerasifera Ehrh., P. salicina Lindl.	[13–17]
2	Cyanidin-3-glucoside	P. cerasifera Ehrh., P. salicina Lindl., P. domestica L., P. spinosa	[13–15, 18–27]
3	Cyanidin-3-rutinoside	P. cerasifera Ehrh., P. salicina Lindl., P. domestica L., P. spinosa	[13-27]
4	Cyanidin-3-acetylglucoside	L. P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[13]
5	Cyanidin-3-xyloside	P. cerasifera Ehrh., P. domestica	[13, 23, 27]
6	Cyanidin-3-pentoside	P. spinosa L.	[21, 28]
7	Peonidin-3-rutinoside	P. spinosa L., P. domestica L.	[18, 21–25, 27]
8	Peonidin-3-glucoside	P spinosa L. P. domestica L.	[19-25 27]
0	Peopidin 3 acetylalucoside	P spinosa I	[19 20, 27]
10	A fralachin	D associations Elevel D atticates I	[21]
10	Aizelechin	P. cerasifera Enrn., P. spinosa L.	[29, 30]
11	Epiatzelechin	P. cerasifera Ehrh., P. spinosa L.	[29-31]
12	(1) Catachin	P. salicina Lindl., P. domestica L.,	[9 15 16 24 20 20]
12	(+)-Catechin	P. cerasifera Ehrh., P. spinosa L.	[8, 15, 16, 24, 29-39]
13	(–)-Epicatechin	P. salicina Lindl., P. domestica L., P. spinosa L.	[15, 16, 24, 29–32, 35, 36, 38–42]
14	Epigallocatechin	P. spinosa L.	[30]
15	Gallocatechin	P. spinosa L.	[30]
16	Drogwanidin B1	D salicina Lindl D domestica I	
10		F. Suitcina Linai., F. domestica L.	[15, 10, 55, 50, 59]
17	Procyanidin B2	P. salicina Lindl., P. domestica L.	[15, 16, 28, 35, 36, 39]
18	Epicatechin 3-O-gallate	P. domestica L.	[39]
19	<i>Ent</i> -epicatechin- $(2\alpha \rightarrow O \rightarrow 7; 4\alpha \rightarrow 8)$ -catechin	P. spinosa L.	[30, 31, 43]
20	<i>Ent</i> -epicatechin- $(2\alpha \rightarrow O \rightarrow 7; 4\alpha \rightarrow 8)$ -catechin 5.7.11.12.5'11'.12'-heptamethyl ether-3.3'-diacetate	P. spinosa L.	[31, 43]
21	<i>Ent</i> -epicatechin- $(2\alpha \longrightarrow O \longrightarrow 7; 4\alpha \longrightarrow 8)$ -catechin-nona- acetate	P. spinosa L.	[43]
22	<i>Ent</i> -epigallocatechin- $(2\alpha \rightarrow 0 \rightarrow 7; 4\alpha \rightarrow 8)$ -epicatechin	P spinosa I	[30]
22	Ent epiganoeuteenin $(2\alpha \rightarrow 0)$ $(7, 4\alpha \rightarrow 0)$ epicateenin	D spinosa I	
23	<i>Ent</i> -epicatechini- $(2\alpha \rightarrow 0 \rightarrow 7, 4\alpha \rightarrow 8)$ -epiatzelechini	P. spinosa L.	[50, 45, 44]
24	<i>Ent</i> -epicatechin- $(2\alpha \rightarrow O \rightarrow /; 4\alpha \rightarrow 8)$ -epiatzelechin 7,12,5',12'-tetramethyl ether	P. spinosa L.	[44]
25	<i>Ent</i> -epicatechin- $(2\alpha \rightarrow O \rightarrow 7; 4\alpha \rightarrow 8)$ -epicatechin <i>Ent</i> -epicatechin- $(2\alpha \rightarrow O \rightarrow 7; 4\alpha \rightarrow 8)$ -epicatechin	P. spinosa L., P. spinosa L.	[32, 36, 43]
26	5,7,11,12,5'11',12'-heptamethyl ether-3,3'-diacetate	P. spinosa L.	[43]
27	<i>Ent</i> -epicatechin- $(2\alpha \rightarrow O \rightarrow 7; 4\alpha \rightarrow 8)$ -epicatechin 7,11,12,5'11',12'-hexamethyl ether-3,5,3'-triacetate	P. spinosa L.	[43]
28	<i>Ent</i> -epicatechin- $(2\alpha \longrightarrow O \longrightarrow 7; 4\alpha \longrightarrow 8)$ -epicatechin- nona-acetate	P. spinosa L.	[43]
29	<i>Ent</i> -epiafzelechin- $(2\alpha \rightarrow O \rightarrow 7; 4\alpha \rightarrow 8)$ -epicatechin	P. spinosa L.	[30, 32, 43–45]
30	<i>Ent</i> -epiafzelechin- $(2\alpha \rightarrow O \rightarrow 7; 4\alpha \rightarrow 8)$ -epiafzelechin 7.12.5'.12'-tetramethyl ether-3.5.3'-triacetate	P. spinosa L.	[44]
31	<i>Ent</i> -epiafzelechin- $(2\alpha \rightarrow O \rightarrow 7; 4\alpha \rightarrow 8)$ -epiafzelechin- hepta-acetate	P. spinosa L.	[43, 44]
32	<i>Ent</i> -epiafzelechin- $(2\alpha \longrightarrow O \longrightarrow 7; 4\alpha \longrightarrow 8)$ -epicatechin 7,12,5',11',12'-pentamethyl ether	P. spinosa L.	[44]
33	<i>Ent</i> -epiafzelechin- $(2\alpha \longrightarrow O \longrightarrow 7; 4\alpha \longrightarrow 8)$ -epicatechin- octa-acetate	P. spinosa L.	[44]
34	<i>Ent</i> -epiafzelechin -($2\alpha \rightarrow O \rightarrow 7$; $4\alpha \rightarrow 8$)-epicatechin 5,7,12,5'11',12'-hexamethyl ether-3,3'-diacetate	P. spinosa L.	[43]
35	<i>Ent</i> -epiafzelechin- $(2\alpha \longrightarrow O \longrightarrow 7; 4\alpha \longrightarrow 8)$ -epicatechin 7,12,5'11',12'-pentamethyl ether-3,5,3'-triacetate	P. spinosa L.	[43]
36	<i>Ent</i> -epiafzelechin- $(2\alpha \longrightarrow O \longrightarrow 7; 4\alpha \longrightarrow 8)$ -epicatechin-3'- O-gallate	P. spinosa L.	[30]
37	<i>Ent</i> -epicatechin- $(2\alpha \longrightarrow O \longrightarrow 7; 4\alpha \longrightarrow 8)$ -epicatechin- $3'$ - O-gallate	P. spinosa L.	[30]
38	<i>Ent</i> -epiafzelechin- $(2\alpha \rightarrow O \rightarrow 7; 4\alpha \rightarrow 8)$ -catechin	P. spinosa L.	[30, 45]

TABLE 1: Continued.

No.	Compounds	Sources	Ref.
39	<i>Ent</i> -epiafzelechin- $(2\alpha \longrightarrow O \longrightarrow 7; 4\alpha \longrightarrow 8)$ -catechin-octa- acetate	P. spinosa L.	[43]
40 41	Proanthocyanidin oligomer Epicatechin-4,8'-epicatechin-4',8''-epicatechin	P. domestica L. P. domestica L.	[46] [36]
42	Epicatechin-4,8'-epicatechin- $(2'\alpha \longrightarrow O \longrightarrow 7'';$ $4'\alpha \longrightarrow 8'')$ -epicatechin	P. domestica L.	[36]
43	Quercetin	P. spinosa L., P. domestica L., P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[28, 30-32, 36, 38, 47-50]
44	Quercetin-3-O-α-L-arabinofuranoside	P. spinosa L., P. spinosa L.	[32, 33, 47]
45	Quercetin-3-rutinoside	P. salicina Lindl., P. domestica L., P. cerasifera Ehrh., P. spinosa L.	[8, 15, 16, 21, 22, 24, 26, 28, 30, 35–39, 42, 49–55]
46	Quercetin-3-O-glucoside	P. salicina Lindl., P. domestica L., P. spinosa L.	[15-17, 19, 21, 22, 24, 26, 28, 35, 36]
47	Quercetin-3-O-xyloside	P. salicina Lindl., P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[15–17, 56]
48	Quercetin-3-O-arabinoside	P. salicina Lindl., P. domestica L., P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[15, 16, 24, 56]
49	Quercetin-3-O-rhamnoside	P. salicina Lindl., P. domestica L., P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[15, 16, 28, 32, 35, 36, 56]
50	Quercetinl-7-O-α-L-rhamnopyransoide	<i>P. domestica L.</i> <i>P. salicina Lindl., P. domestica L.,</i>	[32]
51	Quercetin-3- O - β -D-galactoside	P. domestica L., P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[17, 19, 24, 26, 28, 32, 35, 36, 56]
52	Quercetin-3-O-α-D-xylopyranoside	P. domestica L.	[32]
53	Quercetin-3-O-α-D-glucopyranoside	P. domestica L.	[32]
54	Quercetin-pentoside	P. domestica L.	[28, 36, 39]
55	Quercetin-pentoside-rhamnoside	P. domestica L.	[36]
56	Quercetin pentosyl-hexoside	P. salicina Lindl., P. domestica L.	[15, 16, 39]
57	Quercetin pentosyl-pentoside	P. salicina Lindl.	[15, 16, 39]
58	Quercetin-acetylhexoside	P. salicina Lindl., P. domestica L.	[15, 16, 39]
59	Quercetin-deoxyhexose	P. domestica L.	[39]
60	Quercetin-3-O-(4"-O-β-D-glucopyranosyl)-α-L- rhamnopyransoide	P. domestica L.	[32]
61	Quercetin-3- O -(6"- O - α -L-rhamnopyranosyl)- β -D-glucopyranoside(rutin)	P. spinosa L.	[32]
62	Quercetin-3- O - $(2^{\vec{n}}-O-\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl)- α -L- arabinofuranoside	P. spinosa L.	[32, 33, 47]
63	Hyperin	P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[50]
64	Kaempferol	P. spinosa L., P. domestica L., P.	[30 33 47 50 57 58]
04	Raempieror	spinosa L., P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[50-55, 47-50, 57, 58]
65	Apigenin	P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[50]
66	Kaempferol-3- <i>O</i> -α-D-glucoside	P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[50, 56]
67	Kaempferol-3,7-di-O-α-L-rhamnopyranoside	P. spinosa L.	[30-32, 47]
68	Kaempferol-7-O-α-L-rhamnopyransoide	P. spinosa L.	[32, 33, 47]
69	Kaempferol-3-O-α-L-arabinofuranoside-7-O-α-L- rhamnopyransoide	P. spinosa L.	[32, 33, 47]
70 71	Kaempferol-3-O-α-L-arabinofuranoside Kaempferol-3-O-arabinoside-7-O-rhamnoside	P. spinosa L., P. cerasifera Ehrh. P. spinosa L.	[30, 32, 33, 47, 56] [30, 32]
72	Kaempferol-3-O-α-D-xylopyranoside-7-O-α-L- rhamnopyransoide(lepidoside)	P. spinosa L.	[32, 33]
73	Kaempferol-3-O-α-D-xylopyranoside	P. spinosa L., P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[32, 56]
74	Kaempferol-3- <i>O</i> -α-L-rhamnopyransoide Kaempferol-3- <i>O</i> -(2"-E-p-conmaroyl)-α-L-	P. spinosa L., P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[32, 33, 56]
15	arabinofuranoside	P. spinosa L.	[32]
76	Kaempferol-3-O-rutinoside	P. spinosa L.	[21, 28]
77	Kaempterol-3- <i>O</i> -α-L-arabinopyranoside-7- <i>O</i> -α-L- rhamnopyransoide	P. spinosa L.	[33]
78	5,4'-Dihydroxyflavone-7-O-α-D-glucoside	P. domestica L.	[59]
79	Kaempferol-hexoside	P. domestica L.	[28, 39]
80	Kaempterol-pentoside-rhamnoside	P. domestica L.	[28]

No.	Compounds	Sources	Ref.
81	Kaempferol-pentoside	P. domestica L.	[28]
82	Kaempferol-3-O-(4 ^{π̂} -O-β-D̂-glucopyranosyl)-α-L- rhamnopyransoide	P. spinosa L.	[32]
83	Kaempferol-3- O -($2^{\hat{n}}$ -E- p -conmaroyl)- α -L- arabinofuranoside-7- O - α -L-rhamnopyransoide	P. spinosa L.	[32, 33, 47]
84	Myricetin	P. salicina Lindl., P. domestica L.	[20, 35, 40, 48, 49]
85	Luteolin	P. spinosa L., P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[41, 50]
86	Luteolin-4'-O- α -D-glucoside	P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[50]
87	Prudomestin	P. domestica L.	[60]
88	3,5,7-Trihydroxy-4'-methoxyflavanone	P. domestica L.	[57]
89	Isorhamnetin-3-O-rutinoside	P. domestica L.	[24, 28, 35]
90	Isorhamnetin-3-O-glucoside	P. domestica L.	[24, 26]
91	Isorhamnetin-3-O-galactoside	P. domestica L.	[26]
92	Quercetin-4'-O- α -D-glucoside	P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[50]
93	Hesperetin	P. salicina Lindl.	[40]
94	Isosakuranetin	P. domestica L.	[60]
95	Dihydrokaempferide	P. domestica L.	[60]
96	Naringenin	P. domestica L.	[60]
97	3,5,7-Trihydroxy-8,4'-dimethoxyflavanone	P. domestica L.	[58, 60]
98	3,5,7-Trihydroxy-6,4'-dimethoxyflavanone	P. domestica L.	[59, 60]
99	5,7,4'-Trihydroxy-3-methoxyflavanone.	P. domestica L.	[60]
100	7,4'-Dimethylaromadendrin	P. domestica L.	[57]
101	5,7-Dihydroxy-4'-methoxy-dihydroflavonol	P. domestica L.	[57]
102	5,7-Dihydroxy-8,4'-dimeth-oxyllavonol	P. domestica L.	[57]
103	Dihydrokaempferol-3-O-α-L-rhamnoside	P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[56]
104	Dihydrokaempferol-3-O-α-D-glucoside	P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[56]
105	Prudomestiside A	P. domestica L.	[59]
106	Prudomestiside B	P. domestica L.	[59]
107	Purunuside A	P. domestica L.	[61]
108	Purunuside B	P. domestica L.	[61]
109	Purunuside C	P. domestica L.	[61]
110	Prunusins A	P. domestica L.	[58]
111	Prunusins B	P. domestica L.	[58]
112	Phloridzin	P. spinosa L., P. domestica L., P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[37]
113	5,2'-Dihydroxy-7,5'-dimethoxyflavanone	P. domestica L.	[59]

TABLE 1: Continued.

TABLE 2: Phenolic acids compounds isolated and identified from different Prunus species.

No.	Compounds	Sources	Ref.
114	Vanillic acid	P. spinosa L., P. domestica L., P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[37, 41, 49, 52, 53, 62, 63]
115	Protocatechuic acid	P. spinosa L., P. domestica L., P. spinosa L.	[6, 30, 39, 41, 42, 48, 52–54, 62]
116	p-Hydroxybenzoic acid	P. spinosa L., P. domestica L.	[41, 49, 53]
117	Vanillic acid- β -glucoside	P. domestica L.	[6, 36]
118	Vanillic acid-α-D-glucopyranoside	P. domestica L.	[52]
119	Gallic acid	P. spinosa L., P. domestica L., P. cerasifera Ehrh., P. spinosa L.	[19, 30, 37, 49, 50, 53, 54, 62]
120	Syringic acid	P. spinosa L., P. domestica L., P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[34, 37, 38, 41, 49, 53]
121	Caffeic acid	P. spinosa L., P. domestica L., P. cerasifera Ehrh., P. spinosa L.	[6, 8, 19, 20, 30, 32, 34, 37, 42, 48, 49, 51, 52, 54]
122	Caffeic acid methyl ester	P. domestica L.	[52, 63]

TABLE 2: Continued.

NI.	Common de	£	D-f
INO.	Compounds	Sources	Kel.
		P. spinosa L., P.	
123	Ferulic acid	domestica L., P.	[37, 48, 49, 62]
		cerasifera Ehrh.	
		P. spinosa L., P.	
124	<i>p</i> -Coumaric acid	domestica L., P.	[6, 8, 24, 32, 34, 37, 39, 41, 42, 49, 51, 52]
	Ĩ	cerasifera Ehrh.	
125	Cinnamic acid	P. domestica L.	[49]
126	Ferulic acid- <i>B</i> -D-glucopyranoside	P. domestica L	[52, 63]
127	Conjferine	P domestica I	[52, 63]
12/	Connernie	P salicina Lindl P	[52, 65]
128	3 O Caffeovlavinic acid (neochlorogenic acid)	domestica I D spinosa	[8 15 17 21 22 24 26 28 32 33 35 36 42 48 51 53 54]
120	5-0-Caneoyiquine acta (neochiorogenie acta)	uomestica E., 1. spinosa	[0, 13-17, 21, 22, 24-20, 20, 52, 55, 55, 50, 42, 40, 51, 55, 54]
		L. Detimer L. D	
129	4-O-Caffeoylquinic acid	P. spinosa L., P.	[21, 22, 24, 28, 32, 33, 35, 36, 42, 51–53]
	7	domestica L.	
		P. salicina Lindl., P.	
130	5-Q-Caffeovlquinic acid	domestica L., P.	[15 16 22 25 26 28 32 34-38 42 48 49 51-54 62 64]
100	o o canco/iquinic acia	cerasifera Ehrh., P.	[10, 10, 22, 20, 20, 20, 02, 01 00, 12, 10, 17, 01 01, 02, 01]
		spinosa L.	
131	3-O-Caffeoylquinic acid methyl ester	P. domestica L.	[36, 52, 63]
132	4-O-Caffeoylquinic acid methyl ester	P. domestica L.	[36, 52, 63]
133	5-O-Caffeoylquinic acid methyl ester	P. domestica L.	[36]
		P. spinosa L., P.	
134	3-O-Feruloylquinic acid	domestica L.	[21, 32, 33, 35, 36]
135	4-O-Ferulovlouinic acid	P. spinosa L.	[32]
		P spinosa I. P	[]
136	3-O-Coumaroylquinic acid	domestica L	[8, 15, 16, 21, 25, 28, 32, 33, 36, 53]
137	4-O-Comprovlauinic acid	P spinosa I	[32]
120	4-0-Comaroylquinic acid	D. spinosa L.	[32]
120	2 Commenced animic a sid weather actor	P. spinosa L.	[32]
139	5-Coumaroyiquinic acid metnyi ester	P. aomestica L.	[30]
140	Salicylic acid	P. domestica L.	[49]
141	2,3-Dimethylbenzoic acid	P. domestica L.	[38]
142	Shikimic acid	P. domestica L.	[39]
143	3-Caffeoylshikimic acid	P. domestica L.	[35, 36]
144	2-(3',4'-Dihydroxyphenyl)acetic acid	P. spinosa L.	[65]
145	Ellagic acid	P. domestica L.	[49]
146	3-(4'-Hydroxyphenyl)propionic acid	P. spinosa L.	[65]
147	3-(3',4'-Dihydroxyphenyl)propionic acid	P. spinosa L.	[65]
148	Caffeoyl hexoside	P. domestica L.	[39]
149	<i>p</i> -Coumaroyl-hexoside	P. domestica L.	[39]
150	3,4-Dihydroxybenzoyl-glucoses	P. domestica L.	[36]
151	Rosmarinic acid	P. domestica L.	[49]
152	Abscisic acid	P. domestica L.	[52, 66]
153	β -D-glusosvlabscisate	P. domestica L.	[52, 66]
	Rel-5-(1R.5S-dimethyl-3R.4R.8S-trihydroxy-7-		
154	α oxabicyclo (3 2 1)-oct-8-yl)-3-methyl-2Z 4E-	P domestica L	[52 66]
	pentadienoic acid	11 00000000 20	[02, 00]
	Rel_5_(1R 5S_dimethyl_3R 4R 8S_trihydroxy_7_		
155	$\alpha = 5^{-1}(10, 55^{-1}(10, 10^{-1}), 40^{-1}(10, 10^{-1}))$	D. domestica I	[52,66]
155	274E mente diemain and	F. domestica L.	[32, 00]
	ZZ,4E-pentadienoic acid		
	Kei-5-(35,85-dinydroxy-1K,55-dimethyl-7-oxa-		
156	6-oxobicyclo (3,2,1) oct- 8 -yl)- 3 -methyl- $2Z$, $4E$ -	P. domestica L.	[52, 66]
	pentadienoic acid		
	Rel-5-(3S,8S-dihydroxy-1R,5S-dimethyl-7-oxa-		
157	6-oxobicyclo s oct-8-yl)-3-methyl-2Z,4E-	P. domestica L.	[52, 66]
	pentadienoic acid-3'-O-α-D-glucopyranoside		
158	(6S,9R)-roseoside	P. domestica L.	[52, 66]

No.	Compounds	Sources	Ref.
159	p-Hydroxybenzaldebyde	P domestica I	[53]
160	p Hydroxybenzaidenyde Benzoic acid	D spinosa I D domestica I	[36 38 40 53 62]
161	Swingeldebyde	1. spinosu L., 1. uomestica L.	[50, 50, 49, 55, 62]
162	Hudrowy 4 methowshowshowshow	D. domestica L.	[30]
102	Tydroxy-4-methoxybenzaidenyde	P. aomestica L.	[30]
103		P. spinosa L., P. aomestica L.	[49, 55, 62]
164	Protocatechuic aldehyde	P. spinosa L.	[62]
165	Coniferyl aldehyde	P. domestica L.	[53]
166	Dimethoxycinnamaldehyde	P. domestica L.	[53]
167	Amvødalin	P. cerasifera Ehrh. P. domestica	[53 67]
107		L.	[00, 0,]
168	Prunasin	P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[67]
169	Sambunigrin	P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[67]
170	Coniferyl aldehyde	P. domestica L.	[52]
171	Pinoresinol-O-α-D-glucopyranoside	P. domestica L.	[52]
172	Guajacyl-glycerin-coniferyl aldehyde-1	P. domestica L.	[53]
173	Guajacyl-glycerin-coniferyl aldehyde-2	P. domestica L.	[53]
174	Dehydro-diconiferyl aldehyde	P. domestica L.	[53]
		P. spinosa L., P. domestica L., P.	[]
175	Fumaric acid	cerasifera Ehrh.	[37]
1=4		P. spinosa L., P. domestica L., P.	[27]
176	Malic acid	cerasifera Ehrh.	[37]
		P. spinosa L., P. domestica L., P.	1 - 1
177	Succinic acid	cerasifera Ehrh	[37]
		P. spinosa L., P. domestica L., P.	
178	Citric acid	cerasifera Ehrh	[37]
		P spinosa I P domestica I P	
179	Vitamin C	cerasifera Fhrh	[37]
	2 (5 Hydrovymethyl 2'5' diaxo $2'2'4'5'$ totrohydro 1'H 12' hinyrrolo)	cerusijeru Entri.	
180	2-(5-11ydroxymetriyi-2, 5-drox0-2, 5, 4, 5-tetranydro-111-1,5-olpyfroie)-	P. domestica L.	[52]
101	Hudrovumethulfurfurel	D. domestica I	[52]
101	Donrul <i>Q</i> primerroride	F. domestica L.	[52]
102	Vanillin dielusoside	F. domestica L.	[52, 05]
103		P. domestica L.	[55]
184	4-Amino-4-carboxychroman-2-one	P. aomestica L.	[6]
185	β -Sitosterol	P. aomestica L., P. cerasijera Fhrh	[50, 61]
186	Daucosterol	D cerasifera Fhrh	[50]
100	Daucosterol	F. Cerusijeru Enin. D. conceifona Eluda	[50]
10/	Stignasteron Urgalia agid	F. cerusijeru Ehin. D. congoifong Ehnh	[50]
100		P. cerusijeru Ehrn.	[50]
189	Arjunolic acid	P. cerasifera Enrn.	[50]
190	Niga-icnigoside F1	P. cerasifera Enrn.	[50]
191	Lupeol	P. cerasifera Ehrh.	[50]
192	3-(α-D-glucopyranosyloxymethyl)-2-(4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)-5-(3- hydroxypropyl)-7-methoxy-(2R.3S)-dihydrobenzofuran	P. domestica L.	[52, 66]
193	5-Hydroxy-6-methoxy-7- O - β -D-glucosyl coumarin	P. spinosa L.	[30, 31]
194	5-Hydroxy-6-methoxy-7- Ω - α -D-rhamnosyl coumarin	P. spinosa L.	[30]
195	5.7-Dimethoxy-6-hydroxy-coumarin	P. domestica L	[57, 68]
196	7-Methocycoumarin	P. domestica L	[42]
197	Esculin	P. domestica L.	[36]
198	Scopolin	P domestica L	[69]
199	Scopoletin	P domestica L	$\begin{bmatrix} 52 & 63 & 70 \end{bmatrix}$
200	Magnolioside	P domestica I	[52, 63]
201	6.7-Methylenedioxy-8-methoxycoumarin	P domestica I	[61]
202	$(3-\Omega-cis-p-\Omega)$ and $(3-\Omega-cis-p-\Omega)$ and $(3-\Omega-cis-p-\Omega)$ and $(3-\Omega-cis-p-\Omega)$	P domestica I	[69]
202	(3-0- <i>trans</i> -p-Coumaroy1-a-D-fructofuranosy1)-(2 - 1)-a-D-glucopyranoside	P. domestica I	[69]
203	2.7 Dimethyl 2F 4F actadianadiaic acid	D. domestica I	[60]
204	a D Chiconyranogyl 7 carboyy2 mothyl 2E 4E actadionate	D. domestica I	[69]
205	α -D-Glucopyranosyl /-carboxy2-intentyi-2E,4E-Octautenate 1S-(4- α -D-glucopyranosyl-3-methoxyphenyl)-2R-[4-(3-hydroxypropyl)-2-	P. uomesticu L.	[09]
206	methovyphenovy]_1_3_propagedial	P. domestica L.	[69]
207	a-D-glucopyranosyl 9-carboyy-&-bydroyy-7-dimethyl-2FAF-popadiapate	P domestica I	[69]
<u>~</u> 0/	8-Hydroxy-27-dimethyl-2F 4F-decadienedioic acid 1 a D aluconyranyl actor 10	1. uomesneu L.	[07]
208	0-11ytroxy-2,7-timetiny1-22,42-ticeatienetiole actu 1-a-D-giucopyrallyl ester 10- Methyl ester	P. domestica L.	[69]
200	a-D-aluconvranosvi cinnamate	P domestica I	[60]
207 210	() Dibudrodobudrodi coniforni alcohol	D. domestica I	[07]
21U 211		F. UUMESILU L. D. domestica I	[/0] [70]
211	$(F) = 2^{1} \dim \operatorname{ath} \operatorname{aux} A^{1} \dim \operatorname{ath} \operatorname{aux} A^{2} = 0$	F. UOMESIICA L. D. domestica I	[/U] [70]
212	(E)-3, 3 -aimetnoxy -4,4 -ainyaroxystildene	P. uomestica L.	[/0]

TABLE 3: Others compounds isolated and identified from different Prunus.



- $1 R_1 = Gal; R_2 = H$ $2 R_1 = glucosyl; R_2 = H$ 3 $R_1 = \alpha$ -L-rhamnosyl- β -D-glucose; $R_2 = H$ 4 $R_1 = \alpha$ ectylglucosyl; $R_2 = H$ $5 R_1 = Xyl; R_2 = H$ 6 R₁ = pentosyl; R₂ = H
- 7 $R_1 = \alpha$ -L-rhamnosyl- β -D-glucose; $R_2 = CH_3$ $8 R_1 = \text{glucosyl}; R_2 = CH_3$
- 9 R_1 = acetylglucosyl; R_2 = CH_3



18

R₁O

OR₄

`'''''0

OR₃

 $\begin{array}{l} 25 \ R_1 - 11, \ R_2 - 11, \ R_3 - 11, \ R_4 - 11, \ R_5 - 011 \\ 26 \ R_1 - C \ H_3; \ R_2 - R \ H_3; \ R_3 - R_3; \ R_4 - C \ H_3; \ R_5 - 0C \ H_3 \\ 27 \ R_1 - C \ H_3; \ R_2 - A \ C; \ R_3 - A \ C; \ R_4 - C \ H_3; \ R_5 - 0C \ H_3 \\ 28 \ R_1 - A \ C; \ R_2 - A \ C; \ R_3 - A \ C; \ R_4 - C \ H_3; \ R_5 - 0A \ C \ H_3 \\ \end{array}$

OR₃

''ı,

0

23 R₁ = H; R₂ = H; R₃ = H; R₄ = H; R₅ = H

24 R₁ = CH₃; R₂ = H; R₃ = H; R₄ = H; R₅ = H

25 $R_1 = H$; $R_2 = H$; $R_3 = H$; $R_4 = H$; $R_5 = OH$

OR₂

R

 R_1O

OR₁

OR₁

ОН HO R_4 'R₁ \tilde{R}_2 ÓН

 $R_1 = H; R_2 = OH; R_3 = H; R_4 = H$ $R_1 = OH; R_2 = H; R_3 = H; R_4 = H$ 12 $R_1 = H; R_2 = OH; R_3 = OH; R_4 = H$ $R_1 = OH; R_2 = H; R_3 = OH; R_4 = H$ $14 R_1 = OH; R_2 = H; R_3 = OH; R_4 = OH$ 15 R₁ = H; R₂ = OH; R₃ = OH; R₄ = OH



19 R₁ = H; R₂ = H $20 R_1 = CH_3; R_2 = Ac$



29 R₁ = H; R₂ = H; R₃ = H; R₄ = OH $30 R_1 = CH_3; R_2 = Ac; R_3 = Ac; R_4 = H$ 31 $R_1 = Ac; R_2 = Ac; R_3 = Ac; R_4 = H$ $32 R_1 = CH_3; R_2 = Ac; R_3 = Ac; R_4 = OCH_3$ $\begin{array}{l} 12 \quad X_1 - OCH_3, \ X_2 - AC; \ R_3 - AC; \ R_4 - OCH_3 \\ 33 \quad R_1 = AC; \ R_2 = AC; \ R_3 = AC; \ R_4 = OAC \\ 34 \quad R_1 = CH_3; \ R_2 = CH_3; \ R_3 = AC; \ R_4 = OCH_3 \\ 35 \quad R_1 = CH_3; \ R_2 = AC; \ R_3 = AC; \ R_4 = OCH_3 \end{array}$





22





FIGURE 1: Continued.



38 $R_1 = H; R_2 = H$ 39 R₁ = Ac; R₂ = Ac



ÓН Ö $R_1 = OH; R_2 = OH$ $R_1 = \alpha$ -D-Glu; $R_2 = OH$ $R_1 = Xyl; R_2 = OH$ R_1 = arabinoside; R_2 = OH $R_1 = O - \beta - D - Gal; R_2 = OH$ $R_1 = O - \alpha - D - Xyl; R_2 = OH$ $R_1 = \beta$ -D-Glu; $R_2 = OH$

HO

ÓН

ÓН

HO

но



- 66 R₁ = β -D-Glu; R₂ = OH
- 67 R₁ = α -L-rhamnopyranosyl; R₂ = rhamnopyranosyl
- 68 R₁ = OH; R₂ = α -L-rhamnopyranosyl
- 69 R₁ = α -L-arabinofuranose; R₂ = α -L-rhamnopyranosyl
- 70 $R_1 = \alpha$ -L-arabinofuranose; $R_2 = OH$
- 71 R₁ = arabinofuranose; R₂ = rhamnopyranosyl
- 72 $R_1 = O \beta D$ -xylopyranose; $R_2 = \alpha L$ -rhamnopyranosyl
- 73 $R_1 = O \beta D$ -xylopyranose; $R_2 = OH$
- 74 R₁ = α -L-rhamnopyranosyl; R₂ = OH
- 75 $R_1 = 2''$ -E-p-conmaroyl- α -L-arabinofuranose; $R_2 = OH$
- 76 R₁ = α -L-rhamnosyl- β -D-glucose; R₂ = OH
- 77 $R_1 = \alpha$ -L-arabinofuranose; $R_2 = \alpha$ -L-rhamnopyranosyl
- 78 $R_1 = H; R_2 = \beta$ -D-Glu
- 79 R_1 = hexosyl; R_2 = OH
- 80 R₁ = pentosyl-rhamnopyranosyl; R₂ = OH
- 81 R_1 = pentosyl; R_2 = OH
- 82 R₁ = 4^{*''*}- β -D-glucopyrnosyl- α -L-rhamnopyrnosyl; R₂ = OH
- 83 $R_1 = 2''$ -E-p-conmaroyl- α -L-arabinofuranose; $R_2 = \alpha$ -L-rhamnopyrnosyl



OH

OH

OH

(extension unit)



 $R_1 = O-L$ -arabinofuranose; $R_2 = OH$ 45 R₁ = α -L-rhamnosyl- β -D-glucose; R₂ = OH 49 R₁ = α -L-rhamnopyranosyl; R₂ = OH 50 R₁ = OH; R₂ = α -L-rhamnopyranosyl R_1 = pentosyl; R_2 = OH 55 R_1 = pentosyl- α -L-rhamnopyranosyl; R_2 = OH $R_1 = pentosylhexoside; R_2 = OH$ R_1 = pentosyl-pentosyl; R_2 = OH R_1 = acetylhexoside; R_2 = OH R_1 = deoxylhexoside; R_2 = OH 60 R₁ = 4"- β -D-glucopyrnosyl- α -L-rhamnopyrnosyl; R₂ = OH $R_1 = 6'' - \alpha$ -L-rhamnopyrnosyl- β -D-glucopyrnosyl; $R_2 = OH$ $R_1^{'} = 2'' - \beta$ -D-glucopyrnosyl- α -L-arabinofuranose; $R_2^{'} = OH$ 63 R₁ = β -D-galactopyranosyloxy; R₂ = OH





41

 $\mathrm{R}_1=\mathrm{OH};\,\mathrm{R}_2=\mathrm{H};\,\mathrm{R}_3=\mathrm{OH};\,\mathrm{R}_4=\mathrm{OH};\,\mathrm{R}_5=\mathrm{OH}$ $R_1 = H; R_2 = H; R_3 = OH; R_4 = OH; R_5 = H$ 86 $R_1 = H; R_2 = H; R_3 = OH; R_4 = b-D-Glu; R_5 = H$ $R_1 = OH; R_2 = OCH_3; R_3 = H; R_4 = OCH_3; R_5 = H$ $R_4 = OH; R_5 = H$ 90 $R_1 = O-Glu; R_2 = H; R_3 = OCH_3; R_4 = OH; R_5 = H$ $R_1 = O$ -Gal; $R_2 = H$; $R_3 = OCH_3$; $R_4 = OH$; $R_5 = H$ $R_1 = OH; R_2 = H; R_3 = OH; R_4 = \beta - D - Glu; R_5 = H$



 $\mathrm{R}_1=\mathrm{H};\,\mathrm{R}_2=\mathrm{H};\,\mathrm{R}_3=\mathrm{H};\,\mathrm{R}_4=\mathrm{OH};\,\mathrm{R}_5=\mathrm{OCH}_3$ $R_1 = H; R_2 = H; R_3 = H; R_4 = H; R_5 = OCH_3$ $R_1 = OH; R_2 = H; R_3 = H; R_4 = H; R_5 = OCH_3$ 96 R₁ = H; R₂ = H; R₃ = H; R₄ = H; R₅ = OH $R_1 = OH; R_2 = H; R_3 = OCH_3; R_4 = H; R_5 = OCH_3$ $R_1 = OH; R_2 = OCH_3; R_3 = H; R_4 = H; R_5 = OCH_3$ $R_1 = OCH_3$; $R_2 = H$; $R_3 = H$; $R_4 = H$; $R_5 = OH$ $\ddot{R}_1 = OCH_3$; $\ddot{R}_2 = H$; $\ddot{R}_3 = H$; $\ddot{R}_4 = H$; $\ddot{R}_5 = OCH_3$ $R_1 = H; R_2 = H; R_3 = H; R_4 = H; R_5 = OCH_3$ 102 $R_1 = H; R_2 = H; R_3 = OCH_3; R_4 = H; R_5 = OCH_3$ 103 R₁ = O-a-L-Rha; R₂ = H; R₃ = H; R₄ = H; R₅ = OH $\mathbf{R}_1 = \mathbf{O} \cdot \boldsymbol{\beta} \cdot \mathbf{D} \cdot \mathbf{Glu}; \ \mathbf{R}_2 = \mathbf{H}; \ \mathbf{R}_3 = \mathbf{H}; \ \mathbf{R}_4 = \mathbf{H}; \ \mathbf{R}_5 = \mathbf{OH}$

(b) FIGURE 1: Continued.



FIGURE 1: Chemical structures of flavonoids from Prunus species.

all of which show high antioxidant activity [50, 75]. Excessive presence of various natural and edible pigments in leaves and branches of *P. cerasifera* make it more demanding in the world market, especially the anthocyanins rich in red edible pigments for beverage industry [29, 76–78].

3.2. Prunus domestica. The Cherry plum (Prunus domestica L., Rosaceae) is famous as "Mirabelle plum" or "Myrobalan," and its fruits display a huge variation in size, shape, taste, and appearance [24]. Fresh fruits of P. domestica are processed into dried functional food so that they keep its potential health effects shown by the presence of plenty of phenolics and antioxidants [54]. Prunus kernels which actually are the dried form of the fruits are achieved at 85-90°C for 18 hours [79] and have been utilized in medicine for centuries [63]. In different parts of the world, especially in Southeast Asia, prunes are being administered alone or in combination with other medicines to cure menstrual disorders, leucorrhoea, and debility after the miscarriage [80]. Moreover, plums have a laxative effect due to high fibre contents and higher phenolic contents [81, 82]. Certain studies reported that high phenolics may pose positive health effects on the

development and strengthening of bones and memory-related issues, reduce inflammations, release constipation, and scavenge ROS [83–87]. The higher antioxidant activity of extracts of *P. domestica* is mainly because of the presence of phenolic compounds, especially the isomers of caffeoylquinic acid [6, 63].

The oral administration of the *Prunus* fruit extracts (75, 100, 150 mg/kg) to male mice gave much higher learning and memory enhancement [88]. The chlorogenic acid isolated from *P. domestica* reduces the anxiolytic-like effect *in vitro* which is linked with anxiety behaviour and provides protection to granulocytes by avoiding ROS efflux [64]. The improvement of bone structure and its biomechanical properties is linked with the usage of higher doses of plums that downregulates the expression of TNF- α in lymphocytes [89], as well as retention of bone calcium ions [86].

The fruit flesh extract of *P. domestica* inhibited the cell proliferation of breast cancer cells (MCF-7, MDA-MB-453, and MCF-10A cell lines), as well as reduces the toxicity levels in the normal cells [84]. Furthermore, prunes are also found to reduce various other cancers such as colon cancer by inducing apoptosis without any harm to the normal neighbouring cells [90–92]. For human liver cancer cells



FIGURE 2: Chemical structures of phenolic acids from Prunus species.

(HepG2), prunes aid in atntiproliferation activity [90]. Moreover, the polyphenolics in prunes help in reduction in inflammatory markers such as Cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2) [92]. The fruit extract of dried plums have been reported to be rich in polyphenolic compounds and showed a huge reduction in the inflammatory markers such as nitric oxide and melondialdehyde production in a dose-dependent manner [93]. On the other hand, another class of phytocompounds reported in *P. domestica* is polysaccharides,

which reduces and completely inhibited gastric lesions in a rat model [94].

The fruit extracts of *P. domestica* showed positive results against peptic ulcer in Wistar albino rats, and it was said that due to the presence of higher amounts of polyphenolics in the fruit juices of plumes, it showed strong antioxidant potential which reduces the oxidative stress and engages various acids to neutralize the corrosive effects of various acids and, hence, appeared as antiulcerogenic [95]. Phenolic



⁽a) FIGURE 3: Continued.



FIGURE 3: Chemical structures of other compounds from Prunus species.

compounds reported in *P. domestica* minimized the H₂O₂induced oxidative stress through reducing the intracellular ROS accumulation in granulocytes [96]. Prunes are stated as highly useful to protect against cardiovascular disorders to regulate or modulate blood pressure, prevent atherosclerosis, and boost high-density lipoproteins (HDL) [97]. P. domestica fruit juice (juice concentrate + prune puree + water + 7% fructose) has laxative effects on bowel functions in individuals suffering gastrointestinal issues and increases flatulence [98]. In another study, P. domestica fruit extracts were studied for their antiallergic responses, and it was reported that it reduces the type-I allergic symptoms in mice by adjusting type-1 helper T-cell/type-2 helper T-cell balance and suppression of mast cell degranulation [99].

3.3. Prunus salicina Lindl. The oriental plum (Prunus salicina Lindley, Rosaceae), locally called as Chinese plum, is reported to be a rich source of various pigments such as anthocyanins and polyphenolic compounds. Foods enriched with polyphenolic compounds using oriental plum can improve the symptoms of neurodegenerative diseases by

reducing the brain cholesterol levels and upregulation of neurodegenerative-related proteins [100]. The crude extracts of the peels and flesh of *P. salicina* fruit prepared in acetone have strong anticancer properties as reported for inducing apoptosis in MDA-MB-231 cells [53, 101]. Moreover, *P. salicina* fruits are rich in phenolic antioxidants (82%), of which a nitrogenous compound amygdalin is in higher quantity, which is banned by the FDA as a cancer chemotherapeutic agent [53].

The *P. salicina* fruits extracts were prepared at various levels of fruit maturity, i.e., immature, partial-mature, and fully mature fruits, and these extracts showed strong anticancer potential against various cancer cell lines, viz. HepG2, Kato11, Hela, U937 lukaemia cells, MCF-7 cells, and MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cell lines [101]. The mechanism for this anticancer activity was due to the cytotoxic effects of the *P. salicina* fruit extracts containing polyphenolics that activate apoptotic pathway leading to the programmed cell death [101]. In another study, *P. salicina* fruit juices showed antiadipogenic effects and reduce inflammations, blood glucose levels, triglycerides, and high-density lipoproteins (HDL) cholesterol levels in obese rats [102]. The fruit extracts of *P. salicina* are rich bioactive compounds when mixed with the food supplements which help reduce mite allergic responses [99].

3.4. Prunus spinosa L. Blackthorn or sloe (Prunus spinosa L., Rosaceae) is widely cultivated throughout the world [103]. P. spinosa is resistant to cold, drought, and calcareous soils and represents one of the ancestors of P. domestica [104]. Like all other Chinese prunes, P. spinosa also bears strong biological constituents. Active components of the plant are believed to be polyphenols, including flavonoids and A-type proanthocyanidins, anthocyanins, coumarins, and phenolic acids, forming unique and diversified profiles in particular organs, among which the flowers are the least characterized [30, 33, 43, 47, 105-108]. The unique composition of phytochemicals in the P. spinosa plant may correspond to the distinctive activity profile reported by traditional Chinese medication systems. Other than traditional Chinese medicine, huge literature reports ethnomedicinal and ethnopharmacological uses of P. spinosa, which showed its potential benefits to cure various diseases [1, 32]. P. spinosa fruits and its juice could be considered as a valuable source of antioxidant compounds for nutritional supplementation, as well as of herbal medicine [18]. P. spinosa L. flowers are a traditional herbal medicine recommended for the adjunctive treatment of oxidative stress-related diseases [65].

4. Conclusions and Further Prospective

The major phytochemicals have been isolated from four Chinese plum species including polyphenols, flavonoids, and anthocyanins. There occur huge variations in the total phytochemicals contents in different species, which make these different species to have different biological activities in multiple disease conditions, and even the same variety growing under different edaphic conditions may have different antioxidant capacities. Moreover, 212 known compounds have been reported to be present in these four Chinese plum species, which are helpful to evade chronic oxidative stress-mediated diseases. Moreover, it is suggested to perform some extensive and in-depth studies to find new phytochemicals from these four Chinese plum species which could boost the local industry to fulfill the increasing demands.

Data Availability

No data were used to support this study.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

This research was funded by the Key Lab of Natural Product Chemistry and Application at Universities of Education Department of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region (2019YSHXZD02).

References

- V. Poonam, Raunak, G. Kumar et al., "Chemical constituents of the genus prunus and their medicinal properties," *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, vol. 18, no. 25, pp. 3758–3824, 2011.
- [2] E. O. Igwe and K. E. Charlton, "A systematic review on the health effects of plums (*Prunus domestica* and *Prunus salicina*)," *Phytotherapy Research*, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 701–731, 2016.
- [3] J. Fang, "Apigenin inhibits tumor angiogenesis through decreasing HIF-1α and VEGF expression," *Carcinogenesis*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 858–864, 2007.
- [4] Q. Zhou, B. Yan, X. Hu, X.-B. Li, J. Zhang, and J. Fang, "Luteolin inhibits invasion of prostate cancer PC3 cells through E-cadherin," *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, vol. 8, no. 6, pp. 1684–1691, 2009.
- [5] B. Fu, J. Xue, Z. Li, X. Shi, B.-H. Jiang, and J. Fang, "Chrysin inhibits expression of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 through reducing hypoxia-inducible factor-1 stability and inhibiting its protein synthesis," *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 220–226, 2007.
- [6] S.-i. Kayano, H. Kikuzaki, N. Fukutsuka, T. Mitani, and N. Nakatani, "Antioxidant activity of prune (*Prunus domestica* L.) constituents and a new synergist," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 50, no. 13, pp. 3708–3712, 2002.
- [7] H. J. Kim, M.-H. Yu, and I.-S. Lee, "Inhibitory effects of methanol extract of plum (*Prunus salicina* L., cv. 'Soldam') fruits against benzo(α)pyrene-induced toxicity in mice," *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, vol. 46, no. 11, pp. 3407–3413, 2008.
- [8] J. L. Donovan, A. S. Meyer, and A. L. Waterhouse, "Phenolic composition and antioxidant activity of prunes and prune juice (*Prunus domestica*)," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 46, no. 4, pp. 1247–1252, 1998.
- [9] N. Pellegrini, M. Serafini, S. Salvatore, D. Del Rio, M. Bianchi, and F. Brighenti, "Total antioxidant capacity of spices, dried fruits, nuts, pulses, cereals and sweets consumed in Italy assessed by three different in vitro assays," *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, vol. 50, no. 11, pp. 1030–1038, 2006.
- [10] W. Dröge, "Free radicals in the physiological control of cell function," *Physiological Reviews*, vol. 82, no. 1, pp. 47–95, 2002.
- [11] E. Niki, "Oxidative stress and antioxidants: distress or eustress?" Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, vol. 595, pp. 19–24, 2016.
- [12] Y. Peng, R. Gan, H. Li et al., "Absorption, metabolism, and bioactivity of vitexin: recent advances in understanding the efficacy of an important nutraceutical," *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, pp. 1–16, 2020.
- [13] Y. Wang, X. Chen, Y. Zhang, and X. Chen, "Antioxidant activities and major anthocyanins of myrobalan plum (*Prunus cerasifera* Ehrh.)," *Journal of Food Science*, vol. 77, no. 4, pp. C388–C393, 2012.
- [14] F.-F. Chen, J. Sang, Y. Zhang, and J. Sang, "Development of a green two-dimensional HPLC-DAD/ESI-MS method for the determination of anthocyanins from *Prunus cerasifera* var. atropurpurea leaf and improvement of their stability in energy drinks," *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, vol. 53, no. 6, pp. 1494–1502, 2018.

- [15] A. Venter, E. Joubert, and D. de Beer, "Characterisation of phenolic compounds in South African plum fruits (*Prunus salicina* Lindl.) using HPLC coupled with diode-array, fluorescence, mass spectrometry and on-Line antioxidant detection," *Molecules*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 5072–5090, 2013.
- [16] A. Venter, E. Joubert, and D. de Beer, "Nutraceutical value of yellow- and red-fleshed South African plums (*Prunus salicina* Lindl.): evaluation of total antioxidant capacity and phenolic composition," *Molecules*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 3084– 3109, 2014.
- [17] M. F. Basanta, A. Marin, S. A. De Leo et al., "Antioxidant Japanese plum (*Prunus salicina*) microparticles with potential for food preservation," *Journal of Functional Foods*, vol. 24, pp. 287–296, 2016.
- [18] D. Fraternale, "Prunus spinosa fresh fruit juice: antioxidant activity in cell-free and cellular systems," *Natural Product Communications*, vol. 4, no. 12, pp. 1665–1670, 2009.
- [19] B. María Ruiz-Rodríguez, B. de Ancos, C. Sánchez-Moreno et al., "Wild blackthorn (*Prunus spinosa* L.) and hawthorn (*Crataegus monogyna* Jacq.) fruits as valuable sources of antioxidants," *Fruits*, vol. 69, no. 1, pp. 61–73, 2014.
- [20] J. Velickovic, D. Kostic, G. Stojanovic et al., "Phenolic composition, antioxidant and antimicrobial activity of the extracts from *Prunus spinosa* L. fruit," *Chemical Industry*, vol. 68, no. 3, pp. 297–303, 2014.
- [21] S. Meschini, E. Pellegrini, M. Condello et al., "Cytotoxic and apoptotic activities of *Prunus spinosa* trigno ecotype extract on human cancer cells," *Molecules*, vol. 22, no. 9, p. 1578, 2017.
- [22] R. Slimestad, E. Vangdal, and C. Brede, "Analysis of phenolic compounds in six Norwegian plum cultivars (*Prunus* domestica L.)," Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, vol. 57, no. 23, pp. 11370–11375, 2009.
- [23] V. Usenik, F. Stampar, and R. Veberic, "Anthocyanins and fruit colour in plums (*Prunus domestica* L.) during ripening," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 114, no. 2, pp. 529–534, 2009.
- [24] D. Treutter, D. Wang, M. A. Farag, G. D. A. Baires, S. Rühmann, and M. Neumüller, "Diversity of phenolic profiles in the fruit skin of prunus domestica plums and related species," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 60, no. 48, pp. 12011–12019, 2012.
- [25] V. Usenik, F. Stampar, and D. Kastelec, "Phytochemicals in fruits of two *Prunus domestica* L. plum cultivars during ripening," *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, vol. 93, no. 3, pp. 681–692, 2013.
- [26] F. V. Dulf, D. C. Vodnar, and C. Socaciu, "Effects of solidstate fermentation with two filamentous fungi on the total phenolic contents, flavonoids, antioxidant activities and lipid fractions of plum fruit (*Prunus domestica* L.) by-products," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 209, pp. 27–36, 2016.
- [27] M. Turturica, "Effect of thermal treatment on phenolic compounds from plum (*Prunus domestica*) extracts-a kinetic study," *Journal of Food Engineering*, vol. 171, pp. 200–207, 2016.
- [28] E. Stierlin, S. Azoulay, L. Massi, X. Fernandez, and T. Michel, "Cosmetic potentials of *Prunus domestica* L. leaves," *Journal* of the Science of Food and Agriculture, vol. 98, no. 2, pp. 726–736, 2018.
- [29] W. Song, S.-T. Qin, F.-X. Fang et al., "Isolation and purification of condensed tannin from the leaves and branches of *Prunus cerasifera* and its structure and bioactivities," *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, vol. 185, no. 2, pp. 464–475, 2018.
- [30] R. Pinacho, R. Y. Cavero, I. Astiasarán, D. Ansorena, and M. I. Calvo, "Phenolic compounds of blackthorn (*Prunus*)

spinosa L.) and influence of in vitro digestion on their antioxidant capacity," *Journal of Functional Foods*, vol. 19, pp. 49–62, 2015.

- [31] A. C. Irizar, M. F. Fernandez, A. G. González, and A. G. Ravelo, "Constituents of *Prunus spinosa*," *Journal of Natural Products*, vol. 55, no. 4, pp. 450–454, 1992.
- [32] A. Marchelak, "Bioactivity potential of *Prunus spinosa* L. Flower extracts: phytochemical profiling, cellular safety, proinflammatory enzymes inhibition and protective effects against oxidative stress in vitro," *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, vol. 8, p. 680, 2017.
- [33] A. Owczarek, A. Magiera, M. Matczak, D. G. Piotrowska, M. A. Olszewska, and A. Marchelak, "Optimisation of preparative HPLC separation of four isomeric kaempferol diglycosides from *Prunus spinosa* L. by application of the response surface methodology," *Phytochemistry Letters*, vol. 20, pp. 415–424, 2017.
- [34] G. Ozkan, "Phenolic compounds, organic acids, vitamin c and antioxidant capacity in *Prunus spinosa*," *Comptes Rendus De L Academie Bulgare Des Sciences*, vol. 72, no. 2, pp. 267–273, 2019.
- [35] C. Nunes, S. Guyot, N. Marnet et al., "Characterization of plum procyanidins by thiolytic depolymerization," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 56, no. 13, pp. 5188– 5196, 2008.
- [36] R. Jaiswal, H. Karaköse, S. Rühmann et al., "Identification of phenolic compounds in plum fruits (*Prunus salicina* L. And *Prunus domestica* L.) by high-performance Liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry and characterization of varieties by quantitative phenolic fingerprints," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 61, no. 49, pp. 12020–12031, 2013.
- [37] F. Celik, M. Gundogdu, S. Alp et al., "Determination of phenolic compounds, antioxidant capacity and organic acids contents of *Prunus domestica* L., *Prunus cerasifera* Ehrh. and *Prunus spinosa* L. fruits by HPLC," *Acta Chromatographica*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 507–510, 2017.
- [38] A. Mocan, A. Diuzheva, S. Carradori et al., "Development of novel techniques to extract phenolic compounds from Romanian cultivars of *Prunus domestica* L. and their biological properties," *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, vol. 119, pp. 189–198, 2018.
- [39] M. Navarro, "Polyphenolic characterization and antioxidant activity of *Malus domestica* and *Prunus domestica* cultivars from Costa Rica," *Foods*, vol. 7, no. 15, pp. 1–19, 2018.
- [40] W.-S. Li, H.-B. Hu, Z.-H. Huang, R.-J. Yan, L.-W. Tian, and J. Wu, "Phomopsols A and B from the mangrove endophytic fungus phomopsis sp. xy21: structures, neuroprotective effects, and biogenetic relationships," *Organic Letters*, vol. 21, no. 19, pp. 7919–7922, 2019.
- [41] N. Baltas, "Biochemical properties of partially purified polyphenol oxidase and phenolic compounds of *Prunus spinosa* L. subsp dasyphylla as measured by HPLC-UV," *International Journal of Food Properties*, vol. 20, pp. 1377– 1391, 2017.
- [42] S.-i. Kayano, N. F. Yamada, T. Suzuki et al., "Quantitative evaluation of antioxidant components in prunes (*Prunus* domestica L.)," Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, vol. 51, no. 5, pp. 1480–1485, 2003.
- [43] H. Kolodziej, M. K. Sakar, J. F. W. Burger, R. Engelshowe, and D. Ferreira, "A-type proanthocyanidins from *Prunus* spinosa," *Phytochemistry*, vol. 30, no. 6, pp. 2041–2047, 1991.
- [44] A. G. Gonzalez, "Type a proanthocyanidins from *Prunus spinosa*," *Phytochemistry*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 1432–1434, 1992.

- [45] M. Alejandre, D. Ansorena, M. I. Calvo, R. Y. Cavero, and I. Astiasarán, "Influence of a gel emulsion containing microalgal oil and a blackthorn (*Prunus spinosa* L.) branch extract on the antioxidant capacity and acceptability of reduced-fat beef patties," *Meat Science*, vol. 148, pp. 219–222, 2019.
- [46] Y. Kimura, H. Ito, M. Kawaji, T. Ikami, and T. Hatano, "Characterization and antioxidative properties of oligomeric proanthocyanidin from prunes, dried fruit of *Prunus* domestica L." Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry, vol. 72, no. 6, pp. 1615–1618, 2008.
- [47] M. Olszewska and M. Wolbis, "Flavonoids from the leaves of *Prunus spinosa* L." *Polish Journal of Chemistry*, vol. 76, no. 7, pp. 967–974, 2002.
- [48] G. Lombardi-Boccia, M. Lucarini, S. Lanzi, A. Aguzzi, and M. Cappelloni, "Nutrients and antioxidant molecules in yellow plums (*Prunus domestica* L.) from conventional and organic productions: a comparative study," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 52, no. 1, pp. 90–94, 2004.
- [49] H. S. El-Beltagi, "Evaluation of the phytochemical, antioxidant, antibacterial and anticancer activity of prunus domestica fruit," *Notulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca*, vol. 47, no. 2, pp. 395–404, 2019.
- [50] W. Qiang, "Chemical constituents extracted from leaves of *Prunus cerasifera* Ehrh. cv.atropurpurea jacg. and their antioxidant activities in vitro," *Chemistry and Industry of Forest Products*, vol. 35, no. 5, pp. 116–122, 2015.
- [51] N. Nakatani, S.-i. Kayano, H. Kikuzaki, K. Sumino, K. Katagiri, and T. Mitani, "Identification, quantitative determination, and antioxidative activities of chlorogenic acid isomers in prune (*Prunus domestica L.*)," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 48, no. 11, pp. 5512–5516, 2000.
- [52] S. I. Kayano, "Antioxidant properties of prunes (*Prunus domestica* L.) and their constituents," *Biofactors*, vol. 21, no. 1–4, pp. 309–313, 2004.
- [53] F. Khallouki, R. Haubner, G. Erben, C. M. Ulrich, and R. W. Owen, "Phytochemical composition and antioxidant capacity of various botanical parts of the fruits of Prunus×domestica L. from the Lorraine region of Europe," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 133, no. 3, pp. 697–706, 2012.
- [54] N. Miletic, "Polyphenolic content and antioxidant capacity in fruits of plum (*Prunus domestica* L.) cultivars "valjevka" and "mildora" as influenced by air drying," *Journal of Food Quality*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 229–237, 2013.
- [55] M. Bose, "Identification of a flavonoid isolated from plum (*Prunus domestica*) as a potent inhibitor of Hepatitis C virus entry," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 7, p. 3965, 2017.
- [56] L. Wei, "Study on the flavonoids in the leaves of prunus cerasifera grown in Xinjiang," *Modern Food Science and Technology*, vol. 34, no. 9, pp. 269–273, 2018.
- [57] G. R. Nagarajan and T. R. Seshadri, "Flavonoid components of the heartwood of *Prunus domestica* linn," *Phytochemistry*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 477–484, 1964.
- [58] A. Mahmood, I. Fatima, S. Kosar, R. Ahmed, and A. Malik, "Structural determination of prunusins A and B, new C-alkylated flavonoids from *Prunus domestica*, by 1D and 2D NMR spectroscopy," *Magnetic Resonance in Chemistry: MRC*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 151–154, 2010.
- [59] S. Kosar, "Prudomestisides A and B, new flavonoidal glucosides from *Prunus domestica* and their antioxidant activity," *Journal of the Chemical Society of Pakistan*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 169–174, 2013.
- [60] V. S. Parmar, "Dihydroflavonols from Prunus domestica," Phytochemistry, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 2185-2186, 1992.

- [61] S. Kosar, I. Fatima, A. Mahmood et al., "Purunusides A-C, α-glucosidase inhibitory homoisoflavone glucosides from *Prunus domestica*," *Archives of Pharmacal Research*, vol. 32, no. 12, pp. 1705–1710, 2009.
- [62] R. Aliyazicioglu, O. Yildiz, H. Sahin et al., "Phenolic components and antioxidant activity of *Prunus spinosa* from gumushane, Turkey," *Chemistry of Natural Compounds*, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 346–349, 2015.
- [63] S.-i. Kayano, H. Kikuzaki, T. Ikami, T. Suzuki, T. Mitani, and N. Nakatani, "A new bipyrrole and some phenolic constituents in prunes (*Prunus domestica L.*) and their oxygen radical absorbance capacity (ORAC)," *Bioscience, Biotech*nology, and Biochemistry, vol. 68, no. 4, pp. 942–944, 2004.
- [64] J. Bouayed, "Chlorogenic acid, a polyphenol from *Prunus domestica* (Mirabelle), with coupled anxiolytic and antioxidant effects," *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, vol. 262, no. 1-2, pp. 77–84, 2007.
- [65] A. Marchelak, A. Owczarek, M. Rutkowska et al., "New insights into antioxidant activity of *Prunus spinosa* flowers: extracts, model polyphenols and their phenolic metabolites in plasma towards multiple in vivo-relevant oxidants," *Phytochemistry Letters*, vol. 30, pp. 288–295, 2019.
- [66] H. Kikuzaki, S.-i. Kayano, N. Fukutsuka et al., "Abscisic acid related compounds and lignans in prunes (*Prunus domestica* L.) and their oxygen radical absorbance capacity (ORAC)," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 52, no. 2, pp. 344–349, 2004.
- [67] Y. Kumarasamy, P. J. Cox, M. Jaspars, L. Nahar, and S. D. Sarker, "Cyanogenic glycosids from *Prunus spinosa* (Rosaceae)," *Biochemical Systematics and Ecology*, vol. 31, no. 9, pp. 1063–1065, 2003.
- [68] G. R. Nagarajan and V. S. Parmar, "Phloracetophenone derivatives in *Prunus domestica*," *Phytochemistry*, vol. 16, no. 5, pp. 614-615, 1977.
- [69] S.-i. Kayano, H. Kikuzaki, S. Hashimoto, K. Kasamatsu, T. Ikami, and N. Nakatani, "Glucosyl terpenates from the dried fruits of *Prunus domestica* L," *Phytochemistry Letters*, vol. 8, pp. 132–136, 2014.
- [70] X. Qiao-Lin, X. Hai-hui, and Y. Masayuki, "Chemical constituents from the seeds of prunus domestica L," *Journal* of Tropical and Subtropical Botany, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 299– 302, 2012.
- [71] P. Birwal, "Plums: a brief introduction," Journal of Food, Nutrition and Population Health, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 1–5, 2017.
- [72] S. B. Jaffri and K. S. Ahmad, "Prunus cerasifera Ehrh. fabricated ZnO nano falcates and its photocatalytic and dose dependent in vitro bio-activity," *Open Chemistry*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 141–154, 2018.
- [73] K. Gündüz and O. Saraçoğlu, "Variation in total phenolic content and antioxidant activity of *Prunus cerasifera* Ehrh. selections from Mediterranean region of Turkey," *Scientia Horticulturae*, vol. 134, pp. 88–92, 2012.
- [74] N. Miletic, "Phenolic content and antioxidant capacity of fruits of plum cv.'Stanley'('*Prunus domestica*'L.) as influenced by maturity stage and on-tree ripening," *Australian Journal of Crop Science*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 681–687, 2012.
- [75] Y. Hu, J. Meng, and B. Hu, "Research of antioxidant activity and stability of the extract from *Pranus cerasifera* Ehrh. Cv. Atropurpurea leaves," *Food Science*, vol. 23, pp. 274–276, 2002.
- [76] B. Zhang, Q. Liu, and H. Zhanf, "Optimization of the ultrasonic extraction of anthocyanins from *Prunus cerasifera* leares," *Journal of Shanghai Jiaotong University-Agricultural Science*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 41–47, 2013.

- [77] M. Hou, Y. Sun, and H. Yu, "Extraction and stability of red pigments from *Pranus cerasifera* Ehrh. leaves," *Science & Technology Information*, vol. 13, p. 31, 2011.
- [78] Y. Gao, "Chromogenic pigments in Prunus cerasifera leaves," Journal of Zhejiang A&F University, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 481– 487, 2014.
- [79] M. Norton, Growing Prunes (Dried Plums) in California: An Overview, UCANR Publications, Davis, CA, USA, 2007.
- [80] R. N. Chopra, S. L. Nayar, and I. C. Chopra, *Glossary of Indian Medicinal Plants*, vol. 1, Council of Scientific & Industrial Research, New Delhi, India, 1956.
- [81] M. Stacewicz-Sapuntzakis, P. E. Bowen, E. A. Hussain, B. I. Damayanti-Wood, and N. R. Farnsworth, "Chemical composition and potential health effects of *Prunes*: a functional food?" *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 251–286, 2001.
- [82] L. F. Tinker, B. O. Schneeman, P. A. Davis, D. D. Gallaher, and C. R. Waggoner, "Consumption of prunes as a source of dietary fiber in men with mild hypercholesterolemia," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 53, no. 5, pp. 1259–1265, 1991.
- [83] M. H. Yu, H. G. Im, H.-I. Kim, and I.-S. Lee, "Induction of apoptosis by immature plum in human hepatocellular carcinoma," *Journal of Medicinal Food*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 518–527, 2009.
- [84] G. Noratto, W. Porter, D. Byrne, and L. Cisneros-Zevallos, "Identifying peach and plum polyphenols with chemopreventive potential against estrogen-independent breast cancer cells," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 57, no. 12, pp. 5219–5226, 2009.
- [85] M. Franklin, S. Y. Bu, M. R. Lerner et al., "Dried plum prevents bone loss in a male osteoporosis model via IGF-I and the RANK pathway," *Bone*, vol. 39, no. 6, pp. 1331–1342, 2006.
- [86] J. W. Pawlowski, B. R. Martin, G. P. McCabe, M. G. Ferruzzi, and C. M. Weaver, "Plum and soy aglycon extracts superior at increasing bone calcium retention in ovariectomized Sprague Dawley rats," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 62, no. 26, pp. 6108–6117, 2014.
- [87] B. Shukitt-Hale, W. Kalt, A. N. Carey, M. Vinqvist-Tymchuk, J. McDonald, and J. A. Joseph, "Plum juice, but not dried plum powder, is effective in mitigating cognitive deficits in aged rats," *Nutrition*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 567–573, 2009.
- [88] S. Shahidi, S. Setareye, and M. Mahmoodi, "Effect of Prunus domestica L. (mirabelle) on learning and memory in mice," Ancient Science of Life, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 139–143, 2013.
- [89] E. Rendina, Y. F. Lim, D. Marlow et al., "Dietary supplementation with dried plum prevents ovariectomy-induced bone loss while modulating the immune response in C57BL/ 6J mice," *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 60–68, 2012.
- [90] L. K. Kim DO, O. K. Chun, H. J. Leer, and C. Y. Lee, "Antiproliferative activity of polyphenolics in plums," *Food Science and Biotechnology*, vol. 12, pp. 399–402, 2003.
- [91] T. Fujii, T. Ikami, J.-W. Xu, and K. Ikeda, "Prune extract (*Prunus domestica* L.) suppresses the proliferation and induces the apoptosis of human colon carcinoma Caco-2," *Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology*, vol. 52, no. 5, pp. 389–391, 2006.
- [92] M. A. Lea, "Inhibition of growth and induction of differentiation of colon cancer cells by peach and plum phenolic compounds," *Anticancer Research*, vol. 28, no. 4B, pp. 2067–2076, 2008.
- [93] S. Hooshmand, A. Kumar, J. Y. Zhang, S. A. Johnson, S. C. Chai, and B. H. Arjmandi, "Evidence for anti-

inflammatory and antioxidative properties of dried plum polyphenols in macrophage RAW 264.7 cells," *Food & Function*, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 1719–1725, 2015.

- [94] T. M. Cantu-Jungles, D. Maria-Ferreira, L. M. da Silva et al., "Polysaccharides from prunes: gastroprotective activity and structural elucidation of bioactive pectins," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 146, pp. 492–499, 2014.
- [95] N. Mishra, N. S. Gill, A. Mishra, S. Mishra, A. Shukla, and A. Upadhayay, "Evaluation of antioxidant and antiulcer potentials of *Prunus domestica* fruit methanolic and extract on wistar albino rats," *Journal of Pharmacology and Toxicology*, vol. 7, no. 6, pp. 305–311, 2012.
- [96] J. Bouayed, H. Rammal, A. Dicko, C. Younos, and R. Soulimani, "The antioxidant effect of plums and polyphenolic compounds against H₂O₂-induced oxidative stress in mouse blood granulocytes," *Journal of Medicinal Food*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 861–868, 2009.
- [97] T. Ahmed, "Use of prunes as a control of hypertension," *Journal of Ayub Medical College Abbottabad*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 28–31, 2010.
- [98] L. Piirainen, K. Peuhkuri, K. Bäckström, R. Korpela, and S. Salminen, "Prune juice has a mild laxative effect in adults with certain gastrointestinal symptoms," *Nutrition Research*, vol. 27, no. 8, pp. 511–513, 2007.
- [99] K. Karasawa, R. Miyashita, and H. Otani, "Anti-allergic properties of a fruit extract of prune (*Prunus domestica* L.) in mite-sensitized BALB/c mice," *Food Science and Technology Research*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 755–760, 2012.
- [100] P.-H. Kuo, C.-I. Lin, Y.-H. Chen, W.-C. Chiu, and S.-H. Lin, "A high-cholesterol diet enriched with polyphenols from Oriental plums (*Prunus salicina*) improves cognitive function and lowers brain cholesterol levels and neurodegenerative-related protein expression in mice," *British Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 113, no. 10, pp. 1550–1557, 2015.
- [101] M. Hee Yu, H. Gwon Im, S.-O. Lee, C. Sung, D.-C. Park, and I.-S. Lee, "Induction of apoptosis by immature fruits of *Prunus salicina* Lindl. cv. Soldam in MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells," *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, vol. 58, no. 1, pp. 42–53, 2007.
- [102] G. Noratto, H. S. D. Martino, S. Simbo, D. Byrne, and S. U. Mertens-Talcott, "Consumption of polyphenol-rich peach and plum juice prevents risk factors for obesity-related metabolic disorders and cardiovascular disease in Zucker rats," *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 633–641, 2015.
- [103] T. Tutin, 1980: Flora Europaea, University Press, Cambridge, UK, 1964.
- [104] A. Mohanty, J. P. Martín, and I. Aguinagalde, "Population genetic analysis of European Prunus spinosa (Rosaceae) using chloroplast DNA markers," *American Journal of Botany*, vol. 89, no. 8, pp. 1223–1228, 2002.
- [105] M. Sakar and H. Kolodziej, "Flavonoid glycosides from the flowers of *Prunus spinosa*," *Fitoterapia*, vol. 64, no. 2, pp. 180-181, 1993.
- [106] M. Olszewska and M. Wolbis, "Flavonoids from the flowers of *Prunus spinosa* L," *Acta Poloniae Pharmaceutica*, vol. 58, no. 5, pp. 367–372, 2001.
- [107] M. Olszewska and M. Wolbiś, "Further flavonoids from the flowers of *Prunus spinosa* L," *Acta Poloniae Pharmaceutica*, vol. 59, no. 2, pp. 133–137, 2002.
- [108] R. Guimarães, L. Barros, M. Dueñas et al., "Characterisation of phenolic compounds in wild fruits from Northeastern Portugal," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 141, no. 4, pp. 3721–3730, 2013.



Research Article

Effects of Bitter Melon Saponin on the Glucose and Lipid Metabolism in HepG2 Cell and *C. elegans*

Juan Bai,¹ Ying Zhu,¹ Jie Li¹,¹ Yi Zhang,¹ Ying Dong,¹ and Xiang Xiao^{1,2}

¹School of Food and Biological Engineering, Jiangsu University, Zhenjiang 212013, China ²Jiangsu Jiangnan Biotechnology Co. Ltd., Zhenjiang 212013, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Xiang Xiao; xiaoxiang1@aliyun.com

Received 20 May 2020; Revised 30 May 2020; Accepted 5 June 2020; Published 24 June 2020

Academic Editor: Quancai Sun

Copyright © 2020 Juan Bai et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

This study tried to explore how saponins from bitter melon (BMS) affect the glucose and lipid metabolism in palmitic acid-treated HepG2 cell and glucose-treated *Caenorhabditis elegans* (*C. elegans*). Results showed that BMS could effectively accelerate glucose consumption and elevate the levels of glycogen and ATP in palmitic acid-treated HepG2 cell, while significantly decreasing the triglyceride (TG) content. qRT-PCR data indicated that BMS might promote fatty acid β -oxidation by AMPK-ACC2-CPT1 pathway and glucose uptake by upregulating GLUT4 expression. In the model of glucose-treated *C. elegans*, we observed that BMS obviously inhibited fat accumulation, along with no toxicity towards some physical activities. The potential mechanism of BMS in the metabolism involved the suppression of synthesis of polyunsaturated fatty acids and enhancement of fatty acid β -oxidation. Taken together, BMS exhibited ability of regulating energy metabolism in HepG2 cell line and *C. elegans*.

1. Introduction

In the last few decades, obesity and its related metabolic disorders have emerged as public health issues worldwide [1]. Obesity is developed with the evidence of body weight gain, insulin resistance, hyperlipaemia, and so on, increasing the risk of II type diabetes, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, and some other metabolic syndromes [2]. Nowadays, much attention has been paid to some natural nutrients to early intervene the obesity. Bitter melon (Momordica charantia L.) is commonly used as a medicinal and edible plant for disease prevention, particularly obesity and diabetes [3]. Saponin is one of the main active components in bitter melon, whose structure consists of triterpenes and steroids [4]. Large amounts of mechanism studies have shown that the saponins of bitter gourd have physiological activities such as lowering blood glucose and improving insulin resistance, which are recognized as insulin-like [5, 6]. What is more, the fat-lowering effect of BMS is another bioactivity, which interacts with the glucose metabolism to improve the insulin resistance. In vitro study suggested bitter melon triterpenoid reduced preadipocyte viability and lipid accumulation by downregulating PPAR γ in 3T3-L1 cells [7]; *in vivo* study reported that saponin extract from bitter melon significantly suppressed body weight gain and visceral fat accumulation in the PPAR α - and PPAR γ -mediated pathways in obese mice [8].

Caenorhabditis elegans (*C. elegans*, also referred to as 'nematode' hereinafter), is a whole-system organism for the evaluation and mechanism study of toxicity or bioactivity. Recently, *C. elegans* has become an excellent model for studying the mechanism of lipid metabolism due to its high homology to mammals and rich genes-deficient mutants [9]. Lipid metabolism includes fatty acid synthesis, oxidation, unsaturation, and elongation, which are deeply evolution-arily conserved in *C. elegans* to the mammals. Additionally, in the obese, liver is one of the important insulin-sensitive tissues and HepG2 cell line is commonly applied to study the lipid metabolism in hepatic function by stimulation with fatty acids.

Therefore, this study aimed to figure out the impacts of BMS on ameliorating insulin sensitivity and fat deposition in hepatic cell. Based on this, we further confirm the fat-lowering effects of BMS in *C. elegans* and preliminarily

reveal the potential mechanism in the models we used in this current study.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Materials and Chemicals. Fresh bitter melons were collected from Lyjian Agricultural Station (Yangzhong City, China) and authenticated by Jiangsu Academy of Agricultural Science. HepG2 cell was purchased from Shanghai institute of biochemistry and cell biology. Escherichia coli OP50 and N2 strain of C. elegans was obtained from Caenorhabditis Genetics Center, University of Minnesota, USA. Fetal bovine serum and Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) were purchased from GIBCO Company, USA. Metformin and palmitic acid were bought from Sigma, USA. MTT assay, Oil Red O staining assay, glucose and glycogen contents determination, ATP and TG contents determination, and protein assay kits were purchased from Nanjing Jiancheng Bioengineering Institute, China. TaKaRa MiniBEST Universal RNA extraction kit, PrimeScript™ RT Master Mix kit, and SYBR Premix Ex Taq™ kit were purchased from Takara Bio Company, Japan. All primers were purchased from Sangon Biotech Company, China. All of the other reagents and solvents were purchased from Sinopharm Chemical Reagent Co. Ltd., China and were of either analytical or chromatographic grade.

2.2. BMS Preparation. Unripe bitter melons were washed thoroughly in water and the seeds were removed. Then, the pulp was thinly sliced, freeze-dried, and milled (diameter < $100 \,\mu$ m). Bitter melon powder was added with 75% ethanol for reflux extraction twice at 80°C, and the filtrate was collected. Then, n-butanol saturated with water was applied to extract from the filtrate for 3 times until the

concentrated n-butanol phase was brown and sticky. Methanol and acetone were added to produce precipitation, which then was frozen as the BMS.

2.3. HepG2 Cell Culture and HepG2-IR Cell Model. The cells were cultured in monolayers up to 80% confluence in DMEM supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal calf serum and 1% penicillin/streptomycin at 37° C in a humidified incubator supplied with 5% CO₂. Cells in the logarithmic growth phase were used for all the studies described below.

For model of insulin resistance (IR), the supernatant of HepG2 cells inoculated in 96 plates was discarded and replaced with serum-free DMEM medium for 12 hours to keep fasting. Then, the supernatant was discarded, washed twice with PBS, and added with serum-free culture medium containing palmitic acid (the final concentration was 0.25 mM) for 12 hours to induce HepG2-IR cell model.

2.4. Cell Viability and Glucose Consumption Determination. Based on the establishment of HepG2-IR cell model, BMS at different concentrations of 50, 100, 250, 500, 750, 1000, and $2000 \mu g/L$ were incubated together with palmitic acid after 12 h fasting. The cell viability was detected by MTT method [10].

For glucose consumption determination, groups were divided into blank group (without cell), normal group, IR model group, and IR model groups with BMS or 2 mM metformin. After 12 h treatment together with palmitic acid, the glucose content determination kit and MTT assay kit were used to measure the glucose consumption, calculated by the following formula:

relative glucose consumption (%) = $\frac{(\text{glucose contents of blank groups})}{(\text{glucose contents of blank})}$	pup–IR model groups)/cell viability of IR model groups group–normal group)/cell viability of normal group × 100%.
	(1)
2.5. <i>Glycogen, TG, and ATP Contents Determination for Cells.</i> For glycogen, TG, and ATP contents determination, groups were divided into normal group, IR model group, IR model groups with BMS or 2 mM metformin. After 12 h treatment	together with palmitic acid, the kits for glycogen, TG, ATP, and protein contents determination were applied. Formulas were as the following:
relative glycogen content (%) = $\frac{(glycogen content of IR model}{(glycogen content of normalized of the second s$	$\frac{\text{del groups}}{\text{mal group}}/\text{protein content of IR model groups} \times 100\%, (2)$
relative TG content (%) = $\frac{(TG \text{ content of IR model groups})}{(TG \text{ content of normal groups})}$	$\frac{\text{oups})/\text{protein content of IR model groups}}{\text{oup})/\text{protein content of normal group}} \times 100\%,$ (3)
relative ATP content (%) = $\frac{(\text{ATP content of IR model gr})}{(\text{ATP content of normal gr})}$	$\frac{1}{100\%} \frac{1}{100\%} \times 100\%. $ (4)

2.6. C. elegans Culture. M9 buffer, S-complete, and nematode growth medium (NGM) used for *C. elegans* culture were prepared as previously described [11]. Glucose plates were prepared by adding glucose (1M, sterile filtered) into the autoclaved NGM after cooling. Worms were synchronized according to standard protocols [12]. For maintenance, worms were grown on NGM plates and *E. coli OP50* was freshly provided as the food source. For assays, *C. elegans* were treated by ddH₂O or BMS for 48 h from L1 to L4 in the NGM with or without glucose (1 mM final concentration). Groups were divided to normal, model, and model with BMS 100 and 250 μ g/L.

2.7. Oil Red O Staining for C. elegans. Synchronized L1 worms were treated with BMS (100 or $250 \,\mu g/mL$) for 48 h to late L4 stage followed by Oil Red O staining. Oil Red O staining (~1000 worms per each group) was conducted by washing animals with 1x phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). Worms were washed with 1x PBS three times, fixed with 4% formaldehyde for 15 min and dehydrated with 60% isopropanol for 15 min. Oil Red O solution (0.5 g/100 mL in isopropanol) was diluted in double distilled water to 60% working solution and filtered. Fixed worms were incubated in the working solution overnight at room temperature. Dye was removed after allowing worms to settle, and $200 \,\mu\text{L}$ of 1x PBS 0.01% Triton X-100 was added. 20-30 Oil Red O stained worms were randomly selected for imaging with a Leica microscope outfitted with DIC optics (Leica, Wetzlar, Germany) under identical settings and exposure times.

2.8. TG Assay for C. elegans. Synchronized L1 worms were treated with BMS (100 or $250 \,\mu$ g/mL) for 48 h to late L4 stage followed by TG measurement. C. elegans (~2000 worms per each group) were broken by an ultrasonic cell disrupter and centrifuged to obtain the supernatant. The supernatant was reacted with the kit and the absorbance was measured at a wavelength of 510 nm. The TG and the protein assays were conducted according to the manufacturer's instructions. TG content was normalized with protein concentration determined by Bradford assay.

2.9. Locomotive Activity, Brood Size, and Lifespan Assay. For head thrashing, worms were washed with M9 buffer and dropped on another NGM plate. The head thrashing frequency (~30 worms in each group) was observed under a stereo microscope as a change in the direction of bending at the midbody and the number of times was recorded in one minute. The experiment was repeated at least 3 times.

For body bend assay, the examined nematodes (~30 worms in each group) were picked onto another NGM plate and scored for the times of bodies bends in an interval of 20 sec. A body bend was counted as a change in the direction of the part of nematodes corresponding to the posterior bulb of the pharynx along the *y*-axis, assuming that nematode was moving along the *x*-axis. The experiment was repeated at least 3 times.

For brood size, 1 random worm in each group was transferred to a new NGM plate with OP 50, and each group has three duplicates. Worms were transferred to fresh NGM plates during the reproduction period, and the eggs left were allowed to hatch and grow to L4 stage before counting the number of progeny of each worm.

For lifespan, about 100 worms in each group were transferred every day to the corresponding fresh NGM plates from L4 stage until all died. The number of surviving worms were counted and the actual number in the statistical results varies slightly due to the loss of dead or censored animals. Indicators of death included lack of movement, the stress movement of the parasite, and a lack of pharynx contraction after one or two attempts at gentle touching.

2.10. Quantitative Real-Time PCR (qRT-PCR) for Cells and C. elegans. RNA of HepG2 cell and C. elegans samples were extracted by the TaKaRa MiniBEST Universal RNA Extraction Kit. Prime ScriptTM RT Master Mix Kit was applied to synthesis cDNA according to the manufacturer's protocol. cDNA was amplified and quantified in a CFX96-PCR detection system using the SYBR Premix Ex Taq II Kit. Primer sequences are listed in Table 1. Data were normalized to GAPDH gene in cells and β -actin gene in C. elegans, analyzed using the $\triangle \triangle$ Ct method [13].

2.11. Statistical Analysis. Data are presented as means \pm SE and analyzed with the Statistical Analysis System (SAS Institute, NC, USA). Statistical analysis was performed using one-way analysis of variance, followed by Tukey's multiple range test to compare between groups. The significance of differences was defined at the p < 0.05 level.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Influences of BMS on the Cell Viability and Glucose Consumption. Figure 1(a) showed the effect of BMS at different concentrations on the survival rate of HepG2 cells for 12 h. There were no significant effects of BMS concentration from 50 μ g/mL to 250 μ g/mL on cell viability (p > 0.05), while the concentrations of BMS at 500, 750, 1000, and 2000 μ g/mL were obvious (p < 0.05), indicating that BMS concentration greater than 500 μ g/mL had a significant inhibitory effect on the cell growth. Therefore, the concentration range of BMSE was determined to be between 50 and 250 μ g/mL.

The effects of BMS at different concentrations on glucose consumption in HepG2 cells were shown in Figure 1(b). With the palmitic acid induction, the glucose consumption of cells in the model group was significantly lower than that in the normal group (p < 0.05), indicating that the HepG2-IR cell model was successfully established. Similar to the effect of Met, the BMS concentration at 100 and $250 \,\mu$ g/mL, not $50 \,\mu$ g/mL, obviously enhanced the glucose consumption of HepG2 insulin resistant cells (p < 0.05), which was largely due to the stimulation of GLUT4 transferring to the membrane [14].

Models	Genes	Forward sequences $(5'-3')$	Reverse sequences $(5'-3')$
	AMPK	ACAGGCATATGGTGGTCCATAGAGA	TTGGGTGAGCCACAACTTGTTC
	ACC2	GCAAGAACGTGTGGGGTTACT	TCGTAGTGGGCTTGCTGAAAA
HanC2 calls	CPT1	GGTGAACAGCAACTATTATGTC	ATCCTCTGGAACTGCATC
hepG2 cells	GLUT4	GCTACCTCTACATCATCCATCTC	ACCCGGCTACAAAGACC
	PGC-1a	GGGGCTCTCCAGAACATCAT	TCAAGGGGTCTACATGGCAA
	GAPDH	GGGGCTCTCCAGAACATCAT	TCAAGGGGTCTACATGGCAA
	Fat-5	CGGCCGCCCTCTTCCGTTAC	TGGCTGCCATCCGACCCAGT
	Fat-6	TCAACAGCGCTGCTCACTAT	TTCGACTGGGGTAATTGAGG
C. elegans	Fat-7	CAACAGCGCTGCTCACTATT	CACCAACGGCTACAACTGTG
	Nhr-49	AGGCTCGTGTCAATCAAGAGATGTG	ATGCCGATGCTCCAGAATCACTTC
	β -Actin	GCCGGAGACGACGCTCCACGCG	GCCTCGTCTCCGACGTACGAGTC

TABLE 1: Primer sequences for cells and C. elegans.



FIGURE 1: Effects of different concentrations of BMS on the survival rate (a) and glucose consumption (b) of HepG2 cells. Values are expressed as means \pm SE. Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA. Different superscripts were considered significantly different. Met: metformin; BMS: bitter melon saponins.

3.2. BMS Altered the Levels of Glycogen, TG, and ATP in Insulin-Resistance HepG2 Cell. The liver is the main part of the body that regulates blood glucose. As shown in Figure 2(a), the glycogen content in model group was significantly decreased compared to the normal group (p < 0.05), suggesting that the glucose metabolism, especially the gluconeogenesis, was disordered after palmitic acid induction. However, BMS at 100 and 250 µg/mL remarkably normalized the glycogen level of HepG2-IR cells compared with model group, as well as the Met (p < 0.05). Consistent with the results from Min et al. found that triterpenoids isolated from bitter melon could inhibit gluconeogenesis in both L6 myotubes and 3T3-L1 adipocytes to decrease the glucose level [15].

Long-term treatment with palmitic acid in HepG2 cells accelerated the fat accumulation, characterized by the increase of TG level, as shown in Figure 2(b). Supplementation with BMS at 100 and $250 \,\mu$ g/mL concentrations effectively decreased the TG content compared to the model group, suggesting BMS could inhibit the fat deposition of HepG2-IR cells (p < 0.05). In 3T3-L1 cell line, it was reported that

bitter melon triterpenoid extract could reduce preadipocyte viability and lipid accumulation [7].

ATP level reflects the status of energy metabolism. Palmitic acid can lead to the uncoupling of mitochondrial respiratory chain of cells and reduce the ATP level, causing the idling state of oxidative phosphorylation [16]. Compared with the normal group, the ATP content in the model group was strikingly declined (p < 0.05). Only BMS at $250 \mu g/mL$ exhibited improved ATP level, even not the Met, which illustrated that BMS not only recovered the levels of glycogen and TG, but also improved the disorder of energy metabolism. Metformin failed to increase ATP content, probably due to its abilities to inhibit mitochondrial respiratory chains, therefore reducing ATP production and declining the ratio of ATP/AMP, which in turn activates AMPK [17].

3.3. Effects of BMS on the Expressions of Glucose and Lipid Metabolism Related Genes in HepG2-IR Cells. To discover the potential mechanism of BMS ameliorating the indexes of metabolism, we applied qRT-PCR to check the expressions of related genes. From Figure 3(a), for genes related fatty



FIGURE 2: Effect of BMS on the levels of glycogen (a), TG (b), and ATP (c) of HepG2-IR cells. Values are expressed as means ± SE. Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA. Different superscripts were considered significantly different. HepG2-IR cells: HepG2 insulin resistance cells; TG: triglyceride; Met: metformin; BMS: bitter melon saponins.

acid β -oxidation, BMS at 250 µg/mL concentration largely stimulated the mRNA expression of AMPK and CPT1, while decreasing the ACC2 mRNA level (p < 0.05), which enhanced fatty acid β -oxidation [18]. For genes related glucose intake, BMS could augment the expressions of PGC-1 α and GLUT4, similar to the effect of Met. Increased GLUT4 translocation from the cytoplasm to the membrane promotes glucose uptake [19]. In line with Han's study, triterpenoids in bitter melon improved glucose homeostasis by upregulating GLUT4 in streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice [20]. Based on these results, we speculated the potential pathways of BMS involving in the metabolism included the fatty acid β -oxidation and glucose intake (Figure 3(b)).

3.4. BMS Altered the Fat Accumulation of Glucose-Treated C. elegans. C. elegans has been widely used as an in vivo model for exploring the genetic regulation of fat storage, due to

the fact that many aspects of fat synthesis and breakdown pathways characterized in humans are conserved in this easy-handling organism [21]. The intestine in C. elegans consists of 20 cells and is responsible for food digestion and nutrient absorption as well as the synthesis and storage of fat [22]. As BMS exhibited strong effects on the lipid metabolism in vitro, we further assessed the impact of BMS on the overall fat and lipid metabolism in C. elegans by Oil Red O staining and TG assay to confirm it. Figure 4 indicated that 1 mM glucose could dramatically stimulate the fat accumulation in C. elegans compared to the normal group, while BMS at both 100 and 250 µg/mL concentrations obviously decreased the overall fat in the body of C. *elegans* (p < 0.05). Likewise, a striking reduction in TG level was observed in BMS groups than the model group, which further confirmed lipid-lowering efficacy of BMS both in vitro and in vivo.



FIGURE 3: Effect of BMS on fatty acid β -oxidation and glucose intake. (a) mRNA expressions of AMPK, ACC2, CPT1, GLUT4, and PGC-1 α of HepG2-IR cells; (b) potential pathways of BMS involved in the glucose and lipid metabolism. Values are expressed as means ± SE. Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA. Different superscripts were considered significantly different. Met: metformin; BMS: bitter melon saponins.



FIGURE 4: Effect of BMS on lipid accumulation (overall fat and TG content) in glucose-treated *C. elegans*. Values are expressed as means ± SE. Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA. Different superscripts were considered significantly different. BMS: bitter melon saponins.

3.5. Influences of BMS on the Locomotive Activity, Progeny Production, and Longevity in C. elegans. Genetic and environmental factors, including food, have been shown to affect the physical activities of C. elegans and could also play a large role in fat accumulation [21]. Thus, we needed to figure out whether BMS affected the basic growth and development of C. elegans. As shown in Figures 5(a) and 5(b), we found that BMS had no effect on the body bends of C. elegans, but it improved the frequency of head thrashes in glucose-treated worms, which inferred that BMS might slightly enhance the

energy expenditure to lower the overall fat. Longevity of *C. elegans* is closely related with many factors, including environmental, dietary, and genetic factors [23, 24]. High concentration of glucose is shown to exhibit a negative impact on the lifespan of nematodes [25]. Regarding the progeny production and longevity, data suggested that BMS showed no influence on the brood size, while extending the median lifespan of glucose-treated worms, which indicated that both 100 and 250 μ g/mL BMS exhibited no toxicity to the growth and development of *C. elegans*.



FIGURE 5: Effects of BMS on the locomotive activity, brood size, and lifespan of glucose-treated C *elegans*. (a) Body bends, (b) head thrashes, (c) progeny production, (d) median lifespan. Values are expressed as means \pm SE. Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA. Different superscripts were considered significantly different. BMS: bitter melon saponins.



FIGURE 6: Effect of BMS on expressions of lipid metabolism related genes in *C. elegans*. Values are expressed as means \pm SE. Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA. The means with different superscript were considered significantly different. BMS: bitter melon saponins.

3.6. BMS Regulated the Expressions of Genes Involved in Lipid Metabolism in C. elegans. To discover the potential molecular pathways involved in the effect of BMS on fat reduction, we determined some important genes related lipid metabolism by qRT-PCR. In our current study, we found that BMS treatment profoundly decreased the mRNA expressions of desaturase genes, namely, fat-1, fat-5, and fat-7 (Figure 6), which are known as involved in the de novo synthesis of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) [26]. Additionally, we tested a key gene expression involved fatty acid β -oxidation, the nuclear hormone receptor nhr-49 [27]. We found that 1 mM glucose impaired the expression of nhr-49 compared to that in normal group, while BMS significantly upregulated nhr-49 gene expression, indicating that BMS might act on nhr-49 to regulate catabolism of fatty acids by mediating the β -oxidation pathway, thereby reducing fat deposition in C. elegans. This was in accordance with the effects of BMS on enhancing β -oxidation in HepG2 cells.

4. Conclusions

In conclusion, BMS exerted beneficial effects on maintaining energy homeostasis, evidenced by enhancing glucose uptake and consumption in HepG2-IR model through upregulating GLUT4 expression and inhibiting fat accumulation in both HepG2 cell and *C. elegans* via promoting fatty acid β -oxidation. Prospectively, saponins from bitter melon might be a potential prebiotic to manage clinical patients with obesity or obesity-related metabolic syndrome.

Data Availability

All data generated or analyzed during this study are included in this article.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by Jiangsu Post-Doctoral Research Funding Program (2020Z070), National Natural Science Foundation of China (31701598), and University Philosophy and Social Science Program (2019SJA1892).

References

- Y. C. Chooi, C. Ding, and F. Magkos, "The epidemiology of obesity," *Metabolism*, vol. 92, pp. 6–10, 2019.
- [2] J. Bai, Y. Zhu, and Y. Dong, "Response of gut microbiota and inflammatory status to bitter melon (*Momordica charantia* L.) in high fat diet induced obese rats," *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, vol. 194, pp. 717–726, 2016.
- [3] J. Bai, Y. Zhu, and Y. Dong, "Modulation of gut microbiota and gut-generated metabolites by bitter melon results in improvement in the metabolic status in high fat diet-induced obese rats," *Journal of Functional Foods*, vol. 41, pp. 127–134, 2018.
- [4] S. Wang, Z. Li, G. Yang, C.-T. Ho, and S. Li, "Momordica charantia: a popular health-promoting vegetable with

multifunctionality," *Food & Function*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 1749–1762, 2017.

- [5] J. L. Perez, G. K. Jayaprakasha, and B. S. Patil, "Metabolite profiling and in vitro biological activities of two commercial bitter melon (*Momordica charantia Linn.*) cultivars," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 288, pp. 178–186, 2019.
- [6] C. Y. Cheok, H. A. K. Salman, and R. Sulaiman, "Extraction and quantification of saponins: a review," *Food Research International*, vol. 59, pp. 16–40, 2014.
- [7] D. G. Popovich, L. Li, and W. Zhang, "Bitter melon (*Momordica charantia*) triterpenoid extract reduces preadipocyte viability, lipid accumulation and adiponectin expression in 3T3-L1 cells," *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, vol. 48, no. 6, pp. 1619–1626, 2010.
- [8] C.-C. Shih, C.-H. Lin, and W.-L. Lin, "Effects of Momordica charantia on insulin resistance and visceral obesity in mice on high-fat diet," *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, vol. 81, no. 2, pp. 134–143, 2008.
- [9] X. Xiao, X. Zhang, C. Zhang et al., "Toxicity and multigenerational effects of bisphenol S exposure to *Caenorhabditis elegans* on developmental, biochemical, reproductive and oxidative stress," *Toxicology Research*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 630–640, 2019.
- [10] D. Gerlier and N. Thomasset, "Use of MTT colorimetric assay to measure cell activation," *Journal of Immunological Methods*, vol. 94, no. 1-2, pp. 57–63, 1986.
- [11] G. M. Solis and M. Petrascheck, "Measuring Caenorhabditis elegans life span in 96 well microtiter plates," *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, no. 49, 2011.
- [12] C. Kenyon, J. Chang, E. Gensch, A. Rudner, and R. Tabtiang, "A *C. elegans* mutant that lives twice as long as wild type," *Nature*, vol. 366, no. 6454, pp. 461–464, 1993.
- [13] K. J. Livak and T. D. Schmittgen, "Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2-ΔΔCT method," *Methods*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 402-408, 2001.
- [14] J. O. Lee, S. K. Lee, J. H. Kim et al., "Metformin regulates glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) translocation through AMPactivated protein kinase (AMPK)-mediated cbl/CAP signaling in 3T3-L1 preadipocyte cells," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 287, no. 53, pp. 44121–44129, 2012.
- [15] M.-J. Tan, J.-M. Ye, N. Turner et al., "Antidiabetic activities of triterpenoids isolated from bitter melon associated with activation of the AMPK pathway," *Chemistry & Biology*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 263–273, 2008.
- [16] C. Kwon, J. L. Sun, J. H. Jeong, and T. W. Jung, "Humanin attenuates palmitate-induced hepatic lipid accumulation and insulin resistance via AMPK-mediated suppression of the mTOR pathway," *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 526, no. 2, pp. 539–545, 2020.
- [17] B. Viollet, B. Guigas, N. S. Garcia, J. Leclerc, M. Foretz, and F. Andreelli, "Cellular and molecular mechanisms of metformin: an overview," *Clinical Science*, vol. 122, no. 6, pp. 253–270, 2012.
- [18] S. Pang, D. A. Lynn, J. Y. Lo, J. Paek, and S. P. Curran, "SKN-1 and NRF2 couples proline catabolism with lipid metabolism during nutrient deprivation," *Nature Communications*, vol. 5, no. 1, p. 5048, 2014.
- [19] Y. Peng, R. Y. Gan, H. B. Li et al., "Absorption, metabolism, and bioactivity of vitexin: recent advances in understanding the efficacy of an important nutraceutical," *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, vol. 16, pp. 1–16, 2020.
- [20] J.-H. Han, N. Q. Tuan, M.-H. Park et al., "Cucurbitane triterpenoids from the fruits of momordica charantia improve insulin sensitivity and glucose homeostasis in streptozotocin-

induced diabetic mice," *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, vol. 62, no. 7, Article ID 1700769, 2018.

- [21] X. Xiao, C. Tan, X. Sun et al., "Fermented barley β-glucan regulates fat deposition in *Caenorhabditis elegans*," *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, vol. 100, no. 8, pp. 3408–3417, 2020.
- [22] L. R. Girard, T. J. Fiedler, T. W. Harris et al., "WormBook: the online review of *Caenorhabditis elegans* biology," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 35, pp. D472–D475, 2007.
- [23] T. He, L. He, E. Gao et al., "Fat deposition deficiency is critical for the high mortality of pre-weanling newborn piglets," *Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology*, vol. 9, p. 66, 2018.
- [24] J. Campisi, P. Kapahi, G. J. Lithgow et al., "From discoveries in ageing research to therapeutics for healthy ageing," *Nature*, vol. 571, no. 7764, pp. 183–192, 2019.
- [25] D. J. Eisermann, U. Wenzel, and E. Fitzenberger, "Inhibition of chaperone-mediated autophagy prevents glucotoxicity in the *Caenorhabditis elegans* mev-1 mutant by activation of the proteasome," *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 484, no. 1, pp. 171–175, 2017.
- [26] R. J. S. Reis, L. L. Xu, H. Lee et al., "Modulation of lipid biosynthesis contributes to stress resistance and longevity of *C. elegans* mutants," *Aging-Us*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 125–147, 2011.
- [27] M. R. Van Gilst, H. Hadjivassiliou, and K. R. Yamamoto, "From the cover: a *Caenorhabditis elegans* nutrient response system partially dependent on nuclear receptor NHR-49," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 102, no. 38, pp. 13496–13501, 2005.



Review Article

The Impact of Polyphenol on General Nutrient Metabolism in the Monogastric Gastrointestinal Tract

Mohammed Sharif Swallah ,¹ Hongling Fu,¹ He Sun,¹ Raïfatou Affoh,² and Hansong Yu ¹

¹College of Food Science and Engineering, Jilin Agricultural University, Changchun 130118, China ²College of Economics and Management, Jilin Agricultural University, Changchun 130118, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Mohammed Sharif Swallah; m.s.swallah@gmail.com and Hansong Yu; yuhansong@163.com

Received 24 March 2020; Revised 1 May 2020; Accepted 11 May 2020; Published 10 June 2020

Academic Editor: Quancai Sun

Copyright © 2020 Mohammed Sharif Swallah et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Polyphenols are bioactive compounds occurring in plant foods, which are considered significant owing to their contribution to human health and the prevention of chronic diseases. Phenolic compounds mainly depend on plant food structure and the interaction with other food constituents, mostly proteins, lipids, and carbohydrates. The interaction with the food matrices can obstruct or enhance nutrient accessibility and availability and even impair others. Food digestion is a complex process where ingested foods are converted to nutrients via mechanical and enzymatic alterations. The absorption of nutrients predominantly occurs in the small and large intestine, respectively. The metabolised product, however, is the main bioactive component due to their ability to enter the systemic circulation and reach the targeted organs. There is limited knowledge on the cellular uptake, phenolic metabolite, and polyphenolic effect in the gastrointestinal ecosystem. Therefore, improved understanding of the biological properties and stages of dietary phenols is essential for the effective utilization of their therapeutic potentials. This review will explore, summarise, and collate current information on how polyphenols influence nutrient metabolism, bioavailability, and the biotransformation stages.

1. Introduction

Digestion is an intricate process in which foods ingested are further converted into nutrients through enzymatic and mechanical adjustments, whereby nutrients are further absorbed into the bloodstreams. Naturally, food fragmentation occurs in the mouth and the stomach, whiles nutrients and water absorption, as well as enzymatic digestion predominantly, occur in the large and small intestines [1]. Food composition and antioxidant activity are of great importance in our daily dietary ways owing to their contribution to disease prevention, radical-scavenging [2], and anti-inflammatory activities [3]. Epidemiological research shows that consumption of foods high in bioactive components and antioxidant activities, including phytochemicals, vitamins, and mainly phenolic compounds, such as anthocyanin and carotenoids, has positive merit on human health and

could reduce the chances of diseases such as cancer, Alzheimer's, stroke, heart disease, diabetes, and age-related functional decades [4]. Therefore, determination of the phenolic metabolome in the human will not only aid reveal the availability of specific phenolic molecules in the human but also helps to be aware of the relationship between food eaten today and the chances of obtaining certain chronic diseases in the near future [5]. Chronic diseases, including diabetes, cancer, and cardiovascular diseases, are related to the inadequate consumption of plant food. Polyphenols are derived from plants, which include fruits and vegetables, legumes, and plant-based products such as coffee, chocolate, tea, and other beverages. Therefore, it can be tagged as a major constituent of daily human food. On average, the daily consumption of polyphenol in our diet is 1 g [6, 7]. Growing evidence and research on polyphenols prove that plant foods play a higher role in the protection of human health and also

influence several metabolic activities as well as decrease the risk of cardiovascular diseases, among others [7, 8]. Is concluded through several animal studies (in vivo) and in vitro research that polyphenol exhibits oxidative, neuroprotective and chemopreventive activities and anti-inflammatory characteristics, leading to plant food's health protection properties. Hence, it remains vital and necessary to utilize the health merits of these plant foods. In support of this, epidemiological education, the World Health Organization (WHO), and several health organizations encourage the intake of more fruits, vegetables, fibre, and leguminous plants to aid reducing disease risks [9-11]. To further understand the effect of polyphenol on nutrient metabolism and degradation, in vitro digestion models have extensively been used. Still, the greater part of the works has excluded the colonic reactions such as fermentation and others [12, 13]. This review explores, summarises, and collates the current information on how bioactive compounds (polyphenols) aids in nutrient metabolism as well as its bioavailability.

2. Food Composition

2.1. Nutrients and Bioactive Compounds. Apart from the primary known essential nutrients required to ensure that the human body has all it takes for good health, i.e., for the effective functioning of the central nervous and immune system, as well as disease prevention, [14]. There are other natural and synthetic compounds present in our daily diets that as well interfere with food digestion, enzyme activities, and the absorption of nutrients. They are termed antinutrients and include the following: protease inhibitors, amylase inhibitors, and lipase inhibitors. [15]. Bioactive compounds are molecules that present therapeutic potential with an influence on oxidative stress, metabolic disorders, energy intake, and reducing proinflammatory state [4]. Recent studies acknowledge the need for nonnutrients (bioactive), which are supposed to be of health benefits. Bioactive compounds are regarded to be different from nutrients because it is not essential for life compared with macro- or micronutrients but have an effect on the body as a whole or specific cells and tissues. It is believed that such compounds from both animal and plant sources have a positive impact on human health. These compounds include non-pro-vitamin A carotenoids, polyphenols, peptides, phytosterols, and fatty acids. Bioactive compounds act as antioxidants and further provide the defence that prevents disease spread and enhance body repairs [15-20].

2.2. Phenolic Profiles. Phenols can as well be called phenolics, which are natural compounds occurring in plant foods such as cereals, coffee, fruits, vegetables, and wine. Chemically, polyphenols are class of aromatic compounds characterised by hydroxyl groups attached to an aromatic hydrocarbon group. Thus, polyphenol is a term explaining natural products having not less than double phenyl rings bearing single or additional hydroxyl substituents, while phenols are used in expressing a phenyl ring bearing single or extra hydroxyl substituents (i.e., phenol is in a monomeric

form while polyphenols are in the polymeric form). Based on their substituting groups and the number of phenolic rings, polyphenols are categorised into nonflavonoids, phenolic acids, and flavonoids. Generally, phenols have double or more hydroxyl groups, which are the biologically active substance that occurs in food plants mostly consumed by a considerable number of people [21-24]. Polyphenols constitute most subclasses of the active biological phytochemicals, including flavonoids (e.g., isoflavones and anthocyanins), nonflavonoids (e.g., tannins, stilbenes, and lignans) and phenolic acids (e.g., hydroxybenzoic acids and hydroxycinnamic acids) [25]. Flavonoids are the most studied phenolic groups, with over 9000 identified different structures in nature. It forms a major heterogeneous subgroup with a variety of compounds bearing similar diphenyl propane skeleton (C6-C3-C6). Sequentially, it is further subclassified due to their structural variation, including proanthocyanins, dihydroflavonols, flavonols, flavan-3-ols or flavanols, anthocyanidins, isoflavones, flavanones, and flavones [26-28] Table 1 presents the classes of polyphenols and chemical structures as well as their respective known food sources and compounds [25, 29-32].

2.3. Bioavailability and Bioaccessibility of Bioactive Compounds (Polyphenol) within the GI Tract (Gastrointestinal *Tract*). Bioactive compounds with diverse chemical structures affect bioavailability and biological properties, while the antinutritional factor can as well decrease or inhibit digestion enzymes [33]. Therefore, to get a detailed understanding of absorption and metabolism of phenols within the GI tract, it is better to consider the chemical structure of a phenol, since different chemical structures affect their redox potential. Comparably, polyphenols with double close hydroxyl groups are better and have free radical scavenging ability to those with a single hydroxyl group per [34]. Bioactive compounds can alter metabolic processes and give out positive functions such as inhibition of receptor activities, induction of enzymes, antioxidant effect, and inhibition of gene expression [35]. The changes in bacterial microbiota in the gastrointestinal tract are associated with metabolic disorders including, diabetes, obesity, or nonalcoholic fatty liver disease [36]. The in vitro test is repeatedly used for the determination of almost all biological activities, using polyphenol in their natural states, i.e., as it is in food without any breakdown. However, polyphenols are extensively metabolised both in tissues and by the colonic microflora [6]. Bioavailability of polyphenols within the gastrointestinal tract depends on the phenolic secondary microbial metabolites acting within the colons. Therefore, it is vital to explore the metabolites as well as biological properties and activities. A current finding reveals that there was a good correlation between in vivo and in vitro bioavailability of the same compound under the concentration-time curve. Therefore, cocultures can be used to copycat absorption in an in vivo test [13]. The bioaccessibility of a polyphenol is solely dependent on the bioavailability of the food matrix after successful absorption into the bloodstream [37]. For that reason, bioavailability can be defined as the proportion of bioactive compounds that are successfully absorbed into the bloodstream

Classification of Subclasses and structure Food sources Compounds polyphenols Black tea, onion, wine, walnuts, Flavonols, OН 0 apple, kaempferol, ΟН shallots, quercetin, green tea, isorhamnetin, blueberries, myricetin almonds, oranges, ЭH chocolate, OCH3 spinach Flavonols Grain, vegetable, oils, Apigenin, celery, onion, OH O luteolin, pepper, garlic, wogonin, parsley, herbs, citrus, thyme tangeretin, HC baicalein, nobiletin OН Ġн Tomatoes, Naringenin, Flavones OH O citrus fruits, hesperetin, hesperidin, grapefruit neohesperidin, naringin, OH H Black tea, rutinosides, green tea, narirutin OCH₃ red wine, Flavonoids blueberries, Flavanones berries, Gallocatechin, catechin, OH nuts, OH epicatechin, apple with peel, epigallocatechi, almonds, epiafzelechin, HC dark chocolate, ogallate cereals Ġн Naringenin, Flavan-3-ols genistein, hesperetin, Leguminous plants, OH naringin, e.g., soybeans, and soy products, e.g., tofu daidzein, neohesperidin, rutinosides, HC glycitein, narirutin, Black soybean, hesperidin onion, cabbage, Isoflavones currants, beans, potatoes, Pelargonidi, cyanidin, grapes red wine, ОН berries, pelargonidi, OH pomegranate, delphinidin, H OCH: blue corn, malvidin, cherries, peonidin, OH oranges, rice petunidin ÓН Anthocyanins

Journal of Food Quality
		Indde 1. Continued.	
Classification of polyphenols	Subclasses and structure	Food sources	Compounds
	HO OH HO OH	Green and black tea, raspberries, strawberries, pomegranate, mango, blackberries, persimmon, grapes, wine, mangoes, nuts	Gallic acid, vanillic acids, protocatechuic acid
Phenolic acids	Hydroxybenzoic acids O HO OH Hydroxycinnamic acids	Fruits (e.g., grapes, cherries, blueberries, apple, and kiwis), coffee, cereals, vegetables, red wine	Curcumin, p-coumaric acid, caffeic acid, ferulic acid, sinaptic acid
	НО	Red wine, grape fruits	Resveratrol
Nonflavonoids	Stilbenes HO \rightarrow OH HO \rightarrow OH H ₃ CO \rightarrow OH Lignans	Cereals, flaxseed, linseed, algae, pumpkin, potato, leguminous crops, cereals, vegetables, fruits	Syringaresinol, ecoisolariciresinol, Secoisolariciresinol, matairesinol, medioresinol, sesamin, pinoresinol, lariciresinol
		Leguminous plant, grape	Gallotannins (gallic acid), Ellagitannins (ellagic acid, punicalin, and punicalagin)
	Tannin		

TABLE 1. Continued

for metabolic utilization [38]. However, bioaccessibility can as well be defined as the fraction of bioactive compounds released from the food matrix after digestion and becoming available for intestinal absorption [39]. In this case, the antioxidants will only be readily available for absorption after successful digestion. Before absorption, the majority of dietary polyphenols are metabolised by the colonic microbiota, and a small proportion will be directly absorbed in the upper gastrointestinal tract [40]. Hence, the microbial metabolism is a prerequisite for absorption. Again, gut bacteria can modulate polyphenols via several mechanical means including demethylation, decarboxylation, hydrolysis, reduction, and ring-cleavage as well as modulate the biological activities of a compound. Dietary polyphenols systematically depend on the synergistic action that polyphenols may exert after entering circulation, endogenous factors, and other dietary constituents [41, 42]. Several

factors interfere with the absorption and release of polyphenols, and the difficulty in nutrient absorption within the intestine is due to the changes in the interaction of other compounds, chemical nutrients from the food, suppressors in the food composition, and overall metabolism. Several studies aimed at defining the bioavailability after digestion, since the effectiveness of all polyphenols or antioxidants in vivo depends on the concentration of the food matrix as well as both bioaccessibility and bioavailability [43–45]. Figure 1 presents a summary of the bioavailability and bioaccessibility determination methods [46].

3. Role of Polyphenol in the Gastrointestinal Tract

The gastrointestinal tract (GIT) is the host for over one thousand different microbial species, which include both



FIGURE 1: Bioavailability and bioaccessibility determination methods of bioactive compounds.

biotic and symbiotic bacterial species. At present, it is estimated that 500-1000 species hinder the GIT from attaining the highest concentration in the colon. Yet, out of these bacterial species (e.g., Eubacterium, actinobacteria, Escherichia coli, Proteobacteria, Lactobacillus, Bifidobacterium, Bacteroidetes, Bacteroides, and Firmicutes), few are known to aid in the phenolic metabolic activities [47, 48]. Though the modulation and formation of bioactive polyphenol-derived metabolites, and the colonic microbiota might both merit the host cells through nutrient processing, boosting of the immune system, and gastrointestinal protection; the mechanism is yet to be defined [49, 50]. The natural process of digestion begins in the mouth by chewing and emitting of bioactive compounds from food substance. For successful bioaccessibility of nutrients during gastrointestinal digestion, the hydrolytic enzymes, gastric acids, the physicochemical properties of the secretion act on the food bolus, resulting in the stabilisation of the phenolic components as well as facilitating the release of compounds from the food matrix [51, 52]. The human body recognises the absorbed phenolic components as a xenobiotic substance, and their absorption is quite low compared with macro- and micronutrients and thereby has to metabolise it to increase their bioavailability rate. Its metabolism starts from the upper intestinal epithelia and proceeds to the lower intestine, the liver, and then to the peripheral tissues, which include adipose tissue and the kidneys. To facilitate the excretion of urine, the hepatic enzymes convert the molecules by increasing or reducing hydroxyl groups (first phase) and inflecting them to other molecules (second phase), thereby maximising their water solubility. Cytochrome P450 monooxygenases are one of the key enzyme systems that aid in metabolising xenobiotic substances [53, 54]. The human gastrointestinal system begins digestion with the simulation of gastric acids (pepsin-HCL), followed by the breakdown of food macromolecules within the small intestine with the aid of bile and pancreatic juice and finally with dialysis [55]. Figure 2 presents the main mechanisms within the human digestive system [46].

3.1. Biotransformation Process of Polyphenol within the Mouth, Stomach, Small Intestine, and Colon. There is limited knowledge concerning the cellular uptake of phenolic metabolites in the gastrointestinal tract due to the complex processes in their absorption [56]. The route of phenolic absorption can either be via the stomach and small intestine or possibly absorbed by the colon after chemical modification by the colonic microbiota. During the transformation process, dietary polyphenols under conjugation and catabolic reactions change and get absorbed into the bloodstream and thereafter get excreted either in the urine or via the bile. The substrate or unabsorbed is passed out into faeces [57]. Recent research shows that out of 100% total polyphenolic intake, only 5-10% will be absorbed within the small intestine (i.e., monomeric, dimeric structure, and aglycones can be absorbed in the small intestine) and the 90-95% will be in the large intestine lumen together with other conjugates excreted by the bile. They are then exposed to the intestinal enzymes and gut microbiota. Therefore, the colonic microbiota is in charge of further breaking down of the polyphenolic structures into smaller molecules to aid easy absorption [58, 59]. The incorporation of polyphenol is variable within the digestive tract. Phenolic concentration in the food matrix does not affect the bioavailability rate but relatively depends on the functional group present and the chemical structure of the dietary polyphenols. Besides, they may be other biologically active molecules present in the body, which can as well influence the absorption and metabolic rate as well as its rapid elimination to reach the blood circulation and the targeted organs [60-62]. Naturally, polyphenols in the human body are in glycoside, ester, and polymeric forms that need to be hydrolysed to facilitate rapid absorption by either gut microbiota or intestinal enzymes. With the aid of β -glucosidase during the oral cavity salivation process, hydrolysation is likely to begin in the mouth though not thoroughly researched. Once absorbed into the small intestine, phenolic compounds with less complex structures undergoes extensive phase I biotransformation (oxidation, reduction, or hydrolysis) and converts into water-soluble metabolite in the enterocytes before reaching the liver. The complex phenolic compounds not absorbed in the small intestine reach the colon. Once in the large intestine, glycosides are hydrolysed by the gut microbiota resulting in the formation of aglycones through opening the heterocycle. This catabolic action decreases the complex structure of the phenolic hydroxyl group into lowmolecular-weight phenolic metabolites that can be absorbed. When absorbed, the molecules reach the liver via the hepatocytes, where they are again subjected to phase II biotransformation process (conjugation) which includes methylation, glucuronidation, and sulfation or sulfate derivatives. The conjugation stage enhances easy absorption (hydrophobicity) of the molecules and aids in rapid elimination. The metabolites then enter the systemic circulation where they are distributed to the targeted organs or eliminated in the urine [58, 63]. Figure 3 shows the metabolic route for dietary polyphenol in the human gastrointestinal tract.



FIGURE 2: The main mechanisms of the human digestive system.

3.2. Influence of Polyphenol on Gut Microbiota. Recent studies show the connection between polyphenol and the intestinal microbiota and how parallel rich phenolic-foods can influence the activity and composition of the microbiota. Polyphenol intake improves the health effects of the gastrointestinal microbiota by activating the intestinal immune function, SCFA (short-chain fatty acids) excretion, and other physiological processes [32]. Though the chemistry and biotransformation process of polyphenols in the digestive tract is well defined [64], little is known of the effect polyphenol possesses on the gut's ecosystem. Recent advances confirm that the rate of bacterial growth in the guts ecosystem is influenced by the dose and structure of the polyphenol in the diet as well as the bacteria's species or strain [65]. The larger composition of bacteria is known to produce high resistance to polyphenolic influence than fewer bacteria composition due to the differences in cell structures [66]. However, it is impossible to predict the required dosage that will yield a beneficial or consequential effect in vivo [57]. The antibacterial effect is influenced by several factors, including cell wall damaging [67], permeability of cell wall [68], or production of H₂O₂ [69]. The microbiota colonizing the gastrointestinal tract of human is mainly in charge of modulating the immune system [70] and

also contributes to the production of several vitamins including vitamins K and B. It can as well contribute to a negative health effect. Atypical microflora action can influence the growth of neoplasm in the gut due to mutagen and carcinogen production (Bacteroides, E. coli, and faecalis) [71]. In Frejnagel and Juskiewicz's study [72] on the effect of green tea, blue-berried honeysuckle and chokeberry's phenolic extract on rat caecal fermentation process were assessed. The outcome of the studies indicates that the addition of the three-extract resulted in an increment in weight of the gut wall as compared with the control animals. However, only rat-fed diet supplemented with green tea extract polyphenol yielded a significant (P < 0.05) increment in gut-weight content. Also, the experiment showed a decrease in pH and concentration of ammonia in rat fed with honeysuckle-supplemented polyphenolic extracts. But Leverat et al. [73] used 1% Quebracho tannins to supplement the diet of a rat, and it recorded an increase in the rat's digester pH. Two-way variance analysis confirmed there is a dose-dependent decrement in comparison with the control animals. On the contrary, honeysuckle extract in rat diets elevated the enzyme activity of the caeca while chokeberry extract in rat diets recorded a dose-dependent reduction in all enzyme-tested activities. It was only green tea extract in



FIGURE 3: Metabolic route for polyphenol in the human gastrointestinal tract.

rat diets that resulted in a significant (P < 0.05) inhibition of enzymatic activity. The results indicated that supplementation of diets with phenolic extracts could physically and biochemically affect caecal parameters in rats [72]. Also, research by Smith et al. on bacterial mechanisms in overcoming the inhibitory effect of dietary tannins reveals that rats fed with tannin-rich diet had a significant increase in Bacteroides groups with a decrease clostridium leptum cluster [74]. The research by Tzonuis et al. [75], on flavonol monometer-induced changes to the human faecal microflora, was also reviewed. The study shows that (+) catechin significantly inhibits the growth rate of Clostridium histolyticum and improves the growth rate of E. coli and members of the Clostridium coccoides-Eubacterium rectale group, while the growth rate of Lactobacillus spp. and Bifidobacterium remains relatively unaltered. Varricchio et al. [76] also analysed the influence of polyphenols from olive mill wastewater on the intestine, alveolar macrophages, and blood leukocytes of pigs. They found an increase in the number of lamina propria and intraepithelial leukocytes present in the treated animal's gastrointestinal tracts in contrast with the control group. Immunopositive cells were found mainly in the infiltrate leukocytes in the intraepithelial leukocytes from the gastrointestinal tracts of the controls, with zero amount of immunopositive cells present in the

treated animal. The study carried out by Puupponen-Pimia et al. [77], on the antimicrobial effect of phenolic compounds from berries, reveals that lactic acid bacteria were more resistant to polyphenol compounds except for myricetin, which inhibited the growth rate of all lactic acid bacteria with no effect on salmonella. The extract exhibited a growth-inhibiting effect on gram-negative bacteria. The results indicated that the synergistic action of polyphenols is the cause of the inhibition. This proves that gut microbiota plays a significant role in both nutrient and polyphenols metabolism and can as well influence their interactions.

3.3. Influence of Polyphenol on Nutrient Metabolism. Polyphenols are biologically active compounds that solely depend on plant foods structure and interactions with other food constituents, mainly the macronutrients (proteins, lipids, and carbohydrates). This interaction with food matrices can affect or enhance phenolic accessibility and availability and even impair others [78]. A substantial amount of dietary proteins, carbohydrates, and all fats are absorbed before reaching the large intestine. Few human types of research have explored the influence of polyphenols on bacterial metabolism of macronutrients as they are highly absorbed in the early stage of the gut, and modification observed seems to reflect on the balance between these digestible macronutrients [79].

3.3.1. Influence on Protein. The influence of phenolic compounds on the activities of protease and protein substrate accessibility determines the digestibility of protein. These are due to the binding of phenolic compounds onto the endogenous protein, which includes the gastric and intestinal mucus, digestive enzymes, and protein saliva. which are the main factors influencing protein digestibility and metabolism. It can as well hinder both the catalytic site and the substrate-binding site, which will end up reducing proteolytic activities. Phenolic compounds can influence protein hydrolysis via the interaction with various protein substrates and protease. The binding activity of phenolic compounds is linked with the binding affinity to enzymes since enzymes are as well protein. Therefore, their molecular size, structure, and composition of an amino acid are all determined by the enzymatic affinity to polyphenols. Generally, the bulkiness and structure of a phenol mainly influence the structure of the protein by either stabilising or loosening the structure, which, in a way, affects enzyme activity [80]. The protein type also affects microbiota composition, which, on the other hand, influences phenolic activities [81]. Data from human and animal studies on phenolic and microbiota influence on dietary protein were thoroughly reviewed. A result of studying the effect of dietary protein source on rat metabolic effect has been evaluated [81]. The effect of 20% protein from casein, soy, and fish was evaluated in rat diets for 16 weeks. The authors reported a difference in the caecal short-chain fatty acids (SCFA); that is, the fish protein diet recorded an increase in the total SCFA and lactic acid, which was twice that of soy and casein protein diets. The concentration of butyrate was also greater in animals fed with soy diet in contrast with the other two groups. Caecal indole concentration was twice higher with the soy and fish diets as compared with casein diets. Ammonia was higher in the fish diet compared with other diets. Phenol and H₂S were as well higher with fish and soy diets against the casein diets. The result from in vivo studies with rats revealed that the digestion of whey proteins could be obstructed by the reactions with some phenolic compounds, mainly chlorogenic acids [82]. The authors focused on determining whether chlorogenic acid can influence the nutritional quality of β -lactoglobulin and protein digestibility. The results showed a decrease in nitrogen digestibility on higher derivatization with chlorogenic acid, in contrast with zero or lower derivatization at all. It was concluded that good nutritional quality of whey proteins could only be threatened at high-level derivatization with chlorogenic acids. In addition to this, rat fed with soy protein derivatives displayed an increase in urinary and faecal nitrogen and true nitrogen digestibility, and the total utilization of protein was affected. The protein digestibilitycorrected amino acid score (PDCAAS) for tryptophan, lysine, and sulfur-containing amino acids were all decreased [83]. Therefore, the reduction in protein digestibility as an impact of covalent interaction or binding with polyphenol

plays a role in the decreasing of polyphenol released from food matrices during digestion, thereby reducing bioavailability. Also, the binding to protein phenolic compounds is protected from adverse stomach condition [80].

3.3.2. Influence on Carbohydrates. Carbohydrate is made up of amylose, which is a linear α -1,4-linked glucose polymer, and a highly branched amylopectin consisting of a linear α -1,4-linked glucose chain with α -1,6-linked branch chains. Pancreatic and salivary α -amylases catalyse the endo-hydrolysis of α -1,4-glucosidic linkages releasing mainly maltose, maltotriose, and related α -1,6-oligomers. In addition, the main enzymes responsible for the breakdown of carbohydrates into glucose are α -amylase and α -glucosidase [8]. The metabolism of carbohydrates begins in the oral cavity and continues in the pancreas and the small intestine. Any disturbance in metabolism can yield health concerns, including diabetes, obesity, and even dental caries [78]. The majority of carbohydrate ingested is entirely digested in the small intestine; a small proportion escapes and reaches the colon. They are known as resistant starch (RS), it is subclassified into four forms of starch, i.e., chemically modified starch, physically inaccessible starch, retrograded starch, and certain granular starch that are resistant to enzyme digestion. The RS not only does inhibit metabolism but can as well provide the colonic microbiota with the largest single-source dietary-derived energy [79]. Besides drugs, polyphenols can as well aid in the inhibition of carbohydrate's metabolic enzyme activity. The structure of polyphenol can be disadvantageous to enzymatic actions, especially via the hydroxylation process. That is, during the carbon atom hydroxylation process, at some point in rings, it can inhibit enzymatic activities and the glycosylation of the hydroxyl group can as well increase enzyme activities [78]. There have been several in vivo and in vitro studies on the impact of polyphenol on carbohydrates metabolism as well as glucose homeostasis. A study indicated that phenolic extract from chokeberry could serve as an effective α -glucosidase inhibitor, which will subsequently decrease the blood glucose level and provide protection against diabetes. Therefore, continuous consumption of chokeberry could aid in the reduction of blood glucose in mild hypercholesterolemia patients and as well decrease the levels of glycated haemoglobin of noninsulin-dependent diabetes patients [84, 85]. Hence, phenolic compounds could act as a potential antidiabetic agent. A series of animal experiments have shown inhibition of polyphenols to α -amylase and α -glucosidase activities. The inhibitory phenols include catechins, isoflavones, anthocyanins, flavonols, flavanones, flavones, ellagitannins, and proanthocyanins [8]. The study carried by Adisakwattana et al. [86] analysed α -amylase, α -glucosidase, and protein glycation inhibitory activities of edible plants. It was observed that hypoglycaemic effects of tannins extracted from grape seed could originate not only from the inhibition of digestive enzymes but can as well be obtained from the inhibition of the glycation process. Again, a human study involving the consumption of coffee with a high carbohydrate or high-fat meal and nondairy creamier was observed

to impede the absorption of gut microbiota catabolites [87, 88]. A phenolic (resveratrol) rat experiment has been suggested to increase glucose uptake through the enhancement of estrogenic receptor- α , which in turn promotes Glut 4 expression via the AKT pathway and phosphatidyl inositol-3 kinase (PI3K) [89]. Finally, Yamashita's [90] study on the comparison between low- and high-degree of polymerization procyanidin and of antihyperglycemic activities was also reviewed. And, it was observed that procyanidins with a high-degree polymerisation have a strong influence on α -glucosidase inhibition as compared with less polymerised ones. Therefore, an antihyperglycemic impact on procyanidins with a small degree of polymerization could be attributed to the stimulation of glucose uptake by glucose transporter in the skeletal muscle. Though phenolic compounds can inhibit the performance of carbohydrate digestive enzymes (α -glucosidase and α -amylase), yielding to a delay in digestion, it can as well modulate glucose uptake after consumption of carbohydrate-rich meals.

3.3.3. Influence on Lipids. Compared with other macronutrients like protein-polyphenol interactions, lipids interactions with polyphenol are not well known and have less attention, with the exception of plant-derived oil, i.e., mainly olive oil, which has recently gained attention owing to its best source of oleic fatty acids as well as total monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) [78]. Polyphenol is a known antioxidant soluble to water that moves through the portal veins and lipids as well have less influence on the absorption of hydrophilic molecules (polyphenols). Other authors suggested that bioavailability and absorption of anthocyanins from the gastrointestinal might be hindered by the presence of lipids, sugar, and carbohydrates in the whole blueberry extract [91]. Mullen et al.'s [92] study on the metabolism of strawberries with and without cream in humans was reviewed. The study confirmed a delay in digestion of anthocyanins from strawberries when they were consumed with cream, but its bioavailability was not altered. The study conducted on the effect of curcumin on adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and angiogenesis and obesity in C57/BL mice was reviewed. It was observed via the activation of AMPK (adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase) that curcumin impeded the synthesis of glycerol lipids by hindering the activity of (GPAT-1) glycerol-3-phosphate acyl transferase-1, which in turn esterifies fatty acids into glycerol to form triglycerides for storage [93]. Peng et al. as well affirmed in recent research that vitexin, i.e., a flavonoid glycoside (an apigenin-8-C-glucoside), activated AMPK α , which is a key enzyme in controlling and reducing fat accumulation [94-96]. Other animal and cell culture studies revealed that the addition of a phenolic compound (resveratrol) to rat isolated hepatocytes turns to hinder the synthesis of triglycerides and fatty acid, i.e., through the lowering effect of lipids. Again, it lowers adipogenesis in human isolated adipocytes and as well encourages lipolytic activity in adipocytes via the induction of cAMP [97]. Finally, a study that evaluated the effect of polyphenol-rich diet on the composition postprandial lipoprotein in individuals

at high cardiometabolic risk was reviewed, and the study revealed a decreased level of cholesterol and triglycerides. The authors concluded that polyphenol-rich diet reduces the postprandial lipid content of very-low-density lipoproteins (VLDL) and as well modifies the composition of low-density lipoproteins (LDL) particles- which in turn became richer in triglycerides and of which high-density lipoproteins (HDL) became triglyceride poor [98]. Therefore, polyphenolic interaction in the cell membranes can cause changes to the lipid profile.

4. Conclusions

Polyphenols are biologically active compounds that are wellthought-out as one of the essential antinutritional factors. The reviewed animal, human, and cell culture studies present the influence of the interactions between polyphenols and nutrients in the monogastric gastrointestinal tract as well as their consequence after metabolism. The interactions can reflect on the metabolism and absorption of interacting compounds, which depends on the food matrices and its biotransformation by the component of the gastrointestinal microbiota. Though the metabolism of polyphenol is considered to aid in the protection of other food compounds and maintain the digestive health via the stimulation and modulation of microbial balance, it can as well impact the organoleptic properties of the food matrices either positively or negatively depending on the phenolic dosage. Again, the complexity of phenolic biotransformation and the association between food matrices and the intestinal microbiome is incompletely understood. Therefore, future researches are essential to investigate the safety required phenolic dosage and the catabolic reactions of polyphenols and conduct a well-designed and controlled human trial, as well as assess the microbial activities at all stages of biotransformation of polyphenol compounds and the impact on human health in order to understand completely.

Data Availability

No data were used to support this study, and all references were duly acknowledged.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the Earmarked Fund for Modern Agro-Industry Technology Research System (CARS-04) for the support.

References

 A. Guerra, L. Etienne-Mesmin, V. Livrelli, S. Denis, S. Blanquet-Diot, and M. Alric, "Relevance and challenges in modeling human gastric and small intestinal digestion," *Trends in Biotechnology*, vol. 30, no. 11, pp. 591–600, 2012.

- [2] C. Pereira, L. Barros, A. M. Carvalho, and I. C. F. R. Ferreira, "Nutritional composition and bioactive properties of commonly consumed wild greens: potential sources for new trends in modern diets," *Food Research International*, vol. 44, no. 9, pp. 2634–2640, 2011.
- [3] S. Cicerale, L. Lucas, and R. Keast, "Biological activities of phenolic compounds present in virgin olive oil," *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 458–479, 2010.
- [4] N. Siriwardhana, N. S. Kalupahana, M. Cekanova, M. LeMieux, B. Greer, and N. Moustaid-Moussa, "Modulation of adipose tissue inflammation by bioactive food compounds," *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 613–623, 2013.
- [5] J. Mursu, J. K. Virtanen, T.-P. Tuomainen, T. Nurmi, and S. Voutilainen, "Intake of fruit, berries, and vegetables and risk of type 2 diabetes in Finnish men: the kuopio ischaemic heart disease risk factor study," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 99, no. 2, pp. 328–333, 2014.
- [6] A. Scalbert, C. Morand, C. Manach, and C. Rémésy, "Absorption and metabolism of polyphenols in the gut and impact on health," *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, vol. 56, no. 6, pp. 276–282, 2002.
- [7] L. Hooper, P. A. Kroon, E. B. Rimm et al., "Flavonoids, flavonoid-rich foods, and cardiovascular risk: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 88, no. 1, pp. 38–50, 2008.
- [8] K. Hanhineva, R. Törrönen, I. Bondia-Pons et al., "Impact of dietary polyphenols on carbohydrate metabolism," *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 1365–1402, 2010.
- [9] C. Mertz, A.-L. Gancel, Z. Gunata et al., "Phenolic compounds, carotenoids and antioxidant activity of three tropical fruits," *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, vol. 22, no. 5, pp. 381–387, 2009.
- [10] L. G. Espinosa-Alonso, A. Lygin, J. M. Widholm, M. E. Valverde, and O. Paredes-Lopez, "Polyphenols in wild and weedy Mexican common beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.)," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 54, no. 12, pp. 4436–4444, 2006.
- [11] W. Diet, "Nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. Report of a joint WHO/FAO expert consultation," vol. 916Technical Report Series, pp. 34–38, WHO, Geneva, Switzerland, 2003.
- [12] T. Bohn, G. J. McDougall, A. Alegría et al., "Mind the gapdeficits in our knowledge of aspects impacting the bioavailability of phytochemicals and their metabolites-a position paper focusing on carotenoids and polyphenols," *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, vol. 59, no. 7, pp. 1307–1323, 2015.
- [13] S. Sadeghi Ekbatan, M. Iskandar, L. Sleno et al., "Absorption and metabolism of phenolics from digests of polyphenol-rich potato extracts using the Caco-2/HepG2 co-culture system," *Foods*, vol. 7, no. 1, p. 8, 2018.
- [14] H. H. Vorster and M. J. Gibney, "Food and nutrition-related diseases: the global challenge," in *Introduction to Human Nutrition*, Wiley, Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2009.
- [15] Y. Birk, "The Bowman-Birk inhibitor. Trypsin-and chymotrypsin-inhibitor from soybeans," *International Journal of Peptide and Protein Research*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 113–131, 2009.
- [16] B. Halliwell and J. M. Gutteridge, *Free Radicals in Biology and Medicine*, Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK, 2015.
- [17] J. Fernstom and M. Fernstom, "Nutrition and the brain," in Nutrition and Metabolism. The Nutrition Society Textbook, S. A. Lanham-New, I. A. Macdonald, and H. M. Roche, Eds., pp. 155–184, Wiley-Blackwell, Chichester, UK, 2nd edition, 2011.

- [18] D. Graf, R. D. Cagno, F. Fåk et al., "Contribution of diet to the composition of the human gut microbiota," *Microbial Ecology in Health and Disease*, vol. 26, p. 26164, 2015.
- [19] S. Astley and P. Finglas, "Nutrition and health," in *Reference Module in Food Science*, Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2016.
- [20] M. S. Swallah, H. Sun, R. Affoh, H. Fu, and H. Yu, "Antioxidant potential overviews of secondary metabolites (polyphenols) in fruits," *International Journal of Food Science*, vol. 2020, Article ID 9081686, 8 pages.
- [21] N. Balasundram, K. Sundram, and S. Samman, "Phenolic compounds in plants and agri-industrial by-products: antioxidant activity, occurrence, and potential uses," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 99, no. 1, pp. 191–203, 2006.
- [22] J. B. Harborne, "General procedures and measurement of total phenolics," *Methods in Plant Biochemistry*, vol. 1, pp. 1–28, 1989.
- [23] R. Puupponen-Pimiä, A.-M. Aura, K.-M. Oksman-Caldentey et al., "Development of functional ingredients for gut health," *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 3–11, 2002.
- [24] G. Pereira-Caro, B. Fernández-Quirós, I. A. Ludwig, I. Pradas, A. Crozier, and J. M. Moreno-Rojas, "Catabolism of citrus flavanones by the probiotics *Bifidobacterium longum* and *Lactobacillus rhamnosus*," *European Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 57, no. 1, pp. 231–242, 2018.
- [25] L. Basheer and Z. Kerem, "Interactions between CYP3A4 and dietary polyphenols," *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, vol. 2015, Article ID 854015, 15 pages, 2015.
- [26] M. P. Corcoran, D. L. McKay, and J. B. Blumberg, "Flavonoid basics: chemistry, sources, mechanisms of action, and safety," *Journal of Nutrition in Gerontology and Geriatrics*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 176–189, 2012.
- [27] M. Bingham, "The metabolism of polyphenols by the human gut microbiota," in *Gastrointestinal Microbiology*, pp. 155– 168, Springer Science & Business Media, Berlin, Germany, 2006.
- [28] C. Andrés-Lacueva, A. Medina-Remon, R. Llorach et al., "Phenolic compounds: chemistry and occurrence in fruits and vegetables," in *Fruit and Vegetable Phytochemicals*, Wiley Online Library, Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2010.
- [29] C. G. Fraga, K. D. Croft, D. O. Kennedy, and F. A. Tomás-Barberán, "The effects of polyphenols and other bioactives on human health," *Food & Function*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 514–528, 2019.
- [30] K. Liu, M. Luo, and S. Wei, "The bioprotective effects of polyphenols on metabolic syndrome against oxidative stress: evidences and perspectives," Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, vol. 2019, Article ID 6713194, 16 pages, 2019.
- [31] M. Wiciński, J. Gębalski, E. Mazurek et al., "The influence of polyphenol compounds on human gastrointestinal tract microbiota," *Nutrients*, vol. 12, no. 2, p. 350, 2020.
- [32] K. Kawabata, Y. Yoshioka, and J. Terao, "Role of intestinal microbiota in the bioavailability and physiological functions of dietary polyphenols," *Molecules*, vol. 24, no. 2, p. 370, 2019.
- [33] A. Septembre-Malaterre, F. Remize, and P. Poucheret, "Fruits and vegetables, as a source of nutritional compounds and phytochemicals: changes in bioactive compounds during lactic fermentation," *Food Research International*, vol. 104, pp. 86–99, 2018.
- [34] S. Jovanovic, S. Steenken, M. G. Simic, Y. Hara, S. V. Jovanovic, and M. G. Simic, "Antioxidant properties of flavonoids: reduction potentials and electron transfer reactions of flavonoid radicals," *Flavonoids in Health and Disease*, pp. 137–161, 1998.

- [35] J. M. Carbonell-Capella, M. Buniowska, F. J. Barba, M. J. Esteve, and A. Frígola, "Analytical methods for determining bioavailability and bioaccessibility of bioactive compounds from fruits and vegetables: a review," *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 155–171, 2014.
- [36] B. Zhu, X. Wang, and L. Li, "Human gut microbiome: the second genome of human body," *Protein & Cell*, vol. 1, no. 8, pp. 718–725, 2010.
- [37] D. Tagliazucchi, E. Verzelloni, D. Bertolini, and A. Conte, "In vitro bio-accessibility and antioxidant activity of grape polyphenols," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 120, no. 2, pp. 599–606, 2010.
- [38] H. Palafox-Carlos, J. F. Ayala-Zavala, and G. A. González-Aguilar, "The role of dietary fiber in the bioaccessibility and bioavailability of fruit and vegetable antioxidants," *Journal of Food Science*, vol. 76, no. 1, pp. R6–R15, 2011.
- [39] C. Manach, G. Williamson, C. Morand, A. Scalbert, and C. Rémésy, "Bioavailability and bioefficacy of polyphenols in humans. I. Review of 97 bioavailability studies," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 81, no. 1, pp. 230S–242S, 2005.
- [40] M. V. Selma, J. C. Espin, and F. A. Tomás-Barberán, "Interaction between phenolics and gut microbiota: role in human health," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 57, no. 15, pp. 6485–6501, 2009.
- [41] M. A. Lila, "From beans to berries and beyond: teamwork between plant chemicals for protection of optimal human health," *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, vol. 1114, no. 1, pp. 372–380, 2007.
- [42] R. H. Liu, "Health benefits of fruit and vegetables are from additive and synergistic combinations of phytochemicals," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 78, no. 3, pp. 517S-520S, 2003.
- [43] J. Pérez-Jiménez, J. Serrano, M. Tabernero et al., "Bioavailability of phenolic antioxidants associated with dietary fiber: plasma antioxidant capacity after acute and long-term intake in humans," *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, vol. 64, no. 2, pp. 102–107, 2009.
- [44] J. Parada and J. M. Aguilera, "Food microstructure affects the bioavailability of several nutrients," *Journal of Food Science*, vol. 72, no. 2, pp. R21–R32, 2007.
- [45] D. I. Santos, J. M. A. Saraiva, and A. A. Vicente, Margarida Moldão-Martins Linking Landscape, Environment, Agriculture and Food (LEAF), School of Agriculture, University of Lisbon, Lisbon, Portugal, 2019.
- [46] D. I. Santos, "Methods for determining bioavailability and bioaccessibility of bioactive compounds and nutrients," in *Innovative Thermal and Non-Thermal Processing, Bioaccessibility and Bioavailability of Nutrients and Bioactive Compounds*, pp. 23–54, Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2019.
- [47] M. Kutschera, W. Engst, M. Blaut, and A. Braune, "Isolation of catechin-converting human intestinal bacteria," *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, vol. 111, no. 1, pp. 165–175, 2011.
- [48] S. Bibbò, G. Ianiro, V. Giorgio et al., "The role of diet on gut microbiota composition," *European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences*, vol. 20, no. 20, pp. 4742–4749, 2016.
- [49] B. Vitali, M. Ndagijimana, F. Cruciani et al., "Impact of a synbiotic food on the gut microbial ecology and metabolic profiles," *BMC Microbiology*, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 4, 2010.
- [50] C. Duggan, J. Gannon, and W. A. Walker, "Protective nutrients and functional foods for the gastrointestinal tract," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 75, no. 5, pp. 789–808, 2002.

- [51] D. Tagliazucchi, E. Verzelloni, and A. Conte, "The first tract of alimentary canal as an extractor. Release of phytochemicals from solid food matrices during simulated digestion," *Journal* of Food Biochemistry, vol. 36, no. 5, pp. 555–568, 2012.
- [52] A. Chandrasekara and F. Shahidi, "Bioaccessibility and antioxidant potential of millet grain phenolics as affected by simulated in vitro digestion and microbial fermentation," *Journal of Functional Foods*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 226–237, 2012.
- [53] A. Bento-Silva, V. M. Koistinen, P. Mena et al., "Factors affecting intake, metabolism and health benefits of phenolic acids: do we understand individual variability?" *European Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 59, no. 4, pp. 1275–1293, 2020.
- [54] M. M. Appeldoorn, J.-P. Vincken, H. Gruppen, and P. C. H. Hollman, "Procyanidin dimers A1, A2, and B2 are absorbed without conjugation or methylation from the small intestine of rats," *The Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 139, no. 8, pp. 1469–1473, 2009.
- [55] M. Bermudezsoto, F. Tomasbarberan, and M. Garciaconesa, "Stability of polyphenols in chokeberry (Aronia melanocarpa) subjected to in vitro gastric and pancreatic digestion," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 102, no. 3, pp. 865–874, 2007.
- [56] A.-M. Aura, "Microbial metabolism of dietary phenolic compounds in the colon," *Phytochemistry Reviews*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 407–429, 2008.
- [57] G. Williamson and M. N. Clifford, "Role of the small intestine, colon and microbiota in determining the metabolic fate of polyphenols," *Biochemical Pharmacology*, vol. 139, pp. 24–39, 2017.
- [58] F. Cardona, C. Andrés-Lacueva, S. Tulipani, F. J. Tinahones, and M. I. Queipo-Ortuño, "Benefits of polyphenols on gut microbiota and implications in human health," *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, vol. 24, no. 8, pp. 1415–1422, 2013.
- [59] J. L. Donovan, V. Crespy, C. Manach et al., "Catechin is metabolized by both the small intestine and liver of rats," *The Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 131, no. 6, pp. 1753–1757, 2001.
- [60] G. Annunziata, M. Maisto, C. Schisano et al., "Colon bioaccessibility and antioxidant activity of white, green and black tea polyphenols extract after in vitro simulated gastrointestinal digestion," *Nutrients*, vol. 10, no. 11, p. 1711, 2018.
- [61] A. Crozier, D. Del Rio, and M. N. Clifford, "Bioavailability of dietary flavonoids and phenolic compounds," *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 446–467, 2010.
- [62] M. D. Archivio, "Polyphenols, dietary sources and bioavailability," *Annali-Istituto Superiore di Sanita*, vol. 43, no. 4, pp. 348–361, 2007.
- [63] L. Lavefve, L. R. Howard, and F. Carbonero, "Berry polyphenols metabolism and impact on human gut microbiota and health," *Food & Function*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 45–65, 2020.
- [64] J. F. Stevens and C. S. Maier, "The chemistry of gut microbial metabolism of polyphenols," *Phytochemistry Reviews*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 425–444, 2016.
- [65] D. Hervert-Hernández and I. Goñi, "Dietary polyphenols and human gut microbiota: a review," *Food Reviews International*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 154–169, 2011.
- [66] R. Puupponen-Pimia and L. Nohynek, S. Hartmann-Schmidlin, Berry phenolics selectively inhibit the growth of intestinal pathogens," *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, vol. 98, no. 4, pp. 991–1000, 2005.
- [67] R. A. Kemperman, S. Bolca, L. C. Roger, and E. E. Vaughan, "Novel approaches for analysing gut microbes and dietary polyphenols: challenges and opportunities," *Microbiology*, vol. 156, no. 11, pp. 3224–3231, 2010.
- [68] Y. Xie, J. Chen, A. Xiao, and L. Liu, "Antibacterial activity of polyphenols: structure-activity relationship and influence of

hyperglycemic condition," *Molecules*, vol. 22, no. 11, p. 1913, 2017.

- [69] V. Sant'Anna and E. Biondo, E. M. Kolchinski, Total polyphenols, antioxidant, antimicrobial and allelopathic activities of spend coffee ground aqueous extract," *Waste and Biomass Valorization*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 439–442, 2017.
- [70] L. V. Hooper, D. R. Littman, and A. J. Macpherson, "Interactions between the microbiota and the immune system," *Science*, vol. 336, no. 6086, pp. 1268–1273, 2012.
- [71] P. Mandal, "Molecular mechanistic pathway of colorectal carcinogenesis associated with intestinal microbiota," *Anaerobe*, vol. 49, pp. 63–70, 2018.
- [72] S. Frejnagel and J. Juskiewicz, "Dose-dependent effects of polyphenolic extracts from green tea, blue-berried honeysuckle, and chokeberry on rat caecal fermentation processes," *Planta Medica*, vol. 77, no. 9, pp. 888–893, 2011.
- [73] M. A. Leverat, O. Texier, F. Regerat, C. Demigne, and C. Remesey, "Comparison of the effect of condensed tannin and pactin on caecal fermentations and lipid metabolism in rat," *Nutrition Research*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 427–433, 1993.
- [74] A. H. Smith, E. Zoetendal, and R. I. Mackie, "Bacterial mechanisms to overcome inhibitory effects of dietary tannins," *Microbial Ecology*, vol. 50, no. 2, pp. 197–205, 2005.
- [75] X. Tzounis, J. Vulevic, V. Livrelli, G. G. C. Kuhnle et al., "Flavanol monomer-induced changes to the human faecal microflora," *British Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 99, no. 4, pp. 782–792, 2008.
- [76] E. Varricchio, E. Coccia, G. Orso et al., "Influence of polyphenols from olive mill wastewater on the gastrointestinal tract, alveolar macrophages and blood leukocytes of pigs," *Italian Journal of Animal Science*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 574–586, 2019.
- [77] R. Puupponen-Pimiä, L. Nohynek, C. Meier et al., "Antimicrobial properties of phenolic compounds from berries," *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, vol. 90, no. 4, pp. 494–507, 2001.
- [78] N. Kardum and M. Glibetic, "Polyphenols and their interactions with other dietary compounds: implications for human health," in *Advances in Food and Nutrition Research*, pp. 103–144, Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2018.
- [79] C. Shortt, O. Hasselwander, A. Meynier et al., "Systematic review of the effects of the intestinal microbiota on selected nutrients and non-nutrients," *European Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 57, no. 1, pp. 25–49, 2018.
- [80] T. D. C. Velickovic and D. J. Stanic-Vucinic, "The role of dietary phenolic compounds in protein digestion and processing technologies to improve their antinutritive properties," *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 82–103, 2018.
- [81] C. An, T. Kuda, T. Yazaki, H. Takahashi, and B. Kimura, "Caecal fermentation, putrefaction and microbiotas in rats fed milk casein, soy protein or fish meal," *Applied Microbiology* and Biotechnology, vol. 98, no. 6, pp. 2779–2787, 2014.
- [82] K. J. Petzke, S. Schuppe, S. Rohn, H. M. Rawel, and J. Kroll, "Chlorogenic acid moderately decreases the quality of whey proteins in rats," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 53, no. 9, pp. 3714–3720, 2005.
- [83] S. Rohn, K. J. Petzke, H. M. Rawel, and J. Kroll, "Reactions of chlorogenic acid and quercetin with a soy protein isolate—influence on the in vivo food protein quality in rats," *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, vol. 50, no. 8, pp. 696–704, 2006.
- [84] M. Bräunlich, R. Slimestad, H. Wangensteen, C. Brede, K. Malterud, and H. Barsett, "Extracts, anthocyanins and

procyanidins from Aronia melanocarpa as radical scavengers and enzyme inhibitors," *Nutrients*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 663–678, 2013.

- [85] A. Skoczyńska, I. Jedrychowska, R. Poręba et al., "Influence of chokeberry juice on arterial blood pressure and lipid parameters in men with mild hypercholesterolemia," *Pharmacological Reports*, vol. 59, no. 1, pp. 177–182, 2007.
- [86] S. Adisakwattana, P. Jiphimai, P. Prutanopajai, B. Chanathong, S. Sapwarobol, and T. Ariyapitipan, "Evaluation of α-glucosidase, α-amylase and protein glycation inhibitory activities of edible plants," *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, vol. 61, no. 3, pp. 295–305, 2010.
- [87] M. Renouf, C. Marmet, P. Guy et al., "Nondairy creamer, but not milk, delays the appearance of coffee phenolic acid equivalents in human plasma," *The Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 140, no. 2, pp. 259–263, 2010.
- [88] D. Scherbl, M. Renouf, C. Marmet et al., "Breakfast consumption induces retarded release of chlorogenic acid metabolites in humans," *European Food Research and Technology*, vol. 243, no. 5, pp. 791–806, 2017.
- [89] J. Ahn, I. Cho, S. Kim, D. Kwon, and T. Ha, "Dietary resveratrol alters lipid metabolism-related gene expression of mice on an atherogenic diet," *Journal of Hepatology*, vol. 49, no. 6, pp. 1019–1028, 2008.
- [90] Y. Yamashita, "Comparison of anti-hyperglycemic activities between low-and high-degree of polymerization procyanidin fractions from cacao liquor extract," *Journal of Food and Drug Analysis*, vol. 20, pp. 283–287, 2012.
- [91] P. Li, M. Lu, M. T. A. Nguyen et al., "Functional heterogeneity of CD11c-positive adipose tissue macrophages in diet-induced obese mice," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 285, no. 20, pp. 15333–15345, 2010.
- [92] W. Mullen, C. A. Edwards, M. Serafini, and A. Crozier, "Bioavailability of pelargonidin-3-O-glucoside and its metabolites in humans following the ingestion of strawberries with and without cream," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. 713–719, 2008.
- [93] A. Ejaz, D. Wu, P. Kwan, and M. Meydani, "Curcumin inhibits adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and angiogenesis and obesity in C57/BL mice," *The Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 139, no. 5, pp. 919–925, 2009.
- [94] Y. Peng, Q. Sun, W. Xu et al., "Vitexin ameliorates high fat diet-induced obesity in male C57BL/6J mice via the AMPKαmediated pathway," *Food & Function*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 1940–1947, 2019.
- [95] Q. Sun, J. Lin, Y. Peng, R. Gao, and Y. Peng, "Flubendiamide enhances adipogenesis and inhibits AMPKα in 3T3-L1 adipocytes," *Molecules*, vol. 23, no. 11, p. 2950, 2018.
- [96] Y. Peng, R. Gan, H. Li et al., "Absorption, metabolism, and bioactivity of vitexin: recent advances in understanding the efficacy of an important nutraceutical," *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, pp. 1–16, 2020.
- [97] M. Meydani and S. T. Hasan, "Dietary polyphenols and obesity," *Nutrients*, vol. 2, no. 7, pp. 737–751, 2010.
- [98] G. Della Pepa, C. Vetrani, M. Vitale et al., "Effects of a diet naturally rich in polyphenols on lipid composition of postprandial lipoproteins in high cardiometabolic risk individuals: an ancillary analysis of a randomized controlled trial," *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 74, no. 1, pp. 183– 192, 2020.



Review Article Bioavailability and Bioactivity of Alkylresorcinols from Different Cereal Products

Shuangqi Tian D, Yue Sun, Zhicheng Chen D, and Renyong Zhao

College of Food Science and Engineering, Henan University of Technology, Zhengzhou 450001, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Zhicheng Chen; chen_1958@163.com

Received 13 January 2020; Revised 19 March 2020; Accepted 15 May 2020; Published 30 May 2020

Academic Editor: quancai sun

Copyright © 2020 Shuangqi Tian et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Cereal products are the most important dietary source for energy intake and several bioactive compounds with high concentrations in the bran and the germ. Different cereal products provide a rich source of bioactive phytochemicals, namely, phenolic acids, carotenoids, tocopherols, alkylresorcinols, benzoxazines, phytosterols, and lignans. The bioactive substance alkylresorcinols (ARs) present in the whole cereal can inhibit enzyme activity, prevent bacterial or fungal infection, reduce cholesterol absorption, prevent cancer, and resist oxidation. In this paper, we discussed the biological activity of ARs in whole cereal products. Understanding the effects of processing on cereal phytochemicals will help us to develop improved processes for processing cereal foods with higher retention rates of bioactive compounds.

1. Introduction

Polyphenolic compounds from cereal products are an indispensable part of human diet, especially from whole wheat flour, whole rye flour, and whole triticale flour, which have antioxidant properties and potential health benefits, and have attracted extensive attention [1]. Alkylresorcinols (ARs) only exist in wheat and rye bran and are related to preventing and reducing the risks of related chronic diseases such as diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, obesity, and cancer [2-4]. According to a case-control study report, only whole cereal intake dominated by rye consumption may be very important for the prevention of type 2 diabetes, which indicates that ARs have certain effects on the prevention of diabetes [5, 6]. In addition, ARs can also inhibit digestive enzyme activity, reduce oxidative stress, reduce cholesterol absorption, prevent bacterial or fungal infection, reduce cholesterol absorption, and regulate triglyceride metabolism [7-9]. As a phenolic lipid, ARs contain amphiphilic 1, 3dihydroxybenzene derivatives (Figure 1) with an odd alkyl chain at the 5-th position of the benzene ring, where the length of the saturated alkyl tail varies between 15 and 27 carbons. As shown in Table 1, the homologues are C17:0, C19:0, C21:0, C23:0, and C25:0 [11, 12]. Therefore, C21:

C19 can be used to determine whether wheat is a whole wheat or a whole wheat product.

ARs in wheat bran samples were extracted with four different solvents, and ARs in bread were extracted with hot 1-propanol and quantified by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC/MS) [13]. It was found that ARs can be 3, 5-dihydroxybenzoic acid (DHBA) and 3-(3, 5-dihydrox-yphenyl)-1- C ionic acid (Population and Health Action Plan) in the hepatic metabolism after being absorbed by the human body. Several studies have reported a positive correlation between whole cereal intake and the presence of ARs in the plasma or its urine metabolites [14–22]. However, the physical and chemical properties of whole cereal foods are also closely related to the ARs content in cereals.

2. The Effect of ARs Content on Whole Cereal Products

The content of ARs in different cereal products is also different. According to the research on different varieties of Italian hard and soft wheat products, the ARs content of whole wheat bread made of hard and soft red wheat is significantly higher than that of other kinds of wheat [13]. The processing of whole wheat flour has a great influence on



TABLE 1: Structure and molecular weight of alkylresorcinol found in wheat, rye, and triticale.

Alkylresorcinol	Abbreviation	R	Molecular weight (g/mole)
5-n-Heptadecylresorcinol	(C17:0)	C17H35	348
5-n-Nonadecylresorcinol	(C19:0)	$C_{19}H_{39}$	376
5-n-Heneicosylresorcinol	(C21:0)	$C_{21}H_{43}$	404
5-n-Tricosylresorcinol	(C23:0)	$C_{23}H_{47}$	432
5-n-Pentacosylresorcinol	(C25:0)	$C_{25}H_{51}$	460

ARs. The results showed that the ARs level was significantly reduced when preparing whole wheat bread and rye bread [23]. It is speculated that the decrease of the ARs content may be due to the combined effect of fermentation and baking. The results showed that the baking temperature of bread was 218°C, when the intermediate compound starts sublimation at 196°C-250°C. However, the whole cereal products prepared after whole cereal fermentation showed that the ARs concentration increased slightly, indicating that ARs did not degrade during baking and showed expected stability during cereal preparation, which indicated that fermentation had a significant impact on ARs in whole cereal products [24]. Compared with whole wheat products, crisp bread has the highest ARs content in whole wheat or rye products, and its range is similar to that of whole wheat and rye products [25]. Therefore, the ARs content in bread products can be used to distinguish comprehensive and rye products.

It was found that the combined effect of fermentation and germination on rye can effectively enhance the contents of folic acid, total phenol, free phenolic acid, and ARs in whole wheat products, with synergistic effect. Therefore, the nutritional value of whole wheat products can be further enhanced through specific processing. The high content of ARs (0.5–1%) was added to the dough to improve the fermentation performance and increase the volume of rye bread [26]. The result showed that adding ARs could reduce bread quality and bread volume by 26–39% because rye bran contains about 4.3% salt, and it affects the baking of the whole wheat rye bread. Although the ARs content of bread baked with black wheat bran was ten times lower, the size and porosity of the bread were not affected. These results showed that compared with the study, the content of natural ARs in bread was too low, which had no practical influence on the quality of bread [27]. Bread is baked with wheat flour and 20% or 30% fine black bran (not extracted and extracted). The moisture content in the baking test (Table 2) is the optimum amount of each flour mixture.

3. Bioactivity of ARs in Different Cereal Products

ARs have a variety of physiological and biological activities, such as bactericidal, antioxidant, affecting membrane phospholipid activity and enzyme activity, and inhibiting tumors. The role of ARs in the body is closely related to its absorption and metabolism. The small intestine can partially absorb or metabolize ARs. The concentration of ARs in the plasma was $1.47-124 \mu g/L$. The biological activity of ARs is related to its alkyl chain length, mainly because the longer the alkyl chain, the better the fat solubility.

3.1. Antibacterial Activity of ARs in Different Cereal Products. ARs with high concentration have been proved to have antibacterial and antifungal activities and the ability to kill mollusks. This is mainly because alkylresorcinol inhibits phenol oxidase in mollusks. ARs had a strong and persistent effect on Gram-positive bacteria, but they have little effect on Gram-negative bacteria [28]. C15:0 has an inhibitory effect on the bread mold *Aspergillum* parasitic bacteria in the

Journal of Food Quality

TABLE 2: Water amount added to different flour mixtures.

Flour mixture	Water amount (mL)
Wheat +	
30% nonextracted rye bran	141
30% finely milled nonextracted rye bran	143
30% extracted rye bran	142
30% finely milled extracted rye bran	144
Wheat +	
20% nonextracted rye bran	138
20% finely milled nonextracted rye bran	141
20% extracted rye bran	138
20% finely milled extracted rye bran	141

United States and *Penicillium chrysogenum*, but only at high concentration (10 mg/ml agar medium) [29]. Carol has an obvious effect on malaria parasites. The side chain was found to be important for the antiallergic effect [30]. Antibacterial activity of ARs in more detail can be seen in [28]. In addition, ARs also play an important role in protecting wheat seed-lings from fungal infection [29].

3.2. Antioxidant Properties of ARs in Different Cereal Products. The free radical mechanism is considered to be one of the mechanisms of oxidative aging. Some in vitro experiments have shown that 5-alkylresorcinol has antioxidant activity, which is mainly due to the two indirect positions of hydroxyl groups on the benzene ring which can scavenge free radicals and generate protons. When studying the oxidation resistance of 5-alkylresorcinol on biofilms, 5-alkylresorcinol exhibits strong oxidation resistance, and the alkyl chain may play an important role in this process. 5-Alkylresorcinol exhibits strong oxidation resistance on membranes, mainly because it can be inserted into membranes and bind to adjacent phospholipids in the form of hydrogen bonds [31], thereby interfering with the structure of these membranes, affecting its performance, and resisting oxidation. To some extent, this theory can be used to explain the relationship between antioxidant performance and the alkyl chain length of 5-alkylresorcinol. The longer the alkyl chain is, the stronger the antioxidant activity is.

Most of the cereal foods that people need in daily life need to undergo production and processing. Processing affects the flavor and nutritional value of cereal products. This process may affect the active substance content and bioavailability in whole grain foods [32]. Research by Ross et al. [33] showed that ARs can be extracted from baked bread. Ross et al. [14] studied the combined effects of fermentation and germination on rye and found that the combination of these two processing methods can very effectively enhance the content of folic acid, total phenol, free phenolic acids, and ARs in whole wheat products. Therefore, the nutritional value of whole wheat products can be further enhanced through specific processing. Ross et al. [34] measured the ARs content of yeast, dough, and bread at different stages of wheat and rye whole flour through research, and the research showed that the ARs content decreased significantly during fermentation and baking. At the same time, Weipert and EIBaya reported that when flour is

made into bread, the amount of ARs decreases significantly [35, 36]. Ross et al. [37] found that natural whole wheat increased its ARs content to a certain extent during fermentation. Winata, and Lorenz [38] compared alkylresorcinol, fatty acids, and antioxidant activities of wheat processed by traditional and modern plants and found that whole grains showed higher ARs content and resistance to the corresponding crushed products oxidative activity, a reduction in total ARs content was observed after pulverization, and the lowest amount was detected in the semolina-

zation, and the lowest amount was detected in the semolinalike portion. Yu et al. [39] reported the effects of different peeling levels on wheat flour ARs. Studies have shown that peeling treatment has a significant effect on nutrients in wheat nutrition powder, and the ARs content gradually decreases with increasing peeling time.

3.3. Anticancer Properties of ARs in Different Cereal Products. Wheat bran plays an important role in preventing the occurrence and development of colon cancer. There is evidence that eating wheat bran can reduce the risk of colon cancer. Most of the animal and human tests have shown the relationship between wheat bran and reduction in the risk of colon cancer [10, 40, 41]. The main component of wheat bran oil, 5-alkylresorcinol, has a strong inhibitory effect on the proliferation of colon cancer cells [42], but the relevant mechanism has not been fully elucidated.

ARs can reduce the induction of some indirectly induced substances. Compared with anthocyanin, ARs can effectively inhibit the induction rate and frequency of inducers in the lymphocyte culture. The induction effect of ARs on reducing four standard inducers was found through the Ames test, and it was found that its effect is very significant [43]. In the sister chromosome hybridization test, ARs can significantly reduce the frequency of chromosome exchange. Further research shows that ARs can accelerate the death rate of damaged cells with genotoxicity and inhibit the formation of cancer cells. Later, the anticancer effect of ARs is attributed to the ability to increase apoptosis of cells damaged by genetic toxins [44]. Chain length seems to be very important for the cytotoxicity of cancer cells in vitro95 and inhibition of the formation of cancer, while shorter chain lengths (C15:0 and C17:0) may not be the most effective [45], further confirming that oxidative damaged DNA has strong induction and carcinogenic effects. Studies have shown that ARs inhibit oxidative damage caused by hydrogen peroxide to colon cancer cells. By adding 5alkylphloroglucinol directly related to colon cancer, reproductive toxicity of cancer cell excreta is also reduced. It can be proved that 5-alkylisophenol is a natural DNA polymer, which can be used as an inhibitor.

3.4. Inhibition of ARs on Enzymes in Different Cereal Products. Sileshi et al. [46] proposed that ARs and related compounds may have inhibitory effects on certain metabolic enzymes. C15:0 can inhibit the key enzyme GPDH of triacylglycerol synthesis, and the inhibitory effect is related to the alkyl chain length [47]. The metabolized alkylresorcinol can inhibit the action of phosphorylase and activate the synthesis of glycogen [48]. For example, 5-pentadecylresorcinol can inhibit glycerol 3-phosphate glycerol dehydrogenase activity. In a study, mice were fed with high concentrations of purified rye ARs (0.1%~0.4%). It was found that the level of VE in the liver was increased and hepatic cholesterol was reduced by 47% relative to the control group when the mice were fed with 0.4% of ARs [34]. The reduction in liver cholesterol is 47% [34]. The decrease of liver cholesterol may be due to the fact that ARs can interfere with lipid absorption or liver sterol synthesis, but its mechanism of action requires further research to clarify.

ARs are natural alpha-glycosidase inhibitors in whole grain foods. Wheat bran ARs can reduce fasting blood glucose in obese mice, induced by high-fat and high-sugar diets, increase glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity in mice, increase fecal cholesterol excretion in mice, and reduce cholesterol concentrations in the blood [47].

Maria et al. [49] studied the effect of phenolic lipids extracted from whole wheat on the activity of acetylcholinesterase. The experimental results show that phenolic lipids can inhibit the activity of acetylcholinesterase, and the effect of phenolic lipids and the structural characteristics of its hydrophilic part and the alkyl chain length is related.

4. Conclusion

The combined effect of fermentation and germination on rye can effectively enhance the contents of folic acid, total phenol, free phenolic acid, and ARs in whole wheat products, with synergistic effect. The nutritional value of whole wheat products can be further enhanced through specific processing. High content of ARs (0.5-1%) was added to the dough to improve the fermentation performance and increase the volume of rye bread. ARs have a variety of physiological and biological activities, such as bactericidal, antioxidant, affecting membrane phospholipids' activity and enzyme activity, and inhibiting tumors. The role of ARs in the body is closely related to its absorption and metabolism. The small intestine can partially absorb or metabolize ARs. There is also a certain concentration of ARs in the plasma. The biological activity of ARs is related to its alkyl chain length, mainly because the longer the alkyl chain, the better the fat solubility.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge the National Key Research and Development Program (no. 2018YFD0401000) and the Province Key Laboratory of Cereal Resource Transformation and Utilization, Henan University of Technology (PL2018007).

References

- A. S. Elder, J. N. Coupland, and R. J. Elias, "Antioxidant activity of a winterized, acetonic rye bran extract containing alkylresorcinols in oil-in-water emulsions," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 272, pp. 174–181, 2019.
- [2] A. B. Ross, Alkylresorcinols in Cereal Cereals. Occurrence, Absorption and Possible Use as Biomarkers of Whole Cereal Wheat and Rye Intake, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden, 2003.
- [3] E. Giambanelli, F. Ferioli, and L. F. D'Antuono, "Retention of alkylresorcinols, antioxidant activity and fatty acids following traditional hulled wheat processing," *Journal of Cereal Science*, vol. 79, pp. 98–105, 2018.
- [4] A. Gunenc, L. Kong, R. J. Elias, and G. R. Ziegler, "Inclusion complex formation between high amylose corn starch and alkylresorcinols from rye bran," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 259, pp. 1–6, 2018.
- [5] A. Kozubek and J. Rejman, "Inhibitory effect of natural phenolic lipids upon NAD-dependent dehydrogenases and on triglyceride accumulation in 3T3-L1 cells in culture," *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, vol. 52, no. 2, pp. 246– 250, 2004.
- [6] I. Biskup, C. Kyrø, M. Marklund et al., "Plasma alkylresorcinols, biomarkers of whole-grain wheat and rye intake, and risk of type 2 diabetes in Scandinavian men and women," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 104, no. 1, pp. 88–96, 2016.
- [7] S. Bartlomiej, R. K. Justyna, and N. Ewa, "Bioactive compounds in cereal cereals—occurrence, structure, technological significance and nutritional benefits—a review," *Food Science and Technology International*, vol. 18, pp. 559–568, 2012.
- [8] J.-M. Pihlava, J. Hellström, T. Kurtelius, and P. Mattila, "Flavonoids, anthocyanins, phenolamides, benzoxazinoids, lignans and alkylresorcinols in rye (Secale cereale) and some rye products," *Journal of Cereal Science*, vol. 79, pp. 183–192, 2018.
- [9] M. Knödler, A. Kaiser, R. Carle, and A. Schieber, "Profiling of alk (en) ylresorcinols in cereals by HPLC-DAD-APcI-MS n," *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, vol. 391, no. 1, pp. 221–228, 2008.
- [10] C. Yang, H. Li, H. Li, Y.-F. Wang, L. Meng, and Y.-X. Yang, "Mechanism study of 5-alkylresorcinols-induced colon cancer cell apoptosis in vitro," *World Chinese Journal of Digestology*, vol. 25, no. 29, pp. 2621–2630, 2017.
- [11] A. A. M. Andersson, P. Åman, M. Wandel, and W. Frølich, "Alkylresorcinols in wheat and rye flour and bread," *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, vol. 23, no. 8, pp. 794–801, 2010.
- [12] A. B. Ross and S. Kochhar, "Rapid and sensitive analysis of alkylresorcinols from cereal grains and products using HPLC–Coularray-Based electrochemical detection," *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, vol. 57, no. 12, pp. 5187–5193, 2009.
- [13] A. Gunenc, H. Tavakoli, K. Seetharaman, M. Paul, F. David, and H. Farah, "Stability and antioxidant activity of alkyresorcinols in breads enriched with hard and soft wheat brans," *Food Research International*, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 571–578, 2013.
- [14] A. B. Ross, A. Bourgeois, H. N. U. Macharia et al., "Plasma alkylresorcinols as a biomarker of whole-grain food consumption in a large population: results from the whole heart Intervention Study," *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 95, no. 1, pp. 204–211, 2012.

- [15] Y. Zhu, K. L. Shurlknight, X. Chen, and S. Sang, "Identification and pharmacokinetics of novel alkylresorcinol metabolites in human urine, new candidate biomarkers for whole-grain wheat and rye intake," *The Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 144, no. 2, pp. 114–122, 2014.
- [16] A. Anderson, M. Marklund, M. Diana, and R. Landberg, "Plasma alkylresorcinol concentrations correlate with whole cereal wheat and rye intake and show moderate reproducibility over a 2- to 3-month period in free-living Swedish adults," *The Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 141, no. 9, pp. 1712–1718, 2011.
- [17] R. Landberg, A. Kamal-Eldin, P. Åman et al., "Determinants of plasma alkylresorcinol concentration in Danish postmenopausal women," *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 65, no. 1, pp. 94–101, 2011.
- [18] R. Landberg, A. Kamal-Eldin, S.-O. Andersson et al., "Reproducibility of plasma alkylresorcinols during a 6-week rye intervention study in men with prostate cancer," *The Journal* of Nutrition, vol. 139, no. 5, pp. 975–980, 2009.
- [19] J. Montonen, R. Landberg, A. Kamal-Eldin et al., "Reliability of fasting plasma alkylresorcinol metabolites concentrations measured 4 months apart," *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 66, no. 8, pp. 968–970, 2012.
- [20] M. Aubertin-Leheudre, A. Koskela, A. Samaletdin, and H. Adlercreutz, "Plasma and urinary alkylresorcinol metabolites as potential biomarkers of breast cancer risk in Finnish women: a pilot study," *Nutrition and Cancer*, vol. 62, no. 6, pp. 759–764, 2010.
- [21] C. Kyrø, A. Olsen, H. B. Bueno-de-Mesquita et al., "Plasma alkylresorcinol concentrations, biomarkers of whole-cereal wheat and rye intake, in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) cohort," *British Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 111, pp. 1881–1890, 2014.
- [22] L. Meija, I. krams, V. Cauce et al., "Alkylresorcinol metabolites in urine and plasma as potential biomarkers of rye and wheat fiber consumption in prostate cancer patients and controls," *Nutrition and Cancer*, vol. 67, no. 2, p. 8, 2015.
- [23] A. Winata and K. Lorenz, "Antioxidant Potential of 5-n-Pentadecylresorcinol," *Journal of Food Processing and Pres*ervation, vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 417–429, 1996.
- [24] CRC, Handbook of Chemistry and Physics, p. 74, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, USA, 1993.
- [25] K. Katina, A. Laitila, R. Juvonen et al., "Bran fermentation as a means to enhance technological properties and bioactivity of rye," *Food Microbiology*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 175–186, 2007.
- [26] T. Söderman, "Effects of alkylrecorsinols on bread baking properties and starch gelatinisation," M.S. Thesis, Department of Food Technology, Engineering andnutrirtion", Lund University, Lund, Sweden, 2008.
- [27] P. R. Smith and J. Johansson, "Influences of the proportion of solid fat in a shortening on loaf volume and staling of bread," *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*, vol. 28, no. 5, pp. 359–367, 2005.
- [28] M. Himejima and I. Kubo, "Antibacterial agents from the cashew Anacardium occidentale (Anacardiaceae) nut shell oil," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 418–421, 1991.
- [29] J. Reiss, "Influence of alkylresorcinols from rye and related compounds on the growth of food-borne moulds," *Cereal Chemistry*, vol. 66, pp. 491–493, 1989.
- [30] S. Yoshikatsu, E. Yasuaki, and H. Hiroshi, "Isolation of 5resorcinol from etiolated rice seedlings as an antifungal agent," *Phytochemistry*, vol. 41, no. 6, pp. 1485–1489, 1996.

- [31] V. V. Bitkov, V. A. Nenashev, N. N. Pridachina, and S. G. Batrakov, "Membrane-structuring properties of bacterial long-chain alkylresorcinols," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* (*BBA*)—*Biomembranes*, vol. 1108, no. 2, pp. 224–232, 1992.
- [32] T. Sun, Y. Rong, X. Hu et al., "Plasma alkylresorcinoL metabolite, a biomarker of whole-grain wheat and rye intake, and risk of Type 2 diabetes and impaired glucose regulation in a Chinese population," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 440– 445, 2018.
- [33] A. B. Ross, W. Becker, Y. Chen, A. Kamal-Eldin, and P. Åman, "Intake of alkylresorcinols from wheat and rye in the United Kingdom and Sweden," *British Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 94, no. 4, pp. 496–499, 2005.
- [34] A. B. Ross, Y. Chen, J. Frank et al., "Cereal alkylresorcinols elevate γ-tocopherol levels in rats and inhibit γ-tocopherol metabolism in vitro," *The Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 134, no. 3, pp. 506–510, 2004.
- [35] K. Katina, K.-H. Liukkonen, A. Kaukovirta-Norja et al., "Fermentation-induced changes in the nutritional value of native or germinated rye," *Journal of Cereal Science*, vol. 46, no. 3, pp. 348–355, 2007.
- [36] D. Weipert and A. W. Elbaya, "5-Alkylresorcin in getreide und getreideprodukten," *Veroeff Arbeitsgem Getreideforsch*, vol. 31, pp. 225–322, 1977.
- [37] A. B. Ross, A. Kamal-Eldin, C. Jung, M. J. Shepherd, and P. Åman, "Gas chromatographic analysis of alkylresorcinols in rye (Secale cerealeL) grains," *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, vol. 81, no. 14, pp. 1405–1411, 2001.
- [38] A. Winata and K. Lorenz, "Effects of fermentation and baking of whole wheat and whole rye sourdough breads on cereal alkylresorcinols," *Cereal Chemistry Journal*, vol. 74, no. 3, pp. 284–287, 1997.
- [39] S. Yu, Y. L. Xia, and E. J. Zhu, "Effect of different peeling degree on ARs and vitamins B contents in wheat nutrition powder," *Food Science and Technology*, vol. 42, pp. 162–166, 2017.
- [40] W. G. Tang, F. Q. Guan, Y. Y. Zhao et al., "Experimental study on antitumor effects of five alkylphenol from wheat bran and its preliminary mechanism," *Science and Technology in Food Industry*, vol. 35, pp. 352–355, 2014.
- [41] Y. Zhu, D. N. Soroka, and S. Sang, "Synthesis and inhibitory activities against colon cancer cell growth and proteasome of alkylresorcinols," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 60, no. 35, pp. 8624–8631, 2012.
- [42] H. Adlercreutz, "Western diet and Western diseases: some hormonal and biochemical mechanisms and associations," *Scandinavian Journal of Clinical and Laboratory Investigation*, vol. 50, pp. 3–23, 1990.
- [43] K. Gasiorowski, K. Szyba, B. Brokos, and A. Kozubek, "Antimutagenic activity of alkylresorcinols from cereal cereals," *Cancer Letters*, vol. 106, pp. 109–115, 1996.
- [44] K. Gasiorowski, B. Brokos, A. Kozubek, and J. Ogorzalek, "The antimutagenic activity of two plant-derived compounds a comparative cytogenic study," *Cellular & Molecular Biology Letters*, vol. 5, pp. 174–190, 2000.
- [45] K. Iwatsuki, T. Akihisa, H. Tokuda et al., "Sterol ferulates, sterols, and 5-alk (en) ylresorcinols from wheat, rye, and corn bran oils and their inhibitory effects on epstein–barr virus activation," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 51, no. 23, pp. 6683–6688, 2003.
- [46] G. W. Sileshi, M. C. B. Inês, M. Ruin, and S. Dan, "Magnetic ligand fishing as a targeting tool for HPLC-HRMS-SPE-NMR: α-glucosidase inhibitory ligands and alkylresorcinol

glycosides from eugenia catharinae," *Journal of Natural Products*, vol. 78, no. 11, pp. 2657–2665, 2015.

- [47] K. Parikka, I. R. Rowland, R. W. Welch, and K. Wähälä, "In vitro antioxidant activity and antigenotoxicity of 5-n-Alkylresorcinols," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 54, no. 5, pp. 1646–1650, 2006.
- [48] S. E. Van, "Involvement of phosphorylase kinase inhibi-tion in the effect of resorcinol and proglycosyn on glycogen metabolism in the liver," *European Journal of Biochemistry*, vol. 234, pp. 301–307, 1995.
- [49] M. Stasiuk, D. Bartosiewicz, and A. Kozubek, "Inhibitory effect of some natural and semisynthetic phenolic lipids upon acetylcholinesterase activity," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 108, no. 3, pp. 996–1001, 2008.



Research Article

Optimization of Enzymatic Conditions of Sturgeon Muscles and Their Anti-Inflammatory Potential

Ruichang Gao,^{1,2} Yang Shen,¹ Wanghui Shu,¹ Fan Bai,³ Wengang Jin,² Jinlin Wang,³ and Li Yuan ¹

 ¹School of Food and Biological Engineering, Jiangsu University, Zhenjiang 212013, China
 ²Bio-Resources Key Laboratory of Shaanxi Province, School of Bioscience and Engineering, Shaanxi University of Technology, Hanzhong 723001, China
 ³Quzhou Xunlong Aquatic Products Sci-Tech Development Co., Ltd., Quzhou 324000, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Li Yuan; yuanli24@163.com

Received 5 February 2020; Accepted 12 May 2020; Published 29 May 2020

Academic Editor: Ye Peng; ypeng@umass.edu

Copyright © 2020 Ruichang Gao et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The objective of this study was to investigate the effects of different enzymolysis conditions on the NO inhibition rate and DH (degree of hydrolysis) of sturgeon hydrolysates (SH) prepared by Alcalase. The NO inhibition rate of 60.23% was attained under the optimum enzymolysis conditions as follows: pH 9.0, enzymolysis time of 4.92 h, enzymolysis temperature of 55° C, solid/liquid ratio of 1:20, and enzyme additive amount of 7674.22 U/g protein, which was well matched with the predicted value 61.44% of the Box–Behnken design model. After the ultrafiltration of SH, SH-3 (SH < 3 kDa) could significantly decrease the levels of NO and proinflammatory cytokine level IL-6. Also, we found that the obtained SH-3 contained good properties of emulsification and possessed good WHC and OHC. SH-3 demonstrated appreciable antioxidant potential on DPPH and ABTS radical scavenging activities. These results suggested that SH-3 derived from sturgeon muscles could potentially be used as a promising ingredient against inflammatory and oxidative stress-associated diseases.

1. Introduction

Fish and fishery products provide not only essential micronutrients, but also high-value protein. However, approximately 50% of protein-rich fish byproducts are used as fishmeal and animal feed or discarded, causing a lot of waste. Enzymatic hydrolysis is the most efficient method for recovering value-added proteins from fish byproducts and keeping the value of nutrition. According to previous studies, fish protein-derived hydrolysates possess different bioactivities, such as antioxidative, antitumor, anti-inflammatory, neuroprotective, and antidiabetic effects [1–3].

Inflammation is a defense mechanism triggered by pathogen invasion or tissue damage caused by biological, physical, or chemical damage [4, 5]. The activation of macrophages is an important part of initiating defensive responses, and the release by macrophages of inflammatory mediators such as nitric oxide (NO) and proinflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) can enhance the defense ability [6, 7]. NO is an important signaling molecule in neurotransmission, vasodilation, and host immune defense [8]. However, overproduction of NO and inflammatory cytokines is related to various diseases, such as atherosclerosis, rheumatoid arthritis, and endotoxin-induced organ injury [9, 10]. Some investigators found that the anti-inflammatory effects were mainly related to the antioxidant activities [11, 12]. Besides, plenty of research studies have reported that anti-inflammatory hydrolysates can be obtained from fish protein hydrolysates [13, 14]. For example, salmon byproduct protein hydrolysates and fish scale collagen peptides possess anti-inflammatory activity [14, 15].

In China, sturgeon caviars are expensive and in short supply; sturgeon muscles are found in large quantities and most of them are discarded as waste. Sturgeon muscles have been used in traditional Chinese medicine to help people maintain overall wellness for thousands of years. However, in recent years, sturgeon muscles have received limited attention as a potential resource of bioactive hydrolysates. Thus, exploring the anti-inflammatory activity of sturgeon muscles hydrolysates is significant to expand the application in food industries.

The objectives of this study were to optimize the enzymatic hydrolysis conditions of sturgeon muscles and investigate its anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidant effects to verify the possibility for application of functional food materials.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Materials. Alcalase were purchased from Shanghai Macklin Biochemical Co., Ltd. (Shanghai, China). 2,2-Diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) and 2,2-azino-bis(3ethylbenzthiazoline)-6-sulfonic acid (ABTS) were obtained from Aladdin Industrial Corporation (Ontario, CA). Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) and fetal bovine serum (FBS) were from Biological Industries (Kibbutz Beit Haemek, Israel). 3-(4,5-Dimethylthizaol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenylterazolium bromide (MTT) was purchased from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, MO, USA). Penicillin, streptomycin, lipopolysaccharide (LPS), and Griess Reagent were from Beyotime Biotechnology (Shanghai, China). Interleukin-6 (IL-6) enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits were obtained from Fcmacs (Nanjing, China). All other chemicals were of reagent grade.

2.2. Single-Factor Experiments. In order to obtain the optimal enzymatic hydrolysis conditions of sturgeon muscles by using Alcalase, the effect of pH, time, temperature, solid/ liquid ratio, and enzyme additive amount was tested by single-factor experiment. The chosen pH is 7.5, 8.0, 8.5, 9.0, and 9.5. The chosen hydrolysis times are 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6 h. The chosen reaction temperatures are 45, 50, 55, 60°C, and 65°C. The chosen solid/liquid ratios are 1:25, 1:20, 1:15, 1: 10, and 1:5. The selected enzyme additive amounts are 1000, 2000, 4000, 6000, 8000, and 10,000 U/g protein. SH was prepared according to previous reports with slight modification [16, 17]. Sturgeon muscles were initially homogenized with distilled water. The suspension was added with Alcalase and the pH was adjusted to hydrolyze. Afterwards, the reaction was terminated by heating the mixture in a water bath at 95°C for 20 min. The supernatant was collected and freeze-dried for further analysis.

2.3. Response Surface Method. According to the single-factor experimental results, the range of level values of each factor was determined. The response surface method with three-level and four test variables (pH (X_1), time (X_2), temperature (X_3), and enzyme additive amount (X_4)) was employed in optimization procedure. The NO inhibition rate was chosen as the response variable of the experiments. The range of independent variables and levels are shown in Table 1. A second-order polynomial model [18] was used to describe the optimal hydrolysis conditions of sturgeon muscles.

TABLE 1: Independent variables and levels used in response surface design.

Indonondont variables	Unito	Levels			
independent variables	Units	-1	0	1	
pH (X ₁)		8.5	9.0	9.5	
Time (X_2)	h	4	5	6	
Temperature (X_3)	°C	45	50	55	
Enzyme additive amount (X_4)	U/g	6000	8000	10000	

Design Expert (8.0.6) software was used for the design and statistical analysis.

2.4. Ultrafiltration. SH under the optimal enzymatic conditions was filtered through ultrafiltration membranes with a molecular weight cut-off (MWCO) of 10 and 3 kDa (Millipore Co., USA). All fractions including SH-1 (>10 kDa), SH-2 (3–10 kDa), and SH-3 (<3 kDa) were freeze-dried for further experiment.

2.5. Determination of the Degree of Hydrolysis. The DH was estimated by the o-phthaldialdehyde (OPA) method [19].

2.5.1. Cell Culture. The murine macrophage RAW264.7 cells were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and 1% penicillin and streptomycin. Cells were grown in a humidified incubator with 5% CO₂ at 37° C.

2.5.2. Cell Viability. RAW264.7 cells were seeded into a 96well plate overnight and pretreated with different concentrations (0.125, 0.25, 0.5, 1.0, and 2.0 mg/mL) of SH for 24 h. MTT solution was added to each well and incubated for another 4 h at 37°C. Then, the supernatant was discarded, 150 μ L DMSO was added to each well, and the absorbance was detected at 570 nm using a microplate reader (Tecan Infinite PRO TWIN 200, Switzerland). Viability was expressed as a percentage of the control.

2.6. Determination of Nitric Oxide (NO) and IL-6. RAW264.7 cells were cultured in 24-well plates overnight and pretreated with SH for 12 h. Then, cells were stimulated with LPS ($2 \mu g/mL$) for 24 h. The nitrite concentration was measured with Griess reagent. Inflammatory cytokine IL-6 was assessed by ELISA kit following the manufacturer's instructions.

2.7. Functional Properties of SH

2.7.1. Emulsifying Properties. Emulsifying activity index (EAI) and the emulsion stability index (ESI) were measured according to previous reports with slight modifications [20]. 30 mL of 1% SH solution with different pH (2, 4, 6, 8, and 10) was mixed with 10 mL soybean oil and homogenized at 15,000 rpm for a minute. $50 \,\mu$ L of the emulsion was pipetted from the bottom of the container at 0 and 10 min after homogenization and diluted with 5 mL of 0.1% sodium

dodecyl sulfate solution. The absorbance of the solution was measured at 500 nm using a spectrophotometer. EAI and ESI were calculated as follows:

$$\mathrm{EAI}\left(\mathrm{m}^{2}/\mathrm{g}\right) = \frac{2 \times 2.303 \times \mathrm{dil} \times A}{(C \times \Phi \times 10000)},$$
(1)

$$\mathrm{ESI}\,(\mathrm{min}) = \frac{(A_0 \times 10)}{\Delta A},\tag{2}$$

where *A* is absorption at 500 nm; dil is dilution factor (100); *C* is protein concentration in aqueous phase (g/mL); Φ is oil volume fraction (0.25); and $\Delta A = A_0 - A_{10}$.

2.7.2. Foaming Capacity and Foam Stability. Foaming capacity (FC) and foam stability (FS) were determined according to the previous methods with some modifications [21]. 0.4 g of the sample was placed in 40 mL distilled water and stirred at room temperature for 30 min. The foam was prepared using a homogenizer at 15,000 rpm for 2 min. The foam volume was noted immediately after 2 min. FS was calculated by measuring the fall of the foam volume after every 1 min. FC and FS were calculated as follows:

Foaming capacity =
$$\left[\frac{V_2 - V_1}{V_1}\right] \times 100,$$
 (3)

where V_1 is volume before whipping and V_2 is volume after whipping.

Foam stability =
$$\left[\frac{\text{Foam volume after time}}{\text{initial foam volume}}\right] \times 100.$$
 (4)

2.7.3. Water Holding Capacity. WHC was estimated by the centrifuge method according to the previous study with some modifications [22]. 0.5 g of SH was dissolved in 10 mL of distilled water and vortexed for 30 s. The solution was allowed to stand for 6 h at room temperature and then centrifuged at 5,000 g for 30 min. The supernatant was then filtered and the volume collected was noted. The difference between the initial volume of distilled water added to the sample and the volume of the supernatant was measured, and the results were calculated as milliliters of water absorbed per gram of SH.

2.7.4. Oil Holding Capacity. OHC was determined by the centrifuge method according to the reported method with slight modifications [22]. 0.5 g of SH was added to 10 mL of soybean oil and vortexed for 30 s. The oil dispersion was then centrifuged at 2,800 g for 30 min. The volume of oil separated from the hydrolysate was measured, and OHC was calculated as the grams of oil absorbed per gram of SH.

2.8. Determination of Antioxidant Activity

2.8.1. DPPH Radical Scavenging Activity. DPPH free radical-scavenging activity of SH was measured according to the method described by previous studies with some modifications [23, 24]. 2 mL of each sample with different concentrations was added to 2 mL of 0.1 mM DPPH in 99.5% ethanol and incubated for 30 min at 37°C in dark conditions; the absorbance was determined at 517 nm with spectro-photometer. In addition, a control sample containing DPPH solution without sample was prepared. In blank sample, DPPH solution was substituted with ethanol. The DPPH radical scavenging activity was evaluated by the inhibition percentage of DPPH radical as in the following equation:

DPPH radical scavenging activity (%) =
$$\left(1 - \frac{A_1 - A_2}{A_0}\right)$$

× 100%,

where A_1 was the absorbance of the sample; A_0 was the absorbance of the control group; and A_2 was blank absorbance.

2.8.2. ABTS Radical Scavenging Activity. Radical scavenging ability was measured as described previously with slight modifications [25]. The ABTS radical cation was generated by mixing 7.4 mM ABTS with 2.45 mM K₂S₂O₈ and exposing the resultant mixture to the dark at room temperature for at least 12 h. The ABTS radical solution was diluted in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (pH 7.0) to an absorbance of 0.70 ± 0.02 at 734 nm. 1 mL of diluted ABTS free radical solution was mixed with 1 mL of the sample at different concentrations. After 10 minutes, the absorbance was measured at 734 nm against the corresponding blank. The ABTS scavenging activity was calculated as in the following equation:

ABTS scavenging activity (%) =
$$\frac{A_{\text{control}} - A_{\text{sample}}}{A_{\text{control}}} \times 100\%,$$
(6)

where A_{control} was the absorbance without sample and A_{sample} was the absorbance with sample.

2.9. Statistical Analysis. Data are expressed as means±standard deviation of more than two replicates. The statistical difference among groups was evaluated by oneway ANOVA (SPSS for win 8.0, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL). The results were considered significant when p < 0.05.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Cell Viability. In order to evaluate cytotoxic effects of SH on RAW264.7 cells, MTT assay was performed. Figure 1(a) showed that SH did not have cytotoxic effects up to 2.0 mg/mL. Therefore, the concentration of 0.5 mg/mL of SH was selected for further study.

3.2. The Analysis of Single-Factor Experiments

3.2.1. The Effect of pH on DH and NO Inhibition Rate. As shown in Figure 2(a), the effect of enzymolysis pH on DH and NO inhibition rate of SH was investigated. The pH was



FIGURE 1: SH supplementation inhibited LPS-stimulated inflammation in macrophages: cell viability (a), nitrite level (b), and IL-6 level (c) in RAW 264.7 cells. Data are expressed as means \pm SEM. Values without a common letter are significantly different at P < 0.05.

changed from 7.5 to 9.5, while other variables were set as follows: enzymolysis temperature 50° C, enzymolysis time 6 h, solid/liquid ratio 1:25, and enzyme additive amounts 2000 U/g protein. The DH was increased from 20.0% to 28.2% as the pH increased from 7.5 to 9.5. However, the NO inhibition rate of SH increased with pH until it was up to 9.0 and then began to decrease. The maximum NO inhibition rate was 42.36% at the pH of 9.0. Such a decline in the NO inhibition rate might be due to the change of spatial structure of the enzyme or the interference of the ionic properties of the substrate, which could reduce the ability of the substrate to bind the enzyme, resulting in a decrease or even loss of enzyme activity [20].

3.2.2. The Effect of Enzymolysis Time on DH and NO Inhibition Rate. Figure 2(b) showed the effects of different enzymolysis times on the DH and NO inhibition rate of SH when the pH was 9.0 and other three factors remained unchanged. The NO inhibition rate increased when the enzymolysis time varied from 2 h to 5 h peaked at 50.66% and then decreased. While DH kept increasing with the increase of time. This might be attributed to the fact that longer enzymolysis time could lead to excessive hydrolysis of SH.

3.2.3. The Effect of Enzymolysis Temperature on DH and NO Inhibition Rate. The reaction temperature of SH was set with the range of 45 to 65° C. Enzymolysis time was 5 h while the other three conditions were unchanged. As shown in Figure 2(c), the NO inhibition rate of SH peaked when the temperature was 50°C. When the temperature exceeded 50°C, the rate decreased. This phenomenon could be attributed to the possibility that the protease might be denatured and inactivated under high temperature conditions, the stability of the enzyme will decline, and its role of cutting the peptide chain will be lost [26].

3.2.4. Effect of Solid/Liquid Ratio on DH and NO Inhibition Rate. The solid/liquid ratio of SH was assessed within the range of 1:5 to 1:25. Enzymolysis temperature was 50°C while the other three conditions were unchanged. The results



FIGURE 2: Continued.



FIGURE 2: Effects of enzymolysis conditions on the DH and NO inhibition rate of SH: (a) pH; (b) enzymolysis time; (c) enzymolysis temperature; (d) solid/liquid ratio; and (e) enzyme additive amount. Data are expressed as means \pm SEM. Values without a common letter are significantly different at *P* < 0.05.

were displayed in Figure 2(d). When the S/L ratio is 1:20, the NO inhibition rate is relative higher, which was 53.94% and the DH reached the peak. Considering the subsequent mass production, 1:20 of the S/L ratio was selected for further optimization.

3.2.5. Effect of Enzyme Additive Amounts on DH and NO Inhibition Rate. The effect of enzyme additive amounts on DH and NO inhibition rate was shown in Figure 2(e). It was set at 1000, 2000, 4000, 6000, 8000, and 10,000 U/g protein, respectively. Solid/liquid ratio was 1:20 and the other three conditions were unchanged. When the enzyme additive amount was 8000 U/g protein, NO inhibition rate and DH reached 58.73% and 33.76%, respectively. However, there was a decrease when the enzyme additive amount continued to rise. This finding is probably attributed to the increase of enzyme molecular collision and aggregation, leading to the enzyme autolysis, which is not conducive to the enzymatic reaction. This result indicated that the enzyme additive amount of 8000 U/g protein was sufficient to obtain a high NO inhibition rate.

3.3. Response Surface Analysis. The response surface analysis of the experimental data was shown in Tables 2 and 3. The response variable and the test variables were related by the following a second-order regression equation:

NO inhibition rate =
$$58.53 - 2.39X_1 + 1.20X_2 + 2.46X_3$$

 $-0.59X_4 + 3.30X_1X_2 + 2.98X_1X_3$
 $+ 2.42X_1X_4 - 1.33X_2X_3 + 2.18X_2X_4$
 $-0.14X_3X_4 - 4.05X_1^2 - 3.24X_2^2 + 0.39X_3^2$
 $-2.82X_4^2$, (7)

where *Y* is the NO inhibition rate of SH, X_1 is pH, X_2 is enzymolysis time, X_3 is enzymolysis temperature, and X_4 is enzyme additive amount. As presented in Table 3, a high *F*-value (10.31) and a low *p*-value (<0.0001) indicated that the regression model was significant. In addition, the value of the determination coefficient ($R^2 = 0.9116$), the adjusted coefficient of determination ($R^2_{adj} = 0.8332 > 0.8$), and the coefficient of variation (C.V. = 3.35%) indicated a high

TABLE 2: Box-Behnken experimental design with independent variables.

Dur	Co	ded var	iable lev	NO inhibition note (0)	
Kun	X_1	X_2	X_3	X_4	NO minibition rate (%)
1	-1	-1	0	0	56.51
2	1	$^{-1}$	0	0	45.24
3	$^{-1}$	1	0	0	52.24
4	1	1	0	0	54.17
5	0	0	$^{-1}$	$^{-1}$	54.37
6	0	0	1	$^{-1}$	60.24
7	0	0	$^{-1}$	1	53.84
8	0	0	1	1	59.17
9	$^{-1}$	0	0	$^{-1}$	57.57
10	1	0	0	$^{-1}$	49.51
11	$^{-1}$	0	0	1	49.04
12	1	0	0	1	50.64
13	0	$^{-1}$	$^{-1}$	0	49.04
14	0	1	$^{-1}$	0	56.51
15	0	$^{-1}$	1	0	57.57
16	0	1	1	0	59.7
17	-1	0	-1	0	58.64
18	1	0	-1	0	46.2
19	-1	0	1	0	55.94
20	1	0	1	0	55.44
21	0	-1	0	-1	53.31
22	0	1	0	-1	49.04
23	0	-1	0	1	49.91
24	0	1	0	1	54.37
25	0	0	0	0	58.64
26	0	0	0	0	59.7
27	0	0	0	0	57.44
28	0	0	0	0	59.44
29	0	0	0	0	57.44

degree of correlation between the NO inhibition rate and the four variables. Furthermore, the *p*-value of the lack of fit was 0.1113 (p > 0.05), which indicated that the factors other than these four factors had less interference with the test results and the differences were not significant, suggesting good reliability of the regression model. Moreover, the linear coefficients and quadratic term coefficients (X_1 , X_2 , and X_3) (X_1^2 , X_2^2 , and X_4^2) (X_1X_2 , X_1X_3 , X_1X_4 , and X_2X_4) were significant (p < 0.05).

Response surfaces were plotted using Design-Expert to study the effects of variables and their interactions on NO inhibition rate [27]. The 3D response surface plots and 2D contour plots were shown in Figure 3. It provided a method to visualize the relationship between the responses and experimental levels of each variable and the type of interactions between the two test variables. The shapes of the contour plots indicate the significance of the interactions between two tested variables, where a circular contour plot indicates no significant interaction, and an elliptical or saddle contour plot suggests a significant interaction. As shown in Figure 3, the interactions of the variables (pH and enzymolysis time, pH and enzymolysis temperature, pH and enzyme additive amount, and enzymolysis time and enzyme additive amount) were significant (p < 0.05).

According to the regression model, the optimal enzymolysis conditions were as follows: pH = 9.0, enzymolysis

Source	SS	Df	MS	<i>F</i> value	<i>p</i> -value	
Model	480.18	14	34.3	10.31	< 0.0001	Significant
X_1	68.83	1	68.83	20.7	0.0005^{*}	U
X_2	17.4	1	17.4	5.23	0.0382*	
X_3	72.32	1	72.32	21.75	0.0004^{*}	
X_4	4.17	1	4.17	1.25	0.2819	
X_1X_2	43.56	1	43.56	13.1	0.0028^{*}	
X_1X_3	35.64	1	35.64	10.72	0.0055^{*}	
X_1X_4	23.33	1	23.33	7.02	0.0191*	
X_2X_3	7.13	1	7.13	2.14	0.1652	
X_2X_4	19.05	1	19.05	5.73	0.0312*	
X_3X_4	0.073	1	0.073	0.022	0.8844	
X_{1}^{2}	106.34	1	106.34	31.98	< 0.0001*	
X_{2}^{2}	68.1	1	68.1	20.48	0.0005*	
X_{3}^{2}	0.99	1	0.99	0.3	0.5935	
X_{4}^{2}	51.41	1	51.41	15.46	0.0015*	
Residual	46.55	14	3.33			
Lack of fit	41.97	10	4.2	3.66	0.1113	Not significant
Pure error	4.59	4	1.15			8
Total variation	526.73	28				
R^2	0.9116					
Adj R ²	0.8332					
C.V. (%)	3.35					

time = 4.92 h, enzymolysis temperature = 55° C, and enzyme additive amount = 7674.22 U/g protein. Under these conditions, the theoretical NO inhibition rate of SH was 61.44%. In order to confirm the validity of the regression model, an additional experiment was conducted under the optimal enzymolysis conditions. The NO inhibition rate of SH was 60.23%, almost approaching the predicted value 61.44%, which meant that the regression model was valid.

3.4. LPS-Stimulated Inflammation Was Inhibited by SH in Macrophages. In RAW264.7 cells, LPS-stimulation increased the secretion of NO and IL-6 (Figures 1(b) and 1(c)). SH dramatically inhibited the secretion of NO and IL-6, with SH-3 (SH < 3 kDa) showing the best inhibitory effect by 66.24% and 39.54%, respectively. This result indicated that SH could inhibit the inflammatory response in macrophage cells, and thus SH-3 was used for further investigation.

3.5. Functional Properties

3.5.1. Emulsifying Properties. SH is a surface-active material that contains both hydrophilic and hydrophobic groups which could promote the formation of an oil-in-water emulsion. Protein ability can be determined through the formation and stabilization of the emulsion [21, 28]. As shown in Figures 4(a) and 4(b), the EAI and ESI of SH-3 were affected by pH, where the EAI and ESI were the worst near the isoelectric point (pH = 4) and better under acidic and alkaline conditions that deviated from the isoelectric point. Several studies have shown that a range of pH at 6–10

TABLE 3: ANOVA for the response surface quadratic model of NO inhibition rate.





FIGURE 3: Response surface (3D) and contour plots (2D) showing interaction effect of (a) pH, (b) enzymolysis time, (c) enzymolysis temperature, and (d) enzyme additive amount on NO inhibition rate.

produced the highest EAI, with the lowest EAI at pH 4 [29, 30]. According to Taheri et al. [29], polypeptides unfold at highly alkaline pH due to their negative charges. Repulsion caused by this change allows a better orientation at the interface. Therefore, this condition makes the exposure of hydrophilic and hydrophobic peptide residues more effective and promotes significant interactions at the oil–water interface.

3.5.2. Foaming Capacity and Foam Stability. Foaming capacity is one of the important functional properties of proteins and peptides. The surface tension at the air-water interface is lower by the proteins or peptides which leads to the formation of a stable foam [31]. Generally, foam formation follows three major steps, transportation, penetration, and restructuring of the molecules at the air-water interface [32]. FC and FS of SH-3 are shown in Table 4 and Figure 4(c), respectively. FC of SH-3 was $73.75 \pm 2.58\%$. Regarding FS, it was 17.50% after 1 min and 0.63% after 4 min at pH 6, and the foam faded afterwards. Low FS possibly arises from the formation of free amino acids during hydrolysis [33]. Nalinanon et al. [34] reported that low-molecular-weight (~1 kDa) peptides were unable to maintain a well-ordered, interface orientation of the molecule. Besides, water has fluidity under gravity; gas diffusion

between foams will cause gas imbalance, which is the main factor of foam instability [35].

3.5.3. Water and Oil Holding Capacity. The solubility of protein affects both WHC and OHC because high solubility means smaller molecular size, which influences the absorption of water and oil [28]. As shown in Table 4, the values of WHC and OHC in SH-3 were 1.90 ± 0.12 and 2.35 ± 0.05 g/g, respectively.

3.5.4. Antioxidant Activity. Oxidative stress is an imbalance between reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation and scavenging by antioxidative agents [36, 37]. In addition to natural antioxidants (carotenoids, phenolic compounds, vitamin C, vitamin E, and so on), the hydrolysates and peptides have also been recognized for their antioxidative activity [38, 39]. As free radical compounds, DPPH and ABTS are extensively employed to estimate the antioxidant capacity of various samples [40]. As shown in Table 5, the IC₅₀ values of DPPH and ABTS of SH were 1.215 ± 0.081 mg/ mL and 1.563 ± 0.080 mg/mL. After ultrafiltration of SH, DPPH radical scavenging activity and ABTS radical scavenging activity increased with the decrease of molecular weight, indicating that low molecular weight possessed higher antioxidant activity, which were in agreement with



FIGURE 4: Functional properties of SH-3 at different pH: (a) emulsion activity index; (b) emulsifying stability index; and (c) foam stability at different time. Data are expressed as means \pm SEM. Values without a common letter are significantly different at P < 0.05.

ABLE 4: Functional properties o	of SH-3 obtained und	ler optimal ei	nzymolysis conditions
---------------------------------	----------------------	----------------	-----------------------

Functional property	Capacity
WHC (g water/g protein)	1.90 ± 0.12
OHC (g oil/g protein)	2.35 ± 0.05
Foam capacity (%)	73.75 ± 2.58

TABLE 5: IC₅₀ value of SH and its fractions by ultrafiltration on DPPH radical scavenging activity and ABTS radical scavenging activity.

Fraction	IC ₅₀ DPPH radical scavenging activity (mg/mL)	IC ₅₀ ABTS radical scavenging activity (mg/mL)
SH	$1.215 \pm 0.081^{ m b}$	$1.563 \pm 0.080^{ m B}$
>10 kDa	1.968 ± 0.095^{a}	2.215 ± 0.109^{A}
3–10 kDa	$1.264 \pm 0.105^{\mathrm{b}}$	$1.603 \pm 0.063^{\mathrm{B}}$
<3 kDa	$1.043 \pm 0.090^{\circ}$	$1.396 \pm 0.074^{\rm C}$
GSH	$0.007 \pm 0.001^{\rm d}$	$0.009 \pm 0.002^{\mathrm{D}}$

GSH was used as positive control. Data are expressed as means \pm SEM. Values without a common letter are significantly different at P < 0.05.

the published reports on antioxidant peptides [41]. However, GSH showed higher antioxidative ability compared to SH.

4. Conclusion

In this study, underutilized sturgeon muscles were successfully transformed to bioactive hydrolysates by enzymatic hydrolysis. Based on the single-factor experiments, RSM was used to optimize the experimental variables. The optimum enzymolysis conditions were as follows: pH = 9.0, enzymolysis time = 4.92 h, enzymolysis temperature = 55° C, ratio = 1 : 20, and solid/liquid enzyme additive amount = 7674.22 U/g protein. Under these conditions, the NO inhibition rate of SH was 60.23%. After ultrafiltration of SH, SH-3 (SH < 3 kDa) showed the best inhibitory effect of NO and proinflammatory cytokine IL-6 by 66.24% and 39.54%, respectively. In addition, we found that SH-3 had good properties of emulsification and possessed good WHC and OHC. SH-3 was also found to exhibit stronger antioxidant capacity in DPPH and ABTS radical scavenging activity. These results suggest that SH-3 might be the potential safer alternative ingredient possessed of anti-inflammatory and antioxidative activities. However, the structure characterization and anti-inflammatory mechanism need to be further investigated.

Data Availability

All data generated or used during the study appear in the submitted article.

Conflicts of Interest

There are no conflicts of interest associated with the authors of this manuscript.

Acknowledgments

This project was supported by China Agriculture Research System (CARS-46) and the Senior Talent Cultivation Program of Jiangsu University (18JDG023).

References

- S.-K. Kim and I. Wijesekara, "Development and biological activities of marine-derived bioactive peptides: a review," *Journal of Functional Foods*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 1–9, 2010.
- [2] E. Kati, G. Nina, and S. Katrin, "The ACE inhibitory dipeptide met-tyr diminishes free radical formation in human endothelial cells via induction of heme oxygenase-1 and ferritin," *Journal of Nutrition*.vol. 136, no. 8, pp. 2148–2152, 2006.
- [3] H. G. Kristinsson and B. A. Rasco, "Fish protein hydrolysates: production, biochemical, and functional properties," *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 43–81, 2000.
- [4] Y. Z. Hong, E. M. Shin, L. Y. Guo et al., "Anti-inflammatory activity of 4-methoxyhonokiol is a function of the inhibition of iNOS and COX-2 expression in RAW 264.7 macrophages via NF-κB, JNK and p38 MAPK inactivation," *Planta Medica*, vol. 74, no. 9, pp. 340–349, 2008.

- [5] D. B. Reddy and P. Reddanna, "Chebulagic acid (CA) attenuates LPS-induced inflammation by suppressing NF- κ B and MAPK activation in RAW 264.7 macrophages," *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 381, no. 1, pp. 112–117, 2009.
- [6] J.-Y. Je and S.-K. Kim, "Chitosan as potential marine nutraceutical," *Marine Medicinal Foods-Implications and Applications-Animals and Microbes*, vol. 65, no. 65, pp. 121– 135, 2012.
- [7] Y. Peng, R. Gan, H. Li et al., "Absorption, metabolism, and bioactivity of vitexin: recent advances in understanding the efficacy of an important nutraceutical," *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, pp. 1–16, 2020.
- [8] P. Pacher, J. S. Beckman, and L. Liaudet, "Nitric oxide and peroxynitrite in health and disease," *Physiological Reviews*, vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 315–424, 2007.
- [9] S. S. Rabinowitz, "Nitric oxide and inflammatory bowel disease," *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology & Nutrition*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 372-373, 1998.
- [10] C. T. Ritchlin, S. A. Haas-Smith, P. Li, D. G. Hicks, and E. M. Schwarz, "Mechanisms of TNF-α- and RANKL-mediated osteoclastogenesis and bone resorption in psoriatic arthritis," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 111, no. 6, pp. 821–831, 2003.
- [11] Q. Zhao, J. F. Kennedy, X. Wang et al., "Optimization of ultrasonic circulating extraction of polysaccharides from Asparagus officinalis using response surface methodology," *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 181–187, 2011.
- [12] Y. Lin, M. Jiang, W. Chen, and Y. Wei, "Cancer and ER stress: mutual crosstalk between autophagy, oxidative stress and inflammatory response," *Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy*, vol. 118, Article ID 109249, 2019.
- [13] P. A. Harnedy and R. J. FitzGerald, "Bioactive peptides from marine processing waste and shellfish: a review," *Journal of Functional Foods*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 6–24, 2012.
- [14] C.-B. Ahn, Y.-S. Cho, and J.-Y. Je, "Purification and antiinflammatory action of tripeptide from salmon pectoral fin byproduct protein hydrolysate," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 168, pp. 151–156, 2015.
- [15] F. Subhan, H. Y. Kang, Y. Lim, M. Ikram, S. J. O. M. Yoon, and C. Longevity, "Fish scale collagen peptides protect against CoCl₂/TNF- α-induced cytotoxicity and inflammation via inhibition of ROS, MAPK, and NF-κB pathways in HaCaT cells," Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, vol. 2017, Article ID 9703609, 17 pages, 2017.
- [16] M. Ovissipour, A. Abedian, A. Motamedzadegan, B. Rasco, R. Safari, and H. Shahiri, "The effect of enzymatic hydrolysis time and temperature on the properties of protein hydrolysates from Persian sturgeon (Acipenser persicus) viscera," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 115, no. 1, pp. 238–242, 2009.
- [17] S. Saidi, A. Deratani, M.-P. Belleville, and R. Ben Amar, "Antioxidant properties of peptide fractions from tuna dark muscle protein by-product hydrolysate produced by membrane fractionation process," *Food Research International*, vol. 65, pp. 329–336, 2014.
- [18] H. Hu, Q. Zhao, J. Xie, and D. Sun, "Polysaccharides from pineapple pomace: new insight into ultrasonic-cellulase synergistic extraction and hypoglycemic activities," *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, vol. 121, pp. 1213–1226, 2019.
- [19] P. W. M. L. H. K. Marambe, P. J. Shand, and J. P. D. Wanasundara, "An in-vitro investigation of selected biological activities of hydrolysed flaxseed (*Linum*)

usitatissimum L.) proteins," Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society, vol. 85, no. 12, pp. 1155-1164, 2008.

- [20] A. Noman, Y. Xu, W. Q. AL-Bukhaiti et al., "Influence of enzymatic hydrolysis conditions on the degree of hydrolysis and functional properties of protein hydrolysate obtained from Chinese sturgeon (*Acipenser sinensis*) by using papain enzyme," *Process Biochemistry*, vol. 67, pp. 19–28, 2018.
- [21] R. Pacheco-Aguilar, M. A. Mazorra-Manzano, and J. C. Ramírez-Suárez, "Functional properties of fish protein hydrolysates from Pacific whiting (*Merluccius productus*) muscle produced by a commercial protease," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 109, no. 4, pp. 782–789, 2008.
- [22] J. Wasswa, J. Tang, X. Gu, and X. Yuan, "Influence of the extent of enzymatic hydrolysis on the functional properties of protein hydrolysate from grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idella*) skin," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 104, no. 4, pp. 1698–1704, 2007.
- [23] C. Juliana, M. Adriana, M. Rosso, J. Tellechea, and J. García-Pardo, "Adding value to the chia (*Salvia hispanica* L.) expeller: production of bioactive peptides with antioxidant properties by enzymatic hydrolysis with Papain," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 274, pp. 848–856, 2019.
- [24] H. Y. Luo, B. Wang, C. G. Yu, Y. Qu, and C. Su, "Evaluation of antioxidant activities of five selected brown seaweeds from China," *Journal of Medicinal Plants Research*.vol. 4, no. 23, pp. 2557–2565, 2010.
- [25] B. Hernández-Ledesma, A. Quirós, L. Amigo, and I. Recio, "Identification of bioactive peptides after digestion of human milk and infant formula with pepsin and pancreatin," *International Dairy Journal*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 42–49, 2007.
- [26] F. Guerard, L. Guimas, and A. Binet, "Production of tuna waste hydrolysates by a commercial neutral protease preparation," *Journal of Molecular Catalysis B: Enzymatic*, vol. 19-20, pp. 489–498, 2002.
- [27] Y. Li, C.-p. Zhu, X.-c. Zhai et al., "Optimization of enzyme assisted extraction of polysaccharides from pomegranate peel by response surface methodology and their anti-oxidant potential," *Chinese Herbal Medicines*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 416–423, 2018.
- [28] S. D. A. D. Santos, V. G. e. Martins, M. Salas-Mellado, and C. Prentice, "Evaluation of functional properties in protein hydrolysates from bluewing searobin (Prionotus punctatus) obtained with different microbial enzymes," *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, vol. 4, no. 8, pp. 1399–1406, 2011.
- [29] A. Taheri, S. A. A. Anvar, H. Ahari, and V. Fogliano, "Comparison the functional properties of protein Hydrolysates from poultry byproducts and rainbow trout viscera," *Iranian Journal of Fisheries Sciences*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 154– 169, 2013.
- [30] N. R. A. Halim, H. M. Yusof, and N. M. Sarbon, "Functional and bioactive properties of fish protein hydolysates and peptides: a comprehensive review," *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, vol. 51, pp. 24–33, 2016.
- [31] K. Surówka and M. J. I. J. o.F. S. Fik, "Studies on the recovery of proteinaceous substances from chicken heads I An application of neutrase to the production of protein hydrolysate," *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 9–20, 1992.
- [32] Y. Thiansilakul, Antioxidative Activity and Functional Properties of Protein Hydrolysate from Round Sead (Decapterus Maruadsi) Muscle, Prince of Songkla University, Hat Yai, Thailand, 2006.
- [33] N. R. Galla, P. R. Pamidighantam, S. Akula, and B. Karakala, "Functional properties and in vitro antioxidant activity of roe

protein hydrolysates of Channa striatus and Labeo rohita," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 135, no. 3, pp. 1479–1484, 2012.

- [34] C.-F. Chi, Z.-H. Cao, B. Wang, F.-Y. Hu, Z.-R. Li, and B. Zhang, "Antioxidant and functional properties of collagen hydrolysates from Spanish mackerel skin as influenced by average molecular weight," *Molecules*, vol. 19, no. 8, pp. 11211–11230, 2014.
- [35] A. Moro, G. D. Báez, G. A. Ballerini, P. A. Busti, and N. J. Delorenzi, "Emulsifying and foaming properties of β-lactoglobulin modified by heat treatment," *Food Research International*, vol. 51, no. 1, pp. 1–7, 2013.
- [36] Y.-Z. Fang, S. Yang, and G. Wu, "Free radicals, antioxidants, and nutrition," *Nutrition*, vol. 18, no. 10, pp. 872–879, 2002.
- [37] Y. Peng, Q. Sun, and Y. Park, "The bioactive effects of chicoric acid as a functional food ingredient," *Journal of Medicinal Food*, vol. 22, no. 7, pp. 645–652, 2019.
- [38] N. M. Sarbon, "Antioxidant activity and functional properties of fractionated cobia skin gelatin hydrolysate at different molecular weight," *International Food Research Journal*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 651–660, 2015.
- [39] I. Lassoued, L. Mora, A. Barkia, M.-C. Aristoy, M. Nasri, and F. Toldrá, "Bioactive peptides identified in thornback ray skin's gelatin hydrolysates by proteases from Bacillus subtilis and Bacillus amyloliquefaciens," *Journal of Proteomics*, vol. 128, pp. 8–17, 2015.
- [40] Z. Li, B. Wang, C. Chi, Y. Gong, H. Luo, and G. Ding, "Influence of average molecular weight on antioxidant and functional properties of cartilage collagen hydrolysates from *Sphyrna lewini*, Dasyatis akjei and Raja porosa," *Food Research International*, vol. 51, no. 1, pp. 283–293, 2013.
- [41] J. M. Lorenzo, P. E. S. Munekata, B. Gómez, F. J. Barba, M. Leticia, and P.-S. Cristina, "Bioactive peptides as natural antioxidants in food products-A review," *Trends in Foods Science & Technology*.vol. 79, pp. 136–147, 2018.



Research Article

Anti-Inflammatory Effects of Essential Oils of Amomum aromaticum Fruits in Lipopolysaccharide-Stimulated RAW264.7 Cells

Nguyen Hai Dang^(b),^{1,2} Le Thi Van Anh,³ and Nguyen Tien Dat⁴

¹University of Science and Technology of Hanoi, Vietnam Academy of Science and Technology (VAST), 18 Hoang Quoc Viet Cau Giay, Hanoi, Vietnam

²Institute of Marine Biochemistry, VAST, 18 Hoang Quoc Viet Cau Giay, Hanoi, Vietnam

³Graduate University of Science and Technology, VAST, 18 Hoang Quoc Viet Cau Giay, Hanoi, Vietnam ⁴Center for Research and Technology Transfer, VAST, 18 Hoang Quoc Viet Cau Giay, Hanoi, Vietnam

Correspondence should be addressed to Nguyen Hai Dang; nguyenhd@imbc.vast.vn

Received 21 April 2020; Revised 9 May 2020; Accepted 13 May 2020; Published 25 May 2020

Academic Editor: quancai sun

Copyright © 2020 Nguyen Hai Dang et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Inflammation is a vital physiologic response of cellular injury, infection, or autoimmune activation. Overproduction of proinflammatory mediators may result in the chronic inflammation that leads to many diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, asthma, multiple sclerosis, and atherosclerosis. In this study, we assessed for the first time the anti-inflammatory effects of the essential oils of *Amomum aromaticum* fruits (AAE) in RAW264.7 murine macrophage model. As a result, AAE potently inhibited the production of nitric oxide in LPS-induced RAW264.7 cells with the IC₅₀ value of $0.45 \pm 0.11 \,\mu$ g/ml. AAE also dose-dependently reduced the expression of two proinflammatory proteins iNOS and COX-2 in the stimulated cells. Phytochemical analysis revealed that major compositions of the volatile oils including 1,8 cineole (48.22%), geranial (9.24%), neral (6.72%), α -pinene (2.43%), and α -terpineol (2.28%) may contribute greatly to the inhibition effects due to their anti-inflammatory properties. The results suggest for the potential uses of AAE in chronic inflammation prevention.

1. Introduction

Chronic inflammation is an undesirable phenomenon of a prolonged inflammatory response. Overproduction of proinflammatory mediators such as cytokines, interleukins, nitric oxide (NO), inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), and cyclooxygenase (COX-2) may result in various diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, asthma, multiple sclerosis, and atherosclerosis [1]. Therefore, control of proinflammatory responses is a wise strategy to prevent the development of inflammatory diseases. Since the ancient time, food was determined as an important source for prevention of diseases. There has been accumulation of evidence that increases consumption of certain foods might lower the risk of cardiovascular disease, cancer, and inflammation [2, 3].

Amomum aromaticum Roxb. is a species of the Zingiberaceae family, which is a common spice and food flavoring agent in Vietnam and other Asian countries. The fruits of this plant have been used in traditional medicine for the treatment of cough, abdominal pain, vomiting, diarrhea, and malaria. The oils of seeds have been used in India for benefiting the digestive system, applied to the eyelids to eliminate the inflammation [4, 5]. To date, there has been only few studies about of the phytochemicals as well as the biological activities of this plant. Recently, *A. aromaticum* essential oils are shown as promising antileishmanial agent in a screening program of 37 plants of Vietnam flora [6]. The methanolic extract of *A. aromaticum* exhibited significant antimicrobial activity against *Enterococcus faecalis, Staphylococcus aureus, Enterobacter aerogenes, Proteus mirabilis*,

and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* with the MIC values ranging from 3.41 to 9.63 mg/ml [7].

In this study, we investigated the phytochemical contents of essential oils of the *A. aromaticum* fruits and its antiinflammatory properties including NO production inhibition assay and inhibitory effects on the expression of two key enzymes of inflammation process: inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) in RAW264.7 cells stimulated with LPS.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Plant Materials and Essential Oil Preparation. The fruits A. aromaticum were freshly collected in Ha Giang province in November 2019. The samples were taxonomically identified by Dr. Nguyen the Cuong, Institute of Ecology and Biological Resources (VAST), and voucher specimens were deposited in the Institute of Marine Biochemistry. The samples (500 g) were hydrodistilled in a Clevenger-type apparatus for 4 h, after which the essential oils were separated and dried with anhydrous Na₂SO₄. The obtained oils (AAE) were stored at -5° C until used.

2.2. GC/MS Analysis of Essential Oils. GC/MS analysis was performed using an Agilent GC7890A apparatus coupled to a mass selective detector (Agilent 5976C). A HP-5MS fused silica capillary column (60 $m \times 0.25$ mm id. $\times 0.25 \mu$ m film thickness) was used. Helium was the carrier gas with a flow rate of 1.0 ml/min. The inlet temperature was 240°C, and the oven temperature program was as follows: 60°C to 220°C at 4 °C/min and then at 20°C/min to 240°C. The split injection mode was 1:142, the detector temperature was 240°C, and the injection volume was $0.1 \,\mu$ l. The MS interface temperature was 240°C, MS mode, E.I. detector voltage 1300 V, and mass range 40-400 Da at 1.0 scan/s. Identification of components was achieved based on their retention indices and by comparison of their mass spectral fragmentation patterns with those stored on the MS library (NIST08, Wilev09). Component relative contents were calculated based on total ion current without standardization. Data processing was MassFinder4.0.

2.3. Cell Culture. Murine macrophage RAW264.7 cell lines used in this study were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA, USA). Cells were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Hyclone, Logan, UT, USA) and penicillin (100 units/ ml)-streptomycin (100 μ g/ml) (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Cultures were maintained in a CO₂ incubator-humidified atmosphere 5% CO₂ at 37°C.

2.4. Assay for Inhibition of NO Production. The effects of samples on the NO production in LPS-stimulated RAW264.7 macrophage cells were examined as described previously [8]. The cells were seeded in 96-well plate at 2×10^5 cells/well and incubated for 18 h. The plates were pretreated with AAE (from 0.1 µg/ml to 100 µg/ml) for

30 min and then incubated for another 24 h with or without $1 \mu g/ml$ LPS (*Escherichia coli* 0111: B4; Sigma Aldrich, USA). 100 μ l of the culture supernatant was transferred to other 96well plates, and 100 μ l of Griess reagent was added. The absorbance of the reaction solution was read at 570 nm with a XMark microplate reader (BioRad, USA). The remaining cell solutions in cultured 96-well plate were used to evaluate cell viability by 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazole-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay [9]. Cardamonin, a known NO production inhibitor, was used as a positive control [10].

Journal of Food Quality

2.5. Western Blot Analysis. The RAW264.7 cells were harvested and lysed in a lysis buffer (150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 1 mM EDTA, 1% NP-40, 5 mM sodium orthovanadate, and protease inhibitors cocktail (BD Biosciences)) and then centrifuged for 10 min at 4°C and 15,000 rpm. An equal amount of protein was separated onto SDS-PAGE (sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis) and transferred to a PVDF membrane (Millipore, Germany). The membranes were blocked in 5% nonfat skim milk for 1 h at room temperature, probed with the appropriate primary antibodies, washed, and then incubated with the corresponding secondary antibodies. α -Tubulin was used as the loading control. The signal was developed using the ECL (enhanced chemiluminescence) system (GE Healthcare, UK) and detected in a gel imaging system Azure c300 (Azure Biosciences, UK). The captured images were analyzed and quantified using ImageJ v. 1.53a (NIH, Maryland, USA).

2.6. Statistical Analysis. Data are expressed as the mean- \pm standard deviation (SD). Statistical significance was assessed by the two-tailed unpaired Student's *t* test, and *P* values less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Phytochemicals of AAE Analyzed by GC/MS. The essential oils of A. aromaticum fruits (AAE) obtained by hydrodistillation yields 1.49% based on a calculation with the dry weight of fruits. A total of 25 compounds were identified by using GC/MS data in combination with the MS library analyses (Table 1). The major chemical group of AAE is monoterpene with more than 81% of the total contents. Of which, 1,8-cineole (or eucalyptol, 48.22%), geranial (9.24%), neral (6.72%), α -pinene (2.43%), α -terpineol (2.28%), and β -pinene (2.18%) are among the most abundance monoterpenes of the fruit oils. Four aliphatic aldehydes was found including n-octanal, 2-octenal, (E,E)-decenal, and (E,E)dodecanal which comprise about 8.26% of the AAE content. Meanwhile, only one sesquiterpene E-nerolidol (1.69%) was found. Our results were in good agreement with the previous report which shows monoterpenes as the major contents together with the presence of aliphatic aldehyde and sesquiterpene groups [6]. The fruit essential oils contained 55.2% of 1,8-cineole which was slightly higher than that of our findings. The distribution of relative quantities of major

 TABLE 1: Chemical compositions of essential oils of A. aromaticum fruits.

No.	Compounds	RI	Relative percentage (%)
1	α-Thujene	930	0.16
2	α-Pinene	939	2.43
3	Sabinene	978	0.54
4	β -Pinene	984	2.18
5	Myrcene	991	0.46
6	n-Octanal	1003	0.47
7	α-Phellandrene	1010	1.43
8	O-Cymene	1029	0.51
9	Limonene	1034	2.9
10	1,8-Cineole	1038	48.22
11	(E)- β -cymene	1048	0.83
12	2-Octenal	1058	0.95
13	γ-Terpinene	1063	0.3
14	Linalool	1101	0.37
15	Isoneral	1166	0.19
16	δ -Terpineol	1174	0.21
17	Isogeranial	1184	0.3
18	Terpinen-4-ol	1185	0.92
19	α-Terpineol	1198	2.28
20	Neral	1246	6.72
21	Geraniol	1256	1.33
22	(E,E)-Decenal	1264	4.9
23	Geranial	1275	9.24
24	(E,E)-Dodecanal	1470	1.94
25	E-Nerolidol	1570	1.69
	Total identified (%)		91.47
	Yield ^a (%)		1.49

^aYield calculated based on the fresh materials; RI: retention index.

monoterpenes in both studies was found to be similar. The difference of quantities of individual compounds in both samples may be due to the variation of the origin of samples, seasons of collection, or the environmental factors. The presence of high content of 1,8-cineole was not only found in *A. aromaticum* but also in some other *Amomum* species including *A. tsao-ko* (23.87%–45.24%) [11–13] and *A. subulatum* Roxb (20%–89%) [14–16] depending on parts of the plant used for analysis.

3.2. AAE Reduced the NO Production in LPS-Induced RAW264.7 Cells by Inhibiting the Expressions of iNOS and COX-2. NO is an important signaling molecule in various physiological and pathophysiological responses [17]. Searching for inhibitors of NO production in LPS-stimulated macrophages has been a worldwide effort for the development of anti-inflammatory agents. The in vitro antiinflammatory activity of AAE was investigated by determining its NO production inhibitory effect in LPS-stimulated RAW264.7 cells. The primary screening results showed that AAE inhibited potently the NO production (about 100%) in the stimulated cells at concentration of $100 \,\mu \text{g/ml}$. We further evaluated the potency of the inhibitory activity of AAE by determining its IC_{50} value. As the results, the IC_{50} value of AAE was determined as $0.45 \pm 0.11 \,\mu$ g/ml which was slightly higher than the positive control, cardamonin $(0.59 \pm 0.18 \,\mu\text{g/ml})$. Treatment of AAE at the screening

concentration after 24 h had no impact on the cell viability (data not shown). Next, we investigated the effects of AAE on the two key enzymes of inflammation process: iNOS (inducible nitric oxide synthase), mainly responsible for the production of NO and COX-2 (cyclooxygenase-2), in charge of production inflammatory mediators such as PGE2 (prostaglandin E2). The western blot analysis revealed that AAE dose-dependently inhibited the expression of both enzymes. Remarkably, at a concentration of $0.3 \mu g/ml$, the inhibitory effects of AAE against iNOS and COX-2 expressions were still observed significantly (Figure 1(b)). To our knowledge, this is the first report of this potent antiinflammatory activity of the *A. aromaticum* essential oils.

The phytochemicals are considered as the major contributors to the biological activity of a plant samples. In our study, we found that the fruit essential oils showed remarkable anti-inflammatory effects. The major composition of AAE, as indicated, is 1,8-cineole which comprises about 48% of the total oil content. Interestingly, 1,8-cineole was demonstrated as a very promising anti-inflammatory agent. Molecular mechanism studies indicated that 1,8-cineole effectively reduced the expression of proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF-IL-1 β and IL-6 with the IC₅₀ values ranging from 0.2 to 7.0 μ M. It was found to be a potent inhibitor of NF- κ B activation [18]. 1,8-cineole also displayed its anti-inflammatory properties in various animal models. This compound was advanced to clinical trials for bronchial asthma. When administered as an adjunct therapy with prednisolone, 1,8-cineole showed a significant improvement in respiratory volume and quality of asthma. The effect was still maintained when the dosage of prednisolone was decreased by 36% [19]. Other major compositions of AAE such as α -pinene [20], α -terpineol [21], geraniol [22], neral, and geranial [23] also exhibited their effects of anti-inflammation. It is demonstrated that the chief monoterpenes of AAE seem to greatly contribute to the anti-inflammatory activity of the fruit oils.

The anti-inflammatory properties of essential oils of some other Amomum species were reported. The fruit extract of A. tsao-ko displayed potent anti-inflammatory effects in RAW264.7 cells stimulated with LPS [24]. Further studies showed that the effects were achieved because this extract induced the expression of heme oxygenase-1 which consequently increased the Nrf-2 activation. The similar effects were also obtained from different extracts and isolated compounds from A. tsao-ko [25-27]. Agnihotri et al. investigated the topical anti-inflammatory effect of the fruit essential oils of A. subulatum. The results showed that the volatile oils exhibited moderate activities compared with standard drug, diclofenac [14]. The extracts of A. compactum, A. xanthoides, and A. vilosum also demonstrated their anti-inflammatory activities in vitro and in vivo [28-30]. Interestingly, there have been very few studies on the Amomum essential oils with anti-inflammation. In our study, we have reported that AAE is a promising anti-inflammatory agent by potently inhibiting the production of nitric oxide, the expressions of iNOS and COX-2 in LPSinduced RAW264.7 murine macrophages. Notably, A. aromaticum has been traditionally used as a common spice suggesting its safety effects in therapeutic use.



FIGURE 1: Inhibitory effect of AAE on LPS-induced iNOS and COX-2 expression in RAW264.7 murine macrophages. (a) Western blot analysis of iNOS and COX-2 expression in LPS-induced RAW264.7 cells after 24 h of treatment with AAE in different concentrations; (b) quantitation was analyzed by ImageJ 1.53a (NIH, USA). The ratio of the relative intensity of iNOS or COX-2 to tubulin is expressed; CON : control, LPS : lipopolysaccharide.

4. Conclusions

For the first time, the anti-inflammatory properties of the fruit essential oils of Amomum aromaticum Roxb. were investigated. The volatile oils displayed potent inhibitory effects against the production of nitric oxide; the expression of two proinflammatory enzymes iNOS and COX-2 in RAW264.7 macrophages was stimulated with LPS. Phytochemical investigation revealed that the essential oils contain various anti-inflammatory compositions including 1,8 cineole (48.22%), geranial (9.24%), neral (6.72%), *α*-pinene (2.43%), and *α*-terpineol (2.28%). These findings suggest that essential oils of A. aromaticum fruits can be an alternative natural source for prevention of chronic inflammation. Further studies are necessary for evaluation of anti-inflammation mechanisms of action and in vivo assessments of the very promising essential oils.

Data Availability

The data used to support the findings of this study are included within the article.

Conflicts of Interest

All authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgments

This research was funded by the Vietnam National Foundation for Science and Technology Development (NAFOSTED) under grant no. 104.01-2017.307.

References

- J. Kanterman, M. Sade-Feldman, and M. Baniyash, "New insights into chronic inflammation-induced immunosuppression," *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 307–318, 2012.
- [2] H. Boeing, A. Bechthold, A. Bub et al., "Critical review: vegetables and fruit in the prevention of chronic diseases," *European Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 51, no. 6, pp. 637–663, 2012.
- [3] Y. Peng, R. Gan, H. Li et al., "Absorption, metabolism, and bioactivity of vitexin: recent advances in understanding the efficacy of an important nutraceutical," *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, pp. 1–16, 2020.

- [4] P. K. Sharma, N. S. Chauhan, and B. Lal, "Observations on the traditional phytotherapy among the inhabitants of Parvati valley in western Himalaya, India," *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, vol. 92, no. 2-3, pp. 167–176, 2004.
- [5] C. P. Kala, "Ethnomedicinal botany of the apatani in the eastern Himalayan region of India," *Journal of Ethnobiology* and Ethnomedicine, vol. 1, no. 1, p. 11, 2005.
- [6] T. B. Le, C. Beaufay, D. T. Nghiem, M.-P. Mingeot-Leclercq, and J. Quetin-Leclercq, "In vitro anti-leishmanial activity of essential oils extracted from Vietnamese plants," *Molecules*, vol. 22, no. 7, p. 1071, 2017.
- [7] S. Rath and R. N. Padhy, "Monitoring in vitro antibacterial efficacy of 26 Indian spices against multidrug resistant urinary tract infecting bacteria," *Integrative Medicine Research*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 133–141, 2014.
- [8] L. T. Vien, T. T. H. Hanh, P. T. T. Huong et al., "Pyrrole oligoglycosides from the starfish *Acanthaster planci* suppress lipopolysaccharide-induced nitric oxide production in RAW264.7 macrophages," *Chemical and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, vol. 64, no. 11, pp. 1654–1657, 2016.
- [9] T. Mosmann, "Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays," *Journal of Immunological Methods*, vol. 65, no. 1-2, pp. 55–63, 1983.
- [10] S. Hatziieremia, A. I. Gray, V. A. Ferro, A. Paul, and R. Plevin, "The effects of cardamonin on lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory protein production and MAP kinase and NFκB signalling pathways in monocytes/macrophages," *British Journal of Pharmacology*, vol. 149, no. 2, pp. 188–198, 2009.
- [11] Q. Cui, L.-T. Wang, J.-Z. Liu et al., "Rapid extraction of *Amomum tsao-ko* essential oil and determination of its chemical composition, antioxidant and antimicrobial activities," *Journal of Chromatography B*, vol. 1061-1062, pp. 364– 371, 2017.
- [12] Y. Yang, Y. Yue, Y. Runwei, and Z. Guolin, "Cytotoxic, apoptotic and antioxidant activity of the essential oil of *Amomum tsao-ko*," *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 101, no. 11, pp. 4205–4211, 2010.
- [13] Y. Wang, C.-X. You, C.-F. Wang et al., "Chemical constituents and insecticidal activities of the essential oil from Amonum tsaoko against two stored-product insects," *Journal of Oleo Science*, vol. 63, no. 10, pp. 1019–1026, 2014.
- [14] S. A. Agnihotri, S. R. Wakode, and M. Ali, "Chemical composition, antimicrobial and topical anti-inflammatory activity of essential oil of *Amomum subulatum* fruits," *Acta Poloniae Pharmaceutica*, vol. 69, no. 6, pp. 1177–1181, 2012.
- [15] R. Joshi, P. Sharma, V. Sharma, R. Prasad, R. K. Sud, and A. Gulati, "Analysis of the essential oil of large cardamom (*Amomum subulatumRoxb.*) growing in different agro-climatic zones of himachal pradesh, India," *Journal of the Science* of Food and Agriculture, vol. 93, no. 6, pp. 1303–1309, 2013.
- [16] P. Satyal, N. S. Dosoky, B. L. Kincer, and W. N. Setzer, "Chemical compositions and biological activities of Amomum subulatum essential oils from Nepal," Natural product communications, vol. 7, no. 9, pp. 1233–1236, 2012.
- [17] S. Moncada, R. M. Palmer, and E. A. Higgs, "Nitric oxide: physiology, pathophysiology, and pharmacology," *Pharma-cological Reviews*, vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 109–142, 1991.
- [18] K. Y. Kim, H. S. Lee, and G. H. Seol, "Eucalyptol suppresses matrix metalloproteinase-9 expression through an extracellular signal-regulated kinase-dependent nuclear factor-kappa B pathway to exert anti-inflammatory effects in an acute lung inflammation model," *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, vol. 67, no. 8, pp. 1066–1074, 2015.

- [19] H. Worth, C. Schacher, and U. Dethlefsen, "Concomitant therapy with cineole (eucalyptole) reduces exacerbations in COPD: a placebo-controlled double-blind trial," *Respiratory Research*, vol. 10, no. 1, 2009.
- [20] A. T. Rufino, M. Ribeiro, F. Judas et al., "Anti-inflammatory and chondroprotective activity of (+)-α-Pinene: structural and enantiomeric selectivity," *Journal of Natural Products*, vol. 77, no. 2, pp. 264–269, 2014.
- [21] S. Held, P. Schieberle, and V. Somoza, "Characterization of α-terpineol as an anti-inflammatory component of orange juice by in vitro studies using oral buccal cells," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, vol. 55, no. 20, pp. 8040– 8046, 2007.
- [22] J. Wang, B. Su, H. Zhu, C. Chen, and G. Zhao, "Protective effect of geraniol inhibits inflammatory response, oxidative stress and apoptosis in traumatic injury of the spinal cord through modulation of NF- κ B and p38 MAPK," *Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 3607–3613, 2016.
- [23] P.-C. Liao, T.-S. Yang, J.-C. Chou et al., "Anti-inflammatory activity of neral and geranial isolated from fruits of *Litsea cubeba* Lour," *Journal of Functional Foods*, vol. 19, pp. 248– 258, 2015.
- [24] J.-S. Shin, S. Ryu, D. S. Jang, Y.-W. Cho, E. K. Chung, and K.-T. Lee, "Amomum tsao-ko fruit extract suppresses lipopolysaccharide-induced inducible nitric oxide synthase by inducing heme oxygenase-1 in macrophages and in septic mice," International Journal of Experimental Pathology, vol. 96, no. 6, pp. 395–405, 2015.
- [25] K. Lee, S. Kim, S. Sung, and Y. Kim, "Inhibitory constituents of lipopolysaccharide-induced nitric oxide production in BV2 microglia isolated fromAmomum tsao-ko," *Planta Medica*, vol. 74, no. 8, pp. 867–869, 2008.
- [26] B. Li, H.-J. Choi, D.-S. Lee et al., "Amomum tsao-ko suppresses lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory responses in RAW264.7 macrophages via Nrf2-dependent heme oxygenase-1 expression," The American Journal of Chinese Medicine, vol. 42, no. 5, pp. 1229–1244, 2014.
- [27] T.-T. Zhang, C.-L. Lu, and J.-G. Jiang, "Neuroprotective and anti-inflammatory effects of diphenylheptanes from the fruits of Amomum tsaoko, a Chinese spice," *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, vol. 71, no. 4, pp. 450–453, 2016.
- [28] Z. Chen, W. Ni, C. Yang et al., "Therapeutic effect of Amomum villosum on inflammatory bowel disease in rats," *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, vol. 9, p. 639, 2018.
- [29] Y.-A. Choi, J. K. Choi, Y. H. Jang et al., "Anti-inflammatory effect of Amomum xanthioides in a mouse atopic dermatitis model," *Molecular Medicine Reports*, vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 8964–8972, 2017.
- [30] J.-A. Lee, M.-Y. Lee, I.-S. Shin, C.-S. Seo, H. Ha, and H. K. Shin, "Anti-inflammatory Effects of Amomum compactum on RAW 264.7 cells via induction of heme oxygenase-1," *Archives of Pharmacal Research*, vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 739–746, 2012.



Research Article

Chemical Composition of *Pistacia lentiscus* Seeds' Oil from Moroccan High Atlas Mountain

Brahim Ait Mohand (),^{1,2} Abderraouf El Antari,¹ and Fatiha Benkhalti²

¹Laboratory of Food Technology and Quality, National Institute of Agronomic Research, B. P. 533, Marrakech, Morocco ²Laboratory of Bio-organic and Macromolecular Chemistry Department of Biology, Faculty of Sciences and Techniques, B. P. 549, Marrakech, Morocco

Correspondence should be addressed to Brahim Ait Mohand; brahim.aitmohand@gmail.com

Received 21 January 2020; Accepted 25 April 2020; Published 13 May 2020

Academic Editor: Quancai Sun

Copyright © 2020 Brahim Ait Mohand et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Pistacia lentiscus is an aromatic member of the Anacardiaceae family, endemic to the Mediterranean regions, which produces red and black oleaginous seeds in maturity. Our study focuses on the characterization of *Pistacia lentiscus* seed oils from three localities of High Atlas Mountain in the Azilal region of Morocco. Our results showed a very appreciable oil yield reaching more than 21% which clearly differs between the three sites studied $(21.33 \pm 0.17\%$ in Boizoghrane, $15.22 \pm 0.10\%$ in Tighanimine, and $7.67 \pm 0.29\%$ in Tawjanizm locality); the analysis of the total fatty acids composition revealed a predominance of the unsaturated fatty acids represented essentially by the oleic and linoleic fatty acids, and also the triglyceride composition was dominated mainly by POO + SOL, POL + SLL + PoOP, and OOO. This potential of the chemical composition offers the possibility of producing nutraceutical oil, which represents a source of income capable of insisting vulnerable local populations to protect this species from deforestation, thus maintaining biodiversity, and to reduce by this interest the migratory flow from marginal areas.

1. Introduction

Pistacia lentiscus, known as Mastic tree, is named in Morocco as "Drou" or "Tidit." This plant is a membership of the Anacardiaceae family. It is a three-meter-high branched shrub with a resin odor [1]. Its leaves are paripennial and persistent and are found in lowland, low, and medium mountains in Morocco, under semiarid, humid, subhumid, and perhumid bioclimates [2]. Moreover, lentisk is known for its medicinal properties since antiquity. In fact, it used and practiced in traditional medicines for treatment of ulcers, eczema, hypertension, sore throat, cough, and kidney stones [3]. Mastic seed oil is often used as an application remedy to treat burns or back pain [4].

Benhammou et al. [5] reported that this oil has good nutritive quality because of its content in unsaturated fatty acids (70%) and saturated fatty acids (26%). The triglyceride (TAG) composition of lentisk oil showed that the majority of TAGs of this oil are of mono- and polyunsaturated forms, and the main constituents are SOL + POO (27.58 \pm 2.36%) followed by SLL + POL (21.50 \pm 2.06%) [6]. According to Arab et al. [7], the yield of phenolic compounds obtained from *Pistacia lentiscus* fruit is 61.34% (vegetable powder), whereas the concentration of the phenolic fruit extract, expressed as gallic acid, is 31.81 mg/ml.

The study of acute toxicity realized by Boukeloua et al. [8] showed a low toxicity of *Pistacia lentiscus* fixed oil. The high values of oral and intraperitoneal lethal doses of both *P. lentiscus* fixed oil administered in mice, respectively, $(LD50 = 37 \text{ ml/kg body wt., p. o and LD50 = 2.52 ml/kg body wt., i. p.) show their low acute toxicity. The subchronic toxicity test conducted in rabbits at different doses (0.5, 1, and 2 mL kg-1) for 28 days via oral route also did not result in any signs of toxicity. The biochemical results indicate that this oil maintains the rates of aspartate amino transferase (AST) and alanine amino transferase (ALT) in the physiological norms [9].$

However, until now, no studies have been made on the composition of the lentisk seeds, especially the chemical composition of the lipid profile, in the Azilal region, having a particular forest on the High Atlas Mountains with a favorable microclimate for several plants with high added values and also with a vulnerable population of which this plant can constitute a source of income in a spirit of protection of the biodiversity, and this region is characterized by a semiarid climate in the North and subhumid climate in the South. Therefore, the main objective of the presented work is to highlight the chemical composition of Moroccan lentisk seeds under the influence of pedoclimatic conditions of the study area.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Plant Material. Pistacia lentiscus seeds were harvested at full maturity (identical red color of seeds) from natural populations in three localities: Tawjanizm (TA), Boizoghrane (BO), and Tighanimine (TI) of the Azilal region (Morocco) (Table 1), during December 2015. Identification of the species was confirmed in regional herbarium MARK faculty of Sciences Semlalia in Marrakech (Morocco). A voucher specimen (MARK 10938) was deposited at the herbarium of this faculty. The seeds are taken manually from small and large plants of different heights (top and bottom) on the two sides of mountains and then mixed from each sampling site. Then, the seeds were sorted and thoroughly cleaned of all impurities, and after drying at 40°C, the seeds were ground to obtain a powder.

2.2. Extraction and Oil Content. The extraction of the oil was carried out for 6 hours with hexane in a Soxhlet extraction system, and at the end of the extraction, the solvent is evaporated in a rotary evaporator under vacuum, with slight heating (+30 $^{\circ}$ C). The residual traces of hexane were removed by bubbling the extracted oil with nitrogen. The extracted oils are stored under nitrogen in the refrigerator until analysis.

2.3. Fatty Acid Composition. The total fatty acid composition of the lentisk oils was determined according to the AFNOR, T60-233, and T60-234 method. The methyl esters were then analyzed by gas chromatography (GC) using a Varian CP 3380 chromatograph with a flame ionization detector equipped with a capillary column packed with a stationary phase: CPWAX 52 CB (length: 25 m, inner diameter: 0.25 mm, and outer diameter: 0.39 mm). The temperature of the oven is 180°C, the temperature of the injector is 200°C, and the temperature of the detector is 210°C. The carrier gas is nitrogen.

2.4. Analysis of Triglycerides by HPLC. The method of triglyceride determination was according to the official method of the Commission of the European Union (1991). The analysis of triglycerides was carried out in a Jasco PU-2080 LC as well as an intelligent HPLC pump equipped with a Jasco CO-2065 in addition to the furnace column and a Jasco RI-930 refractive index detector equipped with Jasco AS-2055 autosampler. The column used was an omnisphere $5\,\mu$ m C18, length 250 mm, and 4.6 mm ID. The conditions of the analysis were 50:50 v/v acetone/acetonitrile solvent, 1.2 mL/min flow rate, and 40°C oven temperature.

2.5. Statistical Analysis. All experiments were conducted in triplicate with SPSS Inc. software (version 13.0). One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to determine significant differences among means, with the significance level taken at a = 0.05. Tukey's HSD test was used to perform multiple comparisons among means.

A principal component analysis was studied using factor analysis of XLSTAT statistical software version 2011. The relationships between harvest sites and the parameters studied were also evaluated by Pearson's product moment correlation at $P \le 0.05$.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Oil Content. The seeds show a good oil yield, and the average values obtained from studied localities are shown in Figure 1. The highest oil content corresponded to Boizoghrane seed at $21.33 \pm 0.17\%$. This value is almost consistent with that found by Boukeloua et al.'s study [8] of lentisk seeds from west of Skikda (Algeria) ($20.25\% \pm 0.10$), followed by Tighanimine at $15.22 \pm 0.10\%$. This yield is higher than that reported by Charef et al. [10] (11.72%) for red mastic fruit of lentisk collected from a forest located 70 km from the Algerian capital, and the lowest value was obtained for Tawjanizm seed oil at $7.67 \pm 0.29\%$, which is close to the value obtained for *P. lentiscus* harvested in France by Ferlay (9.8\%).

The oilseeds of the lentisk from Boizoghrane and Tighanimine can be classified as oil-rich such as sunflower oil, peanut oil, palm oil, and soybean; therefore, these seeds can be used as a source of vegetable oil. On the contrary, the lentisk seeds taken from Tawjanizm, in which the oil content does not exceed 12%, are classified as seeds moderately poor in fat.

From these results, it can be said that the oil yield of lentisk seeds is influenced by the sampling zone, and the large difference in the oil yield between the three localities can be explained by the maturity of the lentisk seeds (in fact, the amount of oil increases during the seed maturation phase) as reported by Charef et al. [10] (11.70% for red fruits and 32.8% for black fruits) and also can be explained by the different bioclimatic conditions close to each site [11].

3.2. Fatty Acid Composition. The fatty acid composition of *Pistacia lentiscus* seeds is shown in Table 2. The lentisk oils of the three localities had high amounts of monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) with values between 52.43% and 53.67% of total fatty acids (TFA). It was followed by polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) between 22.27% and 25.32% and then saturated fatty acids (SFA) representing 22.25 to 24.07% of TFA. The major FA was oleic acid (C18:1) with the highest

TABLE 1: Geographical parameters of the three localities of lentisk seeds.

Localities	Latitude	Length	Level of the sea (m)	Annual rain (mm)	Minimum average temperatures (°C)	Maximum average temperatures (°C)
ТА	31°54′58′74″N	6°35′12′77″O	1422.86			
BO	31°54′44′47″N	6°35′40′08″O	1410.44	260.3	4 to 10°C	20 to 40°C
TI	31°54′8′33″N	6°35′47′78″O	1416.06			



FIGURE 1: Oil content of lentisk seeds from the three localities.

amount of Boizoghrane seed oil (53.23%), followed by Tawjanizm at 52.50%. The lowest value corresponded to Tighanimine seed oil at 51.56%. These values were similar to those reported by Dhifi et al. [6] and Charef et al. [10]. The oleic FA is reputed for its role in the preservation of cardiovascular diseases and its nutritional value [12]. Furthermore, linoleic acid (C18:2), an essential FA, accounted for 20.95% to 23.77% of whole FA; it has favorable nutritional implications and beneficial physiological effects in the prevention of coronary heart disease and cancer [13], and it provides lipids necessary for cell membrane repair and cellular respiration [14]. For palmitic acid (C16:0), the highest value was detected in Boizoghrane seed oil at 23.01% followed by Tawjanizm oil (22.55%) and 20.51% for Tighanimine oil. The content of oleic acid, linoleic acid, and palmitic acid from three localities studied is consistent with the results obtained by Dhifi et al. [6].

The values obtained in unsaturated fatty acids (UFA) for the three localities are higher than those obtained by Dhifi et al. [6] and lower than those reported by Charef et al. [10]. This is explained by the absence of linolenic acid in the oils studied by Charef et al. [10]. The percentage of saturated fatty acids (SFA) is higher than that reported by Charef [10] and lower than those obtained by Dhifi et al. [6]. The low saturated/unsaturated FA ratio (0.35) reveals a high content in UFA which may give it nutritiona and, dietetic virtues and curative properties. The FA composition of Pistacia lentiscusseeds' oil is similar to that of Pistacia vera [15] and Pistacia atlantica [16]. The existence of omega 6 and 9 in this oil makes it as an alternative source of these essential FA. Furthermore, the profile of FA confirms the similarity between Pistacia lentiscus oils and other edible vegetable oils such as rapeseed, olive, sunflower, and cotton. The fatty acid profile of three oil samples is in accordance with the standards of the Codex Alimentarius for rapeseed oil concerning specially stearic acid, oleic acid, linoleic acid, and linolenic acid, and it also corresponds to that of olive oil in terms of the composition of palmitoleic acid (C16:1) and stearic acid (C18:0). On the contrary, the composition of the lentisk oils studied exceeds that of olive oil containing palmitic acid, linoleic acid, and linolenic acid. Thus, higher values of palmitic and palmitoleic acid compared with rapeseed oil are recorded. These findings are in agreement with the results reported by Dhifi et al. [6], but the percentage values were different. This inconsistency could be attributed to different causes, such as genotype and growing conditions.

3.3. Analysis of Triglycerides. The triglyceride composition of seeds' oil in the three localities revealed the existence of 16 triglycerides and had high amounts of POO + SOL, OOO, and POL + SLL + PoOP. The triglyceride (TAG) composition of lentisk showed that the majority of the TAGs is in monoand polyunsaturated forms (Table 3). Considering the fatty acid composition, the main constituents were stearoyloleyllinoleylglycerol (SOL) and palmitoyl-dioleylglycerol (POO) for 21.24 to 24.71% of the total TAGs. Stearoyl-dilinoleoylglycerol (SLL) and palmitoyl-oleyllinoleol glycerine (POL) accounted for 16.37 to 16.47% of the total TAGs, while trioleylglycerol (OOO) and dioleyl-linoleylglicerin (OOL) were significantly represented with quantities, respectively, of 15.28 to 16.02%, and 11.57 to 14.44%. These results are in agreement with those reported in the literature for a study on grape seed oils [6].

It should be noted that our oils are rich in triglycerides formed by the combination of oleic, linoleic, and palmitic fatty acids, which confirmed the composition results of fatty acids.

3.4. Statistical Analysis. The Pearson correlation coefficients between the oil content (TH) and fatty acids values (C16:1, C17:1, C18:0, C18:1, and C18:2) and triglycerides (OLL, SOS, SOO, OOO, POP, POL, POL+SLL+POOP, and OOL+PLnP+PoOP) were calculated. Then, the analysis was performed to determine the strength of the relationship between the three sampling localities and the analytical parameters.

The correlation circle (Figure 2) represents the evolution and the relationship between the variables studied. Three distinguished groups of components were found. The first group corresponded to the correlation between oil content (TH), cis-10-heptadecanoic acid (C17:1), and oleyl-dilinoleoyl-glycerol (OLL). The second group showed a strong correlation between the two harvest sites Boizoghrane (BO) and Tawjanizm (TA) in terms of the composition in triglyceride (SOO). The third group consisted of triglycerides palmitoyl-dilinoleoyl-glycerol (PLL) and triglyceride (SOS)

	TA	ВО	TI	Dhifi et <i>al.</i> , 2013 (Tunisia)	Charef et <i>al.</i> , Pistacia.L (black seeds)	2011 (Algeria) Pistacia.L (red seeds)	Olive oilCOI, 2013	Rapeseed oil CODEX STAN 210-1999
C16:0	22.55 ± 0.02	23.01 ± 0.04	20.51 ± 0.11	23.52 ± 3.01	19.5	16.3	7.50-20.00	1.5-6.0
C16:1	0.38 ± 0.16	0.44 ± 0.13	0.53 ± 0.23	1.19 ± 0.12	2.1	1.0	0.30-3.50	ND-3.0
C18:0	0.98 ± 0.20	1.05 ± 0.10	1.3 ± 0.05	1.41 ± 0.02	1.7	0.7	0.50-5.00	0.5-3.1
C18:1	52.5 ± 0.35	53.23 ± 0.53	51.56 ± 0.21	51.06 ± 4.37	55.3	53.5	55.0-83.00	8.0-60.0
C18:2	22.14 ± 0.44	20.95 ± 0.45	23.77 ± 0.38	20.71 ± 2.25	21.4	28.5	3.50-21.00	11.0-23.0
C18:3	1.45 ± 0.06	1.31 ± 0.02	1.54 ± 0.01	0.47 ± 0.10	—	—	<1.00	5.0-13.0
MUFA	52.88 ± 0.06	53.67 ± 0.02	52.43 ± 0.12	52.4 ± 7.18	57.4	54.5		
PUFA	23.59 ± 0.51	22.27 ± 0.47	25.32 ± 0.38	21.18 ± 2.23	21.4	28.5		
SFA	23.53 ± 0.65	24.07 ± 0.56	22.25 ± 0.48	26.42	21.2	17.0		
MUFA/ PUFA	2.24 ± 0.05	2.41 ± 0.05	2.07 ± 0.04	2.47	2.68	1.91		
SFA/UFA	0.31 ± 0.01	0.32 ± 0.01	0.29 ± 0.01	0.35	0.27	0.2		

TABLE 2: Pistacia lentiscus seed oil fatty acids composition (%).

MUFA monounsaturated fatty acids, MUFA polyunsaturated fatty acids, SFA saturated fatty acids, and UFA unsaturated fatty acids.

TABLE 3: Triglyceride composition of the seed oil of Pistacia lentiscus by HPLC (%).

	ТА	BO	TI	Dhifi et al. (2013)
LLL	2.64	2.26	3.40	1.32 ± 0.28
PLLn	0.79	0.71	0.83	
OLL	0.50	6.21	8.77	5.67 ± 1.62
PLL	7.28	6.94	7.27	7.97 ± 1.86
POLn	0.29	0.28	0.23	
OOL + PLnP + PoOO	11.57	11.57	14.44	9.83 ± 2.03
POL + SLL + PoOP	16.37	16.39	16.47	21.50 ± 2.06
PPL	3.96	3.96	3.55	5.58 ± 1.12
000	15.74	16.02	15.28	12.04 ± 1.43
POO + SOL	24.14	24.71	21.24	27.58 ± 2.36
POP	7.91	8.31	6.42	8.51 ± 1.09
GaOO	0.40	0.30	0.03	
SOO	1.39	1.36	1.05	
POS	0.94	0.97	0.99	
AOO	0.05	0.03	0.03	
SOS	0.04	0.00	0.02	

LLL: trilinoleoyl-glycerol, OLLn: oleyl-linoleoylglycerol, OLL: oleyl-dilinoleoyl-glycerol, PLL: palmitoyl-dilinoleoyl-glycerol, OOL: dioleyllinoleoylglcerol, SLL: stearoyl-dilinoleoylglycerol, POL: palmitoyl-oleyl linoleoylglycerol, PPL: dipalmitoyllinoleoylglycerol, OOO: trioleylglycerol, SOL: stearoyloleyl-linoleoylglycerol, POC: palmitoyl-dioleylglycerol, and PPO: dipalmitoyl-oleylglycerol.



FIGURE 2: Correlation circle of variables according to PCA of the seed oil of *Pistacia lentiscus* and according to oil content fatty acid and triglyceride composition.
that were highly correlated. The dispersion of the variables in this way showed a significant variability of the parameters studied under the effect of the sampling site.

The positive correlation is highly significant between the oil content and the C17:1 fatty acid, thus between the oil content and the OLL triglyceride on one side. On the contrary, the negative correlation is highly significant between the oil content and triglycerides (AOO, SOS and PLL). The strong correlation (r > 0.7) between cis-10-heptadecanoic acid and oleyl-dilinoleoyl-glycerol and their positive relationship with oil content and the negative relationship with triglycerides (AOO, SOS, and PLL) showed the importance of these five parameters in the characterization of three oils studied.

The correlation circle and the biplot showed that the oils from three sampling sites analyzed were characterized by a very interesting composition diversity defined by three types (oil content, fatty acid composition, and triglyceride composition) of the lentisk oils and discriminated by the oil content that is the variable.

4. Conclusion

On the basis of our study, it may be concluded that the results of this work showed that the seeds of lentisk can be used as an edible oil source. This oil had an interesting oil yield and presents a high content in the unsaturated fatty acids. It is rich in C18:1 whose dietary virtues are well established and also rich in C18:2 which is an essential FA with beneficial physiological effects. Those compounds may be used to study the potential use of oils from these seeds in pharmaceuticals, foodstuffs, and cosmetic industry. In a further work, we will try to complete this research by valorizing unsaponifiable matters in the oils evaluating biological activities and to evaluate toxicity of lentisk oil. Such study could achieve industrial application of this plant oil.

Data Availability

The data used to support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon request.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank a technical staff of Food Technology and Quality Laboratory of National Institute of Agronomic Research of Marrakech for providing support during the development of this research.

References

 D. More and J. White, *Encyclopédie des Arbres Plus de 1800 Espèces et Variétés du Monde*, Flammarion, vol. 18, p. 797, Paris, France, 2005.

- [3] C. Gardeli, P. Vassiliki, M. Athanasios, T. Kibouris, and M. Komaitis, "Essential oil composition of Pistacia lentiscus L. and Myrtus communis L.: evaluation of antioxidant capacity of methanolic extracts," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 107, no. 3, pp. 1120–1130, 2008.
- [4] J. Bellakhdar, La Pharmacopée Marocaine Traditionnelle. Médecine Arabe Ancienne et Savoirs Populaires, p. 764, Ibis Press, Paris, France, 1997.
- [5] N. B. Benhammou, L. Belyagoubi, A. E. Belaskri et al., "Fatty acid composition and antioxidant activity of Pistacia lentiscus L. fruit fatty oil from Algeria," *Journal of Food Measurement* and Characterization, vol. 12, p. 1408, 2018.
- [6] W. Dhifi, N. Jelali, E. Chaabani et al., "Chemical composition of Lentisk (*Pistacia lentiscus L.*) seed oil," *African Journal of Agricultural Research*, vol. 8, pp. 1395–1400, 2013.
- [7] K. Arab, O. Bouchenak, and K. Yahiaoui, "Phytochemical study and evaluation of the antimicrobial and antioxidant activity of essential oils and phenolic compounds of *Pistacia lentiscus L*," *Journal of Fundamental and Applied Sciences*, vol. 6, pp. 77–91, 2015.
- [8] A. Boukeloua, A. Belkhiri, Z. Djerrou, L. Bahri, and N. Boulebda, "Acute toxicity of Opuntia ficus indica and *Pistacia lentiscus* seed oils," *African Journal of Traditional, Complementary and Alternative Medicines*, vol. 9, pp. 607– 611, 2012.
- [9] Z. Maameri, Z. Djerrou, S. Habibatni, F. Riachi, and H. Djaalab, "Physicochemical characteristics and sub chronic oral toxicity of Pistacia lentiscus L.vegetable oil in rabbits," *OnLine Journal of Biological Sciences*, vol. 16, pp. 43–48, 2016.
- [10] M. Charef, M. Yousfi, M. Saidi, and P. Stocker, "Determination of the fatty acid composition of acorn (quercus), *Pistacia lentiscus* seeds growing in Algeria," *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, vol. 85, no. 10, pp. 921–924, 2008.
- [11] A. M. Cherif, Effets cicatrisants de produits à base d'huile de lentisque (Pistacia lentiscus L.) sur les brûlures expérimentales chez le rat, Ph.D. thesis, University of Frères Mentouri Constantine, Constantine, Algeria, 2016.
- [12] P. Corbett, "It is time for an oil change! Opportunities for high oleic vegetables oils," *Information, Food Technology*, vol. 14, pp. 480-481, 2003.
- [13] B. D. Oomah, S. Ladet, D. V. Godfrey, J. Liang, and B. Girard, "Characteristics of raspberry (Rubus idaeus L.) seed oil," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 69, no. 2, pp. 187–193, 2000.
- [14] M. Loden and A.-C. Andersson, "Effect of topically applied lipids on surfactant-irritated skin," *British Journal of Dermatology*, vol. 134, no. 2, pp. 215–220, 1996.
- [15] T. Chahed, I. Hamrouni, W. Dhifi, K. Msaada, M. E. Kchouk, and B. Marzouk, "Lipid evaluation during the development of Pistachio seed from the region of Kairouan (middle of Tunisia)," *Journal of Food Lipids*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 375–389, 2006.
- [16] B. R. Ghalem and H. Benhassaini, "Etude des phytostérols et des acides gras de *Pistachia atlantica*," *Afrique Science: Revue Internationale des Sciences et Technologie*, vol. 3, pp. 405–412, 2007.